Identifying opportunities for improving epithelial ovarian cancer survival using novel approaches for exploring the role of ovulation and hormone-related conditions

by

Zhuxuan Fu

BS, Shandong University at Weihai, 2014 MPH, Tufts University, 2016 MS, University of Pittsburgh, 2020

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2021

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Zhuxuan Fu

It was defended on

September 30, 2021

and approved by

Dissertation Advisor:

Francesmary Modugno, MS, Ph.D., MPH, Professor, Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh

> Maria Mori Brooks, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

> Lu Tang, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Biostatistics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Sarah Elizabeth Taylor, MD., Assistant Professor, Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology & Reproductive Sciences, University of Pittsburgh Magee-Womens Hospital of UPMC

> Thomas J Songer, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Copyright © by Zhuxuan Fu

2021

Identifying opportunities for improving epithelial ovarian cancer survival using novel approaches for exploring the role of ovulation and hormone-related conditions

Zhuxuan Fu, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2021

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecologic cancer. Epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) accounts for more than 90% of ovarian cancers. Although the etiology of EOC remains unknown, the established protective effects of parity and oral contraceptive use suggest that ovulation plays a role. However, ovulation alone cannot explain the magnitude of the protective effects from these exposures. Hormones, including androgen, estrogen, and progesterone, may play a role in ovarian carcinogenesis and affect survival outcomes via hormone receptors. The overall objective of this dissertation is to assess the role of lifetime ovulatory years (LOYs) in EOC development and identify risk factors related to the survival of patients with ovarian tumors defined by hormone receptor status.

First, we evaluated the association of LOYs, calculated by 15 different algorithms, with EOC risk. We further evaluated the individual components in LOYs with EOC risk overall and by histotype. Our findings show the heterogeneity of the histotype-specific associations with LOYs and with the individual components of LOYs, suggesting that carcinogenesis mechanisms may differ by the individual components in LOYs and by histotype. Second, we demonstrated that EOC patients with tumor types defined by hormone receptor status and stratified by histotype have varying risk and prognostic profiles. These data suggest potential biological mechanisms underlying the association of hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk. Furthermore, outcomes need to be studied by histotype and by tumor hormone receptor status. Third, we built a prediction

model for EOC survival using machine learning techniques and conducted feature identification using nine immunohistochemistry biomarkers and clinical variables. Our prediction model indicates that CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, androgen receptor, progesterone receptor and p16 play critical roles in predicting EOC survival.

The implication of these findings allows us to better understand the role of LOYs and hormone receptors in ovarian cancer carcinogenesis and survival. Furthermore, the results provide a foundation for targeting risk factors related to survival and hormone receptors by histotype in treatment and provide potential opportunities to extend survival in EOC patients.

Table of Contents

Prefacexv
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Epidemiology of ovarian cancer and main histotypes
1.2 Risk Factors for epithelial ovarian cancer and by histotypes 4
1.2.1 Demographic factors9
1.2.2 Reproductive and hormonal factors11
1.2.3 Gynecologic factors
1.2.4 Genetic factors
1.2.5 Lifestyle factors 39
1.3 Prognostic factors of epithelial ovarian cancer and by histotypes
1.3.1 Clinical factors
1.3.2 Biomarkers 47
1.3.3 Epidemiologic factors 56
1.4 Hypothesis of epithelial ovarian cancer development
1.4.1 Origins of epithelial ovarian cancer63
1.4.2 "Incessant ovulation" hypothesis64
1.4.3 Hormonal hypothesis 64
1.4.3.1 Gonadotropin hypothesis65
1.4.3.2 Androgen hypothesis65
1.4.3.3 Estrogen hypothesis
1.4.3.4 Progesterone hypothesis 66

1.4.4 Inflammation hypothesis67
2.0 Specific Aims
2.1 Summary and research gaps68
2.2 Specific research questions70
3.0 Paper I: Lifetime ovulation years and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a
multinational pooled analysis of 25 case-control studies from the Ovarian Cancer
Association Consortium71
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Method
3.4 Results
3.5 Discussion
3.6 Figures and tables
4.0 Paper II: Hormonally-linked risk factors for ovarian cancer tumors defined by
hormone receptors: an analysis from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium
and the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium102
4.1 Abstract 102
4.2 Introduction104
4.3 Method 106
4.4 Results 110
4.5 Discussion 115
4.6 Figures and tables119

5.0 Paper III: Feature identification for epithelial ovarian cancer survival using
machine learning techniques138
5.1 Abstract
5.2 Introduction
5.3 Method 142
5.4 Results
5.5 Discussion
5.6 Figures and tables151
6.0 Discussion
6.1 Summary and Novelty160
6.2 Public health relevance and future study164
Appendix A Supplemental Tables for Paper I167
Appendix B Supplemental Figures and Tables for Paper II
Appendix C Supplemental Figures and Tables for Paper II
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Risk Factors associated with overall risk of ovarian cancer and by histotypes from
OCAC and OC3 ^a
Table 1-2 Characteristics of studies estimating the association between mentrual cycle length
and EOC risk13
Table 1-3 Summary of published articles estimating the association between lifetime
ovulatory years and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer
Table 1-4 Assocition between tubal ligation and risk of EOC by histotype 36
Table 1-5 Suumary of the assocition between CA125 levels at different time point and
ovarian cancer survival in some publications
Table 1-6 Histotype-specific associations between biomarkers and ovarian cancer survival
reported by OTTA 48
Table 1-7 The difference of epidemiologic facotrs assocaited with ovarian cancer risk and
survival
Table 1-8 Summary of effects of parity on ovarian cancer survival in studies reporterd after
2010
Table 1-9 The potential origin of five main histotypes of epithelial ovarain cacner
Table 3-1 Characteristics of the case-control Studies from the Ovarian Cancer Association
Consortium, conducted in Asia, Australia, Europe, and North America from 1989 to
present
- Table 3-2 Characteristics of ovarian cancer cases and controls

Table 3-3 Odds ratio for ovarian cancer by lifetime ovulatory years using complete data and
full data with imputation97
Table 3-4 Odds ratio for ovarian cancer by individual components of lifetime ovulatory years
in algorithm K using complete data100
Table 3-5 Odds ratio for ovarian cancer histotypes by individual components of lifetime
ovulatory years in algorithm K using complete data101
Table 4-1 Characteristics of the 13 case-control studies from the Ovarian Cancer Association
Consortium and the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium in risk analyses,
conducted in Australia, Europe, and North America123
Table 4-2 Characteristics of the 14 case-control studies and 5 case-only studies from the
Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium in survival analyses, conducted in Australia,
Europe, and North America124
Table 4-3 Characteristics of participants used to estimate the association with EOC risk by
individual receptor presence ¹ 126
Table 4-4 Pooled relative risk ratios for the association between hormonally linked risk
factors and epithelial ovarian cancer by individual hormonal receptor presence compared
to all controls ^{1,2}
Table 4-5 Pooled relative risk ratios for the association between hormonally linked risk
factors and epithelial ovarian cancer by joint hormonal receptor presence compared eto
all controls ^{1,2}
Table 4-6 Hazard ratios for the association of clinical variables and hormonally linked risk
factors with survival from time of diagnosis for epithelial invasive ovarian tumor defined
by individual receptor presence ¹ 136

Table 5-1 Characteristics of studies from the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium
Table 5-2 Comparison of training set and validation set 154
Table 5-3 Summary of model performances in terms of C-index 157
Table 5-4 Summary of model performances using the External Test Set for boostCox models
with identified features based on variable importance
Table 5-5 Hazard ratio of ten features fitting in boostCox 159
Supplemental Table 1 Algorithms to calculate lifetime ovulatory years
Supplemental Table 2 Comparison of observed and assigned values of age at last menstrual
period
Supplemental Table 3 Percentage of missing values in components of lifetime ovulatory years
calculation by OCAC site
Supplemental Table 4 Distribution of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from 15 algorithms
among participants with complete data173
Supplemental Table 5 Pairwise correlations of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from 15
algorithms using complete data174
Supplemental Table 6 Correlations between individual components and the corresponding
lifetime ovulatory years from 15 algorithms using complete data
Supplemental Table. A Pooled relative risk ratios for the association between hormonally
linked risk factors and epithelial ovarian cancer by individual hormonal receptor presence
compared to all controls ¹

Supplemental Table. B Association of menopause status and hysterectomy with EOC risk by
joint presence of androgen receptor, estrogen receptor, and progesterone receptor
compared to all controls ¹ 182
Supplemental Table. C Characteristics of participants in survival analyses by individual
hormonal receptor presence183
Supplemental Table I Missing value pattern for each immunohistochemistry biomarker by
site ¹
Supplemental Table II Comparisons of machine learning techniques with Cox proportional
hazards mode ^l
Supplemental Table III Summary of model performances at different time points in terms
of Uno's C-index

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Classification of malignant ovarian cancer
Figure 1-2 Flow diagram of literature and citation search
Figure 1-3 Line chart of the trend of ovarian cancer risk by lifetime ovulatory years 32
Figure 1-4 Forest plot estimating the association between lifetime ovulatory years and the
overall risk of ovarian cancer
Figure 1-5 Forest plot estimating the association between lifetime ovulatory years and risk
of ovarian cancer by histotype
Figure 3-1 Flow chart for algorithms to calculate lifetime ovulatory year
Figure 3-2 Flow chart for imputation of age at menopause
Figure 3-3 Distribution of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from different algorithms 92
Figure 4-1 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of EOC by individual
hormonal receptors presence 120
Figure 4-2 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of high-grade serous
ovarian cancer by joint presence of hormonal receptors121
Figure 4-3 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of endometrioid
ovarian cancer by joint presence of hormonal receptors122
Figure 5-1 Flow chart of the development of the prediction model for ovarian cancer surviva
Figure 5-2 Importance of variables in the full boostCox model 152
Supplemental Figure A Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of EOC
by joint presence of hormonal receptors177

Supplemental	Figure 1	B	Kaplan-Meier	curves	for	survival	after	diagnosis	of	EOC	by
histotypes b	y individı	ual	l hormonal rece	eptors p	rese	nce	••••••				178

Preface

The dissertation is submitted for the degree of Ph.D. at Epidemiology Department, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh. I would like to thank my mentors, family, and friends for their help, support, and inspiration during my doctoral program in the Epidemiology Department at the University of Pittsburgh.

The research was conducted under the supervision of Dr. Francesmary Modugno. Without her generous assistance, I would not have been able to finish the study. I have been lucky to have the opportunity of working with her in the past four years. Her enthusiasm made a strong impression on me and motived me to explore the field of ovarian cancer. She also supported me emotionally throughout some tough times.

I would like to thank Dr. Maria M Brooks. She not only gave great advice on the dissertation but also helping with my communication and job searching. She advised me to check the numbers in the results tables instead of only checking my programming; and my spelling and grammar before sending an email. She taught me how to tell a story when going through my presentation for an interview. I would take her advice along with my future career.

I also would like to thank Dr. Lu Tang, Dr. Sarah E Taylor, and Dr. Thomas J Songer for their continued guidance through the research development and analyses. They were the best as scientists, mentors, and collaborators.

I would like to thank my parents for allowing me to pursue my dream and supporting me financially. No matter how far I am away from home, I always love them!

Most importantly, I would like to thank my best friend, Lanting Yang. She took care of me when I suffered leg surgery, comforted me when I broke my heart, and encouraged me when I almost gave up my dream. I appreciate her companion on the long and challenging journey. I wish she would finish her Ph.D. successfully!

I would like to thank the alumna at Tufts, Naisi Zhao. She is not only a friend but also a sister. She is a very kind person who always prepares to offer her help to others. She spent much time on reading my papers and gave me some great advice on my research without asking for anything. I learned a lot from her.

Finally, I would like to thank my ex-boyfriend, Ji Qi, my cute puppy, Cookie, and the climbing team, Aira Wang and Min Zhang, for their inspiration and love. They let me know that life is not always boring and lonely. The accomplishment would not have been possible without them.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Epidemiology of ovarian cancer and main histotypes

Ovarian cancer is the leading cause of gynecologic cancer death in women in the United States. According to the American Cancer Society, about 21,410 women will be diagnosed of ovarian cancer and 13,770 women will die from ovarian cancer in 2021.¹ Although the 5-year relative survival increased from 33.37% in 1975 to 52.58% in 2017,² because of the low survival rate, the mortality trend of ovary cancer is close to the incidence of ovary cancer.³

Ovarian cancer survival is profoundly affected by stage, which describes how the cancer has spread. There are two widely used systems for staging ovarian cancer, the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) system and the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging system. The two systems use three factors to stage cancer (the extent of the tumor, the spread to nearby lymph nodes, and the spread to distant sites) and can be translated from one to the other.^{4,5} A higher number indicates more advanced disease. The Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results registry (SEER) program of the National Cancer Institute (NCI) uses a simplified approach to stage ovarian cancer as localized (roughly Stage I disease), regional (encompassing Stage II and III disease), and distant (Stage IV disease).⁶ With no early screening test to detect ovarian cancer, 58% of ovarian cancers are diagnosed at distant stage (Stage IV). Based on data from SEER 2010-2016, the 5-year relative survival rate is only 48.6%.² It ranged from 30.2% for ovarian cancer at distant stage (Stage IV) to 92.6% for ovarian cancer at localized stage (roughly Stage I).²

The 5-year survival rate not only varies by stage but also by histotypes of ovarian cancer. Epithelial ovary cancer (EOC) accounts for nearly 90% of malignant ovarian cancer.⁷ The most common histotypes of EOC include high-grade and low-grade serous (60%), endometrioid (10%), clear cell (6%), and mucinous (6%).⁷ Tumor grade describes how cancer cells look different from normal cells. It is defined as well-differentiated (Grade 1), moderately differentiated (Grade 2), poorly differentiated (Grade 3), and undifferentiated (Grade 4).⁸ However, serous cancer (SC) is unique. Tumor grade is contained in name of the two different histotypes. Serous tumors show a papillary structure, and the cells do not contain intracytoplasmic mucin, but low-grade and highgrade serous carcinomas develop through different carcinogenic pathways.^{9,10} A widely accepted classification of EOC as type I and type II tumors is based on clinicopathologic and molecular evidence.¹¹ Type I tumors, which tend to grow locally and metastasize late, include endometrioid cancer (EC), clear cell cancer (CCC), low-grade serous cancer (LGSC), and mucinous cancer (MC). Type II tumors are highly aggressive, such as high-grade serous cancer (HGSC) (Figure 1.1). Among cases at distant stage (Stage IV disease), the 5-year overall survival ranges from 13.9% for MC to 54.2% for LGSC.¹²



Figure 1-1 Classification of malignant ovarian cancer

1.2 Risk Factors for epithelial ovarian cancer and by histotypes

Increasing evidence indicated that risk factors for EOC vary by histotypes. Therefore, it is necessary to identify risk factors for EOC by histotypes. Risk factors for the overall risk of EOC and by histotypes have been well studied by the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium (OCAC) and the Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium (OC3). The OCAC is originally a forum of investigators of case-control studies of ovarian cancer. There have been 81 worldwide studies, including case-control studies, case-only studies, cohort studies, and nested case-control studies, participating in OCAC since 2005. The OC3 is an international consortium of over 20 cohort studies to study the etiologic heterogeneity of ovarian cancer. It is under the National Cancer Institute's cohort consortium. There are numerous large cohort studies participating in OC3, such as the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study, NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study, Nurses' Health Study, Women's Healthy Study, and Singapore Chinese Health Study. In addition to the OCAC and OC3, there is a large population-based prospective study, the Million Women Study, investigating risk factors for ovarian cancer in women in middle and old age.¹³ Through 2018, more than 1.3 million UK women with an average 20 years followup have participated in the study.¹⁴ **Table 1-1** presents the findings on risk factors by histotypes from OCAC and OC3. The associations between the risk factors and EOC evaluated by Mendelian randomization studies, systematic reviews and meta-analyses, the Million Women Study, and any individual study in OCAC or OC3 are summarized in the text. If no such association has been estimated by the types of studies listed above, the results from an individual study are summarized in the text. Some potential risk factors not estimated by OCAC or OC3 studies are only summarized in the text.

The associations between risk factors and EOC by histotypes appear inconsistent for several reasons. First, the classifications of histotypes, especially of serous cancer (SC) vary across studies. For example, the analysis pooling 39 studies in OCAC included invasive and unknown invasive SC¹⁵, while the study in OC3 included only invasive SC when estimating the association between height and risk of HGSC and LGSC.¹⁶ Second, the discrepancies in the associations between risk factors and EOC by histotypes can be due to the heterogeneity across studies, including study design, sample sizes, the various targeted populations, and sampling methods. For example, higher age at menopause was associated with an increased risk of most histotypes except HGSC and CCC in OC3.¹⁶ while the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study found no association between age at menopause and any histotype.¹⁷ The US Nurses' Health Study (1976-2006) (NHS) and Nurses' Health Study II (1989-2005) (NHS II) found a significantly positive association between age at menopause and EC risk only.¹⁸ The OC3 pooling 19 cohort and case-control studies had a total of 5584 EOC cases.¹⁶ The NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study included 849 cases among 169,391 women aged 50-71 in California, Florida, Louisiana, New Jersey, North Carolina and Pennsylvania.¹⁷ The NHS and NHS II included 924 EOC cases among 221,866 nurses aged 25-55.¹⁸ The inconsistent results on the association between age at menopause and EOC risk by histotype could be due to the populations and sample sizes in the three studies.

Factors		Study and	Overall	Type I Type I				
		comparison ^b		High-grade serous	Low-grade serous	Endometrioid	Clear Cell	Mucinous
Demographic	BMI	OCAC Olsen, 2013 ¹⁹ per 5 kg/m ²	1.06 (1.01, 1.11)	0. (0.94	0.98 (0.94, 1.02)		1.06 (0.96, 1.17)	1.19 (1.06, 1.32)
		OC3 ¹⁶ per 5 kg/m^2	1.01 (0.98, 1.04)	0.97 (0.93, 1.01)		1.07 (0.99, 1.16)	1.04 (0.92, 1.17)	1.08 (0.93, 1.20)
	Height	OCAC (MR) Dixon-Suen, 2018 ¹⁵ per 5 cm increase	1.06 (1.01, 1.11)	1.05 (0.99, 1.11)	1.15 (1.01, 1.30)	1.05 (0.95, 1.16)	1.20 (1.04, 1.38)	1.08 (0.96, 1.21)
	Treight	OC3 ¹⁶ per 0.5 m increase	1.06 (1.04, 1.08)	1. (1.03	1.06 (1.03, 1.09)		1.08 (0.98, 1.19)	1.08 (0.96, 1.20)
Reproductive and hormonal	Age at menarche	OC3 ¹⁶ per 1-year	0.99 (0.97, 1.00)	0.99 (0.97, 1.02)		1.00 (0.94, 4.05)	0.92 (0.85, 0.99)	1.00 (0.93, 1.07)
	Age at menopause	OC3 ¹⁶ per 5-year	1.06 (1.02, 1.10)	1. (1 .0 1	05 , 1.10)	1.00 (0.94, 1.05)	1.37 (1.15, 1.64)	0.95 (0.81, 1.11)
	Menstrual cycle length	OCAC Harris, 2018 ²⁰ >35 days vs. <=35 days	0.70 (0.58, 0.84)	0.62 (0.48, 0.80)	0.48 (0.25, 0.92)	0.75 (0.54, 1.06)	0.70 (0.43, 1.13)	0.38 (0.19, 0.76)
	Menstrual pain	OCAC Babic, 2018 ²¹ severe vs. no	1.17 (1.00, 1.38)	1.13 (0.97, 1.31)	1.12 (0.90, 1.39)	1.24 (0.99, 1.54)	1.48 (1.10, 1.99)	1.18 (0.63, 2.19)
	Parity	OCAC Lee, 2021 ²² >=3 complete pregnancies vs. 0	0.51 (0.47, 0.57)	0.70 (0.62, 0.79)	0.45 (0.31, 0.66)	0.50 (0.37, 0.67)	0.39 (0.28, 0.52)	0.71 (0.59, 0.84)
		OC3 ¹⁶ per 1 child increase	0.90 (0.89, 0.92)	0. (0.92	93 , 0.95)	0.78 (0.74, 0.83)	0.68 (0.61, 0.76)	0.91 (0.84, 0.99)
	Incomplete pregnancy	OCAC Lee, 2021 ²² >=2 vs 0	0.85 (0.74, 0.87)	0.96 (0.84, 1.03)	0.68 (0.49, 0.95)	0.71 (0.59, 0.84)	0.39 (0.28, 0.53)	0.77 (0.59, 1.00)

Table 1-1 Risk Factors associated with overall risk of ovarian cancer and by histotypes from OCAC and OC3^a

Offspring sex	OCAC Modugno, 2020 ²³ 3 more boys vs. none	OCAC ugno, 2020 ²³ 0.93 0.86 ore boys vs. (0.75, 1.16) (0.65, 1.13) none		-	0.54 (0.29, 1.02)	0.75 (0.34, 1.67)	2.31 (1.24, 4.29)
Breastfeeding	OCAC Babic, 2020 ²⁴ ever vs. never	0.76 (0.71, 0.80)	0.75 0.78 (0.70, 0.81) (0.61, 1.01)		0.73 (0.64, 0.84)	0.78 (0.64, 0.96)	0.93 (0.76, 1.14)
Dreastreeting	OC3 ¹⁶ per 1 year	0.96 (0.89, 1.03)	.96 0.94 9, 1.03) (0.86, 1.03)		0.85 (0.69, 1.05)	1.03 (0.81, 1.33)	0.88 (0.63, 1.23)
Oral contraceptive use	OC3 ¹⁶ per 5-year increase	0.87 (0.84, 0.90)	0. (0.81	0.85 (0.81, 0.89)		0.86 (0.74, 1.00)	1.54 (0.93, 1.19)
Lifetime ovulatory years	OC3 ²⁵ per 5-year increase	1.08 (1.05, 1.12)	1.08 - 15, 1.12) - 1.54 1.79 18, 2.01) (1.31, 2.43) 0.85 0.98 72, 1.0) (0.80, 1.20) 1.06 1.21 0.87 0.88 0.87 0.88 0.87 0.88 0.87 0.088 0.87 0.088 0.87 0.088 0.43, 2.66) 1.07		-	-	-
Estrogen-only therapy	OCAC Lee, 2016 ²⁶ 10+ years vs. never	1.54 (1.18, 2.01)			3.58 (1.74, 7.36)	-	-
Estrogen- progestin combined therapy	OCAC Lee, 2020 ²⁷ Ever postmenopausal use vs. never	0.85 (0.72, 1.0)			0.86 (0.57, 1.3)	0.68 (0.40, 1.2)	0.40 (0.18, 0.91)
Hormone replacement therapy	OC3 ¹⁶ per 5-year increase	1.06 (1.02, 1.10)			1.25 (1.15, 1.36)	0.69 (0.52, 0.92)	1.09 (0.94, 1.25)
Polycystic ovary syndrome	OCAC Harris, 2018 ²⁰	0.87 (0.65, 1.15)			1.03 (0.63, 1.67)	0.77 (0.34, 1.78)	0.61 (0.22, 1.66)
Tuballization	OCAC Sieh, 2013 ²⁸	0.81 (0.74, 0.89)	0.80 (0.73, 0.89)	0.89 (0.65, 1.22)	0.48 (0.40, 0.59)	0.52 (0.40, 0.67)	0.68 (0.52, 0.89)
i ubai ngation	OC3 ¹⁶	0.82 (0.73, 0.93)	0.91 (0.79, 1.06)		0.60 (0.41, 0.88)	0.35 (0.18, 0.69)	1.01 (0.60, 1.71)
Hysterectomy	OC3 ¹⁶	0.96 (0.89, 1.03)	1.03 (0.94, 1.13)		0.84 (0.66, 1.07)	0.57 (0.36, 0.88)	0.72 (0.51, 1.02)

	Genital powder	OCAC	1.24	1	.24	1.20	1.26	1.06
	use (Talc use)	Terry, 2013 ²⁹	(1.15, 1.33)	(1.13	3 , 1.35)	(1.03, 1.40)	(1.04, 1.52)	(0.82, 1.36)
	Pelvic inflammatory disease	OCAC Rasmussen, 2016 ³⁰	0.99 (0.83, 1.19)	0.89 (0.74, 1.08)	1.48 (0.92, 2.38)	1.15 (0.83, 1.60)	1.05 (0.65, 1.70)	0.84 (0.56, 1.25)
		OCAC	1.46	1.13	2.11	2.04	3.05	1.02
	En de metrice in	Pearce, 2012 ³¹	(1.31, 1.63)	(0.97, 1.32)	(1.39, 3.20)	(1.67, 2.48)	(2.43, 3.84)	(0.69, 1.50)
Gynecologic	Endometriosis	OC3 ¹⁶	1.35 (1.07, 1.71)	1 (0.74	1.03 (0.74, 1.46)		2.87 (1.53, 5.39)	1.62 (0.58, 4.51)
	Family history of ovarian cancer	OC3 ¹⁶	1.48 (1.26, 1.75)	1.61 (1.32, 1.97)		0.97 (0.52, 1.82)	0.96 (0.36, 2.57)	1.33 (0.59, 3.00)
	Family history of breast cancer	OC3 ¹⁶	1.09 (1.00, 1.19)	1.09 1.13 00, 1.19) (1.02, 1.26)		1.47 (1.15, 1.87)	0.75 (0.46, 1.22)	0.73 (0.47, 1.13)
Lifestyle	Physical inactivity	OCAC Cannioto, 2016 ³²	1.32 (1.12, 1.56)	1.30 (1.08, 1.53)	1.33 (1.01, 1.76)	1.26 (0.98, 1.63)	1.40 (1.11, 1.74)	1.50 (1.17, 2.10)
	Alcohol	OCAC Kelemen, 2013 ³³ >3 drinks vs. none	0.92 (0.76, 1.10)	0.96 (0.77, 1.20)	1.12 (0.55, 2.29)	0.49 (0.27, 0.91)	0.82 (0.50, 1.34)	0.98 (0.52, 1.82)
	Smoking	OCAC Faber, 2013 ³⁴ current vs. never	0.89 (0.76, 1.04)	0.92 (0.76, 1.10)		0.84 (0.69, 1.02)	0.74 (0.56, 0.98)	1.31 (1.03, 1.65)
		OC3 ¹⁶ ever vs. never	0.99 (0.94, 1.05)	0 (0.92	.99 , 1.06)	0.93 (0.79, 1.09)	0.95 (0.74, 1.21)	1.27 (1.01, 1.59)

^a Numbers are reported as effect estimate (95% confidence intervals). ^b If the comparison is yes vs. no, the comparison is not indicated in the table.

1.2.1 Demographic factors

Body Mass Index (BMI) and Obesity

Obesity is a risk factor for many cancer types;^{35,36} however, its association with EOC risk is inconsistent. OCAC found a positive association between body mass index (BMI) per kg/m² increase and EOC risk,¹⁹ while OC3 reported no association (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ A systematic review pooling 28 studies with odds ratios (ORs), risk ratios (RRs), or incidence ratios (IRs) reported a positive but small association between obesity and risk of ovarian cancer (pooled RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.12-1.50).³⁷ Pooling case-control studies produced a stronger association (pooled RR 1.49, 95%CI 1.29-1.54) than polling cohort studies (pooled RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.95-1.32).³⁷ A metaanalysis pooling 26 observational studies also indicated a positive association between BMI and EOC risk (pooled RR 1.07 and 1.28, 95% CI 1.02-1.12 and 1.16-1.41 comparing overweight and obesity with normal weight, respectively).³⁸ The most recent systematic review in 2017, including 43 studies with more than 3 million participants, concluded that there is inconsistent evidence of an association between obesity and the overall risk of ovarian cancer because 26 out of 43 studies reported no significant association between BMI and ovarian cancer risk, and three studies revealed a negative association between BMI and ovarian cancer risk.³⁹

The associations of higher BMI and EOC risk by histotypes were estimated by OCAC pooling 15 studies.¹⁹ Higher BMI was associated with increased risks of invasive EC (OR 1.17, 95% CI 1.11-1.23) and MC (OR 1.19, 95% CI 1.06-1.32).¹⁹ OC3 did not find any significant association between BMI and EOC risk by histotype (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ A Mendelian randomization study pooling 39 studies in OCAC reported a null association between higher BMI and HGSC risk (pooled OR 1.29 per 5 units BMI, 95% CI 1.03-1.91), but a significant association between higher

BMI and LGSC risk (pooled OR 1.93 per 5 units BMI, 95% CI 1.33-2.81).⁴⁰ An individual participant meta-analysis including 25,157 women with ovarian cancer found an increased risk of invasive MC with increasing BMI (RR 1.15 with standard error (SE) 0.032 per 5 kg/m² increase in BMI), but no other histotype-specific associations with BMI.⁴¹

Overall, BMI might not be associated with the overall risk of EOC but could be associated with risks of some histotypes, such as EC and MC.

Height

Height is positively associated with the overall risk of EOC, but the mechanism is unclear. A Mendelian randomization study pooling 39 OCAC studies indicated that height was associated with an increased risk of invasive ovarian cancer (OR 1.06 per 5 cm increase in height, 95% CI 1.01-1.11).¹⁵ OC3 found the same association between height and EOC risk (RR 1.06 per 0.5m increase in height, 95% CI 1.04-1.08) (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ A study pooling 47 studies showed the same association (RR 1.07 per 5cm increase in height, 95% CI 1.05- 1.09).⁴¹ A pooled analysis from 12 prospective cohort studies indicated that women with height >=1.70 meters had a 1.38 times higher risk of EOC compared with those with height <1.60 meters (95% CI 1.16-1.65).⁴² The Million Women Study also reported per 10 cm increase in height was positively associated with a risk of ovarian cancer (RR 1.17, 95% CI 1.11-1.23).⁴³

Height might be associated with SC risk. OCAC indicated that per 5 cm increase in height was associated with increased risks of invasive and borderline LGSC (OR 1.15, 95% CI 1.01-1.30), and invasive CCC (OR 1.20, 95% CI 1.04-1.38).¹⁵ OC3 found that the association between height and SC risk was significant when treating height as a continuous variable (RR 1.06 per 0.5m increase in height, 95% CI 1.03-1.09) (**Table 1-1**), but the significance disappeared when categorizing height into <1.60 meters, 1.60 to 1.65 meters, 1.65 to 1.70 meters, and >=1.70

meters.¹⁶ Women with height >=1.70 meters had a 1.27 times higher risk of EC compared to women with height 1.60 to 1.65 meters (95% CI 1.01 -1.60).¹⁶

1.2.2 Reproductive and hormonal factors

Age at menarche

Higher age at menarche has a protective effect on EOC risk. OC3 showed a borderline association between age at menarche per 1-year increase and the overall risk (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.97-1.00) (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ A meta-analysis including 22 case-control studies and five cohort studies showed an inverse association between age at menarche and the risk of ovarian cancer (RR 0.85, 95% CI 0.75-0.97 for the oldest compared to the youngest age group).⁴⁴ An update of this metaanalysis that included studies reported in PubMed through April 30, 2018, confirmed the inverse association presented in case-control studies (pooled OR 0.96 per year increase 95% CI 0.93-1.00), but not in cohort studies (pooled OR 0.99 per year increase, 95% CI 0.96-1.01). ⁴⁵ However, the updated analysis excluded studies with less than 60 cases and did not adjusted for covariates related to ovarian cancer.⁴⁵ The researchers of the updated meta-analysis also conducted two Mendelian randomization studies using 1,044 cases and 1,172 controls from a genome-wide association study (GWAS) in China and 29,396 cases and 68,502 controls of European descent extracted by OCAC and Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2 studies.⁴⁵ Both results supported the inverse association between age at menarche and EOC risk (OR 0.81, 95%) CI 0.67 - 0.97 in Chinese women and OR 0.94, 95% CI 0.90-0.98 in European women).⁴⁵

OC3 indicated the age at menarche per 1-year increase was associated with a reduced risk of CCC (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.85-0.99), but not with other histotypes (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ Similarly, age at menarche was not associated with the risks of SC, MC, EC, and CCC in a pooled analysis of 10

case-control studies in US white women.⁴⁶ The NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study results also did not show any significant association between age at menarche and EOC risks by histotype,¹⁷ although the null associations could be due to small sample sizes (78, 28, and 27 for EC, MC, and CCC, respectively).¹⁷

Age at menopause

Age at menopause is plausibly associated with increased risks of EOC and by histotype, but the results from studies are controversial. OC3 found a positive association between per 5-year increase in age at menopause and the overall EOC risk (RR 1.37, 95% CI 1.15-1.64) (**Table 1-1**), although the significance disappeared when treating age at menopause as a categorical variable.¹⁶ A study pooling six population-based case-control studies indicated a borderline statistical significant association between age at menopause and EOC risk (hazard ratio (HR) 1.09, 95% CI 0.99-1.20).⁴⁷

OC3 found positive associations between per 5-year increase in age at menopause and risks of SC (RR 1.05, 95% CI 1.01-1.10) and CCC (RR 1.37, 95% CI 1.15-1.64) (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ Results from the US NHS and NHS II showed a positive association of per 1-year increase in age at menopause and EC risk (RR 1.13, 95% CI 1.04- 1.22).¹⁸ However, no histotype-specific association was found by a study pooling ten case-control studies in US white women or by NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study.^{17,46}

Menstrual cycle length

Longer menstrual cycle length could be a protective factor against ovarian cancer risk via suppressing ovulation. While the estimations on the association are not consistent (**Table 1-2**). The results from 14 case-control OCAC studies showed that menstrual cycle length of >35 days was associated with a 30% lower EOC risk (95% CI 0.48-0.84) compared to menstrual cycle length

of <=35 days (**Table 1-1**).²⁰ The protective effect of menstrual irregularity was also found among women under age 45,⁴⁸ in a hospital-based case-control,⁴⁹ and a multiethnic population-based case-control study.⁵⁰ The results from the Child Health and Development Studies cohort also showed an increased risk for women with menstrual irregularity.⁵¹ However, the association was not found in a population-based case-control study in Massachusetts and New Hampshire⁵² and in the New England Case-Control study.⁵³

The relationship between menstrual cycle length and EOC may also be histotype-specific. OCAC showed a protective effect of the menstrual cycle length of >35 days on risks of HGSC (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.48, 0.80), LGSC (OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.25-0.80), and MC (OR 0.38, 95% CI 0.19-0.76),²⁰ but not in the New England Cases-Control Study.⁵³ The multiethnic population-based case-control study showed a protective effect of menstrual irregularity on CCC risk (OR 0.3, 95% CI 0.1-0.7).⁵⁰

Study	Study design	Sample Size	Definition of exposure	Effect estimates
				(95% confidence
				intervals)
Cirillo, 2016 ⁵¹	cohort	Cases 116 Total 15,528	self-report or physician report of irregular menstrual cycles, self or physician report of long cycles (>35 days); or physician coded oligomenorrhea, anovulatory cycles or irregular menses	HR stratified by age at
				follow-up (years) –
				65: 1.55 (0.86, 2.80);
				70: 2.26 (1.20. 4.26);
				75: 3.29 (1.47, 7.37);
				80: 4.78 (1.68, 13.61);
				85: 6.94 (1.86, 25.92)
Harris, 2017 ⁵³	population-based	Cases 2041	menstrual cycle length >35 days	OR
	case-control study	Controls 2100		0.83 (0.44, 1.54)
Harris, 2018 ²⁰	14 case-control	Cases 16,594	menstrual cycle length >35 days	OR
	studies	Controls 17,718		0.70 (1.00, 1.38)

Table 1-2 Characteristics of studies estimating the association between mentrual cycle length and EOC risk

Parazzini,1989 ⁴⁹	hospital-based case-control study	Cases 634 Controls 1626	frequent menstrual-like episodes of bleeding less than 21 or more than 35 days apart	RR 0.45 (0.31, 0.65)
Tavani, 1993 ⁴⁸	hospital-based	Cases 194	irregular menstrual cycles	RR
	case-control study	Controls 710		0.6 (0.3-1.0)
Titus-Ernstoff,	population-based	Cases 563	menstrual cycle length >30 days	OR
200152	case-control study	Controls 523	vs. <27 days	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)
Tung, 2003 ⁵⁰	multiethnic population-based	Cases 558 Controls 607	periods varying from cycle length by 2 or more days	OR 0.7 (0.5, 0.9)
	case-control study			

Menstrual pain

OCAC, including 10,592 cases and 13,320 controls, suggested an increased risk of overall ovarian cancer (OR 1.17, 95% CI 1.00-1.38) and CCC (OR 1.48, 95% CI 1.10-1.99) with severe menstrual pain compared to no pain (**Table 1-1**).²¹ The Australian Ovarian Cancer (AOC) study and the New England case-control (NECC) study, which were included in the OCAC study, individually estimated the association between menstrual pain and ovarian cancer risk.^{54,55} The NECC study also suggested an increased risk of overall ovarian cancer (OR 1.34, 95% CI 1.09-1.65), EC (OR 1.64, 95% CI 1.15-2.34), and CCC (OR 1.91, 95% CI 1.11-3.28) with severe menstrual pain compared to no or mild pain.⁵⁴ However, the AOC study found no significant association between menstrual pain and EOC risk overall or by histotype.⁵⁵

Parity and incomplete pregnancy

Parity is a well-known protective factor for EOC risk^{16-18,22,46,56,57} and the association varies by histotype. The results from OCAC, OC3 and a study from pooling six population-based casecontrol studies indicated that there are inverse association between the number of full-term pregnancies and all histologic subtypes, including SC, MC, EC, and CCC (**Table 1-1**). ^{16,22,46} The Million Women Study also reported that increasing was associated with a per birth 7% lower risk of LGSC (95% CI 0.90-0.96) and a 16% lower risk of HGSC (95% CI 0.76-0.93).⁵⁷ However, there was no association found between parity and MC risk by the NHS and NHS II study (parity vs. none among parous women RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.81-1.13), the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study (>=3 parities vs. nulliparous RR 0.44, 95% CI 0.18-1.07) or the Million Women Study (per birth increase among parous women RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.84-1.03).^{17,18,57} The null association between parity and MC risk was also supported by other induvial case-control studies.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ The discrepancies across histotype suggest MC has a different mechanism of carcinogenesis.

OCAC also indicated that incomplete pregnancy had protective effects on EOC risk, risk of LGSC, EC, and CCC (**Table 1-1**).²² Similarly, a cohort study observed that four or more incomplete pregnancies was associated with an increased risk of ovarian cancer (HR 1.74, 95% CI 1.20-1.70).⁶¹

Age of first childbirth

The results on the association between age at first childbirth and risk of ovarian cancer are inconsistent. OC3 and OCAC have not conducted such evaluation. The results from a nested case-control study in Sweden (OR 0.89 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.84-0.94), a population-based study in the USA including 1632 cases and 2340 controls (RR 0.87 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.79-0.95), a population-based case-control study undertaken as a Nordic collaboration (OR 0.97 per year, 95% CI 0.97-0.98), and a study pooling four case-control studies (OR 1.4 comparing ages < or =19 compared to > or =25, 95% CI 1.1-1.8) found that later age at first childbirth was associated with a reduced risk of ovarian cancer.⁶²⁻⁶⁵ A population-based study in Australia including 620 parous cases and 723 parous controls and the Danish MALOVA Study including 554 cases and 1564 controls found the same trend between age at first childbirth and risk of ovarian cancer; however, the estimates did not reach the statistical significance.^{60,66} The Million Women

Study, the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study, and a case-control study in Mexico City found no association.^{17,57,67} In contrast, a cohort study in Taiwan and results from pooling four case-control studies found an increased risk of ovarian cancer with a larger age at first childbirth.⁶⁸

Seven studies evaluated the association of age at first childbirth and EOC risk by histotype.^{17,46,52,57,60,62,64} The study pooling ten population-based case-control studies (OR 0.97 per 1-year, 95% CI 0.95-0.98), the Danish MALOVA Study (OR 0.81 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.70-.95), and the study undertaken as a Nordic collaboration (OR 0.85, 0.78, 0.54 comparing age 25-29, 30-39, >=40 to <25, respectively) found an inverse association between age at first childbirth and SC risk.^{46,60,64} The population-based study in the USA found an inverse associations between age at first childbirth and risk of EC (RR 0.82 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.70-0.95) and CCC (RR 0.74 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.57-0.96).⁶² The same association was found by the study in Massachusetts and New Hampshire combining EC and CCC (OR 0.6 comparing age >=25 at first childbirth and risk of any histotype in the Million Women Study and the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study.^{17,57}

Age of last childbirth

Later age at last childbirth was considered as a potential protective effect on ovarian cancer risk. A meta-analysis published in 2019 pooling 13 studies indicated that the pooled RR was 0.77 comparing the highest level of age at last childbirth to the lowest level (95% CI 0.65- 0.91).⁶⁹ Of the 13 studies, only one study conducted in Italy showed that later age at last childbirth was associated with increased ovarian cancer risk.⁴⁸ The study only had 52 cases in the group of women with age at last childbirth >=30 and 23 cases in the group of women with age at last childbirth

<25.⁴⁸ Another case-control study in Milan, Italy, reported no association between time since last childbirth and ovarian cancer risk among parous women or multiparous women.⁷⁰

Five studies estimated the association by histotype.^{50,52,57,60,64} A population-based, casecontrol study in Massachusetts and New Hampshire showed an non-significant inverse association between age at last childbirth and risk of combing EC and CCC (OR 0.7 comparing age >=30 at first birth to <30 years, 95% CI 0.4-1.1; P for trend 0.0009).⁵² A case-control study in Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden also found age at last childbirth was associated with a reduced risk of SC (OR 0.81, 0.78, 0.58 comparing age 25-29, 30-39, >=40 to <25, respectively) and EC (OR 1.01, 0.74, 0.39 comparing age 25-29, 30-39, >=40 to <25, respectively) among parous women.⁶⁴ Age at last birth >=30 was associated with 12% lower risk of CCC compared to age at last birthchild <25 (95% CI 0.63- 0.96, p for trend 0.08) in the Million Women Study.⁵⁷ However, there was no association between age at last childbirth and EOC risk by histotype in a multiethnic, population-based, case-control study in the USA and the Danish MALOVA Study.^{50,60} A multiethnic population-based case-control study evaluated the association between years since last childbirth and EOC risk and by histotype, but did not find any significant association.⁵⁰

Male Offspring

Studies investigating the association between offspring sex and EOC risk presented inconsistent results. No association was found between offspring sex and EOC risk in a multinational pooled analysis of 12 case-control studies from OCAC (**Table 1-1**).²³ The null association was supported by three population-based case-control studies⁷¹⁻⁷³ and one cohort study,⁷⁴ although two of them reported giving birth to male offspring was associated with a non-significant decrease in EOC risk.^{71,72} A nested case-control study in Sweden reported that giving birth to a male child was significantly associated with a reduced risk of EOC, and an increasing

number of male offspring was associated with increasing protective effect (adjusted OR, 0.92, 0.87, 0.82, for 1, 2 or 3+ boys, compared to giving birth to all girls; p for trend <0.001).⁷⁵

OCAC reported that increasing numbers of male offspring was associated with an increased risk of MC (OR, 1.31, 1.84, 2.31, for 1, 2, and 3+ boys, compared to giving birth to all girls; P for trend, 0.005). A population-based case-control study in Australia supported the association, reporting that giving birth to only male offspring was associated with a 2.19-fold increased risk of MC (95%CI 1.15-4.17).⁷³ The cohort study in Norway estimated increased risk of EC, but not other histotypes, among women with singleton births who gave birth to only female offspring compared to women who gave birth to only male offspring.⁷⁴

Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding is considered a protective factor against EOC risk.⁵⁶ The results from 13 case-control studies in OCAC indicated that breastfeeding was associated with a significantly reduced risk of ovarian cancer and risk of HGSC, EC and CCC (**Table 1-1**).²⁴ Another study pooling 13 case-control studies also indicated a protective effect of breastfeeding on SC.⁴⁶ However, the results from cohort studies were inconsistent with the results from case-control studies. Although the NHS and NHS II study found that breastfeeding per 1-year increase was associated with a decreased risk of all EOC (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.74-0.91), and risk of SC (RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.73-0.96) and MC (RR 0.43, 95% CI 0.25-0.74), the OC3 study pooling 21 prospective cohort studies did not find a significant association between duration of breastfeeding per 1-year increase, 95% ci 0.84-0.94), but not associated with risk by histotype.⁵⁷

Oral contraceptive use

Oral contraceptive (OC) use is a known modifiable protective factor for EOC risk, especially in BRCA1/2 carriers.^{16,60,62,76-78} However, the results from OC3 (**Table 1-1**) and the Danish MALOVA study both found that OC use appeared to protect against all histotypes except for MC, further suggesting that the etiology of MC differs from that of other histotypes.^{16,60}

Lifetime ovulatory years (LOYs)

Lifetime ovulatory years (LOYs) or lifetime ovulatory cycles (LOCs) is a risk factor for overall EOC and specific EOC histotypes. By searching in PubMed through Oct 31, 2020, there were 31 studies examining the association between LOYs/LOCs and EOC risk (Figure 1-2; Table **1-4**).^{18,25,50,60,67,79-104} The studies included 24 case-control studies,^{50,60,67,79-86,90-95,97,99-104} 4 pooled case-control studies,^{87-89,98} two cohort studies,^{18,96} and one pooled prospective cohort study.²⁵ Of the 24 case-control studies, two were conducted Australia,^{92,94} two in China,^{84,86} one in Denmark,⁶⁰ one in Italy,⁸¹ one in Poland,¹⁰³ two in Mexico,^{67,90} one in Nigeria,⁹⁵ 12 in the United States, ^{50,79,80,82,83,85,91,93,97,99,100,104} one in Vietnam¹⁰¹ and one worldwide.¹⁰² The remaining four studies were pooled analyses of case-control studies from the US⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹ and Italy.⁹⁸ Both cohort studies and the pooled prospective study were conducted in the US.^{18,25,96} Two case-control studies focused on Black women^{87,95,104} and one focused on BRCA1/2 mutation carriers.¹⁰² The line chart was drawn to show the trend of EOC risk along with LOYs increasing using studies that reported effect estimates and 95% CI (Figure 1-3). Of the 31 studies examining the LOYs/LOCs -EOC risk relationship, two included LOYs as a continuous variable,^{18,96} two did not have estimates of 95% CI^{80,89} two were included in other publications,^{50,87} one reported anovulatory index,⁶⁷ and three did not report effect size^{79,82,95}; thus those ten studies were not included in the meta-analysis (**Table** 1-4). The remaining 21 studies reported effect estimates comparing the categories of LOCs/LOYs

based on LOYs/LOCs exposure level. A meta-analysis was conducted to estimate the association between LOYs/LOCs and EOC risk. As shown in **Figure 1-4**, women with the highest level of LOYs had 2.26 times higher odds of EOC risk than women with the lowest level of LOYs (95% CI 1.94- 2.83).

Five studies estimated the association between LOYs/LOCs and risk by EOC histotype;^{25,50,60,99,104} however, the NHS+NHS II study was excluded from the meta-analyses because it reported LOYs only as a continuous variable.¹⁸ Of the remaining studies, four reported estimates for SC and EC^{50,60,99,104} and three included estimates for MC^{50,60,99} (**Figure 1-5**). LOY was statistically significantly associated with risk of SC (pooled OR 2.31, 95% CI 1.60-3.33) and EC (pooled OR 3.05, 95% CI 2.08-4.45). There was no statistically significant association between LOYS and risk of MC (pooled OR 1.52, 95% CI 0.87-2.64). These findings are consistent with the NHS+NHS II results:¹⁸ RR for SC 1.08 (95% CI 1.06-1.10), RR for EC 1.08 (95% CI 1.05-1.11), and RR for MC 1.03 (95% CI 1.00-1.07) per 1-year increase in LOYs.
Study	Study	Donulation	LOY	Cotogonias of our oguno	Outcomos	N	umber	Conformdora	Noto
(Region)	design	ropulation	exposure	Categories of exposure	Outcomes	Cases	Controls	Comounders	note
Casagrande, 1979 (USA)	Case- control	Aged 25-49	Ovulatory age	log (Ovulatory age)	Overall	150	150	No	
				< 25 y	Overall	5	186		
Hildroth			Index of	25-29 у		12	205		evaluded from
1981	Case-	Aged 45-75	years of	30-34 у		16	329	No	meta-analysis:
(USA)	Control		ovulation	35-39 y		21	253		lacked 95% CIs
				>=40 y		8	63		
La Vasabia				< 25 y		26	158		
La vecchia, 1983	Case-		Ovulatory	25-29 у		26	125		stratified by
(Italy)	control	Aged 20-69	years	30-34 y	Overall	48	114	Age in decades	menopausal status
				>=35 y		53	123		
Risch, 1983 (USA)	Case- control	Aged 20-75	Ovulatory years	per 1-year increase	Overall	284	705		excluded from meta-analysis: lacked point estimate
W 1000				< 25 y		50	191		
WU, 1988 (USA)	Case-	Aged 18-74	Years of	25-29 у	Overall	43	182	No	
(0011)	control	ngou io , i	ovulation	30-34 y	0 veruit	81	252	110	
				35+ y		97	264		
			Ovulatory	<= 16 y		42	33		
			vears	17-25 y	Overall	44	32	Education, ovarian cyst	
			y cui s	26-30 y		43	42		
Shu, 1989	Case-	Aged 18-70		>=31 y		43	56		
(China)	control	Ageu 10-70		<=229		31	40		
			Times of	230-319	0 11	34	45	Education, ovarian cyst,	
			ovulation	320-389	Overall	36	42	age at menarche	
				>=390		57	43	Ç	
Whittemore.	~			25 у		31	138		excluded from
1989	Case-	18-74	Years of ovulation	25-30	Overall	26	87	Y ears of unprotected	meta-analysis:
(USA)	control		5 vulution	30-35 35+		47 57	118 114	merobulse	included in Whittemore, 1992

Table 1-3 Summary of published articles estimating the association between lifetime ovulatory years and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer

		mean age		<10 y		10	21		
Chen, 1992	Case-	48.5 among		10-19 у	0 11	27	74	Education (None, Primary,	
(China)	control	cases and 49.0 among	years	20-29 у	Overall	44	97	high school, College)	
		controls		30+ y		31	32		
				<25 y		208	2099		
		Aged <55	Years of	25-29 у	0 11	131	804		
Whittemore,	12	U	Ovulation	30-34 y	Overall	198	962		
1992	case-			35+ y		145	595	Age, and study center	
(USA)	studies			<25 y		24	90		
		Aged 55+	Years of	25-29 у	Overall	24	160		
			Ovulation	30-34 y		121	363		
				35+ y		318	826		
John 1993	7 case-		Duration of	<25 y		38	135	Study year of hirth and	excluded from meta-analysis: 3 case-control studies
(USA)	control studies	Black women	ovulation	25-34 y	Overall	33	132	reference age	with full population
				>=35 y		33	65		analyses
			<25 y		NR	NR			
		A and 155	Voors of	25-29 у		NR	NR		
Whittemore	12	Ageu <55	Ovulation	30-34 y	Overall	NR	NR		
1993	case-			35+ y		NR	NR	Age, year of birth, and study center	excluded from
(USA)	studies			<25 y		NR	NR		lacked 95% Cis
		Aged 55+	Years of	25-29 у	0 11	NR	NR		
		0	Ovulation	30-34 y	Overall	NR	NR		
				35+ y		NR	NR		
				Quantile 1		NR	NR	abortions contraceptive use	
Bernal, 1995	Case-	Aged 18-79	Ovulatory	Quantile 2	Quarall	NR	NR	at fisrt use (<=20 years, 21-	
(WEXICO)	control		Cycles	Quantile 3	Overall	NR	NR	30 years), and education	
				Quantile 4		NR	NR		
Schildkraut.			Lifetime	<=234 (<=18 y)		4	840		
1997 CASH study	Case-	Aged 20-54	ovulatory cycles	235-375 (18-29 y)	p53- positive	29	1222	Age, age ² , menopausal	
CASH study contr (USA)	control		(Ovulatory vears)	376-533 (30-41 y)	cases	67	1159	status, and numparity	
				<=234 (<=18 y)		23	840		

			Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulatory years)	235-375 (18-29 y) 376-533 (30-41 y)	p53- negative cases	19 45	1222 1159		
			J • • • • • •	<23 y		172	348		101 11
Webb, 1998	Case-	Aged 18-79	Ovulatory	23-29.9 y	Overall	175	210	Age group (<45 , 45-54, 55- 64, and $>=65$ years),	stratified by menopausal status
(Australia)	control		years	30-34.9 y		155	161	menopausal status and	and p53 defined
				>=35 y		175	136	punty	tumor
Salazar-				<=26 mo		28	159	age, smoking, diabetes	excluded from
Martinez, 1999	Case-	NR	Anovulatory	27-59 mo	Overall	21	152	mellitus, hypertension, physical activity	meta-analysis: exposure is
(Mexico)	control		mucz, monur	60-104 mo		21	180	menopausal status, and	anovulatory index,
				>=105 mo		14	177	body build index	not LOC/LOY
			Lifetime	<300 (<23 y)	Overall	58	91		
Moorman, 2002			ovulatory cycles (Standard	300-399 (23- 30.7 y)		73	71		
The North Carolina Ovarian	Case-	Aged 20-74	method) (Ovulatory vears)	>=400 (>=30.7 y)		101	80	Age	
Cancer	control		Lifetime	<300 (<23 v)	Overall	75	105	-	
Study (USA)			ovulatory cycles	300-399 (23- 30.7 y)		75	67		
			(Method 2) (Ovulatory years)	>=400 (>=30.7 y)		82	70		
				0-9 у		79	139	Age, age squared,	
Durdia 2002	Casa		Ouulatory	10-14 у		86	136	education, area of residence, body mass index,	
(Australia) ^a	control	Aged 18-79	years	15-19 у	Overall	108	125	talc use in perineal region, smoking status, tubal	within age bands
				20-24 y		158	170	sterilization, hysterectomy	
				25-29 у		266	225	and a family history of	
				30-42 y		94	58	breast of ovarian cancer	
			Lifetime	<=266.4 (<20.5 y)					
Tung 2003	Case-		ovulatory cycles	266.5-363.9 (20.5-28 y)	Overall	unknow		Age ethnicity study site	overall excluded from meta-analysis:
(USA)	control	Aged 18+	(Ovulatory	364.0-436.7 (28-33.6 y)	Overan	n	unknown	education and tubal ligation	more complete data
(USA) control		_	years)	>=436.8 (>=33.6 y)				_	in Tung 2005

			Lifetime ovulatory cycles	<=266.4 (<20.5 y) 266.5-363.9 (20.5-28 y) 264.0 426 7 (28.23 6 y)	Invasive serous	unknow	unknown		
			years)	>=436.8 (>=33.6 y)		п			
			Lifetime	<=266.4 (<20.5 y)				_	
			ovulatory	266.5-363.9 (20.5-28 y)	Invasive				
			(Ovulatory	364.0-436.7 (28-33.6 y)	id	n	unknown		
			years)	>=436.8 (>=33.6 y)				_	
			Lifetime	<=266.4 (<20.5 y)				_	
			ovulatory	266.5-363.9 (20.5-28 y)	Invasive	unknow			
			(Ovulatory	364.0-436.7 (28-33.6 y)	mucinous	n	unknown		
			years)	>=436.8 (>=33.6 y)					
			Lifetime	<=266.4 (<20.5 y)				-	
			ovulatory	266.5-363.9 (20.5-28 y)	invasive	unknow			
			(Ovulatory	364.0-436.7 (28-33.6 y)	clear cell	n	unknown		
			years)	>=436.8 (>=33.6 y)					
			m , 1	0-9 y		5	5		
Odukogbe, 2005	Case-	gical patients	1 otal ovulating	10-19 у	Overall	7	17		excluded from
(Nigeria)	control	as controls	period	20-29 у		3	17		meta-analysis: no point estimates
				30-39 у		2	2		•
Rosner, 2005 NHS (USA) ^b	Cohort	Nurses aged 30-55 years	Duration of ovulation, years	per 1-year increase	Overall	472	2,298,068	Duration of menopause (years) and Tubal ligation (yes/no)	excluded from meta-analysis: exposure is continuous measure
				<22.1 y		118	176	Age, ethnicity, study site.	
Tung, 2005	Case-	Aged 18+	Ovulatory	22.1-29.1 у	Overall	134	160	education, tubal ligation,	stratified by
(USA)	control	ngou ior	cycles	29.2-34.1 y	Overall	150	141	hormone replacement therapy, and ovulation	menopausal status, and age periods
				>34.1 y		156	130	variables	
Pelucchi,	2 case-		Ovulatory	<357 (<28.8 y)		345	1169	Study, calendar year at	
2007 (Italy)	control	Aged 17-79	cycles (Ovulatory	357-429 (28.8-33 y)	Overall	456	1086	interview, age, center, education hormone	stratified by
(mary)	studies		years)	429-481 (33-37 y)		456	1059	replacement therapy use,	menopausai status

				>=481 (>=37 y)		479	1069	family history of ovarian and breast cancer in first degree relatives, and, in turn, menopausal status, parity, abortion, oral contraceptive use, and age at menarche	
				women ages <=45y: <=196 (<=15 y); women ages 45-60y: <=375 (<=29 y); women ages >60y: <=399 (<=30.7 y)		145	223		
			Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulatory years)	women ages <=45y: 197-298 (15-23 y); women ages 45-60y: 375-436 (29-33.5 y); women ages >60y: 400-457 (30.7-35.1 y)	Overall	182	224		
Terry, 2007	Case-	Aged 18+	ed 18+	women ages <=45y: >298 (>23 y); women ages 45-60y: >436 (>33.5 y); women ages >60y: >457 (>35.1 y)		274	227	Reference age (continuous), study center (Massachusetts or New Hampshire), cesarean section, tubal ligation, and hysterectomy	by histologic
(05A)	control			women ages <=45y: <=196 (<=15 y); women ages 45-60y: <=375 (<=29 y); women ages >60y: <=399 (<=30.7 y)		60	223		subtypes
			Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulatory years)	women ages <=45y: 197-298 (15-23 y); women ages 45-60y: 375-436 (29-33.5 y); women ages >60y: 400-457 (30.7-35.1 y)	Invasive serous	65	224		
				women ages <=45y: >298 (>23 y); women ages 45-60y: >436 (>33.5 y); women ages >60y: >457 (>35.1 y)		121	227		

	women ages <=45y: <=196 (<=15 y); women ages 45-60y: <=375 (<=29 y); women ages >60y: <=399 (<=30.7 y)		18	223
Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulator years)	women ages <=45y: 197-298 (15-23 y); women ages 45-60y: y 375-436 (29-33.5 y); women ages >60y: 400-457 (30.7-35.1 y)	Endometrio id	22	224
	women ages <=45y: >298 (>23 y); women ages 45-60y: >436 (>33.5 y); women ages >60y: >457 (>35.1 y)		58	227
	women ages <=45y: <=196 (<=15 y); women ages 45-60y: <=375 (<=29 y); women ages >60y: <=399 (<=30.7 y)		12	223
Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulator years)	women ages <=45y: 197-298 (15-23 y); women ages 45-60y: y 375-436 (29-33.5 y); women ages >60y: 400-457 (30.7-35.1 y)	Mucinous	24	224
	women ages <=45y: >298 (>23 y); women ages 45-60y: >436 (>33.5 y); women ages >60y: >457 (>35.1 y)		19	227
Lifetime ovulatory cycles (Ovulator years)	women ages <=45y: <=196 (<=15 y); women ages 45-60y: <=375 (<=29 y); y women ages >60y: <=399 (<=30.7 y)	Clear cell	16	223
- /	women ages <=45y: 197-298 (15-23 y);		28	224

				women ages 45-60y: 375-436 (29-33.5 y); women ages >60y: 400-457 (30.7-35.1 y) women ages <=45y: >298 (>23 y); women ages 45-60y: >436 (>33.5 y); women ages >60y: >457 (>35.1 y)		36	227			
			0.1	<=24 y		60	367			
			Ovulatory	25-29 y	Overall	71	221			
			years	30-35 y		112	304			
				>=36 y		100	217			
a 1			0.14	<=24 y		35	367	_		
Sogaard,			Ovulatory	25-29 у	Serous	47	221			
2007	C		years	30-35 y		73	304			
Ine	Case-	Aged 35-79		>=36 y		66	217	Age (in 5-year categories)	by histologic	
MALOVA study	control		Ormalistana	<=24 y	En de metrie	9	367		subtypes	
(Denmark)		Ovulatory	25-29 у	Endometrio	7	221				
			years	30-35 y	la	12	304			
				>=36 y		12	217	_		
		Ovulatory	<=24 y		8	367				
			Ovulatory	25-29 у	Mucinous	5	221			
			years	30-35 y		10	304			
				>=36 y		6	217			
Schildkraut,			Lifetime ovulatory	<265 (20.4 y)	Cyclin E+	41	193	Age at diagnosis/interview (cubic spline), race		
2008 The North			cycles	265-390 (20.4-30 y)	cases	68	200	(Black/non-Black), BMI		
Carolina	Case- control	Aged 20-74	(Ovulatory years)	>390 (>30 y)		104	219	(kg/m2; continuous), tubal ligation (yes/no), family	stratified by	
Cancer			Lifetime	<265 (20.4 y)	Carolin E	98	193	history of breast/overian cancer in	menopausal status	
Study			cycles	265-390 (20.4-30 y)	cases	118	200	first-degree relative		
(USA)			(Ovulatory years)	>390 (>30 y)		89	219	(yes/no), and infertility (yes/no)		
Gates, 2010 NHS and		Nurses aged 30-55 years in	Ovulatory years	per 1-year increase	Overall	924	220,942	Cohort (NHS or NHSII), – parous (yes/no).	excluded from	
NHS and NHS II Cohort study		30-55 years in NHS and nurses aged	Ovulatory years per 1-year increase		Serous	83	220,942	menopausal status (postmenopause vs.	meta-analysis: exposure is	
(USA) ⁶		NHS II	Ovulatory years	per 1-year increase	Endometrio id	80	220,942	premenopause/perimenopau se), missing data on	continuous measure	

			Ovulatory years	per 1-year increase	Mucinous	- 79	220,942	breastfeeding duration (yes/no) because of noncompletion of questionnaire, duration of menopause (1-year increase), tubal ligation (yes/no), hysterectomy (yes/no) and estrogen sued (5-year increase)
				<20 y		31	118	Age, education level (primary school, basic school, secondary school or higher), parity (para 1–5).
Le, 2012 (Vietnam) Case- control		Age under 60 rol	Years of ovulation	20-29 у	Overall	157	517	body mass index (BMI; b20.00, 20.00–22.45, 22.50–24.99
				>=30 y		72	120	\geq 25.00 kg/m2), menopausal status, age at menarche (\leq 13, 14–15, \geq 16 years) and OC use
	Voteonoulos			<=293.5 (<=22.6 y)		461	253	
, 2015 (worldwide	Case- control	BRCA1 and BRCA2 ol mutation carriers aged 20-70	Ovulatory cycles	>293.5-<=348.0 (22.6- 30.7 y)	Overall	684	256	Ethnicity (other white, Jewish, French-Canadian,
20 countries)			-	>348.0-<=398.8 (26.8 y- 30.7 y) >308 8 (30.7 y)		852 2317	255 253	other) and tubal ligation (yes/no)
			Ovulatory	2795.8(30.7 y)		86	301	
			cycles	439-467 (33.7-36 y)		76	333	
			algorithm C (Ovulatory	468-504 (36-38.8 y)	Overall	51	314	Age (in 5-year age
Vang 2016			years)	505-619.1 (38.8-47.6 y)		75	343	categories), study site (Lodz or Warsaw), age at
The Polish		Post-	Ovulatory	176.0-389.5 (13.5-30 y)		86	319	menopause (<45, 45–49,
Cancer	Case-	menopausal	cycles	389.6-425.8 (30-32.8 y)		67	315	$50-54$, or ≥ 55 years), age at
Study (Poland)	control	women	algorithm D (Ovulatory	425.9-453.35 (32.8-34.9 y)	Overall	53	315	menarche (<13, 13, 14, 15, or \geq 16 years), oral
			years)	453.36-565.7 (34.9-43.5 y)		76	320	ever), and number of live - births $(0, 1, 2, 0, r > 3)$
			Ormlatom	196.3-402 (15.1-30.9 y)		72	308	on and (0, 1, 2, 01 <u>-</u>)
			cycles	403-444.5 (30.9-34.2 y)	Overall	78	322	
			cycles algorithm G	444.6-479.9 (34.2-36.9 y)		59	318	

			(Ovulatory years)	480.0-602.3 (36.9-46.3 y)		71	315		
			Ovulatory	218.8-412 (16.8-31.7 y)		84	301	-	
			cycles	413-452.5 (31.7-34.8 y)	Orignall	66	301		
			(Ovulatory	452.6-480 (34.8-36.9 y)	Overall	49	282		
			years)	481-611 (36.9-47 y)		72	325		
			Ovulatory	183.5-377.525 (14.1-29.0 y)		80	330	-	
			cycles algorithm R	377.526-413.525 (29.0- 31.8 y)	Overall	75	304		
			(Ovulatory years)	413.526-443.52 (31.8- 34.1 y)		52	311		
				444.53-564 (34.1-43.4 y)		75	323		
			Ovulatory	<=304 (<=23.4 y)		115	235		
			cycles (Ovulatory	305-410 (23.4-31.5 y)	Overall	188	247	Age, study site, family	
			years)	>=411 (>=31.5 y)		231	240	cancer in a first degree	
		e- African rol American	rican Ovulatory 20-79 Ovulatory years)	<=304 (<=23.4 y)		68	235	- relative, tubal ligation,	by histologic
Peres, 2017 (USA)	Case- control			305-410 (23.4-31.5 y)	Serous	134	247	hysterectomy, BMI,	subtypes; stratified by age
		aged 20-79		>=411 (>=31.5 y)		162	240	status, body powder	group
			Ovulatory	<=304 (<=23.4 y)	Endometrio	14	235	endometriosis, and pelvic	
			cycles (Ovulatorv	305-410 (23.4-31.5 y)	id	10	247	inflammatory disease	
			years)	>=411 (>=31.5 y)		36	240		
				<24.5 y		214	657,188	Baseline age (continuous),	
				24.5-30.8 y		405	1,001,723	BMI (<20, 20–24.9, 25–29.9, 30–34.9, 35	
Trabert.	Pooled		Lifetime	30.8-36.6 y	0 11	767	1,634,435	kg/m2), smoking status	
2020 prospec		Aged 18+	ovulatory cycles years	36.6-40.0 y	Overall	917	1,750,003	(never, former, current), and duration of menopausal	by histologic
OC3 tive (USA) ^b studies	tive studies	C		40.0-42.8 y		488	909,033	hormone therapy use $(na)(r = 5, r = 5, r = 10, r = 10)$	subtypes
				>=42.8 y		459	744,342	(never, 5, >5-10, >10 years)	
			Lifetime ovulatory cycles years	per 5-y increase	Overall	NR	NR	Baseline age (continuous), BMI (<20, 20–24.9, 25–29.9, 30–34.9, 35	

Lifetime ovulatory cycles years	per 5-y increase	Serous	NR	NR	kg/m2), smoking status (never, former, current), and duration of menopausal
Lifetime ovulatory cycles years	per 5-y increase	Endometrio id	NR	NR	hormone therapy use (never, 5 , $>5-10$, >10 years), duration of oral
Lifetime ovulatory cycles years	per 5-y increase	Mucinous	NR	NR	contraceptive use and pregnancy history
Lifetime ovulatory cycles years	per 5-y increase	Clear cell	NR	NR	_

NR, not report ^a number of cases and controls are estimated from the percentages in each category multiplied by total number ^b person-years instead of number of controls were reported



Figure 1-2 Flow diagram of literature and citation search



Figure 1-3 Line chart of the trend of ovarian cancer risk by lifetime ovulatory years

		# of	# of	# of	# of						
	Comparison: Estimated	cases in the	controls in the	cases in the	controls in the	Ð					Adjusted Odds
Author	Lifetime Ovulation Years	higher group	higher group	lower group	lower group						Ratio (95% CI)
La Vecchia, 1983	(>=35 y) vs.(< 25 y)	53	123	26	158				•	_	4.60 (1.80, 12.10)
Wu, 1988	(>=35 y) vs.(< 25 y)	97	264	50	191			→			3.26 (1.69, 6.26)
Shu, 1989	(>=31 y) vs.(< =16 y)	43	56	42	33			•	_		1.80 (0.60, 5.40)
Whittemore, 1989	(35+ y) vs.(25 y)	57	114	31	138			•			3.80 (1.60, 8.70)
Chen, 1992	(30+ y)vs. (<10 y)	31	32	10	21					-	2.60 (0.60, 11.20)
Whittemore, 1992 Aged <55	(>=35 y) vs.(< 25 y)	145	595	208	2099						2.90 (2.00, 4.10)
Whittemore, 1992 Aged 55+	(>=35 y) vs.(< 25 y)	318	826	24	90		-	• • · ·			1.50 (0.87, 2.40)
Bernal, 1995	Q4 vs Q1	NR	NR	NR	NR			+ ●	_		2.81 (1.52, 5.19)
Schildkraut, 1997 p53+	(30-41 y) vs. (<=18 y)	67	1159	4	840			I	•		9.10 (2.70, 30.90)
Schildkraut, 1997 p53-	(30-41 y) vs. (<=18 y)	45	1159	23	840			•			1.30 (0.50, 3.20)
Webb, 1998	(>=35 y) vs. (< 23y)	175	136	172	348						2.17 (1.54, 3.05)
Moorman, 2002 (standard metho	od)(>=30.7 y) vs. (<23 y)	101	80	58	91			+ +			3.80 (2.10, 6.80)
Purdie, 2003	(30-42 y) vs. (0-9 y)	94	58	79	139				•		5.01 (2.86, 8.76)
Tung, 2005	(>=34.1y) (vs. (<22.1 y)	156	130	118	176						1.82 (1.17, 2.85)
Pelucchi, 2007	(>=37 y) vs. (<28.8 y)	479	1069	345	1169			→			1.81 (1.47, 2.23)
Terry, 2007	high vs. low	274	227	145	223			↓ • • •			1.88 (1.42, 2.47)
Sogaard, 2007	(>=36 y) vs. (<=24 y)	100	217	60	367			•	_		3.36 (2.14, 5.30)
Schildkraut, 2008 Cyclin E+	(30 y) vs. (20.4 y)	104	219	41	193				-		2.70 (1.60, 4.50)
Schildkraut, 2008 Cyclin E-	(30 y) vs. (20.4 y)	89	219	98	193		+	•			1.00 (0.70, 1.50)
Le, 2012	(>=30 y) vs. (<20 y)	72	120	31	118			<u> </u>			2.80 (1.20, 6.60)
Kotsopoulos, 2015	(30.7 y) vs. (<=22.6 y)	461	253	2317	253						1.82 (1.34, 2.46)
Yang, 2016 (algorithm G)	(36.9-46.3 y) vs. (15.1-30.9	y)71	315	72	308			•	_		2.44 (1.22, 4.87)
Peres, 2017	(>=31.5 y) vs. (<=23.4 y)	231	240	115	235						1.59 (1.15, 2.20)
Trabert, 2020	(>=42.8 y) vs. (<24.5 y)	459	744,342	214	657,188			-			1.92 (1.60, 2.30)
Overall (I-squared = 61.2%, p =	0.000)										2.26 (1.94, 2.63)
					.2	5	.5	1 2 4	8	16	32
						Decr	eased risk	Inc	reased risk		

Figure 1-4 Forest plot estimating the association between lifetime ovulatory years and the overall risk of ovarian cancer

		# of	# of	# of	# of										
	Comparison: Estimated	cases in the	controls in the	cases in the	controls in	the								Ad	iusted Odds
Author	Lifetime Ovulation Years	higher group	higher group	lower group	lower grou	n								Ra	tio (95% CI)
		inghoi group	ngror group	ionor group	ionor grou	P									
Serous															
Tung, 2003	(>=33.6 y) (vs. (<20.5 y)	unknown	unknown	unknown	unknown					•	-			2.6	60 (1.50, 4.50)
Sogaard, 2007	(>=36 y) vs. (<=24 y)	66	217	35	367						•	-		4.2	22 (2.39, 7.45)
Terry, 2007	high vs. low	121	227	60	223				•	-				1.8	34 (1.27, 2.65)
Peres, 2017	(>=31.5 y) vs. (<=23.4 y)	162	240	68	235				-	-				1.7	73 (1.19, 2.52)
Subtotal (I-squ	ared = 61.8%, p = 0.049)								<	>				2.3	31 (1.60, 3.33)
Endometrioid															
Tung, 2003	(>=33.6 y) (vs. (<20.5 y)	unknown	unknown	unknown	unknown					•				2.4	0 (1.10, 5.20)
Sogaard, 2007	(>=36 y) vs. (<=24 y)	12	217	9	367			+	•					2.2	29 (0.77, 6.82)
Terry, 2007	high vs. low	58	227	18	223				-	•	-			3.9	92 (2.19, 7.04)
Peres, 2017	(>=31.5 y) vs. (<=23.4 y)	36	240	14	235					•				2.8	34 (1.26, 6.40)
Subtotal (I-squ	ared = 0.0%, p = 0.713)								<	>	>			3.0	05 (2.08, 4.45)
Mucinous															
Tung, 2003	(>=33.6 y) (vs. (<20.5 y)	unknown	unknown	unknown	unknown			-	•	_				1.1	0 (0.40, 2.90)
Sogaard, 2007	(>=36 y) vs. (<=24 y)	6	217	8	367			+	•		_			1.3	32 (0.34, 5.08)
Terry, 2007	high vs. low	19	227	12	223			+	•					1.9	93 (0.89, 4.19)
Subtotal (I-squ	ared = 0.0%, p = 0.665)							4	>	>				1.5	52 (0.87, 2.64)
								+	<u> </u>						
						.25	.5	1	2	4		8	16	32	
						De	creased risl	k		Inc	reased	risk			



Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Hormone replacement therapy (HRT), regardless of the type, is a risk factor for EOC.^{16-18,26,60,105,106} The association varies by histotype. OC3 found that HRT use per 5-year increase was associated with an increased risk of SC (RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.17-1.25) and EC (RR 1.25, 95% CI 1.15-1.36), but associated with a decreased risk of CCC (RR 0.69, 95% 0.52-0.92) and no associated with a risk of MC (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ The NHS and NHS II study and the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study indicated the same association between HRT and risk of SC and EC.^{17,18} Two meta-analyses indicated the association between HRT use with SC but not with other histotypes.^{105,106} The Danish MALOVA Study also indicated the discrepancies in the association of MC risk versus the association of non-mucinous ovarian cancer risk.⁶⁰ The association might depend on the type of HRT. OCAC found that estrogen-only therapy was associated with higher risks of ovarian cancer overall, SC and EC among women with a simple hysterectomy,²⁶ while, postmenopausal estrogen-progestin combined therapy use was associated reduced risk of ovarian cancer overall and MC among postmenopausal women (**Table 1-1**).²⁷

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS)

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), which is associated with elevated androgen levels, might be a potential risk factor for EOC risk. A meta-analysis pooling the results from three studies indicated a non-significant positive association between PCOS and EOC risk (OR 1.41, 95% CI 0.93-2.15),¹⁰⁷ Notably, one of the three studies, which included only women younger than 54 years, reported a significant positive association between PCOS and EOC risk (OR 2.5 with 95% CI 1.1-5.9).¹⁰⁸ However, OCAC pooling 14 case-control sites and the NECC study, one of the OCAC sites, found no association between PCOS and risk of EOC overall and by histotype.^{20,53} Similarly,

the Australian Ovarian Cancer Study did not find any association between PCOS and risk of EOC and SC.¹⁰⁹

Tubal ligation

Tubal ligation was associated with a decreased risk of EOC risk in OCAC (OR 0.81, 95% CI 0.74-0.89), OC3 (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.73-0.93), the NHS and NHS II study (RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.56-0.84), the Million Women Study (RR 0.80 95% CI 0.76-0.85), and a meta-analysis including 11 studies (RR 0.70 95% CI 0.64-0.75).^{16,18,28,110,111} However, the results on the histotype-specific association were inconsistent (**Table 1-4**). OCAC found the protective effects of tubal ligation on the risk of HGSC, EC, CCC and MC, but not on the risk of LGSC.²⁸ OC3 did not find a significant association between tubal ligation and risk of SC and MC, but found a significant association between tubal ligation and risk of MC.¹¹¹ The meta-analysis did not found a significant tubal ligation between tubal ligation and risk of SC, HGSC, EC, and CCC.¹¹⁰ The NHS and NHS II study did not find any significant histotype-specific association, which could be due to the limited sample size.¹⁸

Study	Serous	High-grade	Low-grade	Endometrioid	Clear cell	Mucinous
		serous	serous			
OCAC ²⁸	-	0.80	0.89	0.48	0.52	0.68
		(0.73, 0.89)	(0.65, 1.22)	(0.40, 0.59)	(0.40, 0.67)	(0.52, 0.89)
$OC3^{16}$	0.91	_	-	0.60	0.35	1.01
	(0.79, 1.06)			(0.41, 0.88)	(0.18, 0.69)	(0.60, 1.71)
Meta-	0.75	-	-	0.45	0.75	0.88
analysis ¹¹¹	(0.65, 0.88)			(0.33, 0.61)	(0.55, 0.94)	(0.70, 1.09)
The Million	0.84	0.77	-	0.54	0.55	0.99
Women ¹¹⁰	(0.77, 0.92)	(0.67, 0.89)		(0.43, 0.69)	(0.39, 0.77)	(0.84, 1.18)
NHS and	0.83	-	-	0.59	0.50	-
NHS II ¹⁸	(0.63, 1.09)			(0.34, 1.02)	(0.25, 1.01)	

Table 1-4 Assocition between tubal ligation and risk of EOC by histotype

Hysterectomy

OC3 did not find a significant association between hysterectomy and EOC risk, but found a reduced risk of CCC associated with hysterectomy (RR 0.57 95% CI 0.36-0.88).¹⁶ A metaanalysis pooling 24 studies indicated that hysterectomy was associated with a reduced risk of EOC risk, which remained even when stratified by type of hysterectomy or study design.¹¹¹ The association retains stratified by study design or type of hysterectomy.¹¹¹ The Danish MALOVA study, a case-control study participating in OCAC, did not find any association between hysterectomy and EOC risk or risk of any histotype,⁶⁰ while, the NHS and NHS II study, a cohort study participating in OC3 indicated hysterectomy was associated with a decreased risk of EOC risk (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.85-0.91) and risk of MC (RR 0.45, 95% CI 0.20-0.98).¹⁸

1.2.3 Gynecologic factors

Genital powder use (Talc use)

Genital powder use has been considered as a potential risk factor for EOC risk via inflammation. OCAC confirmed a positive association between genital powder use and EOC risk (**Table 1-1**),²⁹ which was reported by several case-control studies^{55,112-114} and the NHS study.¹¹⁵ OCAC also found that genital powder use was associated with an increased risk of SC (OR 1.24, 95% CI 1.13-1.35), EC (OR 1.20, 95% CI 1.03-1.40), and CCC (OR 1.26, 95% CI 1.04-1.52), but not MC.²⁹ One case-control study reported a significant association between genital powder use and risk of SC (OR 1.21, 95% CI 1.03-1.44),⁵⁵ but the NHS study and the combined NHS and NHS II study did not find any histotype-specific association, except for invasive SC. ^{18,115}

Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID)

Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), which induces chronic inflammation, might be a risk factor for EOC. However, the association varies by study design. OCAC pooling 13 case-control studies did not find a significant association between PID and risk of EOC overall or by histotype (**Table 1-1**).³⁰ In contrast, a meta-analysis including six cohort studies and seven case-control studies found that PID was associated with an increased risk of ovarian cancer (pooled RR 1..24, 95% CI 1.06-1.44).¹¹⁶ However, the association was not significant when limiting to the case-control studies.¹¹⁶ An updated meta-analysis in 2020 including sixteen studies found PID was associated with an increased risk of ovarian cancer (HR 1.18, 95% CI 1.13-1.22), and the association were not altered stratified by study design or by serous versus non-serous ovarian cancer.¹¹⁷ A more recent retrospective cohort study from Taiwan also supported that PID was associated with an increased risk of ovarian cancer (HR 1.49, 95% CI 1.21-1.84).¹¹⁸

Endometriosis

Endometriosis is a well-known risk factor for EOC with effect estimates ranging from 1.35 to 1.96, especially for EC (OR 2.04 in OCAC and RR 2.32 in OC3) and CCC (OR 3.05 in OCAC and RR 2.87 in OC3) (**Table 1-1**).^{16,31,119} OCAC also found endometriosis was associated with an increased risk of LGSC (OR 2.11, 95% CI 1.39-3.20).³¹

1.2.4 Genetic factors

Family history of ovarian cancer or/and breast cancer

OC3 found that a family history of ovarian or/and breast cancer was associated with an increased risk of EOC (**Table 1-1**).¹⁶ The same association was also found by other individual cohort studies and case-control studies.¹²⁰⁻¹²⁶ When considering histotypes, OC3 found that family

history of ovarian cancer was only associated with an increased risk of SC (RR 1.61, 95% CI 1.32-1.97), and family history of breast cancer was associated with increased risk of SC (RR 1.13, 95% CI 1.02-1.26) and EC (RR 1.47, 95% CI 1.15-1.87).¹⁶ The Cancer and Steroid Hormone Study conducted in 1988 among women aged 20-54 years only found that family history of breast cancer was associated with an increased risk of EC (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.1-4.7), but not with SC.¹²⁶ A casecontrol study among women with the mean age of 54.8 years found that family history of ovarian or/and breast cancer was associated with increased risk of SC (OR 2.22, 95% CI 1.37-3.58) and EC (OR 2.31, 95% CI 1.09-4.90).¹²³

1.2.5 Lifestyle factors

Physical activity

Pooling nine case-control studies, OCAC found that physical inactivity was associated with a higher risk of EOC (OR 1.32, 95% CI 1.12-1.56).³² However, a prospective cohort study among U.S. women did not found a significant association between physical activity and risk of ovarian cancer.¹²⁷ A meta-analysis found a significant inverse association between physical activity and risk of ovarian risk of ovarian cancer (pooled OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.70-0.85) among seven case-control studies but a non-significant association(pooled RR 0.81, 95% CI 0.57-1.17) among seven cohort studies.¹²⁸

Regarding the histotype-specific associations, OCAC found that physical inactivity was significantly associated with risk of HGSC (OR 1.30, 95% CI 1.08-1.53), LGSC (OR 1.33, 95% CI 1.01-1.76), CCC (OR 1.40, 95% CI 1.11-1.74) and MC (OR 1.50, 95% CI 1.17-2.10), but not associated with EC (**Table 1-1**).³² While, two case-control studies suggested an inverse association for all histotypes except MC.^{129,130}

Alcohol intake

Pooling 12 case-control studies, OCAC reported no association between alcohol intake and overall risk of EOC regardless of alcohol types (**Table 1-1**).³³ The null association was also found in three meta-analysis studies.¹³¹⁻¹³³ The meta-analysis of only prospective observational studies suggested a positive association between alcohol intake and risk of ovarian cancer in the non-U.S. population (OR 0.96, 95% CI 0.92-1.00).¹³² An inverse association with alcohol and risk of ovarian cancer was found in a Australian population (OR 0.49 comparing >=2 standard drinks per day to non-drinkers, 95% CI 0.30-0.81).¹³⁴ While OCAC found an inverse association between alcohol intake and risk of EC (OR 0.49, 95% CI 0.27-0.91),³³ which was consistent with the results from a meta-analysis (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.70-0.96).¹³¹

Smoking

Both OCAC and OC3 did not find an association between smoking and overall risk of ovarian cancer, but a significant positive association of MC (**Table 1-1**).^{16,34} A meta-analysis pooling individual participant data from 28,114 women with and 94,942 without ovarian cancer found the same association between smoking and MC risk (RR 1.79 comparing current smokers to never smokers, 95% CI 1.47-2.17).¹³⁵ OCAC and the meta-analysis found a reduced risk of CCC in current smokers (Comparing current smokers to never smokers OR 0.74 95% CI 0.56-0.98; RR 0.80, 95% CI 0.63-1.01, respectively),^{34,135} and the meta-analysis also found a reduced risk of EC (RR 0.81 comparing current smokers to never smokers, 95% CI 0.63-0.94).¹³⁵ The sheterogeneity across histotypes was well-summarized by a review, which suggested detecting the histotype-specific associations in a larger number of participants with rare histotypes.¹³⁶

Caffeine intake

Neither OCAC nor OC3 conducted a study to evaluate the association between caffeine intake and EOC risk. Several meta-analyses report a null association between coffee intake and EOC risk.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ One of the meta-analyses found an inverse association between tea intake and overall EOC risk (RR 0.85 comparing the highest to the lowest tea consumption group, 95% CI 0.71-1.01).¹³⁹ The association was strengthened by restricting to cohort studies (RR 0.71, 95% CI 0.55-0.93).¹³⁹ The Netherlands Cohort Study found an inverse association between tea intake and risk of SC, and a positive association between tea intake and risk of EC and MC (data not shown in the original article).¹³⁹ Among all individual studies, one cohort study in a non-white population indicated a reduced risk of ovarian cancer with higher coffee intake (HR 0.33, 95% ci 0.17-0.65).¹⁴⁰

The association between diet and ovarian cancer risk is challenging to assess. One systematic review in 2014 that identified 24 publications summarized the association of with dietary fat, vegetable and fruit intake, micronutrient, and plant-based bioactive intake, and other dietary components, such as sugar, with risk of ovarian cancer.¹⁴¹ The systematic review suggested that total, animal and dairy fat, nitrate, and vitamin C were associated with an increased risk of ovarian cancer and vegetables were associated with a decreased risk of ovarian cancer.¹⁴¹ The data on histotype-specific association were limited due to sample sizes of individual studies.¹⁴¹

A meta-analysis estimating the association between calcium intake and risk of ovarian cancer suggested that dietary calcium, but not dairy calcium intake and supplemental calcium intake, was associated with a reduced risk of EOC (RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.69-0.88).¹⁴² A Mendelian randomization study from OCAC indicated that lower 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations were associated with a higher risk of ovarian cancer in Europeans (OR 1.27 per 20 nmol/L decrease in

41

25(OH)D concentration, 95% CI 1.06-1.51) by combining the individual SNP associations using inverse variance weighting.¹⁴³ In contrast, a case-control study in African-American women did not find an association between vitamin D intake and ovarian cancer risk.¹⁴⁴ While an inverse association between supplemental selenium and risk of ovarian cancer was observed in African-American women (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.46-0.97).¹⁴⁵

1.3 Prognostic factors of epithelial ovarian cancer and by histotypes

Several factors have been associated with improved outcome in EOC, as discussed below. However, there are limitations to the evidence. First, most studies examined the relationships between prognostic factors for EOC in general but not by histotypes. Second, prognostic factors for EOC are usually identified using Cox proportional hazard regression analysis (CoxPHR). The proportional hazards assumption is fundamental to the CoxPHR. Many studies did not report whether the proportional hazards assumption was assessed. Moreover, even when studies did report that the assumption was violated, many failed to address the concern. A violation of this assumption lowers statistical power with an increased sample size.¹⁴⁶

Despite these limitations, an understanding of potential prognostic factors can help guide clinical decision making and point the way to potential new therapeutic approaches.

1.3.1 Clinical factors

Stage

Stage is a well-known independent prognostic factor for EOC.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰ Patients with advanced stage presented worse survival.

Grade

Grade has not been considered as an important prognostic factor for EOC.¹⁵¹ Data from the Taiwan Cancer Registry from 2009 to 2013 showed that the overall survival of patients with early-stage EOC and patients with advanced-stage EOC did not differ by grade.¹⁴⁸

Histotype

As a potential prognostic factor, histotype was observed to significantly affect EOC survival, especially among patients with advanced stage.^{12,148} Patients with LGSC had a significantly better outcome than patients with HGSC.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴ Patients with MC and CCC presented a worse outcome compared to LGSC or combined SC, especially restricting to patients with advanced stage .^{12,148,150,155,156}

Residual disease after cytoreductive surgery

The success of cytoreductive surgery was associated with better outcomes.¹⁵¹ The Gynecologic Oncology Group defined the maximum diameter of residual less than or equal or 1cm as optimal residual disease, and more than 1cm but less than 2cm as suboptimal residual disease.¹⁵¹ The benefit of optimal residual disease was observed in several studies.^{149,155,157} A meta-analysis indicated ≤ 2 cm residual disease also benefited the patients with stage III and IV ovarian cancer (Comparing patients left with tumor masses > 2 cm to patients with nil and ≤ 2 cm residual disease after surgery at 5 years, OR 5.51, 95% CI 4.340-6.90; OR 4.35, 95% CI 2.87-6.61 for patients at stage III and stage IV, respectively).¹⁵⁸

Age at diagnosis

The data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program from 1988 to 2001 indicated that younger women with EOC have better survival compared to older women with EOC,¹⁵⁹ which may be due to an earlier stage at diagnosis.^{147,160-162} The associations were consistent among women with CCC and women with non-CCC.¹⁵⁹ However, age might not be an independent prognostic factor after considering stage and residual disease.¹⁶¹

Type of treatment

The standard of care chemotherapeutic treatment for advanced ovarian cancer employs platinum/taxane agents.¹⁶³ There are two typical regimens. One is neoadjuvant chemotherapy, which involves three cycles of chemotherapy treatment before debulking surgery and an additional 3-5 cycles of chemotherapy after debulking surgery.¹⁶⁴ The other is adjuvant chemotherapy, which involves 6-8 cycles of chemotherapy after surgery.¹⁶⁴ In early stage disease, patients who received adjuvant chemotherapy presented better survival compared to patients who received no chemotherapy did not benefit CCC patients with stage IA and IB compared to observation alone.¹⁶⁶ Compared to adjuvant therapy, neoadjuvant therapy presents no significant survival advantage.^{164,167} Nonetheless, the Society of Gynecologic Oncology and American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline recommended that women with advanced stage EOC with a low likelihood of achieving cytoreduction to <1 cm of residual disease should receive neoadjuvant chemotherapy.¹⁶⁸

Chemotherapy response

Compared to the type of chemotherapy, the response to chemotherapy may be a potential prognostic factor. Chemotherapy responses can be defined into a three-tiered score system as no or minimal response, partial response, and complete or near-complete response.¹⁶⁹ A positive association between complete or near-complete response and EOC overall survival was observed compared to no or minimal response or partial response in a systematic review and meta-analysis pooling individual data of HGSC patients with advanced stage from 16 sites(pooled HR for overall survival 0.65, 95% CI 0.50-0.85).¹⁷⁰ The same association was observed in HGSC patients without BRCA mutation.¹⁷¹

Platinum sensitivity is another marker of chemotherapy response and is defined as the time between the last dose of platinum-based chemotherapy and the evidence of cancer progression after more than 6 months.¹⁷² Results from 91 HGSC patients with advanced stage in the Republic of Macedonia and from 203 HGSC patients with more than ten-year survival from a multi-center research consortium showed that platinum sensitivity was associated with better outcomes.^{157,173}

BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation

BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation carriers had improved survival compared with noncarriers.^{171,174,175} Several systematic review and meta-analysis studies confirmed the association and suggested BRCA mutation as a favorable prognostic factor for ovarian cancer.¹⁷⁶⁻ 178

TP53 mutation

The findings of the association between TP53 mutation and outcomes are inconsistent. The results from 190 patients with stage III and IV and 316 samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) ovarian GHSC study found that the TP 53 mutation was associated poorer survival.^{179,180} In contrast, the results from 81 patients suggested TP53 mutation was associated with a short-term survival benefit.¹⁸¹ The OncoMap data of Korean EOC samples showed a null association between TP53 mutation and outcomes.¹⁸² The controversial results could be explained by two more recent studies, which classified different TP53 mutations.^{183,184} The studies suggested that only some specific mutations were associated with outcomes.^{184,185}

1.3.2 Biomarkers

Cancer Antigen 125 (CA125)

Serum Cancer Antigen 125 (CA125) is considered the gold standard of biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis for ovarian cancer.^{185,186} There have been multiple studies estimating the association between CA-125 levels and ovarian cancer survival and suggesting CA-125 as an independent prognostic factor for patients with advanced ovarian cancer,¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁹⁷ although CA-125 level assessed at different time-point presented different associations with ovarian cancer survival (**Table 1-5**). The timepoint for CA-125 assessment with maximum prognostic significant remains unknown.

Time point	Study	Association with better survival
Pafora the initiation of treatment	Gronlund, 2005 ¹⁸⁹	Null
Before the initiation of treatment	Markman, 2006 ¹⁹⁰	INUII
In early avalag of abametherapy	Ron, 1994 ¹⁹¹	Reduction was associated with better
in early cycles of chemotherapy	Markman, 2006 ¹⁹⁰	survival
Dest shows otherways	Kim, 2008 ¹⁹²	Turney
Post-cnemotherapy	Juretzka, 2007 ¹⁹³	Inverse
Day an anti- n	Buller, 1996 ¹⁹⁴	Null an income
Pre-operation	Geisler, 1996 ¹⁹⁵	Null of inverse
Dest energies	Sevelda, 1989 ¹⁸⁷	Transmer -
Post-operation	Akeson, 2009 ¹⁸⁸	Inverse
11-16 1:6-	Gadducci, 2004 ¹⁹⁷	Transmer -
Hall-life	Riedinger, 2006 ¹⁹⁶	Inverse
N. d.	Riedinger, 2006 ¹⁹⁶	Turney
INAUII	Salminen, 2020 ¹⁸⁶	niverse

 Table 1-5 Suumary of the assocition between CA125 levels at different time point and ovarian cancer survival in some publications

Human Epididymis Protein 4 (HE4)

The role of Human Epididymis Protein 4 (HE4) as a prognostic factor for ovarian cancer has been widely studied.¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰² Two studies suggested that the reduction of HE4 level during treatment could be an independent prognostic factor for ovarian cancer,^{198,199} which is consistent with the results from a meta-analysis suggesting that the preoperative HE4 levels could predict ovarian cancer survival (pooled HR for overall survival 1.91, 95% CI 1.40-2.61).²⁰² The combination of HE4 and CA125 could improve the accuracy of prognosis in ovarian cancer patients.^{200,203}

Biomarkers from in the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis (OTTA) consortium

The association between nine immunohistochemistry (IHC) biomarkers available in the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis (OTTA) consortium coordinating center are summarized below. The nine biomarkers included three hormone receptors as tumor-specific features, which may be associated with prognosis.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ In addition to hormone receptors, other tumor markers reported by OTTA, such as myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), folate receptor 1 (FOLR1), CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs), p16, and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), were associated with survival in a histotype-specific way (**Table 1-6**).²⁰⁷⁻²¹¹

Demol A	High grade serous cancer				
Panel A.	Level	N (%)	HR (95% CI)	Confounders	
MyD88 (Plash at al	Weak	712 (26)	ref	Adjusted for study, age	
$(BIOCK et al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	2064 (74)	1.13 (1.01-1.26)	(continuous) and stage (1/11, III/IV. Unknown)	
TLR4	Weak	734 (29)	ref	Adjusted for study, age	
$(BIOCK et al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	1788 (71)	1.06 (0.94, 1.18)	(continuous) and stage (1/11, III/IV. Unknown)	
FOLR1	Negative (Abstract/weak)	358 (23.8)	ref	Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis,	

Table 1-6 Histotype-specific associations between biomarkers and ovarian cancer survival reported by OTTA

(Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹)	Positive (1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%)	1149 (76.2)	0.99 (0.84, 1.18)	residual disease (not macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)
	Negative (none)	546 (17.1)	ref	
CD8+ TILs	Low (1-2 IEL/40 x HPF)	546 (17.1)	0.86 (0.75, 0.99)	Adjusted for study, age
(Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis et al., 2017 ²⁰⁸)	Moderate (3-19 IEL/40 x HPF)	1394 (43.6)	0.77 (0.69, 0.87)	(continuous), and stage (I/II, III/IV, unknown)
	High (20+ IEL/40 x HPF)	710 (22.2)	0.57 (0.49, 0.65)	
p16	Heterogeneous	1550 (37.9)	ref	Adjusted for study, age, time
(Rambau et al.,	Absent	244 (6.0)	1.06 (0.90, 1.25)	interval, stage and residual
2018210)	Block	2292 (56.1)	1.03 (0.95, 1.11)	tumor
Progesterone	Negative	1144 (68.9)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
receptor	Weak	393 (23.7)	1.02 (0.89, 1.18)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)
$(Sieh et al., 2013^{204})$	Strong	124 (7.5)	0.71 (0.55, 0.91)	at diagnosis
Estrogen receptor	Negative	326 (19.3)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
alpha (Sieh et al.,	Weak	347 (20.5)	1.08 (0.89, 1.31)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)
2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	1018 (60.2)	1.05 (0.89, 1.24)	at diagnosis
	Negative	500 (19)	0.78 (0.65, 0.94)	Stratified by site and adjusted
PTEN	Weak	1455 (50)	0.93 (0.81, 1.06)	for age, stage, grade and
(Martins, 2020 ²¹¹)	Positive	733 (25)	ref	presence of residual disease
	Heterogeneous	177 (6)	0.95 (0.75, 1.21)	post-surgery
Donal D		Low	grade serous cancer	
r allel D.	Level	N (%)	HR (95% CI)	Confounders
MyD88 (Block at al	Weak	49 (27)	ref	Adjusted for study, age
$(DIOCK et al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	133 (73)	0.49 (0.29, 0.84)	III/IV. Unknown)
TLR4 (Block at al	Weak	42 (29)	ref	Adjusted for study, age
$(DIOCK et al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	108 (71)	0.44 (0.21, 0.89)	III/IV. Unknown)
FOLR1	Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive	46 (50.5)	ref	Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not
(NODE1 et al., 2014^{209})	(1-50%, membranous>50%, cytoplasmic 50-95%, and cytoplasmic>95%)	45 (49.5)	1.31 (0.56, 3.07)	macroscopic, macroscopic or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)
CD8+ TILs	Negative (none)	43 (26.5)	ref	

Tissue Analysis et al., 2017 ²⁰⁸)	Low (1-2 IEL/40 x HPF)	44 (27.2)	0.94 (.50, 1.74)	
	Moderate (3-19 IEL/40 x HPF)	63 (38.9)	0.98 (0.52, 1.83)	Adjusted for study, age (continuous), and stage (I/II, III/IV, unknown)
	High (20+ IEL/40 x HPF)	12 (7.4)	0.92 (0.33, 2.59)	
p16	Heterogeneous	166 (81.4)	ref	Adjusted for study, age, time
(Rambau et al.,	Absent	25 (12.3)	2.95 (1.61, 5.38)	interval, stage, and residual
2018 ²¹⁰)	Block	13 (6.4)	1.54 (0.72, 3.29)	tumor
Progesterone	Negative	43 (42.6)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
receptor	Weak	25 (24.8)	0.53 (0.23, 1.24)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)
(Sieh et al., 2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	33 (32.7)	0.39 (0.18, 0.86)	at diagnosis
Estrogen receptor	Negative	13 (12.5)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
alpha (Sieh et al	Weak	17(16.4)	1.18 (0.30, 4.37)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized regional advanced)
2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	74 (71.2)	0.84 (0.24, 2.92)	at diagnosis
	Negative	131 (12)	1.45 (0.75, 1.79)	~
PTEN	Weak	505 (48)	0.86 (0.53, 1.41)	for age, stage, grade, and presence of residual disease
(Martins, 2020^{211})				
(Martins, 2020^{211})	Positive	354 (33)	ref	presence of residuar disease
(Martins, 2020-**)	Positive Heterogeneous	354 (33) 70 (7)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12)	post-surgery
(Maruns, 2020)	Positive Heterogeneous	354 (33) 70 (7)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid	post-surgery
Panel C.	Positive Heterogeneous Level	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI)	post-surgery Confounders
Panel C. MyD88	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref	Confounders Adjusted for study, age
Martins, 2020 ²¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷)	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34)	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown)
(Martins, 2020 ²¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Dla la f al.)	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age
(Martins, 2020 ⁻¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷)	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak Strong	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28) 443 (72)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref 1.00 (0.67, 1.49)	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown)
(Martins, 2020 ⁻¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) FOLR1	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak Strong Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28) 443 (72) 398 (70.6)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref 1.00 (0.67, 1.49) ref	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not
(Martins, 2020 ⁻¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) FOLR1 (Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹)	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak Strong Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive (1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%)	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28) 443 (72) 398 (70.6) 166 (29.4)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref 1.00 (0.67, 1.49) ref 0.93 (0.57, 1.51)	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)
(Martins, 2020 ⁻¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) FOLR1 (Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹)	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak Strong Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive (1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%) Negative (none)	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28) 443 (72) 398 (70.6) 166 (29.4) 206 (28.3)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref 1.00 (0.67, 1.49) ref 0.93 (0.57, 1.51) ref	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)
Martins, 2020 ⁻¹¹) Panel C. MyD88 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) TLR4 (Block et al., 2018 ²⁰⁷) FOLR1 (Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹) CD8+ TILs (Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis et	Positive Heterogeneous Level Weak Strong Weak Strong Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive (1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%) Negative (none) Low (1-2 IEL/40 x HPF)	354 (33) 70 (7) N (%) 213 (32) 447 (68) 169 (28) 443 (72) 398 (70.6) 166 (29.4) 206 (28.3) 130 (31.6)	ref 0.82 (0.32, 2.12) Endometrioid HR (95% CI) ref 0.96 (0.69, 1.34) ref 1.00 (0.67, 1.49) ref 0.93 (0.57, 1.51) ref 0.80 (0.54, 1.18)	Confounders Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Adjusted for study, age (continuous) and stage (I/II, III/IV. Unknown) Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)

	High (20+ IEL/40 x HPF)	110 (15.1)	0.76 (0.47, 1.23)	
n16	Heterogeneous	650 (77.4)	ref	Adjusted for study age time
(Rambau et al., 2018 ²¹⁰)	Absent	117 (13.9)	0.98 (0.66, 1.45)	interval, stage, and residual
	Block	73 (8.7)	1.88 (1.30, 2.75)	tumor
Progesterone	Negative	150 (32.6)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
receptor	Weak	106 (23.0)	0.61 (0.37, 0.99)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)
(Sieh et al., 2013^{204})	Strong	204 (44.4)	0.38 (0.22, 0.65)	at diagnosis
Estrogen receptor	Negative	222 (23.4)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted
alpha (Sieh et al	Weak	78 (16.4)	0.47 (0.22, 0.75)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)
2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	286 (60.2)	0.41 (0.26, 0.63)	at diagnosis
	Negative	2174 (38)	1.58 (0.84, 2.97)	Stratified by site and adjusted
PTEN	Weak	2240 (39)	1.18 (0.64, 2.17)	for age, stage, grade, and
(Martins, 2020 ²¹¹)	Positive	1131 (20)	ref	presence of residual disease
	Heterogeneous	201 (3)	3.24 (1.13, 9.26)	post surgery
Panel D			Clear Cell	
	Level	N (%)	HR (95% CI)	Confounders
MyD88 (Block et al	Weak	250 (41)	ref	Adjusted for study, age
$(block ct al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	358 (59)	1.01 (0.77, 1.32)	III/IV. Unknown)
TLR4 (Block et al	Weak	335 (60)	ref	Adjusted for study, age
(D1000000000000000000000000000000000000	Strong	226 (40)	1.04 (0.79, 1.38)	III/IV. Unknown)
FOLR1	Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive	305 (68.3)	ref	Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis,
(Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹)	(1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%)	141 (31.7)	1.15 (0.80, 1.64)	residual disease (not macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)
	Negative (none)	309 (47.7)	ref	
CD8+ TILs	Low (1-2 IEL/40 x HPF)	141 (17.6)	116 (0.84, 1.60)	Adjusted for study age
(Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis et al., 2017 ²⁰⁸)	Moderate (3-19 IEL/40 x HPF)	118 (18.2)	0.88 (0.62, 1.24)	(continuous), and stage (I/II, III/IV, unknown)
	High (20+ IEL/40 x HPF)	80 (12.3)	0.92 (0.61, 1.39)	
n16	Heterogeneous	463 (66.8)	ref	Adjusted for study age time
p16 (Rambau et al., 2018 ²¹⁰)				Adjusted for study, age, time interval, stage, and residual
	Absent	138 (19.9)	0.67 (0.47, 0.96)	interval, stage, and residual

Progesterone receptor	Negative	334 (92.0)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted	
	Weak	18 (5.0)	0.81 (0.36, 1.83)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)	
$(Sieh et al., 2013^{204})$	Strong	11 (3.0)	1.13 (0.42, 3.02)	at diagnosis	
Estrogen receptor	Negative	307 (80.6)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted	
alpha (Sieh et al	Weak	22 (5.8)	1.94 (0.97, 3.88)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced) at diagnosis	
2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	52 (13.7)	1.11 (0.64, 1.92)		
	Negative	1462 (32)	0.93 (0.57, 1.52)	Stratified by site and adjusted	
PTEN	Weak	2248 (50)	0.87 (0.54, 1.38)	for age, stage, grade, and	
(Martins, 2020 ²¹¹)	Positive	720 (16)	ref	presence of residual disease	
	Heterogeneous	70 (2)	1.47 (0.50, 4.34)	post surgery	
Donal F			Mucinous		
	Level	N (%)	HR (95% CI)	Confounders	
MyD88 (Block et al	Weak	96 (28)	ref	Adjusted for study, age	
$(DIOCK Ct al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	249 (7)	1.12 (0.70, 1.79)	III/IV. Unknown)	
TLR4 (Block et al	Weak	79 (26)	ref	Adjusted for study, age	
$(DIOCK Ct al., 2018^{207})$	Strong	224 (74)	1.54 (0.91, 2.60)	(continuous) and stage (1/11, III/IV. Unknown)	
FOLR1	Negative (Abstract/weak) Positive	171 (88.6)	ref	Stratified by study and adjusted for age at diagnosis, residual disease (not	
(Köbel et al., 2014 ²⁰⁹)	(1-50%, membranous >50%, cytoplasmic 50- 95%, and cytoplasmic >95%)	22 (11.4)	0.74 (0.26, 2.12)	macroscopic, macroscopic, or missing) and FIGO stage (I/II, III/IV or missing)	
	Negative (none)	168 (49.0)	ref		
CD8+ TILs	Low (1-2 IEL/40 x HPF)	277 (22.4)	0.91 (0.55, 1.51)	Adjusted for study, age	
(Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis et al., 2017 ²⁰⁸)	Moderate (3-19 IEL/40 x HPF)	85 (24.8)	0.56 (0.34, 0.93)	(continuous), and stage (I/II, III/IV, unknown)	
	High (20+ IEL/40 x HPF)	13 (3.8)	0.79 (0.23, 2.68)		
n16	Heterogeneous	163 (43.9)	ref	Adjusted for study age time	
(Rambau et al.,	Absent	187 (50.4)	1.05 (0.72, 1.55)	interval, stage, and residual	
2018 ²¹⁰)	Block	21 (5.7)	1.28 (0.61, 2.64)	tumor	
Progesterone	Negative	163 (83.06)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted	
receptor	Weak	15 (7.7)	0.69 (0.20, 2.34)	for age, age-squared, and stage (localized, regional, advanced)	
(Sieh et al., 2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	17 (8.7)	1.31 (0.50, 3.45)	at diagnosis	
Estrogen receptor	Negative	156 (79.2)	ref	Stratified by site, and adjusted	
alpha	Weak	10(51)	1 33 (0 34 5 17)	for age, age-squared, and stage	

(Sieh et al., 2013 ²⁰⁴)	Strong	31 (15.7)	0.52 (0.23, 1.21)	(localized, regional, advanced) at diagnosis
	Negative	452 (20)	0.47 (0.20, 1.15)	Stratified by site and adjusted
PTEN	Weak	881 (39)	1.28 (0.68, 2.39)	for age, stage, grade, and
(Martins, 2020 ²¹¹)	Positive	808 (36)	ref	presence of residual disease
	Heterogeneous	130 (6)	1.60 (0.52, 1.15)	post surgery

CD8+ TILs, CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes; FOLR1, folate receptor 1; HR, hazard ratio; MyD88, myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4.

Androgen receptor (AR)

Androgen receptor (AR) signaling plays a crucial role in the progression of ovarian cancer.^{212,213} OTTA has not published the estimation of the effect of AR on EOC survival. One study in 121 patients showed that AR+ expression was more likely to appear in EC tumors (19%) and then in SC tumors (10%), did not find a statistical significance inverse association between AR expression and overall survival.²¹⁴ The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS) and Malmö Preventive Project (MPP) cohorts with 90 SC suggested that AR expression could be an independent favorable prognostic factor for SC.²⁰⁶ The Swedish cohort study with similar percentages of AR+ expression in SC (45%) and EC (42%) found that patients with AR+PR+ tumors presented a better survival and suggested a prognostic role for PR and AR together in ovarian cancer.²⁰⁵

Estrogen receptor alpha (ER alpha)

The expression of estrogen receptors (ER alpha and ER beta) was presented in almost all ovarian cancer tumors.^{215,216} A meta-analysis found that ER (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.66-0.95), primarily ER alpha (HR 0.78, 0.62-0.98), was associated with better EOC outcomes.²¹⁷ The OTTA study observed that ER alpha was more likely to be expressed in HGSC, LGSC, and EC tumors, but not MC and CC tumors.²⁰⁴ An improved survival associated with ER alpha expression was observed in patients with EC (**Table 1-6 Panel C**), but not in patients with other histotypes.²⁰⁴

Progesterone receptor (PR)

Progesterone receptor (PR) might mediate the protective effects of progesterone on EOC risk.²¹⁸ The OTTA study found that PR was more likely to be expressed in LGSC and EC tumors (32.7% and 44.4%, respectively) and rarely expressed in CCC tumors (3.5%).²⁰⁴ PR+ expression improved survival in patients with HGSC, LGSC, and EC (**Table 1-6 Panel A, B and, C**).²⁰⁴

Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88)

Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88) was first identified in 1990, involved in signaling within the innate and adaptive immune response.^{219,220} The percentages of strong MyD88 expression observed in the OTTA study range from 59% in CCC tumors to 74% in HGSC tumors.²⁰⁷ Patients with strong MyD88 expression in tumors tended to be with more advanced stage in HGSC patients.²⁰⁷ Strong MyD88 expression was observed to improve survival in LGSC patients (**Table 1-6 Panel B**) but a worse survival in HGSC patients (**Table 1-6 Panel A**).²⁰⁷

Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)

Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) plays a fundamental role in the activation of innate immunity.²²¹ TLR4 was expressed in about 70% of HGSC, LGSC, EC, and MC tumors but only 40% of CCC tumors.²⁰⁷ There was no difference in clinical features between patients with weak expression and strong expression in HGSC patients.²⁰⁷ Strong TLR4 expression was observed to associate with improved survival in LGSC patients only.²⁰⁷

Folate receptor 1 (FOLR1)

Folate receptor 1 (FOLR1) helps regulate the transport of the B-vitamin folate into cells, which participates in the production and repair of DNA.^{222,223} The OTTA study observed absent or weak TOLR expression in MC (88.6%), EC (70.6%), and CCC (68.3%) tumors.²⁰⁹ Although a

null association between FOLR1 expression and overall survival by histotype was observed, FOLR1 positive expression was associated with improved survival in the first two years in HGSC patients.²⁰⁹

CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs)

CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs) play the main role in killing cancer cells.^{224,225} CD8+ TILs were presented from 51% of MC tumors to 83% of HGSC tumors.²⁰⁸ A dose-response association between CD8+ TILs and survival was observed in HGSC patients (**Table 1-6 Panel A**).²⁰⁸ Moderate CD8+ TILs were also associated with improved survival in EC and MC patients compared to negative CD8+ TILs (**Table 1-6 Panel A**, **C and E**).²⁰⁸

p16

p16 is a tumor suppressor, which regulates the progression of the cell cycle from the G1 phase to the S phase.²²⁶ HGSC tumors were more likely to be with block p16 expression, while MC tumors were more likely to be with absent p16 expression.²¹⁰ The OTTA study showed that compared to heterogeneous p16 expression, absent p16 expression was associated with worse outcomes in LGSC patients (**Table 1-6 Panel B**), while block p16 expression was associated with worse outcomes in EC patients and CCC patients (**Table 1-6 Panel C** and **Panel D**).²¹⁰

Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)

Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) is a protein helping to regulate cell division coded by the tumor suppressor gene PTEN.^{227,228} The OTTA study observed that MC tumors and LGSC tumors tended to be cytoplasmic PTEN positive and EC tumors with no nuclear PTEN expressed.²¹¹ Cytoplasmic PTEN loss was associated with improved survival in HGSC patients and heterogeneous cytoplasmic PTEN expression was associated with worse survival in EC patients compared to cytoplasmic PTEN positive expression.²¹¹ The OTTA study also indicated that PTEN loss was associated with hormone receptor expression and CD8+ TILs in HGSC and CCC tumors.²¹¹

1.3.3 Epidemiologic factors

The associations of potential epidemiologic factors with survival are summarized in the following session. The difference between the epidemiologic factors associated with ovarian cancer risk and survival is compared in **Table 1-7**.

Factors	Risk	Worse survival
Demographic		
Body mass index	+	+
Reproductive and hormonal		
Age at menarche	0	?
Age at menopause	+	?
Lifetime ovulatory years	+	?
Parity		-
Breastfeeding		0
Oral contraceptive use		?
Hormone replacement therapy	+	?
Gynecologic		
Tubal ligation	-	0
Hysterectomy	0	0
Endometriosis	++	
Lifestyle		
Physical inactivity	+	?
Smoking	0	+

Table 1-7 The difference of epidemiologic facotrs assocaited with ovarian cancer risk and survival

Strongly Positive (++), positive (+), null (0), inverse (-), strongly inverse(--) unknown (?)

Body mass index

An inverse association between BMI and survival in ovarian cancer patients was observed by the OCAC study that included 21 studies (pooled HR 1.03 per 5 kg/m² increase, 95% CI 1.00-1.07), 229 and a systematic review and met-analysis pooling 14 studies (pooled HR 1.17, 95% CI 1.03-1.32 comparing obese to non-obese women).²³⁰ A systematic review and meta-analysis also
found the same association between obesity in early adulthood and ovarian cancer survival (HR 1.60, 95% CI 1.10-2.34 comparing women with overweight to obesity women with normal weight or underweight).²³¹ Regarding the histotype-specific association, a significant association for HGSC was observed (pooled HR 1.04 per 5 kg/m² increase , 95% CI 1.00-1.09) and no association was observed for MC and CCC.²²⁹ The inverse associations for EC (pooled HR 1.08per 5 kg/m² increase, 95% CI 0.95-1.23) and LGSC (pooled HR 1.12 per 5 kg/m² increase, 95% CI 0.96-1.31) did not reach significance.²²⁹

Age at menarche, age at menopause and lifetime ovulatory years

The association between age at menarche and EOC survival is not consistent. The Cancer and Steroid Hormone study in 1980 to 1982 suggested that older age at menarche was associated with better survival in ovarian cancer patients (HR at 5 year, 10 year and 15-year survival 0.63, 0.53, 0.46 comparing age at menarche >=14 to <12, respectively).²³² However, the New England Case-Control study found that older age at menarche was associated with worse survival (HR for overall survival 1.24 and 1.24 comparing >13 years, 13 years to <13 years, respectively).²³³ Results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort from 1992 – 2010 suggested that early age at menarche was not associated with overall survival of invasive EOC, but with poorer survival of CCC (HR for overall survival 0.52 and 0.40 comparing >=15 and 14 years to <13 years, respectively).²³⁴ The same association was also observed for HGSC.²³³ The New England Case-Control study also observed that older age at menopause was associated with poorer survival for overall ovarian cancer (HR 1.23, 95% CI 1.03-1.46) and the combination of EC and CCC (HR 2.45, 95% CI 1.33-4.50).²³³ The same association was observed by the EPIC cohort for EC and CCC separately.²³⁴

The association between LOCs/LOYs and EOC survival was controversial.^{232,235-237} Two studies indicated that larger LOCs/LOYs was associated with worse EOC survival.^{232,235} Results from the NHS and NHS II showed that LOYs was associated with a higher hazard of death among patients with positive ADRB2 (HR 1.60, 95% CI 1.15-2.21) but not statistically significantly associated with hazard of death among negative ADFRB2 (HR 1.11, 95% CI 0.96-1.27).²³⁶ In contrast, the results from 1421 ovarian cancer patients in Ontario, Canada showed that larger LOC was associated with improved survival (compared LOC >436.42 to <=322.28 HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.43-0.94).²³⁷

Parity

Some studies found a non-significant association between parity and improved survival,^{233,238-240} while two more recent studies found that parity was associated with improved survival (**Table 1-7**).^{237,241} The results pooling fours studies found that parity was associated with better outcomes in less aggressive cases.²⁴² One EPIC cohort study from 1992 to 2010 found that ever full-term pregnancy was associated with improved survival in patients with SC (HR0.73, 95% CI 0.58-0.92), MC (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.30-0.95), and CCC (HR 0.34, 95% CI 0.18-0.64), but not with EC (HR 0.65, 95% CI 0.40-1.06).²³⁴ However, the number of children was associated with improved survival in patients with CCC (HR 0.37, 0.32, 0.33 for 1, 2, 3+ children vs. no, respectively; p for trend 0.01).²³⁴

Study (Country)	Number of cases	Exposure of interest	Conclusion	Confounders
Zhang, 2012 ²³⁹ (China)	195	Number of full-term pregnancy (0, 1, 2+)	Null association	age at diagnosis (in years, continuous), body mass index (BMI) (continuous), menopausal status (no, yes), International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) stage (I, II, III, and IV), histopathological grade (well, moderately, poorly differentiated, not available), ascites (no, yes), chemotherapy status (no, yes)

Table 1-8 Summary of effects of parity on ovarian cancer survival in studies reporterd after 2010

Poole, 2013 ²⁴² (NHS, AARP and NECC in U.S. and AOCS in Australia)	2934	Ever vs. never; Per 1 child increase	An improved survival in case that did not die of ovarian cancer within 3 years	age, parity, duration of breastfeeding, duration of oral contraceptive use, tubal ligation, family history of ovarian cancer, and menopausal status. AARP models adjusted for age, parity, duration of oral contraceptive use, and menopausal status
Bešević, 2015 ²⁴⁰ (EPIC in Europe from 1992 - 2000)	1025	Yes vs. no; Number of full-term pregnancy (1, 2, 3+)	Null association	age at diagnosis (continuous), year of diagnosis (continuous), BMI ($<23 \text{ kg m}-2$, $\geq 23-<25$ (reference), $\geq 25-<30$, ≥ 30), tumor stage (local (reference), regional, metastatic, and unknown), smoking status (never (reference), former, current and unknown) and stratified by study center
Fortner, 2015 ²³⁴ (EPIC in Europe from 1992 - 2010)	664	Yes vs. no; Number of full-term pregnancy (1, 2, 3+)	An improved survival in type I comparing yes vs. no; An improved survival in type I and type II comparing number of full- term pregnancies	age at recruitment and study center and adjusted for ever full-term pregnancy, ever OC use, menopausal status at recruitment, age at menopause, and ever HRT use.
Shafrir, 2016 ²³³ (NECC in U.S.)	1649	Parous vs. nulliparous; Number of children (nulliparous, 1-2, 3-4, 5+)	Null association	age at diagnosis, year of diagnosis, study center (NH, MA), menopause status (pre, post, uncertain), smoking status (never, current, former), parity (ever, never), OC use (ever, never), BMI (kg m-2), disease stage (I/II, III/IV), grade (1, 2, 3, missing), histology (serous, endometrioid, mucinous, clear cell, other), debulking status (not optimal, optimal, unknown), and chemotherapy (no chemotherapy, platinum+taxol, other chemotherapy, unknown chemotherapy type)
Kim, 2017 ²³⁷ (Canada)	1421	Parous vs. nulliparous; parity as continuous among parous women	An improved survival compared parous vs. nulliparous; null association with parity as a continuous variable	age at diagnosis (continuous), histology (serous, mucinous, endometrioid, clear cell, other), stage (I, II, III, IV), and residual disease (no residual disease, any residual disease)
Khalafi- Nezhad, 2020 ²⁴¹ (Iran)	385	Parity (0, 1, 2-5, 5+)	An improved survival	Stratified by age, adjusted for marriage status (single, married), stage (early stage, advanced stage), histology (serous, mucinous, endometrioid, other types)

AARP, the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study; AOCS, the Australian Ovarian Cancer Study; EPIC, the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort; NECC, the New England Case-Control study; NHS, the Nurses' Health Study; SD, standard deviation.

Breastfeeding

A null association between breastfeeding and survival was observed in several studies.^{233,237,239,240} However, the study pooling the NHS, AARP and NECC in U.S. and AOCS in Australia found that breastfeeding was associated with better outcomes among parous women in

both rapidly fatal cases and less aggressive cases.²⁴² There was no association observed between breastfeeding and survival by histotype.²³⁴

Oral contraceptive use

Most studies suggested a null association between OC use and ovarian cancer survival.^{233,234,237,239,240,243} The study pooling the NHS, AARP and NECC in U.S. and AOCS in Australia observed that OC use was associated with improved survival in rapidly fatal cases (HR 0.69 per 5-year increase, 95% CI 0.58-0.82).²⁴² While, the results from two EPIC studies regarding to the association between duration of OC use and survival were opposite.^{234,240} One EPIC study from 1992 to 2000 suggested that a longer duration of OC use was associated with poorer survival (HR 0.98, 1.26, 1.74 comparing >1-<=5 years, >5-<=10 years, >10 years to <=1 years; p for trend 0.01) and no associated with survival for SC.²⁴⁰ The other EPCIC study from 1992 to 2010 suggested that longer duration of OC use had a protective effect on the risk of death for all invasive EOC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 years, and >=10 years to <=1 year; p for trend <0.01), SC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 years, and >=10 years to <=1 year; p for trend <0.01), EC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 years, and >=10 years to <=1 year; p for trend <0.01), EC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 years, and >=10 years to <=1 year; p for trend <0.01), EC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 years, 5-9 years, and >=10 years to <=1 year; p for trend <0.01), EC (HR 0.96, 0.88, and 0.57 comparing 2-4 years, 5-9 yea

Hormone replacement therapy

A null association between HRT use and survival was observed by several studies.^{233,234,237,239,244} While, one EPIC study from 1992 to 2000 found that a longer duration of HRT use was associated with improved survival for EOC (HR 0.70 comparing users with >=5 years to no-users, 95% 0.50-0.99), and SC (HR 0.55 comparing users with >=5 years to no-users, 95% CI 0.35-0.87).²⁴⁰ Regarding the histotype-specific associations, the EPIC study from 1992 to

2010 found that HRT use was associated with poorer survival of SC (HR 1.27, 95% CI 1.01-1.60) and EC (HR 1.797, 95% CI 1.07-3.01).²³⁴

Tubal ligation and hysterectomy

Overall, tubal ligation or hysterectomy was not associated with ovarian cancer survival.^{233,234,237,242} Only one study conducted in southeast China observed that tubal ligation was associated with worse outcomes (HR 1.62, 95% CI 1.01-2.59).²³⁹

Endometriosis

One meta-analysis showed that endometriosis was significantly associated with improved survival in patients with ovarian cancer (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.63-0.87)²⁴⁵ and another meta-analysis suggested a null association.²⁴⁶ A recent study including 32,419 patients from the Netherlands Cancer Registry also observed that patients with endometriosis had a significantly better prognosis (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.83-0.95).²⁴⁷ Patients with endometriosis were more likely to had more favorable tumor characteristics, such as early stage and less aggressive histotype.²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸

Physical activity

A literature review summarized the association between physical activity and ovarian cancer survival.²⁴⁹ Three studies have estimated the association, but all used different measurements on self-reported physical activity.²⁵⁰⁻²⁵² Therefore, although the three studies suggested that physical activity appeared to benefit ovarian cancer survival, the literature review reserve the opinion to draw a meaningful conclusion.²⁴⁹

Smoking

Most studies suggested that smoking was associated with poorer survival in ovarian cancer patients.^{237,253-256} While, a study pooling the NHS, AARP and NECC in U.S. and AOCS in Australia and a study in Sweden did not observe an association between smoking and ovarian

61

cancer survival.^{242,250} The OCAC study, which observed a significant adverse association for SC (HR 1.11 comparing current smokers to never smokers, 95% CI 1.00-1.23) and MC (HR 1.91 comparing current smokers to never smokers, 95% CI 1.01-3.65), suggested a heterogeneity on the histotype-specific associations.²⁵³ The data from the Alberta Cancer Registry in patients with neoadjuvant chemotherapy only observed the adverse association between smoking and survival for MC (HR 8.56 comparing current smokers to non-smokers, 95% CI 1.50-48.7), but no other histotype.²⁵⁷

1.4 Hypothesis of epithelial ovarian cancer development

1.4.1 Origins of epithelial ovarian cancer

Accumulating evidence suggested that the origins of EOC varies by histotype (**Table 1-8**). High-grade serous and low-grade serous tumors mainly originate from the fallopian tube and then the abnormal cells spread to the ovaries.²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁰ Endometrioid and clear cell tumors are suggested to originate from the endometrium.^{11,260} Unlike serous, endometrioid and clear cell tumors, the origin of mucinous tumors is not clear. Mucinous tumors might arise from the ovaries or fallopian tubeperitoneal junction, teratomas or Brenner rumors, or other sources.^{11,260} To some extent, the histotype-specific origins of EOC could explain the heterogeneity of risk factors by histotype. This underscores the need to study by histotype the biologic mechanisms underlying EOC, which would enable developing more targeted histotype-specific prevention and treatment strategies.

	Histotype	Origins	
Type II	High-grade serous	The fallopian tube	
	Low-grade serous	The fallopian tube	
	Endometrial	The endometrium	
I ype I	Clear cell	The endometrium	
	Mucinous	The ovaries or fallopian tube-peritoneal junction; or, teratomas or Brenner tumors	

Table 1-9 The potential origin of five main histotypes of epithelial ovarain cacner

1.4.2 "Incessant ovulation" hypothesis

The "incessant ovulation" hypothesis in EOC, which was first proposed by Fathalla, 1971 and has been widely accepted, proposes that ovulation is associated with disruption and subsequent repair of the ovarian epithelium and further leads to genetic damage in an ovarian epithelial cell.²⁶¹ Therefore, the longer ovulation is suppressed, the lower the risk of EOC. The hypothesis was supported by an animal model of laying hens, which was considered the most appropriate animal model for studying human ovarian cancer compared to primates or rodents.²⁶²⁻²⁶⁴ The 2-year-old hens were at the same reproductive as middle-aged women that developed spontaneous ovarian cancer at high incidence rates.^{265,266} The hypothesis is supported by epidemiologic studies in humans, such as the protective effect of parity and OC use on EOC.^{267,268} However, based on the hypothesis, the risk of EOC should only rely on the lifetime ovulation numbers regardless of the cause of anovulation. The hypothesis might be too simplistic since anovulation alone cannot explain the magnitude of the protective effect and considering other risk factors with no such apparent association with ovulation.²⁶⁹

1.4.3 Hormonal hypothesis

As mentioned before, ovulation alone cannot explain the magnitude of the protective effects from these exposures. Hormones, such as gonadotrophin, androgen, estrogen, and progesterone, may also play a role in ovarian carcinogenesis. The four main hormonal hypotheses for ovarian carcinogenesis were summarized in the following session.

1.4.3.1 Gonadotropin hypothesis

The gonadotropin hypothesis is the first hormonal hypothesis for ovarian carcinogenesis proposed by Cramer and Welch in 1983.²⁷⁰ It postulates that excessive gonadotropin exposure increases stimulation by estrogen or estrogen precursors, which further causes proliferation and malignant transformation of ovarian surface epithelium (OSE) cells.^{269,270} The hypothesis is supported by the protective effect of parity and OC use, which reduces gonadotropin secretion.²⁷¹ However, the hypothesis cannot explain the lack of increase in risk due to early age at menopause, although gonadotropin levels increase typically after menopause.²⁷² One study observed the association between low serum gonadotropin levels and an increased risk of ovarian cancer, which was conflicted with the hypothesis.²⁷³

1.4.3.2 Androgen hypothesis

The androgen hypothesis proposes that excess androgen stimulation of ovarian cancer leads to an increased risk of EOC.²⁶⁹ The increased cell proliferation of normal OSE cells after androgen administration was observed by *in vitro* studies^{274,275} and by an animal model of guinea pigs.^{276,277} The hypothesis is supported by some epidemiologic evidence, such as the protective factor of OC use (which recued androgen level²⁷⁸), and the risk factors of obesity (associated with androgen dysregulation²⁷⁹). Moreover, the findings from the studies that directly estimated the association between androgen level and risk of ovarian cancer support the hypothesis.^{273,280}

1.4.3.3 Estrogen hypothesis

Estrogen is associated with an increased risk of EOC but may not play such an essential etiologic role as androgen in the overall ovarian carcinogenesis.²⁶⁹ An animal study observed that estrogenic hormones induced bilateral serous ovarian cysts in guinea pigs.²⁷⁷ Epidemiologic

evidence supporting the estrogen hypothesis includes the protective factor of OC use (which is associated with a decreased level of $estrogen^{281,282}$), and the risk factor of HRT use (which increased both plasma and serum estradiol level^{283,284}).

Epidemiologic evidence shows that the role of estrogen in the development of ovarian cancer varies by histotype. Estrogen could play an etiologic role in the development of endometrioid and clear cell tumors.²⁸⁵ Endometriosis, associated with a high level of estrogen, is consistently associated with an increased risk of EC and CCC.²⁸⁶ While, smoking, which is not directly associated with estrogen level but alters the mentalism of estradiol, so-called as an antiestrogenic effect,²⁸⁷ has an opposite impact on CCC and MC.

1.4.3.4 Progesterone hypothesis

Progesterone might protect against the development of ovarian cancer proposed by Risch, 1998.²⁶⁹ One of the epidemiologic evidence supporting this hypothesis is the beneficial effect of twin pregnancies,²⁸⁸ which was associated with higher progesterone levels compared to singleton pregnancies.^{289,290} Moreover, epidemiologic evidence from studies observed that the estrogen-progestin HRT users had a reduced risk of ovarian cancer than estrogen-only HRT users.^{291,292}

Progesterone might play a histotype-specific role in the development of ovarian cancer. As mentioned before, endometriosis is a risk factor for CCC and EC, which could impact progesterone levels. Endometriosis leading to progesterone resistance, which refers to "disrupts coordinated progesterone responses throughout the reproductive tract," lessen the protective effects of progesterone.²⁹³

1.4.4 Inflammation hypothesis

The inflammation hypothesis proposes that inflammation underlying ovulatory events may induce mutagenic effects via cell damage and repair, oxidative stress, and elevated cytokines and prostaglandins, and further contribute to the development of ovarian cancer.²⁹⁴ The role of inflammation was studied to complete the explanations for the ovarian carcinogenesis that cannot be stratified by the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis or the hormonal hypothesis.²⁹⁴⁻²⁹⁶ Accumulating epidemiological studies have linked the exposure related to inflammatory factors to ovarian cancer risk, including smoking, talc use, pelvic inflammatory disease and endometriosis.^{16,29-31,297,298} Moreover, the epidemiologic studies estimating the association of the inflammatory markers, such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), C-reactive protein (CRP), and interleukin 6 (IL6), and ovarian cancer directly, provide more intuitive evidence supporting this hypothesis and future the knowledge of the role of inflammation in ovarian carcinogenesis.²⁹⁹⁻³⁰²

2.0 Specific Aims

2.1 Summary and research gaps

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecologic cancer. The exact mechanism of ovarian cancer development remains unknown. The protective effects of parity and OC use support the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis.^{261,267} However, anovulation alone cannot explain the magnitude of the protective effect. Hormonally-linked risk factors appear to play a role in EOC risk. OC use is not only associated with suppressed ovulation but also associated with altered hormonal milieus.^{281,282,303} History of endometriosis, which is associated with excess estrogen and reduced progesterone, is associated with endometrioid ovarian cancer risk.²⁸⁶ The "hormone" hypothesis proposes that ovarian epithelium's excess androgen stimulation leads to an increased risk of EOC, whereas progesterone simulation has a protective effect on EOC.²⁶⁹ Estrogen is associated with an increased risk of EOC but may not play such as essential an etiologic role as androgen.²⁶⁹ Moreover, the "inflammation" hypothesis was proposed in light of immunological and genetic studies.²⁹⁶ Smoking, which is associated with increased inflammatory markers,²⁹⁸ is associated with an increased risk of mucinous ovarian cancer but not associated with other histotypes.³⁴

Increasing evidence indicated that risk factors of EOC vary by histotypes. Risk factors have multifaceted effects on ovulation, hormonal milieu, and inflammation. The discrepancies of risk factors associated with multiple hypotheses and EOC histotypes complicates identifying possible mechanisms underlying EOC etiology. LOYs calculated from the components related to ovulation, hormones, and inflammation might provide insight into the etiology of ovarian cancer. However, published studies do not have enough power to explore the association of LOYs by histotypes.

Exploring the association of LOYs by histotypes could improve our knowledge of potential mechanisms. Furthermore, the role of hormone receptors in ovarian cancer risk and survival is unclear. Understanding the relationship between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC defined by tumor hormone receptors could further increase insight into EOC development and outcome. Finally, there is no study to predict clinical outcome and survival based on tumor biology. To date, there have been no studies evaluating prediction models of EOC survival. Developing such models could provide further insight into tumor behavior and identify potential targets for improving survival. The knowledge regarding these research gaps can inform future interventions of EOC.

2.2 Specific research questions

This dissertation consists of three manuscripts with the following specific aims:

Specific Aim I: To evaluate the association between lifetime ovulatory years and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: The number of lifetime ovulatory years is positively associated with the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer.

Specific Aim IIa: To evaluate the association between hormonally-linked EOC risk factors and EOC tumors defined by hormone receptor status of androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor (ER), and progesterone receptor (PR).

<u>Hypothesis i</u>: Hormonally-linked risk factors are associated with the risk of EOC tumors defined by AR, ER, and PR.

Specific Aim IIb: To estimate survival of EOC patients with tumors defined by hormone receptor status of AR, ER, and PR.

<u>Hypothesis ii</u>: EOC Survival differs by hormone receptor status of AR, ER, and PR.

Specific Aim IIc: To evaluate the association of hormonally-linked risk factors with survival of EOC patients by tumors defined by hormone receptor status of AR, ER, and PR.

<u>Hypothesis iii</u>: Hormonally-linked risk factors are associated with survival of EOC patients by tumors defined by AR, ER, and PR.

Specific Aim III: To build a predictive model for long-term survivors of epithelial ovarian cancer using machine learning techniques.

3.0 Paper I: Lifetime ovulation years and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a multinational pooled analysis of 25 case-control studies from the Ovarian Cancer Association

Consortium

3.1 Abstract

Introduction: The "incessant ovulation" hypothesis for epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) is widely accepted and supported by the protective effect of parity and oral contraceptive use for EOC. However, anovulation alone cannot explain the magnitude of the protective effect. The current study explored the association between lifetime ovulatory years (LOYs) and its component parts with EOC risk.

Method: LOYs were calculated using 15 algorithms by subtracting years of anovulation from menstrual span. Anovulatory years was algorithm-specific and included diverse calculations for pregnancy, oral contraceptive, and breastfeeding duration. The pairwise correlations of LOYs algorithms and the correlations of the individual components and the corresponding algorithms were compared using Pearson's correlations. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated using multivariable logistics regression to estimate the association between LOYs and EOC risk among 26,204 cases and 21,267 controls from 25 case-control studies. ORs and 95% CIs were also calculated to estimate the association between the individual components and EOC risk. Chi-square and P-value were obtained from the likelihood-ratio test for the removal of each component from the full model. The same analyses were conducted for EOC histotypespecific associations. **Results:** The highest quartiles of LOYs were significantly associated with increased EOC risk compared to the corresponding lowest quartiles (ORs ranged from 1.24 with 95% CI 1.16-1.34 to 2.39 with 95% CI 2.23-2.56). The individual components comprising LOYs, except age at menarche, were significantly associated with EOC risk. The relative estimated coefficients for the components were larger than the theoretical estimates indicting that the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis alone does not explain the protective effects of the components on EOC risk. LOYs per year increase was significantly associated with risks of invasive high-grade serous, endometrioid, and clear cell histotypes (ORs 1.048, 1.067, and 1.108, respectively), but not mucinous or low-grade serous cancers. The relative estimated coefficients of the individual components varied by histotypes.

Conclusion: LOYs are positively associated with overall EOC risk and risk of invasive high-grade serous, endometrioid, and clear cell histotypes. The mechanism of carcinogenesis for the individual components in LOYs and the histotype-specificity should be further investigated.

3.2 Introduction

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecologic cancer. About 13,770 women will die from ovarian cancer in 2021 in the U.S..³⁰⁴ Epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) accounts for nearly 90% of ovarian cancer.¹ About 80% of EOC are diagnosed at Stage III or IV, and the 5-year survival for these women is less than 40%.¹ Lifetime ovulatory years (LOYs) calculated from the components related to ovulation, hormone levels and inflammation might be an etiologic factor for ovarian cancer.^{25,97,305} Estimating the association between LOYs and risk of EOC in general and by histotypes can improve our knowledge of the mechanism.

A higher number of LOYs is associated with the risk of EOC.^{18,25,50,60,82,83,99,103,104} One of the leading hypotheses behind the association is the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis, which proposes that ovulation is associated with disruption and subsequent repair of ovarian epithelium and further leads to genetic damage to ovarian epithelial cells.^{261,268} However, it is now widely accepted that the different histotypes of EOC derive from tissue other than the ovarian surface epithelium, with the most common histotype, high-grade serous cancers, believed to arise mostly from the fallopian tube.^{260,306} Possible mechanisms underlying the effect of LOY may be the altered hormone levels associated with ovulation^{82,269} or the increased pro-inflammatory milieu.^{296,307} Risch et al. proposed the "hormone" hypothesis when exploring the magnitude of the protective effect of the individual components in LOYs on EOC risk, such as oral contraceptive (OC) use, lactation, and parity.⁸² However, while a handful of studies have suggested LOYs might be associated with only specific EOC subtypes (5-9), no study has explored the magnitude of the effect of the individual components in LOYs by histotype. The data are further complicated by lack of consistency across studies in defining LOYs.

In the current study, LOYs were calculated from 15 algorithms using data from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium (OCAC). The main aim of this study was to assess the effects of LOYs and its individual components on risk of EOC in general and by histotypes.

3.3 Method

Study population

OCAC was founded in 2005 to foster collaborative efforts in discovering and validating associations between genetic polymorphisms and ovarian cancer risk.³⁰⁸ The current study included 25 case-control studies conducted in Australia, Canada, China, Germany, Japan, Netherlands, Poland, the United Kingdom, and the United States.^{55,113,125,309-332} Studies were excluded if more than fifty percent of the values for age at menarche and the number of pregnancies were missing. Characteristics of the included studies are presented in **Table 3-1**. Cases were mostly identified from the hospital, local or national cancer registry, and national surveillance. Controls were identified from patients from the same hospital without ovary cancer, population-based recruitment, or the same cohort study. All participants provided informed consent. Study protocols were approved by the respective Institutional Review Board for each site.

Study variables

LOYs were calculated using 15 algorithms identified from previous studies (**Supplemental Table 3-1**). The basic formula to calculate LOYs:

LOY = *menstrual span* – *years of anovulation*

where "menstrual span" was calculated from age at last menstrual period (LMP) before diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) minus age at menarche. The 15 algorithms were divided into 4 broad classes based on how "years of anovulation" was defined (**Figure 3-1**). The first class (Algorithms A-D) only used data on pregnancies to calculate years of anovulation. The second class (Algorithms E-H) included a term for OC used. The third class (Algorithm I-L) expanded the second class algorithms by adding a term for duration of breastfeeding. Finally, the fourth class (Algorithms M-O) adjusted LOYs from algorithms J-L for average cycle length. Information on

the components of LOYs calculation, including age at LMP before diagnosis or interview, age at menarche, number of pregnancy (regardless of outcomes), number of full-term births, duration of being pregnant, duration of breastfeeding, and duration of OC use, was obtained from the OCAC core dataset.

Age at LMP before diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) were assigned using age at hysterectomy, age at first hormone replacement therapy (HRT) use, and the published average age at menopause by country ³³³⁻³³⁷ based on the following criteria (**Figure 3-2**):

- For participants without hysterectomy or HRT use, use the minimum of age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) and the average age at menopause by country.
- For participants with hysterectomy or HRT use only, use the age at hysterectomy or first HRT use if it is larger than the average age at menopause by country; otherwise, use the minimum of age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) and the average age at menopause by country.
- For participants with hysterectomy and HRT use, use minimum of age at hysterectomy and age at first HRT use if it is larger than the average age at menopause by country; otherwise, use the minimum of age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) and the average age at menopause by country.

Data on age at LMP before diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) were obtained from seven sites: CON, DOV, HOP, NEC, POL, SON, and TOR. Sensitivity analyses were conducted comparing data on age at LMP before diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) from these sites to the assigned age at LMP using the above algorithm. To deal with potential errors, data on age at LMP less than 40-year-old and less than the age at hysterectomy or age at first HRT use were reassigned as the larger number of age at diagnosis (cases) or (interview) and the average age at menopause by country. Missing values were assigned using the same criteria. The comparisons of observed and assigned values in age at LMP are shown in **Supplemental Table 3-2**.

OCAC sites with more than 50% of missing values^{338,339} in any component of LOYs algorithms by case-control status, except age at LMP before diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls), were excluded from the LOYs calculation for those algorithms. The percentage of missing values in the components of LOY by study sites and case/control status are shown in **Supplemental Table 3-3**. Other relevant variables from the OCAC core dataset included age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls), race (white, black, Asian, other, or unknown), body mass index (BMI) 1-year or 5-year prior (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, >=30 kg/m², or unknown), family history of ovarian or breast cancer (yes, no, or unknown), smoking status (never, current, former, or unknown), history of endometriosis (yes, no, or unknown), and tubal ligation (yes, no, or unknown).

Statistical analysis

 χ^2 test was used to compare categorical variables and student's t-test was used to compare continuous variables by case-control status. The pairwise correlations of LOYs calculated from the different algorithms and the correlations of the individual components and the corresponding algorithms were computed using Pearson's correlations using participants with complete data. Quartile categories for each LOY were determined based on the distribution among the controls with complete data. Multivariable logistic regression was used to estimate odds ratios (ORs) and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) for the association between LOYs and EOC risk. The main multivariate model was adjusted for study site, age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) (continuous), BMI 1-year or 5-year prior (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, >=30 kg/m², or unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown) and family history (yes, no, unknown). The associations between LOYs calculated from the first class of algorithms (Algorithms A-D) and EOC risk were additionally estimated by the model further adjusted by the duration of OC use (continuous). The associations between LOYs calculated from the second class of algorithms (Algorithms E-H) and EOC risk were additionally estimated using the maximum of 6 months and duration of breastfeeding per episode multiplied by number of live births to calculated LOYs. Sensitivity analyses were performed with multivariable logistic regression with multiple imputation by chained equation (MICE) to assess the effect of missing values on the association between LOYs and EOC risk.³⁴⁰ Nested imputations were done for the number of pregnancies, the number of full-term births, duration of breastfeeding, and duration of OC use using the binary variables of being pregnant, breastfeeding, and OC use. Imputations were done 5 times with auxiliary variables defined as the Pearson's correlation larger than 0.4.³⁴¹ The imputation model included the same variables as the main models.

The associations of each component in LOYs and EOC risk were estimated using logistic regression adjusted for study site, age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls) (continuous), BMI 1-year or 5-year prior (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, >=30 kg/m², or unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown), family history (yes, no, unknown) and other components in LOYs. Based on the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis, the theoretical estimates of coefficients for age at menarche per year, OC use per year, number of non-full-term pregnancies, number of full-term births, and breastfeeding per year should be -1, -1, -0.25, -0.75 and -1 time greater than relative the coefficient of the age at LMP per year, respectively. The relative estimates of coefficients of coefficients, defined as the estimated coefficients divided by the estimated coefficient of age at LMP, were reported and compared with the theoretical estimates of the coefficients. Chi-square statistics and p-values were obtained from the likelihood-ratio test for the removal of each

component from the full model. The associations of LOYs and the components in LOYs with EOC risk by the histotypes were also estimated by multivariable logistic regression adjusted for the same covariates. All statistical tests were two-sided with a significance level of 5%. Statistical analyses were performed in Stata/SE version 16.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX).

3.4 Results

Description of participants

There were 26,204 cases and 21,267 controls from 25 case-control studies in the current study (**Table 3-2**). Compared to controls, women with EOC were more likely to be former or current smokers, have a family history of breast or ovarian cancer, and report a history of endometriosis. Cases also had a shorter duration of OC use and breastfeeding, as well as fewer pregnancies. Among 26,204 cases, there were 10,423 invasive high-grade serous ovarian cancer (HGSOC), 513 invasive low-grade serous ovarian cancer (LGSOC), 2,536 endometrioid ovarian cancer, 1,134 mucinous ovarian cancer, and 1,310 clear cell ovarian cancer.

Calculation of lifetime ovulatory years

The distribution of LOYs calculated from the 15 algorithms by case-control status was presented in **Figure 3-3** and **Supplemental Table 3-4**. The medians of LOYs ranged from 31.36 years in Algorithm O to 35.75 years in Algorithm B and D. The pairwise correlations of LOYs ranged from 0.69-0.71 between the algorithms in the first class (Algorithm A-D) and the fourth class (Algorithm M-O) to \geq 0.98 for pairwise correlations for LOYs within the same class (**Supplemental Table 3-5**). Correlations for LOYs within the most complicated class of algorithms, Algorithm M-O, were close to 1. Correlations between the individual components and the corresponding LOYs are presented in **Supplemental Table 3-6**. As the algorithm complexity increased, the correlations between age at LMP and the LOYs decreased. Duration of OC use was moderately negatively correlated with LOYs (rho ranged from -0.60 to-0.68) but the correlations between the other components and the LOYs were low.

Estimation of EOC risk related to LOY and individual components

The ORs of LOYs per year increase for EOC risk ranged from 1.019 (95% CI 0.014-0.024) in Algorithm B to 1.045 (95% CI 1.042-1.048) in Algorithm E and Algorithm G (**Table 3-3**). The highest quartiles of LOYs from all algorithms were significantly associated with increased EOC risk compared to the corresponding lowest quartiles (ORs ranged from 1.24 with 95% CI 1.16-1.34 in Algorithm B to 2.39 with 95% CI 2.23-2.56 in Algorithm E). In general, ORs of LOYs from the first class of algorithms (Algorithm A-D) were slightly larger when additionally adjusting for duration of OC use as a continuous variable (data not shown). The associations of LOYs calculated from the third class of algorithms (Algorithm I-L) were not changed when months of breastfeeding was truncated at 6 for any women reporting more than 6 months per birth (data not shown). Sensitivity analyses with multiple imputation of missing values with MICE did not alter the associations of LOYs and EOC risk. The estimated ORs of LOYs calculated from the third and fourth classes of algorithms (Algorithm I – O) with MICE were slightly increased compared to ORs from the main analyses (**Table 3-3**).

Each of the individual components in Algorithm K, except for age at menarche, were significantly associated with EOC risk (**Table 3-4**). The relative estimated coefficient of OC use per year is 2.95 times larger than the theoretical estimate (**Table 3-4**). The relative estimated coefficients for non-full-term and full-term pregnancies were more than 7-fold of the theoretical estimates. The estimated coefficient of breastfeeding per year was -5.49, instead of the theoretical estimate, -1.

Estimation of EOC risk by histotypes related to LOY and individual components

LOY (per year) was significantly associated with the risk of invasive HGSOC (OR 1.048, 95% CI 1.041-1.056), endometrioid ovarian cancer (OR 1.067, 95% CI 1.056-1.079), and clear cell ovarian cancer (OR 1.108, 95% CI 1.091-1.125) (**Table 3-5**). The estimated coefficients of

OC use, number of non-full-term pregnancies, and full-term pregnancies for HGSOC were close to the theoretical estimates. The estimated coefficient of breastfeeding was 2.42 times higher than the theoretical estimate. The estimated coefficients of the individual components, except for age at menarche, were larger than the theoretical estimates for endometrioid cancer and clear cell cancer. LOYs were not significantly associated with the risk of LGSOC. However, there were significant protective effects of the individual components in LOYs on LGSOC, including duration of OC use, number of non-full-term pregnancies, and duration of breastfeeding. There was no significant association between LOYs and the risk of mucinous cancer. Age at menarche (per year) was associated with the increased risk of mucinous cancer (OR 1.079, 95% CI 1.030, 1.130). OC use, the number of non-full-term pregnancies, and the number of full-term pregnancies were significantly associated with decreased risk of mucinous cancer.

3.5 Discussion

The results pooling from 25 case-control studies indicated a positive association between LOY and the overall risk of EOC. We also found a positive association between LOY and risks of HGSOC, endometrioid, and clear cell histotypes but not with mucinous histotype or LGSOC. The LOYs calculated from different algorithms were highly correlated, and the LOY-EOC associations were not altered when using different LOY algorithms or by limiting to studies with data on age of menopause. The components of LOY, except age at menarche, were significantly associated with the overall risk of EOC. The associations between the components of LOY and the risk of ovarian cancer varied by histotype.

Our results showed a positive association between LOYs using different algorithms and the overall risk of EOC, which is consistent with the results from prior studies.^{18,25,50,60,80,83,85,88,90-94,96-101,103,104} LOYs calculated from 15 algorithms were highly correlated. The Polish Cancer study also demonstrated high correlations of LOYs from different algorithms in prior studies.¹⁰³ The results from the US Nurses' Health Study (1976-2006) (NHS) and Nurses' Health Study II (1989-2005) (NHS II) studies by Gates et al. indicated that the overall risk of EOC per 1-year increase in LOY increased by 1.07 (95% CI 1.05 -1.08),¹⁸ which is close to our estimated (1.02 from Algorithm C to 1.05 from Algorithm E and G). Most studies evaluated the associations by quantiles. Comparing Quantile 4 to Quantile 1, our estimates ranged from 1.25 with Algorithm B to 2.39 with Algorithm E and were closer to the results from the recent studies, which ranged from 1.28 to 2.44.^{25,103,104} It is reassuring that our results were like what has been previously published. However, because of the different LOYs algorithms used in each study, a direct comparison of the estimated magnitude is not possible. A standardized definition of LOYs would facilitate cross-study comparisons and allow for more robust prospective data analysis moving forward.

Our results showed a positive association between LOYs and risk of HGSOC, but a null association between LOYs and risk of LGSOC. There was no previous study estimating the association between LOYs and risk of HGSOC and LGSOC separately. The MALOVA study, NHS and NHS II study, OC3 study and three case-control studies in the U.S. indicated a positive association between LOYs and risk of serous ovarian cancer.^{18,25,50,60,99,104} The null association between LOYs and the risk of LGSOC could be due to the limited sample size of LGSOC and insufficient power to identify an association. Our results also indicated that LOYs was positively associated with the risk of endometrioid and clear cell histotypes, which were consistent with the findings from the MALOVA study, NHS and NHS II study, OC3 study and the three case-control studies in the U.S..^{18,25,50,60,99,104} The results from our study, the MALOVA study, OC3 study and two case-control studies in the U.S. indicated a null association between LOY and risk of mucinous ovarian cancer (RR 1.03, 95% CI 1-1.07 per 1-year increase).¹⁸

Results regarding to the associations between components in LOY and overall risk of EOC appeared generally consistent with previous studies.^{18,50,82,93,98,103} Beyond considering statistical significance, our study also compared the magnitudes of each component's effect on EOC risk. A longer duration of OC use, higher number of pregnancies, and longer duration of breastfeeding are associated with a decreased risk of EOC.^{18,50,82,93,98,103} Older age at menopause, as the central component in LOY, was associated with increased risk of EOC.^{18,93,98} While only the Polish Cancer study indicated that older age at menarche was associated with a decreased risk of EOC.¹⁰³ Four studies used different scales for LOY components when estimating the association between components in LOY and the overall risk of EOC,^{18,50,93,103} which made the comparisons of the magnitude of each component's effect on EOC risk across studies difficult. For example, the NHS

and NHS II study estimated the effects of parity per 1 child, breastfeeding per 1-year increase, duration of OC use per 5-year increase.¹⁸ The Polish Cancer study evaluated the effects of the number of live births, age at menopause as categorical variables, and OC use as binominal variables.¹⁰³ Only one case-control study in the U.S. in 1983 and one study pooling 2 case-control studies in Italy conducted logistic regression treating the components in LOYs as continuous variables and reported comparable estimated coefficients or ORs for each component.^{82,98}

Based on the "incessant ovulation" hypothesis proposed by Fathalla in 1971,²⁶¹ women with the same LOYs value should have the same risk profiles. However our study confirms the result observed in the case-control study in the U.S. in 1983 and the study pooling 2 case-control studies in Italy, which indicated that pregnancies and OC use produced stronger protective effects on EOC.^{82,98} Our study also confirmed the results observed in the case-control study in the U.S. in 1983 that breastfeeding produced stronger protective effects on EOC than expected based on cumulative years.⁸² Thus, other mechanisms must underlie the LOY-EOC association, such as hormonal hypotheses^{269,270} and inflammation,²⁹⁴ and possibly proposition that an inflammatory reaction is induced by ovulation. The NHS and NHS II study estimating the association between LOY and its components with circulating inflammatory biomarkers, including C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and soluble tumor necrosis factor alpha receptor 2 suggested that repeated local acute inflammation. This provides a potential explanation for age at menopause being a relatively weak predictor of ovarian cancer despite being a key driver of LOYs.³⁴²

Our results indicated heterogeneity in the associations between the components in LOY and risks by histotypes. The estimated coefficients of the reproductive components in LOY for HGSOC were close to the theoretical estimates of coefficients, except for breastfeeding (**Table 3**-

5). The NHS and NHS II study presented a 16% risk reduction in serous ovarian cancer per 1-year increase in breastfeeding (95% CI 0.73-0.96), while a 22% risk reduction per 5-year increase in OC use.¹⁸ The OCAC study also indicated breastfeeding was associated with a lower risk of HGSOC.²⁴ Studies suggested that HGSOC primarily arises from the fallopian tube,^{260,306,343} where release of follicular fluid by ovulation results in inflammation and DNA damage.³⁴⁴ The transformation activity of follicular fluid further caused HGSOC development.³⁴⁵ Some animal studies showed that breastfeeding suppressed ovarian follicular growth.^{346,347}

The estimated coefficient of the number of pregnancies was much larger than the theoretical coefficients for endometrioid and clear cell histotypes (-7.51 and -6.09, respectively, vs. -0.75). The hormone exposure might explain the extra protective effects for endometrioid and clear cell ovarian cancer. Studies suggested the heterogeneity of androgen and estrogen exposure across histotypes and indicated more association of hormone exposure with the risk of endometrioid³⁴⁸ and non-serous ovarian cancer.^{349,350} Age at menarche had little effect on the risks of HGSOC, endometrioid ovarian cancer, and clear cell histotypes. Due to the small sample size of LGSOC, the association between the components and risk of LGSOC could be drawn by chance. Mucinous histotype had different pathological features and genomic profile than other histotypes.^{351,352} We did not find an association between the age at last menstrual period, years of breastfeeding and the risk of mucinous histotype. However, there was a positive association between age at menarche and risk of mucinous histotype. The protective effects of reproductive factors, including pregnancies, OC use, and breastfeeding, differed between mucinous and nonmucinous histotype.^{16,59,60,353} Our results supported that mucinous histotype develop via different causal mechanisms than other histotypes.

The major strength of our study was pooling 25 case-control studies from OCAC, allowing us to estimate the association between LOY and risk of EOC by histotypes and generalize our results to diverse populations. However, limitations still exist. One limitation was recall bias due to the study design. Some studies, such as HOPE, used the calendar to recall important events to help reduce recall bias. Regardless of the limitation of study design itself, our estimates were consistent with previous studies, including NHS and NHS II study, and the prospective design of pooled studies, OC3 study. Another limitation of our study is heterogeneity by study site. We adjusted for the study site in our multivariable logistic regression. However, it might not eliminate the heterogeneity caused by health care, study design and data collection. Moreover, we made some assumptions about the components in LOY. For age at menopause, we created an algorithm based on average age at menopause by country, age at first HRT use, or age at hysterectomy if the age at menopause was not available. However, to, account for this assumption, we compared the observed age at menopause and imputed age at menopause from 7 sites (Supplemental Table 2) and conducted sensitivity analyses by using LOY calculated from the observed age at menopause, which did not alter the associations. We also performed sensitivity analyses using 6 months for women with more than 6 months of breastfeeding to prevent overestimating the duration of anovulation due to breastfeeding. The results were not changed. Although the calculation of LOY was not precise, it should not alter the overall association between LOY and risk of EOC and by histotypes.

In conclusion, an increasing LOY is associated with increased overall risk of EOC, risk of HGSOC, endometrioid ovarian cancer, and clear cell ovarian cancer. The association between LOY and risk of EOC was not altered when core components including age at menarche, age and menopause, and duration of OC use, pregnancy, and breastfeeding were used to calculate with

different methods. Our study also indicated potential heterogeneity of each component in LOY affecting the risk of EOC across histotypes. However, the assumptions made to calculate LOY slightly affected the magnitude of the associations. Further studies using better assessment of each LOY component should examine the biological mechanisms by component and histotypes.

3.6 Figures and tables





OC, oral contraceptive.



Figure 3-2 Flow chart for imputation of age at menopause

HRT, hormone replacement therapy.



Figure 3-3 Distribution of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from different algorithms
Table 3-1 Characteristics of the case-control Studies from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium, conducted in Asia, Australia, Europe, and

Study	Region	Study Name	Study Period	Cases Type	Method of Data Collection	Age (years), mean (SD)	Cases, n (%)	Controls, n (%)
AUS ⁵⁵	Australia	Australian Ovarian Cancer Study/Australian Cancer Study	2002-2006	Population-based	Self-completed questionnaire	56.88 (12.28)	1506 (43.15)	1984 (56.85)
BAV ³⁰⁹	Germany	Bavarian Ovarian Cancer Cases and Controls	2002-2006	Hospital/Clinic- based	Interview	57.31 (13.77)	629 (47.91)	684 (52.09)
CON ³¹⁰	USA	Connecticut Ovarian Cancer Study	1998-2003	Population-based	Interview	55.27 (11.04)	551 (52.58)	497 (47.42)
DOV ³¹¹	USA	Diseases of the Ovary and their Evaluation	2002-2009	Population-based	Interview	55.78 (9.26)	1849 (54.21)	1562 (45.79)
GER ³¹²	Germany	German Ovarian Cancer Study	1993-1996	Population-based	Self-completed questionnaire	55.07 (12.24)	533 (67.38)	258 (32.62)
HAW ³¹³	USA	Hawaii Ovarian Cancer Case- Control Study	1993-2008	Population-based	Interview	54.98 (14.28)	1103 (55.21)	895 (44.79)
HOP ³¹⁴	USA	Hormones and Ovarian cancer PrEdiction	2003-2009	Population-based	Interview	58.66 (12.52)	1802 (68.31)	836 (31.69)
JPN ³¹⁵	Japan	Hospital-based Research Program at Aichi Cancer Center	2001-2005	Hospital/Clinic- based	Interview	52.36 (11.17)	233 (60.52)	152 (39.48)
MAY ³¹⁶	USA	Mayo Clinic Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	1999-2018	Hospital/Clinic- based	Interview	60.51 (13.58)	2299 (55.46)	1846 (44.54)
MCC ³¹⁷	Australia	Melbourne Collaborative Cohort Study	1990-2008	Defined Cohort	Self-completed questionnaire	64.07 (9.62)	471 (73.14)	173 (26.86)
NCO ³¹⁸	USA	North Carolina Ovarian Cancer Study	1999-2008	Population-based	Interview	55.28 (11.53)	1085 (47.59)	1195 (42.41)
NEC ³¹⁹	USA	New England Case Control Study	1992-2003	Population-based	Interview	53.54 (12.35)	2100 (50.30)	2075 (49.70)
NJO ³²⁰	USA	New Jersey Ovarian Cancer Study	2002-2008	Population-based	Interview	61.48 (11.60)	458 (65.90)	237 (34.10)
NTH ^{321,322}	Netherlands	Nijmegen Ovarian Cancer Study	1997-2008	Population-based	Self-completed questionnaire	55.90 (10.79)	600 (69.36)	265 (30.64)

North America from 1989 to present

OVA	Canada	Ovarian Cancer in Alberta and British Columbia	2002- present	Population-based	Self-completed questionnaire	56.81 (10.62)	2698 (62.24)	1637 (37.76)
POL ³²³	Poland	Polish Ovarian Cancer Case Control Study	2000-2003	Population-based	Interview	55.70 (10.62)	1128 (79.32)	294 (20.68)
SON ³²⁴	Canada	Southern Ontario Ovarian Cancer Study	1989-1993	Population-based	Interview	56.86 (11.97)	564 (55.62)	450 (44.38)
STA ³²⁵	USA	Family Registry for Ovarian Cancer AND Genetic Epidemiology of Ovarian Cancer	1997-2001	Population-based	Interview	47.77 (10.07)	567 (46.02)	665 (53.98)
SWH ³²⁶	China	Shanghai Women's Health Study	1996- present	Defined Cohort	Interview	53.36 (9.70)	986 (86.64)	152 (13.36)
TBO ³²⁷	USA	Tampa Bay Ovarian Cancer Study	2000- present	Population-based	Interview	60.53 (10.85)	205 (41.84)	285 (58.16)
TOR ³²⁸	Canada	(FOTS) AND Health Watch (HW)	and 2000- 2003	Population-based	Interview	56.62 (12.77)	322 (21.63)	1167 (78.37)
UCI ¹²⁵	USA	University California Irvine Ovarian Study	1993-2005	Population-based	Interview	54.29 (13.17)	614 (49.12)	636 (50.88)
UKO ³²⁹	UK	United Kingdom Ovarian cancer Population Study	2006-2010	Hospital/Clinic- based	Interview	63.06 (8.93)	1182 (58.49)	839 (41.51)
USC ^{113,330,331}	USA	Los Angeles County Case- Control Studies of Ovarian Cancer	1992-2009	Population-based	Interview	55.07 (12.41)	2595 (52.16)	2380 (47.84)
VTL ³³²	USA	VITamins And Lifestyle Cohort Study	2000-2010	Defined Cohort	Self-completed questionnaire	68.19 (7.62)	124 (54.63)	103 (45.37)
Total						56.55 (12.20)	26204 (54.63)	21267 (44.80)

Variables	Control, n (%) N= 26204	Case, n (%) N=21267	p value
Age, years, mean (SD)	56.51 (12.06)	56.59 (12.36)	0.4612
Race			< 0.001
White	22586 (86.19)	18685 (87.86)	
Black	566 (2.16)	460 (2.16)	
Asian	2019 (7.70)	1227 (5.77)	
Other	775 (2.96)	692 (3.25)	
Unknown	258 (0.98)	203 (0.95)	
Body Mass Index (BMI) at 18, kg/m ²			< 0.001
<18.5	2637 (10.06)	2008 (9.44)	
18.5-24.9	10697 (40.82)	8809 (41.42)	
25-29.9	992 (3.79)	1002 (4.71)	
≥30	310 (1.18)	353 (1.66)	
Unknown	11568 (44.15)	9095 (42.77)	
Body Mass Index 1 or 5 years prior, kg/m ²			< 0.001
<18.5	286 (1.09)	274 (1.29)	
18.5-24.9	7472 (28.51)	5672 (26.67)	
25-29.9	4541 (17.33)	3570 (16.79)	
≥30	3074 (11.73)	3021 (14.21)	
Unknown	10831 (41.33)	8730 (41.05)	
Smoking Status			< 0.001
Never Smoker	13311 (50.80)	10106 (47.52)	
Former Smoker	2900 (11.07)	2682 (12.61)	
Current Smoker	7449 (28.43)	5930 (27.88)	
Unknown	2544 (9.71)	2549 (11.99)	
Family History of Breast or Ovarian Cancer in first-relative			< 0.001
No	16038 (61.20)	11574 (54.42)	
Yes	1569 (5.99)	1808 (8.50)	
Unknown	8597 (32.81)	7885 (37.08)	
Fubal ligation			< 0.001
No	16351 (62.40)	15035 (70.70)	
Yes	5138 (19.61)	3345 (15.73)	
Unknown	4715 (17.99)	2887 (13.58)	
Menopausal status			< 0.001
Pre/peri-menopausal	8206 (31.32)	5775 (27.15)	
Post-menopausal	16749 (63.92)	14422 (67.81)	
Unknown	1249 (4.77)	1070 (5.03)	
Endometriosis			< 0.001
No	18294 (69.81)	15128 (71.13)	
Yes	1291 (4.93)	1615 (7.59)	

Table 3-2	Characteristics	of	ovarian	cancer	cases	and	controls
	Unar acter istics	•••	U ul lull	cuncer	cubcb	unu	contri ono

Unknown	6619 (25.26)	4524 (21.27)		
Hysterectomy			< 0.001	
No	20969 (80.02)	14562 (68.47)		
Yes	4004 (15.28)	5008 (23.55)		
Unknown	1231 (4.70)	1697 (7.98)		
Hormone replacement therapy			< 0.001	
No	15547 (59.33)	13097 (61.58)		
Yes	7472 (28.51)	5921 (27.84)		
Unknown	3185 (12.15)	2249 (10.58)		
Components of lifetime ovulatory years				
Age at last menstrual period before diagnosis or interview	26204	21267		
mean (SD)	48.77 (6.03)	48.84 (6.42)	0.2204	
Age at Menarche	25255	20101		
mean (SD)	12.91 (1.68)	12.79 (1.60)	< 0.0001	
Duration of Oral Contraceptive Use, months	24948	19762		
mean (SD)	52.12 (71.30)	37.42 (59.29)	< 0.0001	
Number of Pregnancies, regardless of outcome	25429	20429		
mean (SD)	2.75 (1.83)	2.40 (1.92)	< 0.0001	
Total number of months of being pregnant, regardless of outcome(s)	14438	12195		
mean (SD)	21.42 (22.32)	16.39 (17.64)	< 0.0001	
Total number of full-term births	22835	18304		
mean (SD)	2.13 (1.48)	1.85 (1.57)	< 0.0001	
Total months of breastfeeding	18578	13619		
mean (SD)	9.52 (14.35)	6.86 (13.10)	< 0.0001	
Menstrual cycle length, days	11574	11444		
mean (SD)	28.89 (5.49)	28.74 (6.37)	0.0633	
Behavior - Histotypes				
LMP		3602 (16.94)		
Invasive		17465 (82.12)		
Serous		10423 (59.68)		
High-grade		7492 (71.88)		
Low-grade		513 (4.92)		
Unknown		2418 (23.20)		
Endometrioid	Endometrioid 2536(14.52)			
Mucinous		1134 (6.49)		
Clear cell		1310 (7.50)		
Mixed		566 (3.24)		
Others		1496 (8.57)		
Unknown		200 (0.94)		

imputation

		Main analyse	s ²	Sensitivity analyses ²
	control, n(%)	case, n(%)	Odds Ratio ¹ (95% Confidence Interval)	Odds Ratio ¹ (95% Confidence Interval)
The first class of algor	ithms			,
Algorithm A				
per 1 unit			1.021 (1.016, 1.025)	1.020 (1.015, 1.024)
Q1 (<=31.75)	6140 (24.48)	4420 (22.06)	ref	ref
Q2 (31.75-35.15)	6400 (25.52)	4821 (24.06)	1.08 (1.01, 1.16)	1.08 (1.02, 1.16)
Q3 (35.15-37.25)	6033 (24.05)	4838 (24.14)	1.13 (1.05, 1.21)	1.13 (1.06, 1.21)
Q4 (>37.25)	6508 (25.95)	5961 (29.75)	1.31 (1.22, 1.40)	1.28 (1.20, 1.37)
Algorithm B				
per 1 unit			1.019 (1.014, 1.024)	1.019 (1.014, 1.023)
Q1 (<=32.25)	5511 (24.47)	4042 (22.44)	ref	ref
Q2 (32.25-35.50)	5036 (22.36)	3748 (20.81)	1.07 (1.00, 1.15)	1.02 (0.95, 1.09)
Q3 (35.50-37.50)	5645 (25.07)	4481 (24.88)	1.08 (1.01, 1.16)	1.05 (0.98, 1.13)
Q4 (>37.50)	6327 (28.10)	5742 (31.88)	1.24 (1.16, 1.34)	1.25 (1.16, 1.34)
Algorithm C				
per 1 unit			1.020 (1.016, 1.025)	1.020 (1.015, 1.025)
Q1 (<=32.00)	5463 (24.27)	3926 (21.81)	ref	ref
Q2 (32.00-35.50)	5550 (24.66)	4153 (23.07)	1.11 (1.03, 1.19)	1.02 (0.95, 1.09)
Q3 (35.50-37.50)	5628 (25.00)	4520 (25.11)	1.13 (1.05, 1.22)	1.08 (1.00, 1.16)
Q4 (>37.50)	5868 (26.07)	5404 (30.02)	1.32 (1.22, 1.42)	1.27 (1.18, 1.37)
Algorithm D				
per 1 unit			1.020 (1.014, 1.025)	1.015 (1.001, 1.020)
Q1 (<=32.00)	3330 (24.49)	2393 (22.66)	ref	ref
Q2 (32.00-35.60)	3529 (25.96)	2574 (24.37)	1.12 (1.02, 1.22)	1.03 (0.95, 1.12)
Q3 (35.60-37.50)	3041 (22.37)	2302 (21.80)	1.19 (1.08, 1.31)	1.08 (0.99, 1.19)
Q4 (>37.50)	3696 (27.18)	3292 (31.17)	1.36 (1.24, 1.50)	1.25 (1.14, 1.37)
	The	second class of al	gorithms	
Algorithm E				
per 1 unit			1.045 (1.042, 1.048)	1.044 (1.041, 1.047)
Q1 (<=25.00)	6012 (24.56)	3648 (18.88)	ref	ref
Q2 (25.00-32.67)	7570 (30.92)	5344 (27.66)	1.51 (1.42, 1.60)	1.48 (1.39, 1.57)
Q3 (32.67-35.50)	4591 (18.75)	3854 (19.95)	1.92 (1.78, 2.06)	1.90 (1.77, 2.03)

Q4 (>35.50)	6307 (25.76)	6477 (33.52)	2.39 (2.23, 2.56)	2.33 (2.17, 2.49)
Algorithm F				
per 1 unit			1.044 (1.041, 1.048)	1.045 (1.041, 1.048)
Q1 (<=25.75)	5453 (24.86)	3489 (19.74)	ref	ref
Q2 (25.75-32.25)	5439 (24.80)	3872 (21.91)	1.42 (1.33, 1.52)	1.44 (1.35, 1.54)
Q3 (32.25-35.92)	5557 (25.34)	4594 (25.99)	1.80 (1.68, 1.93)	1.79 (1.67, 1.92)
Q4 (>35.95)	5482 (25.00)	5721 (32.37)	2.31 (2.15, 2.49)	2.33 (2.16, 2.50)
Algorithm G				
per 1 unit			1.045 (1.042, 1.048)	1.045 (1.042, 1.049)
Q1 (<=25.50)	5380 (24.54)	3434 (19.44)	ref	ref
Q2 (25.50-32.00)	5429 (24.77)	3797 (21.49)	1.41 (1.32, 1.51)	1.44 (1.35, 1.53)
Q3 (32.00-35.75)	5468 (24.94)	4544 (25.72)	1.83 (1.71, 1.97)	1.81 (1.68, 1.94)
Q4 (>35.75)	5644 (25.75)	5891 (33.35)	2.34 (2.17, 2.52)	2.37 (2.20, 2.54)
Algorithm H				
per 1 unit			1.044 (1.040, 1.049)	1.042 (1.038, 1.047)
Q1 (<=25.00)	3237 (24.67)	2050 (19.78)	ref	ref
Q2 (25.00-32.09)	3337 (25.45)	2517 (24.29)	1.48 (1.37, 1.61)	1.45 (1.34, 1.57)
Q3 (32.09-35.92)	3288 (25.08)	2623 (25.31)	1.83 (1.67, 2.00)	1.78 (1.64, 1.95)
Q4 (>35.92)	3249 (24.78)	3172 (30.61)	2.37 (2.15, 2.61)	2.28 (2.08, 2.50)
	Th	e third class of alg	gorithms	·
Algorithm I				
per 1 unit			1.041 (1.037, 1.046)	1.048 (1.044, 1.051)
Q1 (<=24.33)	3588 (24.88)	2079 (18.58)	ref	ref
Q2 (24.33-30.75)	3563 (24.70)	2405 (21.49)	1.42 (1.31, 1.54)	1.48 (1.38, 1.60)
Q3 (30.75-34.75)	3615 (25.06)	2972 (26.56)	1.77 (1.62, 1.93)	1.86 (1.72, 2.02)
Q4 (>34.75)	3658 (25.36)	3733 (33.36)	2.13 (1.94, 2.34)	2.50 (2.30, 2.71)
Algorithm J				
per 1 unit			1.041 (1.037, 1.046)	1.047 (1.043, 1.050)
Q1 (<=25.00)	3582 (24.83)	2097 (18.72)	ref	ref
Q2 (25.00-31.42)	3686 (25.55)	2492 (22.25)	1.40 (1.29, 1.52)	1.44 (1.34, 1.55)
Q3 (31.42-35.25)	3534 (24.50)	2933 (26.19)	1.76 (1.61, 1.92)	1.89 (1.75, 2.05)
Q4 (>35.25)	3624 (25.12)	3677 (32.83)	2.10 (1.91, 2.30)	2.35 (2.17, 2.55)
Algorithm K				
per 1 unit			1.041 (1.037, 1.046)	1.047 (1.043, 1.051)
Q1 (<=24.75)	3572 (24.76)	2070 (18.50)	ref	ref
Q2 (24.75-31.20)	3633 (25.19)	2480 (22.16)	1.44 (1.32, 1.56)	1.47 (1.37, 1.58)

Q3 (31.20-35.00)	3536 (24.51)	2862 (25.58)	1.75 (1.60, 1.91)	1.88 (1.74, 2.04)							
Q4 (>35.00)	3683 (25.53)	3777 (33.76)	2.16 (1.97, 2.36)	2.41 (2.22, 2.62)							
Algorithm L											
per 1 unit			1.042 (1.037, 1.048)	1.049 (1.044, 1.053)							
Q1 (<=24.25)	2113 (24.94)	1232 (18.96)	ref	ref							
Q2 (24.25-31.42)	2156 (25.45)	1654 (25.45)	1.52 (1.37, 1.68)	1.57 (1.43, 1.72)							
Q3 (31.45-35.25)	2075 (24.49)	1621 (24.95)	1.78 (1.59, 2.00)	2.00 (1.81, 2.21)							
Q4 (>35.25)	2129 (25.13)	1991 (30.64)	2.21 (1.96, 2.49)	2.54 (2.29, 2.82)							
The fourth class of algorithms											
Algorithm M											
per 1 unit			1.032 (1.027, 1.036)	1.038 (1.034, 1.041)							
Q1 (<=23.77)	2283 (24.99)	1472 (17.26)	ref	ref							
Q2 (23.77-30.87)	2283 (24.99)	2035 (23.86)	1.52 (1.38, 1.67)	1.58 (1.45, 1.72)							
Q3 (30.87-35.37)	2274 (24.90)	2369 (27.78)	1.87 (1.68, 2.07)	2.00 (1.83, 2.18)							
Q4 (>35.37)	2294 (25.11)	2653 (31.11)	2.07 (1.86, 2.30)	2.43 (2.21, 2.66)							
Algorithm N											
per 1 unit			1.032 (1.028, 1.037)	1.038 (1.034, 1.042)							
Q1 (<=23.58)	2268 (24.83)	1463 (17.16)	ref	ref							
Q2 (23.58-30.69)	2300 (25.18)	2050 (24.04)	1.52 (1.38, 1.67)	1.58 (1.45, 1.72)							
Q3 (30.69-35.20)	2276 (24.92)	2367 (27.76)	1.85 (1.67, 2.06)	1.99 (1.82, 2.18)							
Q4 (>35.20)	2289 (25.06)	2648 (31.05)	2.07 (1.86, 2.31)	2.45 (2.23, 2.68)							
Algorithm O											
per 1 unit			1.030 (1.025, 1.035)	1.037 (1.032, 1.042)							
Q1 (<=23.49)	1553 (25.00)	924 (17.95)	ref	ref							
Q2 (23.49-30.69)	1534 (25.02)	1305 (25.35)	1.54 (1.37, 1.73)	1.58 (1.43, 1.74)							
Q3 (30.69-35.29)	1536 (25.05)	2418 (27.55)	1.79 (1.58, 2.03)	1.99 (1.80, 2.21)							
Q4 (>35.29)	1529 (24.93)	1500 (29.14)	1.95 (1.71, 2.22)	2.33 (2.09, 2.61)							

 1 Adjusted for study site, age, body mass index 1 or 5 years prior (underweight, normal, overweight, obese, unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown) and family history (yes, no, unknown).

with imputation

	Odds Ratio ¹	95% Confidence Interval	Theoretical estimate of coefficient	Estimated coefficient	chi-square for removal from model	P-value for removal from model
Age at last menstrual period before diagnosis						
or interview	1.018	1 012 1 025	1	1 (defined)	29.82	<0.0001
Age at Menarche	1.010	1.012, 1.025	1	r (defined)	27.02	<0.0001
age at inclusion	1.010	0.005 1.025	1	0.54	1.50	0 2075
	1.010	0.995, 1.025	-1	-0.34	1.39	0.2075
Duration of Oral Contraceptive Use, years						
per 1 unit	0.948	0.943, 0.953	-1	-2.95	438.86	< 0.0001
Number of non-full-term pregnancies						
per 1 unit	0.965	0.943, 0.988	-0.25	-1.97	9.13	0.0025
Total number of full-term births						
per 1 unit	0.892	0.875, 0.910	-0.75	-6.34	129.92	< 0.0001
Total years of breastfeeding						
per 1 unit	0.906	0.884, 0.928	-1	-5.49	65.14	< 0.0001

Table 3-4 Odds ratio for ovarian cancer by individual components of lifetime ovulatory years in algorithm K using complete data

¹ adjusted for study site, age, body mass index 1 or 5 years prior (underweight, normal, overweight, obese, unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown), family history (yes, no, unknown), and other components of lifetime ovulatory cycles in the model.

Theoretical estimate of coefficient	Low malignant potential N=3252	Invasive high- grade serous N=5836	Invasive low- grade serous N=425	Invasive endometrioid N=2243	Invasive mucinous N=982	Invasive clear cell N=1132
	OR^1	OR ¹	OR^1	OR^1	OR^1	OR^1
	(95% β	(95% β	(95% β	(95% β	(95% β	(95% β
	CI)	CI)	CI)	CI)	CI)	CI)
Lifetime ovulatory ye	ars ²					
	0.984	1.048	1.008	1.067	0.997	1.108
per 1	(0.974,	(1.041,	(0.986,	(1.056,	(0.982,	(1.091,
unit	0.993)	1.056)	1.031)	1.079)	1.012)	1.125)
Age at last menstrual	period before diagn	osis or interview				
	0.973	1.054	1.009	1.039	0.999	1.078
per 1	(0.961, 1	(1.044, 1	(0.979, 1	(1.024, 1	(0.978, 1	(1.056, 1
unit 1	0.986) (defined)	1.065) (defined)	1.040) (defined)	1.055) (defined)	1.021) (defined)	1.101) (defined)
Age at Menarche						
	1.032	1.004	0.980	1.066	1.079	0.959
per 1	(1.002,	(0.982,	(0.912,	(0.972,	(1.030,	(0.911,
unit -1	1.062) -1.168	1.026) 0.008	1.053) -2.662	1.042) 0.166	1.130) -79.026	1.008) -0.560
Duration of Oral Con	traceptive Use, year	8				
	0.971	0.948	0.958	0.927	0.971	0.911
per 1	(0.962,	(0.940,	(0.935,	(0.914,	(0.955,	(0.892,
unit -1	0.980) 10.836	0.955) -0.920	0.981) -4.726	0.939) -1.974	0.987) 30.962	0.930) -1.237
Number of non-full-to	erm pregnancies					
	0.991	0.980	0.867	0.938	0.915	0.836
per 1	(0.951,	(0.948,	(0.766,	(0.888,	(0.844,	(0.764,
unit -0.25	1.034) 0.319	1.013) -0.389	0.980) -15.607	0.991) -1.660	0.992) 92.056	0.914) -2.381
Total number of full-	term births					
	0.852	0.953	0.947	0.749	0.930	0.632
per 1	(0.817,	(0.927,	(0.860,	(0.712,	(0.870,	(0.583,
unit -0.75	0.889) 5.950	0.980) -0.823	1.044) -5.933	0.788) -7.505	0.994) 75.566	0.686) -6.087
Total years of breastf	eeding					
	0.965	0.880	0.842	0.915	0.998	0.900
per 1	(0.919,	(0.847,	(0.731,	(0.858,	(0.925,	(0.811,
unit -1	1.012) 1.337	0.913) -2.419	0.969) -18.809	0.976) -2.301	1.076) 2.478	0.999) -1.393

Table 3-5 Odds ratio for ovarian cancer histotypes by individual components of lifetime ovulatory years in algorithm K using complete data

CI, confidence interval; OR odds ratio; β , estimated coefficient. ¹ adjusted for study site, age, body mass index 1 or 5 years prior (underweight, normal, overweight, obese, unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown), family history (yes, no, unknown), and other components of lifetime ovulatory cycles in the model.

² adjusted for study site, age, body mass index 1 or 5 years prior (underweight, normal, overweight, obese, unknown), smoking status (never, former, current, unknown) and family history (yes, no, unknown).

4.0 Paper II: Hormonally-linked risk factors for ovarian cancer tumors defined by hormone receptors: an analysis from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium and the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium

4.1 Abstract

Introduction: Many factors associated with epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) risk are related to sex hormones. The association between these factors and the biology of tumors defined by sex hormone status is unknown. In this study, we identified hormonally-linked factors related to EOC risk and survival according to the presence of androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor (ER), and/or progesterone receptor (PR) in tumors.

Method: We linked epidemiologic and immunohistochemistry (IHC) data from 13 casecontrol studies in the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium (OCAC) and the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis (OTTA) consortium to estimate relative risk ratios (RRRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the associations between hormonally linked risk factors with EOC risk by tumor types defined by the individual and joint presence of hormonal receptors using polytomous logistic regression. We used clinical, epidemiologic, and IHC data from 14 case-control studies and 5 caseonly studies in OCAC and OTTA to perform survival analyses. Kaplan-Meier curves were used to visualize survival among all cases and histotype-specific cases by the individual and joint presence of hormonal receptors. Cox proportional hazards model with left truncation was used to estimate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and survival by tumor types defined by the individual and joint presence of hormonal receptors and by histotypes. **Results:** Menopause status was associated with a higher risk of PR- tumors relative to controls (RRR 1.52, 95% CI 1.26-1.83) but not associated with PR+ tumors relative to controls (P for heterogeneity 0.0008). The associations were not altered by the presence or absence of AR or ER. Women with ER-PR+ high-grade serous tumors showed the best survival compared to women with the other three tumors defined by ER and PR. Women with ER+ or PR+ endometrioid tumors had a longer survival time compared to women with ER- or PR- endometrioid tumors. The association was not altered by the presence of AR. Women with ER- clear cell tumors had a longer survival time than women with ER+ clear cell tumors. There was no interaction effect between hormonally-linked risk factors and the presence of hormone receptors on EOC survival in general nor for survival by histotype.

Conclusion: EOC tumor types defined by hormone receptor status have varying risk and prognostic profiles in general and based on tumor histology. The potential biologic mechanisms underlying the association of hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk and outcomes need to be studied by histotypes and by tumor hormone receptor status.

4.2 Introduction

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecologic cancer² and epithelial ovary cancer (EOC) accounts for nearly 90% of malignant ovarian cancer.¹ The consistent association of oral contraceptive (OC) use and pregnancy with reduced risk of EOC strongly indicates a role of hormones in EOC risk.⁸² The "hormone" hypothesis⁸² postulates that excess androgen and estrogen stimulation of the ovarian epithelium leads to an increased EOC risk, while progesterone simulation has a protective effect on EOC.²⁶⁹ This hypothesis was supported by the protective effect of OC use, associated with reduced androgen and estrogen levels,^{281,282,303} and parity, associated with excess progesterone.³⁵⁴ It was also supported by the risk effect of endometriosis, which leads to progesterone resistance,²⁹³ and hormonal treatment (HRT) use, which is associated with increased estrogen.^{283,355} However, the underlying biological mechanisms whereby these factors influence EOC etiology remain unknown. One possibility is through impacting hormone receptors, which may also influence survival.

Hormonal receptors, including androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor (ER), and progesterone receptor (PR), have been associated with the EOC survival in a histotype-specific way.²⁰⁴ Data pooling 12 studies participating in the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis (OTTA) consortium estimated the histotype-specific associations between ER or/and PR and survival.²⁰⁴ A Swedish study indicated that women with AR+ and PR+ in serous and endometrioid tumors had the best survival.²⁰⁵ AR expression alone was observed to be a favorable prognostic factor for the serous subtypes.²⁰⁶ However, to date, no study has estimated the survival by the joint presence of AR and ER, and all three receptors, or evaluates the association of hormonally-linked risk factors with the survival of EOC tumors defined by hormone receptor status of AR, ER, and PR.

In the current study, we pooled data from studies participating in the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium (OCAC) and OTTA to evaluate the association between hormonallylinked factors with the risk and survival of EOC tumor types defined by hormone receptor status of AR, ER, and PR. Because EOC is now believed to be a group of etiologically distinct diseases,^{16,59} we used the large, pooled sample size to further investigate the impact of hormone receptor status on risk and survival according to EOC histotype. Insight into the relationship between hormonally-linked risk factors and tumor biology could help us better understand the exposure-EOC relationships. Thus, the aim of this work was to investigate the association between hormonally-linked factors with the risk and survival of EOC tumor types defined by hormone receptor status as well as the impact of hormone receptor status on risk and survival factors between receptor status as well as the impact of hormone receptor status on risk and survival according to EOC tumor types.

4.3 Method

Study participants

The OCAC was established in 2005 to promote collaborative research on discovering and validating associations between epidemiologic and genetic factors and ovarian cancer risk.³⁰⁸ The OTTA was formed in 2010 to validate prognostic markers for ovarian cancer by histotypes.³⁵⁶ We included 20,888 controls and 4,762 cases from 13 case-control studies with epidemiologic factors in OCAC and hormone receptor status via immunohistochemistry (IHC) in OTTA to estimate the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk.^{55,60,309,312-314,316,325,357,358} The characteristics of the 13 case-control studies are presented in Table 4-1. We included 5,737 invasive cases from 14 case-control studies (cases from POC not linked to OCAC) and 5 case-only studies with hormone receptor status in OTTA to estimate survival by tumor types defined by hormone receptor status.^{55,60,309,312-314,316,325,357-359} We estimated the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and survival of EOC tumor types defined by hormone receptor status by combining OCAC and OTTA datasets. The characteristics of the case-control and caseonly studies included in the survival analyses are presented in Table 4-2. The participating institutions obtained approval from relevant ethics committees and all participants provided informed consent.

Hormonal receptor status via immunohistochemistry

Data on AR, ER, and PR staining was obtained from the OTTA. Briefly, tumors were obtained at initial debulking surgery and arrayed on tissue microarrays (TMAs) for immunohistochemistry (IHC) analysis. IHC analyses were performed by Genetic Pathology Evaluation Centre (Vancouver, BC, Canada) for estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) and by Ventana Medical Systems Inc. (Tucson, AZ, USA) for androgen receptor (AR) in Vancouver using the Ventana Discovery Ultra machine ^{204,211}. Two observers independently scored the staining intensity for each IHC biomarker. In the original OTTA dataset, a 5-tiered system (no tumoral tissue, necrosis or hemorrhage, no staining in tumoral cells or just cytoplasmic staining, just stromal cells staining, just tumoral cells staining, and both tumoral and stromal cells staining) was used for AR and a 3-tiered system (<1%, 1 to 50%, and >50% of tumor cell nuclei positive) was used for ER and PR. In the current study, positive was defined as stromal or/and tumoral cells staining for AR and nuclear expression in \geq 1% of tumor cells for ER and PR.

Hormonally-linked risk factors and covariates

We identified 11 hormonally-linked risk factors, including physical inactivity (associated with increased estrogen³⁶⁰), recent body mass index (BMI) greater than or equal to 30 kg/m² (associated with hormonal imbalances^{361,362}), smoking status (associated with anti-estrogenic effects^{287,363}), history of ever OC use (associated with altered hormonal milieus^{278,281,282,303,364}), history of pregnancy (associated with excess progesterone³⁵⁴), history of ever breastfeeding (associated with decreased estrogen³⁶⁵), age at menarche less than 13 (associated with excess estrogen^{366,367}), menopause status (associated with decreased estrogen and progesterone^{368,370}), history of endometriosis (associated with increase excess estrogen but reduced progesterone^{286,293}), history of hysterectomy (associated which decreased estrogen³⁷¹), and history of HRT use (associated with increased estrogen^{283,355}) (**Table 4-3**). The other relevant variables from the OCAC dataset included age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls), race (non-white, white, or unknown), and family history of breast or ovarian cancer (no, ovarian cancer only, breast cancer only, both ovarian cancer and breast cancer). All information on the variables was self-reported.

Clinical data

Clinical data in the OTTA dataset were obtained from the combination of tumor tissue and a centralized pathology review. We obtained variables related to EOC survival, including histotypes (serous, endometrioid, mucinous, clear cell, or other), stage (stage I/II, stage III/IV, or unknown), grade (low, high, or unknown), debulking status (optimal, suboptimal, or unknown), chemotherapy (no, yes, or unknown), and primary therapy outcome (complete response/ partial response, stable disease/progressive disease, or non-applicable/ unknown). Each site in OTTA reported vital status, survival time, and follow-up information from medical record review, patient contact, linkage with state cancer registries, use of the SEER registry, and death-record databases.

Statistical analysis

Polytomous logistic regression is used to model nominal outcome variables and produces conditional odds ratios called as relative risk ratios (RRRs), which is equivalent to odds ratio when the outcome is binomial. In the current study, polytomous logistic regression was used to estimate RRRs and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for EOC risk by tumor types as defined by the individual receptor presence and joint presence based on hormonally-linked risk factors compared to all controls controlling for study site, age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls), family history of breast or ovarian cancer (no, ovarian cancer only, breast cancer only, or both ovarian cancer and breast cancer), duration of OC use (0, <1, 1-4, 5-9, or 10+ years), number of pregnancies (never, 1, 2, 3, or 4+), menopause status at diagnosis or at interview (pre or post), and hormonal treatment use (no, estrogen only, combination, or others). P-values for heterogeneity of RRRs from Wald test were reported. Sensitivity analyses were conducted restricting to invasive cases only and comparing cases to all controls by adding an unknown outcome category for cases without hormonal receptor status in the polytomous logistic regression.

Kaplan-Meier curves were used to visualize survival from the time of diagnosis among all cases and histotype-specific cases by individual receptor presence and joint receptor presence. Pvalues from log-rank test were obtained to estimate the difference between survivor functions across tumor types defined by hormone receptor status. The Cox proportional hazard model with left truncation was used to estimate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and survival from time of diagnosis by tumor types as defined by the individual and joint presence of hormone receptors controlling for study site, age at diagnosis (cases) or interview (controls), histotypes (serous, endometrioid, mucinous, clear cell, or other), stage (stage I/II, stage III/IV, or unknown), grade (low, high, or unknown), and debulking status (optimal, suboptimal, or unknown). The interaction effects between hormonally-linked risk factors and hormone receptor status were evaluated by Wald test. We did not consider hormonallylinked risk factors of age at menarche, history of hysterectomy, and history of endometriosis due too few cases with these data. We estimated the adjusted HRs and 95% CI for the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and the histotype-specific survival by tumor types defined by the individual and joint presence of hormone receptors. Statistical analyses were performed in Stata/SE version 16.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX), and all statistical tests were two-sided with a significance level of 5%.

4.4 Results

Hormonally-linked risk factors by tumor types defined by receptors

Characteristics of controls and cases defined by individual receptor presence are summarized in **Table 4-3**. There were 1,390 AR- cases, 563 AR+ cases, and 10,411 controls from 10 case-control studies included in the AR analyses. Compared to women with AR+ tumors, women with AR- tumors were older and less likely to report family history of breast or ovarian cancer and history of hysterectomy. We included 564 ER- cases, 1,282 ER+ cases, and 16,606 controls from 8 case-control studies in the ER analyses. Women with ER- tumors were more likely to be non-white and physically inactive compared to controls and women with ER+ tumors. Women with ER+ tumors were more likely to report family history of breast or ovarian cancer and history of hysterectomy. There were 1,528 PR- cases, 1,125 PR+ cases, and 19,851 controls from 10 case-control studies in the PR analyses. Women with PR- tumors were older and were more likely to be non-white than controls and women with PR+ tumors. Women with PR+ tumors were likely to report family history of breast or ovarian cancer are and history of hysterectomy. There were 1,528 PR- cases, 1,125 PR+ cases, and 19,851 controls from 10 case-control studies in the PR analyses. Women with PR- tumors were older and were more likely to be non-white than controls and women with PR+ tumors. Women with PR+ tumors were less likely to report HRT use compared to controls and women with PR- tumors.

The associations between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk did not significantly vary by AR status (**Table 4-4**). Obesity status at adulthood was significantly associated with a higher risk of ER- tumors relative to controls (RRR 1.53, 95% CI 1.18-1.98) but not associated with ER+ tumors relative to controls (RRR 1.13, 95% CI 0.95-1.35; P for heterogeneity 0.053). Hysterectomy had a larger estimated effect for the risk of ER+ cases relative to controls (RRR 4.99, 95% CI 4.27-5.83), as compared to ER- cases relative to controls (RRR 3.67, 95% CI 2.93-4.60; P for heterogeneity 0.018). Menopause status was associated with a higher risk of PR- cases relative to controls (RRR 1.52, 95% CI 1.26-1.83) but not associated with PR+ cases relative to controls (RRR 0.98, 95% CI 0.80-1.20; P for heterogeneity 0.0008). Number of pregnancies and

duration of oral contraceptive use showed dose-response protective effects on EOC risk by individual receptor presence, except the effect of duration of oral contraceptive use on AR+ tumors (P for trend 0.1086). Duration of breastfeeding showed dose-response protective effects on EOC risk by individual AR status and ER status. Sensitivity analyses restricting to invasive cases only and comparing cases to controls from all case-control studies by adding an unknown index in the outcome did not alter the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk by tumor types defined by individual receptor presence (**Supplemental Table. A**).

The association between hysterectomy and EOC risk differed by the joint presence of AR and ER (P for heterogeneity 0.0028; Table 4-5 Panel A) and by the joint presence of AR and PR (P for heterogeneity 0.0388; Table 4-5 Panel B) but the 95% CIs for each category of tumors overlapped. Hysterectomy is associated with a higher risk of AR-ER+ cases relative to controls (RRR 9.31, 95% CI 7.17-12.09) and with similar risks of AR-ER- (RRR 4.50), AR+ER- (RRR 6.71) and AR+ER+ (RRR 5.97). Hysterectomy is associated with higher risks of AR+PR- cases and AR+ER+ cases (RRRs 11.90 and 10.62, respectively) and with similar risks of AR-PR- cases and AR+PR+ cases (RRRs 7.40 and 7.09, respectively). Menopause status was associated with a lower risk of AR-PR+ cases relative to controls (RRR 0.65, 95 CI% 0.45-0.94), and a higher risk of AR-PR- cases relative to controls (RRR 1.74, 95% CI 1.31-2.32), but not significantly associated with AR+PR- cases and AR+PR+ cases relative to controls (P for heterogeneity 0.0002; Table 4-5 Panel B). Menopause status was significantly associated with a higher risk of ER+PRcases relative to controls (RRR 2.17, 95% CI1.60-2.95) but not significantly associated with ER-PR- cases, ER-PR+ cases, and ER+PR+ cases relative to controls (P for heterogeneity 0.0004; Table 4-5 Panel C). Sensitivity analyses restricting to invasive cases only and comparing cases to controls from all case-control studies by adding an unknown outcome category for cases did not alter any association (data not shown). The association of hysterectomy and menopause status with EOC risk by the joint presence of two receptors was not modified by stratifying by a third receptor (**Supplemental Table. B**). Menopause status was associated with higher risks of AR-ER+PR-cases and AR+ER+PR- cases relative to controls (RRRs 2.20 and 2.29, respectively) and lower risk of AR-ER-PR+ cases and AR-ER+PR+ cases relative to controls (RRRs 0.23 and 0.63, respectively).

Survival by tumor types defined by receptors

We included 2,552 AR- tumor cases, 1,153 AR+ tumor cases, 830 ER- tumor cases, 1,699 ER+ tumor cases, 2,640 PR- tumor cases, and 1,728 PR+ tumor cases in the survival analyses. Clinical characteristics and hormonally linked risk factors among tumor types defined by individual hormonal receptor presence are summarized in **Supplemental Table.** C. Serous cases made up a larger percentage of AR+ cases than AR- cases (73.11% vs. 58.74%) and a greater percentage of ER+ cases than ER- cases (74.63% vs. 37.11%). Endometrioid cases made up a greater percentage of PR+ cases than PR- cases (28.59% vs. 5.76%). Clear cell cases were more likely hormone receptor negative. ER+ cases were at a more advanced stage than ER- cases (60.47% vs. 36.36%). More PR- cases had high grades compared to PR+ cases (90.79% vs. 78.79%).

Women with ER- tumors had a longer survival time (median 7.26 years, 95% CI 6.12-8.66 years) compared to women with ER+ tumors (median 4.94 years, 95% CI 4.62-5.36 years). Women with PR+ tumors had a longer survival time (median 6.93 years, 95% CI 6.21-8.05 years) than women with PR- tumors (median 4.22 years, 95% CI 3.89-4.56 years). Women with AR+ and AR- tumors had similar survival times (median 5.11 years and 4.92 years, respectively). The Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from diagnosis by individual receptor presence are presented

(Figure 4-1). Survival did not vary by individual AR status, but did vary by ER status and PR status. We also used Kaplan-Meier curves to visualize the survival by the joint presence of hormone receptors (Supplemental Figure A). The curves for EOC tumors defined by the joint receptor presences crossed in all analyses.

Survival by histotype and by individual receptor presence are presented in **Supplemental** Figure B. When evaluated by individual histotype, women with PR+ HGSOC had longer survival compared to women with PR- HGSOC (P from log-rank test =0.0003). There was no noted survival difference in HGSOC by either ER or AR status. Among HGSOC cases, there was no significant difference in survival by the joint presence of AR and ER (Figure 4-2 Panel A), or the joint presence of AR and PR (Figure 4-2 Panel B). Women with ER-PR+ high grade serous tumors had the best survival compared to women with high grade serous tumors defined by the other three ER and PR subtypes (Figure 4-2 Panel C). There was no clear distinction among the groups defined by the three receptors' joint presence (Figure 4-2 Panel D). When we evaluated endometrioid cancers, women with ER+ or PR+ endometrioid tumors had a longer survival time compared to women with ER- or PR- tumors (Supplemental Figure B). There was no difference in survival between those with AR- and AR+ endometrioid tumors (Supplemental Figure B). When examining survival based on joint presence hormone receptors, the association of ER and PR positivity and survival was not altered by the presence of AR (Figure 4-3). There was no difference in survival for any of the individual hormone receptors in women with mucinous cancers (Supplemental Figure B). Lastly, women with ER- clear cell tumors had a longer survival time than women with ER+. Survival for this histotype did not differ by ER or AR (Supplemental Figure B). Since the sample size of clear cell tumors was limited, we did not estimate the survival stratified by the joint presence of hormone receptors.

Hormonally-linked risk factor related to survival

When we evaluated hormonally linked risked factors by hormone receptor status across all histologic subtypes, physical inactivity was significantly associated with worse survival for ER+ cases (HR 1.47, 95% CI 1.14-1.89) and non-significantly associated with better survival for ER- cases (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.48-1.16) (P for interaction 0.14) (**Table 4-6**). The association between physical inactivity and survival by ER status was not modified by AR or PR status (data not shown). History of pregnancy was non-significantly associated with higher hazards of death for PR- HGSOC (HR 1.20 95% CI 0.96-1.50) and with lower hazards for PR+ HGSOC (HR 0.88 95% CI 0.66-1.17) (P for interaction 0.22). HRT use was associated with improved HGSOC survival regardless of tumor types as defined by the individual receptor presence, except PR+ cases. The associations between hormonally-linked risk factors and HGOSC survival did not vary by tumor types defined by the joint presence of ER and PR (data not shown). We did not evaluate the associations on endometrioid, mucinous and clear cell cancers differed by tumor types defined by the individual or joint receptor presence due to limited sample sizes.

4.5 Discussion

In the current study, we observed differences in EOC risk and survival based on tumor hormone receptor status. We report that the association between menopause status at diagnosis and EOC risk varied by the presence of PR and is not altered by the presence of AR or ER. Specifically, post-menopausal women had higher risk of PR- ovarian tumors. We also observed the association between hysterectomy and EOC risk varied by the presence of AR, ER, and PR. However, regardless the presence of AR, ER and PR, women with a history of hysterectomy had higher EOC risk than those with no history of hysterectomy. We also confirmed and expanded previously reported data showing significant differences in EOC survival based on tumor receptor status for ER,²⁰⁴ which may be modified by physical inactivity. We also confirmed previously reported survival differences based on tumor PR status.²⁰⁴ In contrast, tumor AR status was not associated with survival. We further found that women with ER-PR+ HGSOC tumors have longer survival compared to women with the other three HSGOC types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumors have worse survival compared to women with the other three endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER+ clear cell tumors have worse survival compared to women with ER- clear cell tumors. Collectively, our findings suggested that ER and PR potentially serve as prognostic biomarkers for HGSOC and endometrioid ovarian cancer while ER may serve as a prognostic biomarker for clear cell ovarian cancer.

Menopausal status at diagnosis was differentially associated with EOC risk based on the presence of PR. Women with post-menopausal status were more likely to develop PR-tumors compared to women with pre-menopausal status. Our finding was consistent with the results from a previous pooled study of 197 Nurses' Health Study (NHS) cases, 42 NHS II cases and 76 New

England Case-control Study (NECC) cases³⁷² and the study of 157 NHS cases.³⁷³ In our study, 57.6% of all cases were PR- tumors (N=1525) and 42.4 % PR+ tumors (N=1125). The distribution of PR, overall, was similar to the NHS, NHS II and NECC study,³⁷² but the percentage of PR-tumors was lower than that in the NHS study. Both our study and the NHS, NHS II and NECC study considered PR+ if >=1% of cells stained positive, while the NHS study considered PR+ if >10% of cells stained positive. Thus, regardless of how PR+ was defined, the association of PR status with EOC risk appears to be modified by menopausal status. Furthermore, consistent with previous studies,^{205,372-377} we observed that PR-tumors were more likely to be at advanced stage, higher grade and suboptimal debulking status and presented worse survival outcomes compare to PR+ tumors. Although the exact biologic mechanism underlying these findings are unknown, they may reflect that fact that menopause is associated with a decrease in ovarian PR expression (**Table 4-3**) and that progesterone exposure is associated with reduced EOC risk ³⁷⁸ and improved survival.^{378,379}

When examining survival by tumors defined by individual receptor status, we recapitulated some previously reported findings, but also reported on novel results. Consistent with a Swedish cohort study,^{204,205} we found that women with PR- HGSOC tumors, PR- endometrioid tumors, and ER- endometrioid tumors had worse survival. However, no prior studies have examined survival by receptor status for mucinous and clear cell cases. Notably, for these never reported on subtypes, we also found that ER+ clear cell cases were associated with worse survival and that survival did not vary by receptor status for mucinous cases. The heterogeneity on the association between the presence of hormonal receptors and survival across histotypes suggested different AR, ER, PR signaling in ovarian cancer by histotypes. Our study contrasted with a prospective population-based study with 90 serous cases from the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS) and Malmö

Preventive Project (MPP) cohorts, which indicated AR expression alone was observed to be a favorable prognostic factor for the serous subtypes,²⁰⁶ and the Swedish cohort study, which indicated AR+PR+ tumors present a better survival ²⁰⁵. The reasons for the conflicting findings might be the definition of AR positive and the outcomes of interest. In the MDCS and MPP study, serous cases were not separated into HGSOC and LGSOC and the cur-off point for AR was 10% stained tumor cells.²⁰⁶ The Swedish cohort study combined serous and endometrioid tumors together and also used 10% stained tumor cells as a cutoff for hormone receptor positive and negative staining.²⁰⁵ We did not identify any significant interaction of hormonally-linked risk factors and the presence of hormone receptors on survival by histotypes.

Our analyses on survival by histotype and tumor types define by the presence of hormone receptors were limited by the sample size. We did not perform the Kaplan-Meier curves for patients with low-grade serous ovarian tumors defined by the presence of hormone receptors or for patients with mucinous and clear cell tumors defined by the joint presence of hormone receptors. Moreover, we only had 52 ER-PR+ HGSOC cases and the better survival of ER-PR+ HGSOC compared to the other HGSOC types defined by the presence of ER and PR could be due to chance. Despite these limitations, our study is the largest study evaluating the associations between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk and survival by histotypes and by tumor types defined by the presence of three hormone receptors. Our study provided extra evidence supporting the association between menopausal status and EOC risk varies by PR status and suggested that studying the biology mechanisms underlying the association would further our knowledge of ovarian tumor development. Moreover, our study identified ER and PR as potential prognostic biomarkers for HGSOC and endometrioid ovarian cancer and ER as potential prognostic biomarkers for clear cell

ovarian cancer pooling the studies all over the world, which increased the generalizability of our findings.

In conclusion, we found that some hormonally-linked risk factors were associated with EOC tumor types defined by the presence of AR, ER, and/or PR hormone receptors. Ovarian tumors presented different aggressiveness depending on histotypes and hormone receptor status, underscoring the need to consider both histotype and hormone receptors when evaluating patient prognosis. Our findings further suggest that potential biologic mechanisms underlying the association between hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk and outcomes need to be studied by both histotypes and tumor types defined by hormone receptor status in order to truly illuminate the etiology of and potential prevention modalities for this highly fatal group of diseases.

4.6 Figures and tables



Figure 4-1 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of EOC by individual hormonal receptors presence

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor.



Figure 4-2 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of high-grade serous ovarian cancer by joint presence of hormonal receptors AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; HGSOC, high-grade serous ovarian cancer; PR, progesterone receptor.



Figure 4-3 Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of endometrioid ovarian cancer by joint presence of hormonal receptors AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor.

Study	Region	Study Name	Study Period	Controls, n	Cases, n (%)		1 (%) Cases, n (%)		Cases, n (%) Cases, n (%)	
			I chidu		AR-	AR+	ER-	ER+	PR-	PR+
AUS 55	Australia	Australian Ovarian Cancer Study	2002- 2005	1506	30 (69.77)	13 (30.23)	23 (10.85)	189 (89.15)	134 (60.63)	87 (39.37)
BAV 309	Germany	Bavarian Ovarian Cancer Cases and Controls	2002- 2006	629	198 (82.16)	43 (17.84)	0	0	0	0
CNI	Spain	CNIO Ovarian Cancer Study	2002- 2012	186	8 (80.00)	2 (20.00)	0	0	0	0
GER 312	Germany	Germany Ovarian Cancer Study	1993- 1996	533	62 (62.00)	38 (38.00)	0	0	50 (53.19)	44 (46.81)
HAW 313	USA	Hawaii Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	1993- 2008	1103	120 (90.91)	12 (9.09)	79 (64.23)	44 (35.77)	95 (76.61)	29 (23.39)
HOP 314	USA	Hormones and Ovarian Cancer Prediction Study	2003- 2008	1802	26 (56.52)	20 (43.48)	10 (22.22)	35 (77.78)	15 (32.61)	33 (68.75)
LAX	USA	Women's Cancer Program at the Samuel Oschin Comprehensive Cancer Institute	1989 - present	222	118 (73.29)	43 (26.71)	0	0	0	0
MAL 60,357	Denmark	MALignant OVArian cancer	1994- 1999	1564	61 (91.04)	6 (8.96)	63 (50.00)	63 (50.00)	99 (72.79)	37 (27.21)
MAY 316	USA	Mayo Clinic Ovarian Cancer Case- Control Study	2000- 2011	2299	518 (70.48)	217 (29.52)	101 (23.17)	335 (76.83)	534 (55.17)	434 (44.83)
OVA	Canada	Ovarian Cancer in Alberta and British Columbia	2002- present	2712	0	0	0	0	75 (49.34)	77 (50.66)
POL 323	Poland	Polish Ovarian Cancer Case Control Study	2000- 2003	1128	0	0	52 (31.14)	115 (68.86)	94 (56.97)	71 (43.03)
SEA 358	UK	Study of Epidemiology and Risk Factors in Cancer Heredity	1998- present	6637	0	0	129 (39.69)	196 (60.31)	202 (60.84)	130 (39.16)
STA 325	USA	Family Registry for Ovarian Cancer AND Genetic Epidemiology of Ovarian Cancer	1997- 2001	567	249 (59.57)	169 (40.43)	107 (25.97)	305 (74.03)	230 (55.69)	183 (44.31)
Total	-	-	-	20888	1390 (71.17)	563 (28.83)	564 (30.55)	1282 (69.45)	1528 (57.60)	1125 (42.40)

Table 4-1 Characteristics of the 13 case-control studies from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium and the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis

consortium in risk analyses, conducted in Australia, Europe, and North America

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor.

Stude	Dogion	Study Name	Study Period	Study Type	AR, n (%)		ER, n (%)		PR, n (%)	
Study	Region				negative	positive	negative	positive	negative	positive
AOV 359	Canada	Alberta Ovarian Tumor Types Study	1978-2010	Case-only	295 (63.44)	170 (36.56)	0	0	268 (57.88)	195 (42.12)
AUS 55	Australia	Australian Ovarian Cancer Study	2002-2005	Case-control	30 (69.77)	13 (30.23)	23 (10.55)	195 (89.45)	139 (61.23)	88 (38.77)
BAV 309	Germany	Bavarian Ovarian Cancer Cases and Controls	2002-2006	Case-control	186 (83.04)	38 (16.96)	0	0	0	0
CNI	Spain	CNIO Ovarian Cancer Study	1. 2022-2012; 2. 2006-2013	 Case-control; Case -only 	112 (86.15)	18 (13.85)	0	0	0	0
GER 312	Germany	Germany Ovarian Cancer Study	1993-1996	Case-control	64 (64.65)	35 (35.35)	0	0	53 (56.99)	40 (43.01)
HAW 313	USA	Hawaii Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	1993-2008	Case-control	120 (90.91)	12 (9.09)	79 (64.23)	44 (35.77)	95 (76.61)	29 (23.39)
HOP 314	USA	Hormones and Ovarian Cancer Prediction Study	2003-2008	Case-control	26 (59.09)	18 (40.91)	9 (20.93)	34 (79.09)	14 (30.43)	32 (69.57)
LAX	USA	Women's Cancer Program at the Samuel Oschin Comprehensive Cancer Institute	1989 - present	Case-control	184 (74.19)	64 (25.81)	0	0	0	0
MAL 60,357	Denmark	MALignant OVArian cancer	1994-1999	Case-control	61 (91.04)	6 (8.96)	63 (50.00)	63 (50.00)	99 (72,79)	37 (27.21)
MAY 316	USA	Mayo Clinic Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	2000-2011	Case-control	586 (70.52)	245 (29.48)	118 (23.89)	376 (76.11)	632 (56.73)	482 (43.27)
OVA	Canada	Ovarian Cancer in Alberta and British Columbia	2002-present	Case-control	0	0	0	0	76 (49.67)	77 (50.33)
POC	Poland	Polish Ovarian Cancer Study	1998-2006	Case-control	94 (65.28)	50 (34.72)	0	0	63 (44.06)	80 (55.94)
POL 323	Poland	Polish Ovarian Cancer Case Control Study	2000-2003	Case-control	0	0	46 (30.87)	103 (69.13)	92 (61.74)	57 (38.26)
SEA 358	UK	Study of Epidemiology and Risk Factors in Cancer Heredity	1998-present	Case-control	0	0	120 (40.68)	175 (59.32)	193 (63.91)	109 (36.09)
STA 325	USA	Family Registry for Ovarian Cancer AND	1997-2001	Case-control	200 (62.89)	118 (37.11)	88 (28.12)	225 (71.88)	207 (65.91)	109 (36.09)

analyses, conducted in Australia, Europe, and North America

Table 4-2 Characteristics of the 14 case-control studies and 5 case-only studies from the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium in survival

SWE	Sweden	Genetic Epidemiology of Ovarian Cancer Sweden Western Region Ovarian Cancer Study	2002-present	Case-only	0	0	0	0	105 (58.01)	76 (41.99)
VAN	Canada	OVCARE	2003-present	Case-only	446 (58.45)	317 (41.55)	284 (36.98)	48 4(63.02)	466 (66.01)	240 (33.99)
WMH	Australia	Westmead Hospital: Molecular Biology of Gynecologic Disease	1992- 2012	Case-only	148 (75.13)	49 (24.87)	0	0	138 (63.59)	79 (36.41)
Total					2552 (68.88)	1153 (31.12)	830 (32.82)	1699 (67.18)	2640 (60.44)	1728 (39.56)

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor.

	Controls (N=10,411), n (%)	AR- (N=1,390), n (%)	AR+ (N=563), n (%)	Controls (N=16,606), n (%)	ER- (N=564), n (%)	ER+ (N=1,282), n (%)	Controls (N=19,851), n (%)	PR- (N=1,528), n (%)	PR+ (N=1,125), n (%)
Age, years, mean (SD)	56.82 (13.26)	58.38 (12.73)	56.24 (12.33)	56.88 (11.53)	56.02 (11.92)	56.22 (11.57)	56.81 (11.32)	58.84 (11.36)	55.75 (11.86)
Race									
Non - White	1066 (10.27)	180 (13.10)	61 (10.93)	1077 (6.50)	111 (19.68)	108 (8.48)	1337 (6.80)	161 (10.65)	85 (7.66)
White	9315 (89.73)	1194 (86.90)	497 (89.07)	15501 (93.50)	453 (80.32)	1166 (91.52)	18327 (93.20)	1351 (89.35)	1025 (92.34)
Unknown	30	16	5	28	0	8	187	16	15
Family history of breast o	r ovarian cance	er in first-rela	tive	1			1	1015	
No	7206 (92.14)	780 (87.64)	377 (84.53)	7623 (91.41)	409 (91.50)	901 (85.40)	8132 (89.99)	1047 (86.96)	747 (85.08)
Yes, ovarian cancer only	63 (0.80)	17 (1.91)	10 (2.24)	82 (0.98)	9 (2.10)	21 (1.99)	82 (0.91)	21 (1.74)	17 (1.94)
Yes, breast cancer only	397 (5.08)	63 (7.08)	38 (8.52)	405 (4.86)	20 (4.47)	79 (7.49)	542 (6.00)	97 (8.06)	67 (7.63)
Yes, both ovarian cancer and breast cancer	155 (1.98)	30 (3.37)	21 (4.71)	229 (2.75)	9 (2.01)	54 (5.12)	281 (3.11)	39 (3.24)	47 (5.35)
Unknown	2590	500	117	8267	117	227	10814	324	247
Hormonally-link risk fact	ors								
Physical inactivity									
Active	5290 (77.01)	358 (76.33)	104 (71.72)	5290 (77.01)	146 (69.52)	335 (76.14)	5290 (77.01)	381 (73.55)	213 (76.62)
Inactive	1579 (22.99)	111 (23.67)	41 (28.28)	1579 (22.99)	64 (30.48)	105 (23.86)	1579 (22.99)	137 (26.45)	65 (23.38)
Unknown	3542	921	418	9737	354	842	12982	1010	847
Obesity status at adulthoo	d								
underweight/normal	3951 (48.71)	344 (44.73)	115 (41.37)	3951 (48.71)	113 (43.63)	267 (44.76)	3951 (48.71)	347 (43.65)	228 (40.35)
overweight/obese	4161 (51.29)	425 (55.27)	163 (58.63)	4161 (51.29)	146 (56.37)	332 (55.24)	4161 (51.29)	448 (56.35)	337 (59.65)
Unknown	2299	621	285	8494	305	681	11739	733	560
Smoking status				,					
Never Smoker	5399 (51.26)	661 (60.09)	310 (62.50)	5853 (55.46)	300 (55.97)	699 (56.74)	7506 (54.40)	836 (57.54)	621 (57.82)
Current Smoker	1522 (15.86)	129 (11.73)	59 (11.90)	1692 (16.03)	102 (19.03)	180 (14.61)	1999 (14.49)	214 (14.73)	132 (12.29)

Table 4-3 Characteristics of participants used to estimate the association with EOC risk by individual receptor presence¹

Former Smoker	2675 (27.88)	310 (28.18)	127 (25.60)	3009 (28.51)	134 (25.00)	353 (28.65)	4294 (31.12)	403 (27.74)	321 (29.89)
Unknown	815	290	67	6052	28	50	6052	75	51
Duration of oral contracep	otive use, years								
0	3031 (32.69)	464 (44.92)	195 (42.21)	6344 (39.74)	274 (50.93)	563 (46.03)	7286 (37.99)	679 (46.86)	457 (42.87)
<1	1099 (11.85)	153 (14.81)	81 (17.53)	1733 (10.85)	70 (13.01)	189 (15.45)	1945 (10.14)	191 (13.18)	155 (14.54)
1-4	1486 (16.03)	169 (16.36)	65 (14.07)	2250 (14.09)	75 (13.94)	174 (14.23)	2879 (15.01)	235 (16.22)	159 (14.92)
5-9	2047 (22.08)	160 (15.49)	78 (16.88)	3208 (20.09)	80 (14.87)	190 (15.54)	4060 (21.17)	226 (15.60)	186 (17.45)
10+	1609 (17.35)	87 (8.42)	43 (9.31)	2430 (15.22)	39 (7.25)	107 (8.75)	3010 (15.69)	118 (8.14)	109 (10.23)
Unknown	1139	357	101	641	26	59	671	79	59
Number of pregnancies									
Never	1079 (11.22)	228 (17.47)	98 (18.42)	1855 (11.28)	109 (20.07)	208 (16.81)	2233 (11.34)	250 (17.01)	200 (18.60)
1	1018 (10.58)	189 (14.48)	73 (13.72)	1689 (10.27)	83 (14.29)	179 (14.47)	2062 (10.47)	197 (13.40)	151 (14.05)
2	1468 (25.66)	326 (24.98)	127 (23.87)	4907 (29.83)	122 (22.47)	308 (24.90)	5973 (30.33)	354 (24.08)	274 (25.49)
3	2261 (23.51)	271 (20.77)	114 (21.43)	3887 (23.63)	110 (20.26)	273 (22.07)	4604 (23.38)	301 (20.48)	237 (22.05)
4+	2792 (29.51)	291 (22.30)	120 (22.56)	4114 (25.01)	119 (21.92)	269 (21.75)	4822 (24.48)	368 (25.03)	213 (19.81)
Unknown	793	85	31	154	21	45	157	58	50
Breastfeeding									
No	2543 (34.56)	360 (55.99)	156 (54.17)	4516 (32.51)	214 (48.97)	419 (47.24)	5568 (32.59)	440 (46.81)	305 (46.49)
Yes	4815 (65.44)	283 (44.01)	132 (45.83)	9377 (67.49)	223 (51.03)	468 (52.76)	11517 (67.41)	500 (53.19)	351 (53.51)
Unknown	3053	747	275	2713	127	395	2766	588	469
Duration of breastfeeding									
0	2543 (34.66)	360 (56.60)	156 (54.36)	4516 (32.52)	214 (49.08)	419 (47.40)	5568 (33.61)	440 (47.01)	305 (46.49)
<6 months	1871 (25.50)	119 (18.71)	55 (19.16)	4255 (30.64)	113 (25.92)	196 (22.17)	4900 (29.58)	233 (24.89)	159 (24.24)
6-12 months	1196 (16.30)	78 (12.26)	26 (9.06)	2203 (15.86)	47 (10.78)	124 (14.03)	2566 (15.49)	118 (12.61)	88 (13.41)
>12 months	1727 (13.54)	79 (12.42)	50 (17.42)	2912 (20.97)	62 (14.22)	145 (16.40)	3532 (21.32)	145 (15.49)	104 (15.85)
Unknown	3074	754	276	2720	128	398	3285	592	469
Age at menarche									
<=13 years	6297 (66.38)	777 (67.51)	365 (72.85)	9225 (64.81)	355 (68.40)	799 (68.29)	11516 (66.07)	958 (68.33)	743 (71.65)

>13 years	3189 (33.62)	374 (32.49)	136 (27.15)	5009 (35.19)	164 (31.60)	371 (31.71)	5915 (33.93)	444 (31.67)	294 (28.35)
Unknown	925	239	62	2372	45	112	2420	126	88
Menopause status									
pre	3109 (32.04)	335 (26.01)	166 (31.50)	4278 (29.45)	168 (31.40)	369 (30.52)	5250 (29.57)	325 (22.48)	372 (35.00)
post	6594 (67.96)	953 (73.99)	361 (68.50)	10250 (70.55)	367 (68.60)	840 (69.48)	12502 (70.43)	1121 (77.52)	691 (65.00)
Unknown	708	102	36	2078	29	73	2099	82	62
Endometriosis									
No	8226 (94.22)	594 (91.53)	244 (92.08)	7629 (92.95)	247 (90.15)	573 (91.53)	8154 (93.28)	804 (92.84)	553 (89.77)
Yes	505 (5.78)	55 (8.47)	21 (7.92)	579 (7.05)	27 (9.85)	53 (8.47)	587 (6.72)	62 (7.16)	63 (10.23)
Unknown	1680	741	298	8398	290	656	11110	662	509
Hysterectomy									
No	8089 (84.06)	667 (59.39)	283 (55.17)	13751 (83.94)	366 (70.52)	720 (62.72)	16217 (82.64)	770 (55.16)	549 (53.98)
Yes	1534 (15.94)	456 (40.61)	230 (44.83)	2630 (16.06)	153 (29.48)	428 (37.28)	3407 (17.36)	626 (44.84)	468 (46.02)
Unknown	788	267	50	225	45	134	227	132	108
Hormonal treatment use									
No	6145 (64.39)	702 (67.31)	318 (67.52)	10593 (65.87)	335 (65.69)	734 (64.61)	12822 (66.34)	880 (63.54)	704 (69.50)
Estrogen only	705 (7.39)	49 (4.70)	14 (2.97)	665 (4.14)	21 (4.12)	27 (2.38)	1164 (6.02)	62 (4.48)	46 (4.54)
Combination	1525 (15.98)	140 (13.42)	65 (13.80)	1589 (9.88)	41 (8.04)	123 (10.83)	1991 (10.30)	194 (14.01)	129 (12.73)
Others	1169 (12.25)	152 (14.57)	74 (15.71)	3235 (20.12)	113 (20.16)	252 (22.18)	3350 (17.33)	249 (17.98)	134 (13.23)
Unknown	869	347	92	524	54	146	524	143	112

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor. 1 Including AUS, BAV, CNI, GER, HAW, HOP, LAX, MAL, MAY, STA for tumor defined by AR status; AUS, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, POL, SEA, STA for tumor defined by ER status; AUS, GER, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, OVA, POL, SEA, STA for tumor defined by PR status.
Table 4-4 Pooled relative risk ratios for the association between hormonally linked risk factors and epithelial ovarian cancer by individual hormonal

	AR+, AR- compared to controls (N=10,411)			ER+, ER- compared to controls (N=16,606)			PR+, PR- compared to controls (N=8,852)			
	RRR (95%)	RRR (95% CI)			RRR (95% CI)			RRR (95% CI)		
	AR-	AR+	P for	ER-	ER+	P for	PR-	PR+	P for	
	N=1390	N=563	heter	N=564	N=1282	heter	N=1,528	N=1,125	heter	
Physical inactivity										
Active	ref	ref	0.120	ref	ref	0.137	ref	ref	0.735	
Inactive	1.26 (0.98, 1.61)	1.77 (1.20, 2.61)		1.68 (1.20, 2.36)	1.24 (0.97, 1.58)		1.36 (1.09, 1.70)	1.28 (0.95, 1.73)		
Obesity status at adulthood										
underweight/normal	ref	ref	0.523	ref	ref	0.053	ref	ref	0.402	
overweight/obese	1.07 (0.91, 1.27)	1.18 (0.91, 1.52)		1.53 (1.18, 1.98)	1.13 (0.95, 1.35)		1.21 (1.04, 1.42)	1.34 (1.11, 1.60)		
Smoking status										
Never Smoker	ref	ref	0.439	ref	ref	0.355	ref	ref	0.096	
Current Smoker	1.08 (0.86, 1.34)	1.11 (0.81, 1.51)		1.40 (1.09, 1.79)	1.21 (1.00, 1.47)		1.35 (1.13, 1.61)	1.10 (0.89, 1.36)		
Former Smoker	1.08 (0.92, 1.26)	0.92 (0.74, 1.16)		0.96 (0.77, 1.19)	1.06 (0.91, 1.22)		1.00 (0.87, 1.14)	1.10 (0.95, 1.27)		
Duration of oral contraceptive use,	(((,,			(,,	(,,		
years										
0	ref	ref	0.381	ref	ref	0.740	ref	ref	0.406	
<1	1.00 (0.80, 1.26)	1.01 (0.75, 1.36)		0.8'	1.00 (0.82, 1.22)		1.04	1.08		
1-4	(0.50, 1.20) 0.73 (0.59, 0.91)	(0.75, 1.50) 0.52 (0.38, 0.72)		0.66 (0.50, 0.89)	(0.62, 1.22) 0.63 (0.52, 0.78)		0.82 (0.68, 0.97)	(0.67, 1.55) 0.67 (0.54, 0.82)		
5-9	0.50 (0.41, 0.63)	0.46 (0.34, 0.61)		0.57 (0.43, 0.75)	0.50 (0.41, 0.61)		0.57 (0.47, 0.68)	0.54 (0.44, 0.65)		
10+	0.39 (0.30, 0.51)	0.35 (0.25, 0.51)		0.36 (0.25, 0.52)	0.35 (0.28, 0.45)		0.39 (0.31, 0.48)	0.41 (0.33, 0.52)		
P for trend ³	0.0002	0.1086		0.0502	0.0002		0.0009	0.0007		

receptor presence compared to all controls^{1,2}

Number of programsies									
Never	rof	rof	0.803	rof	rof	0 256	rof	rof	0.000
1	1.02 (0.80, 1.29)	0.98 (0.70, 1.37)	0.893	0.85 (0.62, 1.16)	0.98 (0.78, 1.24)	0.550	0.89 (0.72, 1.11)	0.93 (0.74, 1.18)	0.209
2	0.75 (0.61, 0.93)	0.79 (0.59, 1.06)		0.54 (0.41, 0.72)	0.70 (0.58, 0.86)		0.64 (0.53, 0.77)	0.67 (0.55, 0.83)	
3	0.6 (0.54, 0.84)	0.75 (0.56, 1.02)		0.61 (0.45, 0.81)	0.71 (0.58, 0.88)		0.62 (0.51, 0.75)	0.69 (0.55, 0.85)	
4+	0.56 (0.45, 0.69)	0.62 (0.46, 0.84)		0.58 (0.44, 0.78)	0.57 (0.46, 0.70)		0.61 (0.51, 0.74)	0.51 (0.41, 0.64)	
P for trend ³	< 0.0001	< 0.0001		<0.0001	< 0.0001		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Duration of breastfeeding									
0	ref	ref	0.074	ref	ref	0.650	ref	ref	0.666
<6 months	0.61 (0.48, 0.79)	0.85 (0.59, 1.21)		0.75 (0.57, 0.99)	0.67 (0.54, 0.82)		0.83 (0.61, 0.89)	0.81 (0.65, 1.01)	
6-12 months	0.57 (0.43, 0.76)	0.47 (0.30, 0.75)		0.53 (0.37, 0.76)	0.61 (0.48, 0.78)		0.60 (0.47, 0.75)	0.72 (0.55, 0.95)	
>12 months	0.45 (0.34, 0.60)	(0.47, 1.00)		0.53 (0.38, 0.73)	(0.40, 0.64)		0.53 (0.42, 0.66)	(0.61) (0.47, 0.79)	
P for trend ³	< 0.0001	0.0227		0.0109	< 0.0001		0.2175	0.3540	
Age at menarche									
<=13 years	ref	ref	0.201	ref	ref		ref	ref	0.271
>13 years	0.91 (0.79, 1.06)	0.78 (0.63, 0.97)		0.87 (0.71, 1.06)	0.92 (0.80, 1.06)	0.648	0.88 (0.78, 1.00)	0.80 (0.70, 0.92)	
Menopause status at diagnosis									
pre	ref	ref	0.809	ref	ref	0.793	ref	ref	0.0008
post	1.41 (1.14, 1.75)	1.36 (1.00, 1.83)		1.22 (0.92, 1.62)	1.28 (1.04, 1.56)		1.52 (1.26, 1.83)	0.98 (0.80, 1.20)	
Endometriosis									
No	ref 1.34	ref 1.21	0.715	ref 1.34	ref 1.13	0.508	ref 1.01	ref 1.38	0.109
Yes Hysterectomy	(0.98, 1.83)	(0.76, 1.95)		(0.87, 2.08)	(0.82, 1.55)		(0.76, 1.35)	(1.03, 1.85)	
No	ref	ref	0.067	ref	ref	0.018	ref	ref	0.057
Yes	5.80	7.33		3.67	4.99		5.10	6.11	

	(4.90, 6.86)	(5.82, 9.24)		(2.93, 4.60)	(4.27, 5.83)		(4.45, 5.83)	(5.22, 7.15)	
Hormonal treatment use									
No	ref	ref	0.406	ref	ref	0.120	ref	ref	0.806
Detersion only	0.74	0.56		0.94	0.57		0.67	0.79	
Estrogen only	(0.53, 1.01)	(0.32, 0.98)		(0.58, 1.54)	(0.38, 0.86)		(0.51, 0.89)	(0.57, 1.09)	
Combination	0.91	1.07		0.72	0.92		0.93	0.97	
Combination	(0.73, 1.12)	(0.79, 1.44)		(0.50, 1.04)	(0.74, 1.15)		(0.77, 1.11)	(0.78, 1.20)	
Others	0.72	0.87		1.31	1.55		1.31	1.23	
Oulers	(0.57, 0.90)	(0.63, 1.21)		(1.01, 1.70)	(1.29, 1.87)		(1.10, 1.57)	(0.98, 1.54)	

AR, androgen receptor; CI, confidence interval; ER, estrogen receptor; heter, heterogeneity; PR, progesterone receptor; RRR, relative risk ratio.

1 Including AUS, BAV, CNI, GER, HAW, HOP, LAX, MAL, MAY, STA for tumor defined by AR status; AUS, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, POL, SEA, STA for tumor defined by ER status; AUS, GER, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, OVA, POL, SEA, STA for tumor defined by PR status.

2 adjusted for study site, age (continuous), family history of breast or ovarian cancer in first-relative (no, ovarian cancer only, breast cancer only, both ovarian cancer and breast cancer), duration of OC use (0, <1, 1-4, 5-9, or 10+ years), number of pregnancies (never, 1, 2, 3, or 4+), menopause status at diagnosis (pre or post), and hormonal treatment use (no, estrogen only, combination, or others). Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups were not reported in the table.

3 P for trend was from Wald test.

Table 4-5 Pooled relative	e risk ratios for the as	sociation between ho	rmonally linked risk	factors and enithelial
Table 4-5 Toolea Telative	c fish fatios for the as	sociation between no	minute mixed fish	racions and epimenal

		RR	R (95% CI)		
PANEL A Control	AR- ER-	AR+ ER-	AR- ER+	AR+ ER+	P for
(N=8841)	N=292	N=44	N=498	N=244	neter
Physical inactivity	7				
Active	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.7755
Inactive	1.61 (1.09, 2.38)	0.88 (0.22, 3.50)	1.36 (0.95, 1.93)	1.25 (0.68, 2.27)	
Obesity status at a	adulthood				
underweight/ normal overweight/	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.7038
obese Smoking status	1.27 (0.94, 1.71)	1.47 (0.56, 3.89)	1.04 (0.81, 1.33)	1.12 (0.73, 1.71)	
Never Smoker	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1698
Current Smoker	1.40 (0.98, 2.01)	1.69 (0.77, 3.70)	0.96 (0.67, 1.38)	1.38 (0.90, 2.09)	
Former Smoker	1.03 (0.76, 1.39)	0.58 (0.25, 1.38)	1.22 (0.97, 1.52)	1.03 (0.75, 1.41)	
Duration of oral c	ontraceptive use, yea	ars			
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.2414
<1	0.75 (0.51, 1.12)	1.67 (0.70, 4.01)	1.17 (0.86, 1.59)	1.14 (0.77, 1.69)	
1-4	0.55 (0.37, 0.80)	0.91 (0.36, 2.29)	0.73 (0.54, 0.99)	0.42 (0.27, 0.66)	
5-9	0.46 (0.32, 0.68)	0.47 (0.17, 1.38)	0.47 (0.34, 0.65)	0.50 (0.34, 0.75)	
10+	0.23 (0.13, 0.41)	0.44 (0.12, 1.60)	0.48 (0.66, 0.68)	0.36 (0.22, 0.60)	
Number of pregna	ancies				
Never	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.6034
1	0.90 (0.59, 1.38)	0.98 (0.32, 3.01)	1.12 (0.77, 1.63)	0.83 (0.52, 1.35)	
2	0.62 (0.42, 0.92)	0.44 (0.14, 1.44)	0.78 (0.56, 1.09)	0.75 (0.49, 1.14)	
3	0.52 (0.34, 0.78)	1.08 (0.41, 2.89)	0.83 (0.59, 1.15)	0.61 (0.39, 0.95)	
4+	0.46 (0.31, 0.68)	0.81 (0.30, 2.18)	0.64 (0.46, 0.89)	0.43 (0.28, 0.68)	
Duration of breas	tfeeding				
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.5856
<6 months	0.57 (0.38, 0.87)	0.98 (0.37, 2.60)	0.66 (0.44, 0.99)	0.86 (0.52, 1.43)	
6-12 months	0.52 (0.32, 0.84)	0.45 (0.12, 1.65)	0.54 (0.35, 0.85)	0.48 (0.27, 0.86)	
>12 months	0.40 (0.25, 0.64)	0.64 (0.24, 1.71)	0.43 (0.28, 0.65)	0.75 (0.48, 1.20)	
Age at menarche					
<=13 years	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1661
>13 years	0.82 (0.61, 1.09)	0.59 (0.27, 1.29)	0.98 (0.78, 1.23)	0.65 (0.47, 0.92)	
Menopause status	at diagnosis				
pre	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.9959

ovarian cancer by joint hormonal receptor presence compared eto all controls^{1,2}

post	1.16 (0.77, 1.74)	1.08 (0.41, 2.85)	1.13 (0.82, 1.56)	1.19 (0.77, 1.86)	
Endometriosis					
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.3156
Yes	1.44 (0.82, 2.52)	4.19 (1.12, 15.62)	1.18 (0.74, 1.89)	1.08 (0.49, 2.38)	
Hysterectomy					
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.0028
Yes	4.50 (3.25, 6.24)	6.71 (2.89, 15.57)	9.31 (7.17, 12.09)	5.97 (4.15, 8.59)	
Hormonal treatme	ent use				
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.9251
Yes	1.13 (0.83, 1.53)	0.86 (0.36, 2.04)	1.03 (0.80, 1.32)	1.09 (0.76, 1.57)	
PANEL B	AR- PR-	AR+ PR-	AR-PR+	AR+ PR+	Df
Control	N-669	N-180	N-310	N-272	P for heter
(N=9374)	11-007	11-100	11-517	11-272	
Physical inactivity					
Active	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.8774
Inactive	1.36 (1.01, 1.82)	1.66 (0.91, 3.01)	1.29 (0.81, 2.06)	1.58 (0.92, 2.70)	
Obesity status at a	dulthood, kg/m²				
underweight/ normal	ref	ref	ref	ref	0 8927
overweight/	101	101	101	101	0.0727
obese	1.09 (0.88, 1.34)	1.28 (0.84, 1.97)	1.18 (0.87, 1.59)	1.16 (0.82, 1.66)	
Smoking status					
Never Smoker	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.2309
Current Smoker	1.18 (0.90, 1.56)	1.04 (0.61, 1.76)	0.93 (0.60, 1.43)	1.31 (0.88, 1.94)	
Former Smoker	1.11 (0.91, 1.35)	0.80 (0.55, 1.15)	1.32 (1.01, 1.72)	0.99 (0.73, 1.34)	
Duration of oral co	ontraceptive use, yea	nrs			
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.3873
<1	1.08 (0.83, 1.42)	0.80 (0.48, 1.34)	0.91 (0.62, 1.34)	1.25 (0.86, 1.81)	
1-4	0.79 (0.61, 1.02)	0.71 (0.45, 1.13)	0.75 (0.53, 1.07)	0.45 (0.30, 0.70)	
5-9	0.52 (.40, 0.68)	0.55 (0.35, 0.88)	0.49 (0.34, 0.70)	0.42 (0.29, 0.63)	
10+	0.38 (0.27, 0.53)	0.33 (0.18, 0.61)	0.42 (0.27, 0.64)	0.33 (0.20, 0.53)	
Number of pregna	ncies				
Never	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.2907
1	0.89 (0.65, 1.22)	1.06 (0.59, 1.93)	1.44 (0.95, 2.18)	0.96 (0.62, 1.50)	
2	0.71 (0.54, 0.94)	0.91 (0.54, 1.53)	0.80 (0.54, 1.19)	0.63 (0.42, 0.94)	
3	0.58 (0.44, 0.78)	0.83 (0.49, 1.41)	0.97 (0.66, 1.42)	0.74 (0.49, 1.10)	
4+	0.57 (0.43, 0.75)	0.82 (.49, 1.35)	0.58 (0.39, 0.88)	0.48 (0.32, 0.73)	
Duration of breast	feeding				
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.4118
<6 months	0.61 (0.45, 0.84)	0.77 (0.41, 1.44)	0.80 (0.50, 1.27)	0.96 (0.60, 1.53)	
6-12 months	0.58 (0.40, 0.83)	0.61 (0.30, 1.23)	0.76 (0.45, 1.28)	0.46 (0.24, 0.88)	

Age at menarche $<<=13$ years ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.2315 >13 years 0.87 (0.71, 1.05) 0.79 (0.55, 1.12) 0.93 (0.71, 1.22) 0.63 (0.46, 0.86) Menopause status at diagnosis pre ref ref ref ref ref ref other instance post 1.74 (1.31, 2.32) 1.58 (0.94, 2.68) 0.65 (0.45, 0.94) 1.15 (0.77, 1.73) Endometriosis No ref ref ref ref . <t< th=""><th>Age at menarche <=13 years >13 years</th><th></th><th></th><th>0.34(0.32, 0.90)</th><th>0.71 (0.44, 1.17)</th><th></th></t<>	Age at menarche <=13 years >13 years			0.34(0.32, 0.90)	0.71 (0.44, 1.17)	
<=13 years ref 0.83 (0.71, 1.22) 0.63 (0.46, 0.86) Menopause status at diagnosis pre ref ref ref ref ref ref ref o.63 (0.46, 0.86) Monopause status at diagnosis pre ref ref ref ref ref ref o.63 (0.45, 0.94) 1.15 (0.77, 1.73) Endometriosis No ref ref ref ref ref ref o.5887 No ref ref ref ref ref ref o.5887 Yes 1.14 (0.76, 1.71) 1.26 (0.60, 2.67) 1.68 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref ref o.5887 Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) Hormonal treatment use No ref ref ref o.65 nefe p for nefe	<=13 years >13 years					
>13 years 0.87 (0.71, 1.05) 0.79 (0.55, 1.12) 0.93 (0.71, 1.22) 0.63 (0.46, 0.86) Menopause status at diagnosis pre ref ref ref ref ref outside post 1.74 (1.31, 2.32) 1.58 (0.94, 2.68) 0.65 (0.45, 0.94) 1.15 (0.77, 1.73) Endometriosis No ref ref ref ref ref outside 0.5887 No ref ref ref ref ref outside 0.5887 Yes 1.14 (0.76, 1.71) 1.26 (0.60, 2.67) 1.68 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref ref outside 0.388 Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0.8071 Physical inactivity N=495 N=583 N=58 N=665 Pf or	>13 years	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.2315
Menopause status at diagnosis pre ref ref ref ref output post 1.74 (1.31, 2.32) 1.58 (0.94, 2.68) 0.65 (0.45, 0.94) 1.15 (0.77, 1.73) Endometriosis No ref ref ref ref ref 0.58 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref offer 0.0388 Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) Hormonal treatment we No ref ref ref 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) PANEL C ER-PR ER+PR+ N=68 N=665 N=662 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) Obesity status at atUHoot underweight/ normal ref ref ref nef 0.662 1.61 (1.12, 2.30)		0.87 (0.71, 1.05)	0.79 (0.55, 1.12)	0.93 (0.71, 1.22)	0.63 (0.46, 0.86)	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c } \hline pre & ref & ref & ref & ref & ref & 0.0002\\ \hline post & 1.74 & (1.31, 2.32) & 1.58 & (0.94, 2.68) & 0.65 & (0.45, 0.94) & 1.15 & (0.77, 1.73) \\ \hline Endometriosis & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $	Menopause status	at diagnosis				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	pre	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.0002
Endometriosis No ref ref ref ref ref 0.5887 Yes 1.14 (0.76, 1.71) 1.26 (0.60, 2.67) 1.68 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy <t< td=""><td>post</td><td>1.74 (1.31, 2.32)</td><td>1.58 (0.94, 2.68)</td><td>0.65 (0.45, 0.94)</td><td>1.15 (0.77, 1.73)</td><td></td></t<>	post	1.74 (1.31, 2.32)	1.58 (0.94, 2.68)	0.65 (0.45, 0.94)	1.15 (0.77, 1.73)	
No ref ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.5887 Yes 1.14 (0.76, 1.71) 1.26 (0.60, 2.67) 1.68 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref 0.0388 Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) Hormonal treatment use No ref ref ref ref oref nef 0.62 (7.70, 14.65) 0.803 (0.60, 1.15) Hormonal treatment use 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) 0.803 (0.60, 1.15) PANEL C ER-PR- ER-PR+ ER+PR+ Prof Control N=495 N=583 N=58 N=665 heter Physical inactivity ref ref ref ref o.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) <	Endometriosis					
Yes 1.14 (0.76, 1.71) 1.26 (0.60, 2.67) 1.68 (1.03, 2.73) 1.06 (0.55, 2.06) Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref output (0.000, 0.000,	No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.5887
Hysterectomy No ref ref ref ref ref outside Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) Hormonal treatment use No ref ref ref outside ref outside outside 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) 0.8071 Panel C ER-PR- ER+PR- ER-PR+ ER+PR+ P for heter Physical inactivity N=495 N=583 N=58 N=665 heter Physical inactivity 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0.642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0.92 Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ normal ref ref ref outside 0.1145 Never Smoker 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02,	Yes	1.14 (0.76, 1.71)	1.26 (0.60, 2.67)	1.68 (1.03, 2.73)	1.06 (0.55, 2.06)	
No ref ref ref ref ref ref output to the set of the set	Hysterectomy					
Yes 7.40 (5.98, 9.17) 11.90 (8.05, 17.58) 10.62 (7.70, 14.65) 7.09 (5.10, 9.85) Hormonal treatment use No ref ref ref ref ref oref ref oref oref oref ref oref oref oref ref ref oref 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) 0.8071 PANEL C ER- PR- ER- PR- ER- PR+ ER- PR+ Physical inactivity Active ref ref ref ref oref ref oref	No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.0388
Hormonal treatment use No ref ref ref ref ref ref output 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) PANEL C ER- PR- ER+ PR- ER- PR+ ER+ PR+ P for (N=16606) N=495 N=583 N=58 N=665 heter Physical inactivity Active ref ref ref offer 0.5642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0 Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ onormal ref ref offer offer 0.1145 Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref offer 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use	Yes	7.40 (5.98, 9.17)	11.90 (8.05, 17.58)	10.62 (7.70, 14.65)	7.09 (5.10, 9.85)	
No ref ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.8071 Yes 0.97 (0.79, 1.19) 1.02 (0.71, 1.46) 0.92 (0.67, 1.26) 0.83 (0.60, 1.15) PANEL C ER- PR- ER+ PR- ER- PR+ ER+ PR+ Physical inactivity Active ref ref ref ref over free 0.5642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ normal ref ref ref over free 0.1145 Smoking status ref ref ref ref over free 0.2370 Current Smoker ref ref ref ref ref over free 0.2370 Current Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref ref over free 0.670 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.90, 77, 1.29)	Hormonal treatme	ent use				
Yes $0.97 (0.79, 1.19)$ $1.02 (0.71, 1.46)$ $0.92 (0.67, 1.26)$ $0.83 (0.60, 1.15)$ PANEL C ER- PR- ER+ PR- ER- PR+ ER+ PR+ P for heter Physical inactivity N=495 N=583 N=58 N=665 heter Physical inactivity Active ref ref ref ref ref output 0.5642 Inactive $1.61 (1.12, 2.30)$ $1.28 (0.92, 1.79)$ $2.02 (0.62, 6.56)$ $1.18 (0.83, 1.68)$ Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ normal ref ref ref ref output $0.50 (0.57, 3.12)$ $1.31 (1.02, 1.67)$ Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref ref ref ref output $0.23 (0.60, 1.23)$ $1.31 (1.02, 1.67)$ Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref ref ref output $0.23 (0.76, 1.15)$ $1.06 (0.57, 1.94)$ $1.19 (0.93, 1.54)$ Former Smoker $0.94 (0.75, 1.18)$ $0.93 (0.76, 1.15)$ $1.06 (0.57, 1.94)$ $1.19 (0.98, 1.44)$ Duration of oral contraceptive use, years $0.92 (0.60, 1.27)$	No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.8071
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Yes	0.97 (0.79, 1.19)	1.02 (0.71, 1.46)	0.92 (0.67, 1.26)	0.83 (0.60, 1.15)	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	PANEL C	ER- PR-	ER+ PR-	ER- PR+	ER+ PR+	
(N=10006) Physical inactivity Active ref ref ref ref oref 0.5642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0.5642 Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ 0.05642 0.1145 0.1145 Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ 0.1145 0.1145 0.1145 overweight/ 0.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref ref 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.6718 0 ref ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.60 (0.77, 1.20) 0.6718 0.6718	Control	N=495	N=583	N=58	N=665	P for heter
Active ref ref ref ref ref 0.5642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ ref ref ref ref over fref ref over fref over fref ref ref over fref ref over fref	(IN=10000) Physical inactivity					
Network ref 0.5642 Inactive 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) 0 Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ normal ref ref ref ref 0.1145 overweight/ obese 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) 0.2370 Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref ref 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 0.2370 Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref 0.6718		a C		n C	a C	0.5642
Indurve 1.61 (1.12, 2.30) 1.28 (0.92, 1.79) 2.02 (0.62, 6.56) 1.18 (0.83, 1.68) Obesity status at adulthood underweight/ ref ref ref over fref ref over fref	Inactive	rei	rei	rei	rei	0.5642
Obesity status at additional underweight/ normal ref ref ref ref 0.1145 overweight/ obese 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) Smoking status ref ref ref over f 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref over for foref 0.6718		1.01 (1.12, 2.30)	1.28 (0.92, 1.79)	2.02 (0.62, 6.56)	1.18 (0.85, 1.68)	
normal ref ref ref ref ref output overweight/ obese 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref ref output Never Smoker ref ref ref output output 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref output 0 ref ref ref ref output 0.6718	I INACITY CTATILE AT A	amthood				
overweight/ obese 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref other 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 0.2370 Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref other 0 ref ref ref ref other 0.6718	Underweight/	auitnooa				
obese 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) 1.47 (0.65, 5.12) 1.51 (1.02, 1.67) Smoking status Never Smoker ref ref ref 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref 0.50 (0.21, 1.60) 1.00 (0.77, 1.20)	underweight/ normal	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1145
Never Smoker ref ref ref ref 0.2370 Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years ref ref ref ref optimizether 0 ref ref ref 1.04 (0.79, 1.28) 0.50 (0.21, 1.60) 1.00 (0.77, 1.20)	ormal overweight/	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1145
Current Smoker 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) Former Smoker 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref offer 0 ref ref ref ref 0.6718	underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67)	0.1145
Former Smoker $0.94 (0.75, 1.18)$ $0.93 (0.76, 1.15)$ $0.74 (0.30, 1.83)$ $1.19 (0.93, 1.94)$ Duration of oral contraceptive use, years 0 ref ref ref ref $0.50 (0.21, 1.60)$ $1.00 (0.77, 1.20)$	obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) rof	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) rof	0.1145
Duration of oral contraceptive use, years $0.93 (0.70, 1.13)$ $1.00 (0.57, 1.94)$ $1.19 (0.98, 1.44)$ 0 ref ref ref 0.6718 $(1, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0,$	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54)	0.1145 0.2370
0 ref ref ref ref 0.6718	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker Former Smoker	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1 19 (0.98, 1.44)	0.1145 0.2370
	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker Former Smoker Duration of oral co	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, ve:	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44)	0.1145 0.2370
$\times 1$ (193(1168 7/) (104(1178 38) (139(117) 60) (177 79)	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker Former Smoker Duration of oral co 0	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
1-4 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.55 (0.21, 1.00) 1.00 (0.77, 1.25)	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker Former Smoker Duration of oral co 0 <1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
$5-9 \qquad 0.55 (0.41 0.75) \qquad 0.56 (0.43 0.74) \qquad 0.65 (0.29 1.46) \qquad 0.47 (0.36 0.61)$	Obesity status at a underweight/ normal overweight/ obese Smoking status Never Smoker Current Smoker Former Smoker Duration of oral co 0 <1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
10+ 0.36 (0.25, 0.53) 0.39 (0.27, 0.54) 0.28 (0.08, 0.96) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46)	Obesity status at aunderweight/ normal overweight/ obeseSmoking statusNever SmokerCurrent SmokerFormer SmokerDuration of oral co0<1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.55 (0.41 0.75)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.56 (0.43, 0.74)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31) 0.65 (0.29, 1.46)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.47 (0.36, 0.61)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
Number of pregnancies	Obesity status at aunderweight/ normal overweight/ obeseSmoking statusNever SmokerCurrent SmokerFormer SmokerDuration of oral co0<1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.55 (0.41, 0.75) 0.36 (0.25, 0.53)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.56 (0.43, 0.74) 0.39 (0.27, 0.54)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31) 0.65 (0.29, 1.46) 0.28 (0.08, 0.96)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.47 (0.36, 0.61) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
Never ref ref 0 2669	Obesity status at aunderweight/ normal overweight/ obeseSmoking statusNever SmokerCurrent SmokerFormer SmokerDuration of oral co0<1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.55 (0.41, 0.75) 0.36 (0.25, 0.53) incies	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.56 (0.43, 0.74) 0.39 (0.27, 0.54)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31) 0.65 (0.29, 1.46) 0.28 (0.08, 0.96)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.47 (0.36, 0.61) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718
1 0.86 (0.62, 1.20) 0.85 (0.60, 1.20) 0.84 (0.28, 2.47) 1.07 (0.80, 1.43)	Obesity status at aunderweight/ normal overweight/ obeseSmoking statusNever SmokerCurrent SmokerFormer SmokerDuration of oral co0<1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.55 (0.41, 0.75) 0.36 (0.25, 0.53) incies ref	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.56 (0.43, 0.74) 0.39 (0.27, 0.54) ref	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31) 0.65 (0.29, 1.46) 0.28 (0.08, 0.96) ref	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.47 (0.36, 0.61) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46) ref	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718 0.2669
² 0.49 (0.36, 0.67) 0.73 (0.55, 0.98) 1.08 (0.45, 2.58) 0.66 (0.50, 0.86)	Obesity status at aunderweight/ normal overweight/ obeseSmoking statusNever SmokerCurrent SmokerFormer SmokerDuration of oral co0<1	ref 1.57 (1.19, 2.07) ref 1.43 (1.10, 1.86) 0.94 (0.75, 1.18) ontraceptive use, yes ref 0.93 (0.68, 1.27) 0.70 (0.52, 0.96) 0.55 (0.41, 0.75) 0.36 (0.25, 0.53) incies ref 0.86 (0.62, 1.20)	ref 1.01 (0.79, 1.29) ref 1.19 (0.90, 1.56) 0.93 (0.76, 1.15) ars ref 1.04 (0.78, 1.38) 0.82 (0.62, 1.08) 0.56 (0.43, 0.74) 0.39 (0.27, 0.54) ref 0.85 (0.60, 1.20)	ref 1.47 (0.65, 3.12) ref 0.74 (0.30, 1.83) 1.06 (0.57, 1.94) ref 0.59 (0.21, 1.60) 0.51 (0.20, 1.31) 0.65 (0.29, 1.46) 0.28 (0.08, 0.96) ref 0.84 (0.28, 2.47)	ref 1.31 (1.02, 1.67) ref 1.19 (0.93, 1.54) 1.19 (0.98, 1.44) ref 1.00 (0.77, 1.29) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.47 (0.36, 0.61) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46) ref 1.07 (0.80, 1.43)	0.1145 0.2370 0.6718 0.2669

3	0.59 (0.43, 0.80)	0.71 (0.52, 0.96)	0.92 (0.36, 2.33)	0.73 (0.56, 0.96)	
4+	0.57 (0.42, 0.77)	0.64 (0.47, 0.85)	0.81 (0.32, 2.07)	0.50 (0.38, 0.66)	
Duration of brea	astfeeding				
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.9719
<6 months	0.73 (0.55, 0.98)	0.65 (0.48, 0.88)	1.06 (0.47, 2.39)	0.72 (0.55, 0.94)	
6-12 months	0.51 (0.35, 0.75)	0.61 (0.44, 0.86)	0.69 (0.23, 2.03)	0.63 (0.45, 0.86)	
>12 months	0.53 (.37, 0.75)	0.49 (0.36, 0.68)	0.51 (0.17, 1.52)	0.54 (0.40, 0.73)	
Age at menarche	e				
<=13 years	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.5368
>13 years	0.90 (0.73, 1.11)	0.95 (0.79, 1.16)	0.66 (0.36, 1.21)	0.82 (0.68, 0.99)	
Menopause statu	ıs at diagnosis				
pre	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.0004
post	1.27 (0.94, 1.73)	2.17 (1.60, 2.95)	0.81 (0.35, 1.84)	0.97 (0.75, 1.26)	
Endometriosis					
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1506
Yes	1.17 (0.71, 1.91)	0.84 (0.52, 1.36)	2.66 (1.06, 6.70)	1.29 (0.86, 1.94)	
Hysterectomy					
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.1068
Yes	3.27 (2.58, 4.14)	4.11 (3.36, 5.03)	4.10 (2.19, 7.66)	4.76 (3.87, 5.86)	
Hormonal treat	nent use				
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	0.4960
Yes	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)	1.21 (0.99, 1.48)	1.59 (0.86, 2.95)	1.09 (0.88, 1.34)	

AR, androgen receptor; CI, confidence interval; ER, estrogen receptor; heter, heterogeneity; PR, progesterone receptor; RRR, relative risk ratio. 1 Including AUS, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, and STA for tumor defined by AR and ER status; AUS, GER, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, and STA for tumor defined by AR and PR status; HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, POL, SEA, and STA for tumor defined by ER and PR status.

2 adjusted for study site, age (continuous), family history of breast or ovarian cancer in first-relative (yes or no), duration of OC use (0, <1, 1-4, 5-9 or 10+ years), number of pregnancies (never, 1, 2, 3, or 4+), menopause status at diagnosis (pre or post), and hormonal treatment use (yes, or no). Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups are not reported in the table.

Table 4-6 Hazard ratios for the association of clinical variables and hormonally linked risk factors with survival from time of diagnosis for epithelial

	AR- (N=255)	2)	AR+ (N=115	3)	ER- (N=830))	ER+ (N=169	9)	PR- (N=264)))	PR+ (N=1728	3)
	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR	HR
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
m	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³	Model 1 ²	Model 2 ³
Tumor character	ristics											
Histotypes					:				:			
Serous	ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref	
Endometrioid	0.77 (0.61, 0.96)		0.61 (0.43, 0.87)		1.02 (0.72, 1.46)		0.44 (0.33, 0.57)		1.05 (0.81, 1.35)		0.49 (0.38, 0.63)	
Mucinous	(1.32) (1.02, 1.71)		(0.65, 1.85)		(0.91) (0.62, 1.33)		(0.61) (0.28, 1.29)		0.92 (0.71, 1.18)		0.68 (0.34, 1.35)	
Clear cell	1.15 (0.93, 1.42)		0.53 (0.31, 0.93)		0.70 (0.52, 0.93)		0.86 (0.57, 1.29)		0.86 (0.69, 1.06)		0.75 (0.43, 1.29)	
Other	0.9 (0.66, 1.30)		0.73 (0.42, 1.29)		1.33 (0.84, 2.10)		0.42 (0.29, 0.62)		1.13 (0.86, 1.49)		0.41 (0.26, 0.64)	
Stage												
Stage I/II	ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref	
Stage III/IV	3.70 (3.13, 4.38)		3.17 (2.50, 4.02)		3.05 (2.32, 4.01)		2.44 (2.03, 2.92)		3.27 (2.79, 3.85)		3.38 (2.76, 4.14)	
Grade												
Low	ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref	
High	1.36 (1.09, 1.69)		1.79 (1.28, 2.50)		1.20 (0.83, 1.74)		1.22 (0.95, 1.56)		1.29 (1.02, 1.64)		1.44 (1.12, 1.84)	
Debulking status	1		,				,		,			
Optimal	ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref	
Suboptimal	1.77 (1.44, 2.17)		1.72 (1.20, 2.46)		2.61 (1.39, 4.91)		2.05 (1.55, 2.70)		1.86 (1.52, 2.27)		1.65 (1.25, 2.18)	
Hormonally-link	ed risk factors		, · ,				· · · ·				,	
Physical inactivit	ty											
Active		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref
Inactive		1.02 (0.78, 1.35)		1.71 (1.14, 2.56)		0.75 (0.48, 1.16)		1.47 (1.14, 1.89)		1.16 (0.91, 1.48)		1.42 (1.02, 1.99)
Obesity status at	adulthood											
No		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref
Yes		0.94 (0.79, 1.12)		1.48 (1.16, 2.14)		0.92 (0.66, 1.27)		1.12 (0.92, 1.36)		1.01 (0.85, 1.19)		1.33 (1.05, 1.68)
Smoking Status		/		/		/		/		/		
Never Smoker		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref
Current Smoker		1.19 (0.96, 1.49)		1.06 (0.75, 1.51)		1.32 (0.93, 1.89)		1.19 (0.96, 1.49)		1.12 (0.92, 1.35)		1.08 (0.83, 1.42)

invasive ovarian tumor defined by individual receptor presence¹

	1.05	0.89	1.18	1.01	1.07	1.02
Former Smoker	(0.89, 1.23)	(0.69, 1.15)	(0.89, 1.57)	(0.86, 1.20)	(0.93, 1.24)	(0.84, 1.24)
Duration of oral contra	ceptive use, years					
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
-1	1.09	1.09	1.14	1.06	1.02	1.07
<1	(0.86, 1.38)	(0.75, 1.59)	(0.76, 1.73)	(0.85, 1.32)	(0.82, 1.26)	(0.82, 1.41)
1.4	0.94	0.90	0.99	0.89	0.83	0.96
1-4	(0.74, 1.20)	(0.60, 1.34)	(0.66, 1.50)	(0.71, 1.12)	(0.68, 1.02)	(0.73, 1.27)
5-9	1.04	1.10	1.00	0.97	0.95	1.01
5-7	(0.82, 1.33)	(0.78, 1.55)	(0.69, 1.45)	(0.78, 1.21)	(0.78, 1.16)	(0.78, 1.32)
10+	0.72	0.99	1.08	0.78	0.96	0.78
101	(0.51, 1.01)	(0.63, 1.55)	(0.61, 1.93)	(0.58, 1.04)	(0.74, 1.26)	(0.55, 1.09)
Number of full-term pro	egnancies	i				
Never	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
1	0.84	0.93	1.19	0.98	0.99	0.93
1	(0.66, 1.06)	(0.61, 1.41)	(0.78, 1.81)	(0.73, 1.31)	(0.79, 1.25)	(0.67, 1.29)
2	0.88	1.04	0.65	1.18	1.08	0.89
2	(0.71, 1.07)	(0.74, 1.47)	(0.43, 0.97)	(0.93, 1.51)	(0.89, 1.32)	(0.67, 1.18)
3	0.79	1.05	0.80	0.98	0.87	0.94
5	(0.63, 0.98)	(0.75, 1.47)	(0.53, 1.20)	(0.77, 1.26)	(0.71, 1.07)	(0.71, 1.23)
<u>/</u> +	0.79	1.07	0.92	1.06	0.99	1.04
-	(0.64, 0.98)	(0.77, 1.49)	(0.62, 1.35)	(0.83, 1.36)	(0.82, 1.21)	(0.79, 1.37)
Duration of breastfeeding	ng, months	,				
0	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
	0.79	0.50	1.14	1.18	1.09 (0.88,	1.01
<=0	(0.58, 1.06)	(0.31, 0.82)	(0.80, 1.64)	(0.93, 1.48)	1.34)	(0.75, 1.38)
>6 <-12	0.62	0.95	0.88	1.14	0.93	1.04
>0, <=12	(0.43, 0.89)	(0.56, 1.61)	(0.54, 1.43)	(0.88, 1.49)	(0.71, 1.21)	(0.72, 1.52)
<u>\12</u>	0.79	1.00	1.06	1.11	1.13	1.07
>12	(0.56, 1.12)	(0.63, 1.59)	(0.69, 1.61)	(0.83, 1.44)	(0.89, 1.44)	(0.76, 1.52)
Menopausal status at di	agnosis					
Pre	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
D4	0.86	0.75	0.83	0.83	0.99	0.74
Post	(0.71, 1.05)	(0.56, 1.01)	(0.59, 1.18)	0.68, 1.03)	(0.82, 1.20)	(0.59, 0.94)
Hormonal treatment us	e					
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
V	0.79	0.73	0.86	0.76	0.79	0.94
res	(0.67, 0.94)	(0.56, 0.94)	(0.65, 1.14)	(0.65, 0.90)	(0.69, 0.92)	(0.77, 1.15)

AR, androgen receptor; CI, confidence interval; ER, estrogen receptor; HR, hazard ratio; PR, progesterone receptor.

1 Including AOV, AUS, BAV, CNI, GER, HAW, HOP, LAX, MAL, MAY, POC, STA, VAN, and WMH for tumor defined by AR status; AUS, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, POL, SEA, STA, and VAN for tumor defined by ER status; AOV, AUS, GER, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, OVA, POC, POL, SEA, STA, SWE, VAN and WMH for tumor defined by PR status.

2 One multivariable model included age, histotypes, stage, grade, and debulking status. Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups are not reported in the table. 3 Separated multivariable models included the variable of interest adjusting for age, histotypes, stage, grade, and debulking status. Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups are not reported in the table.

5.0 Paper III: Feature identification for epithelial ovarian cancer survival using machine learning techniques

5.1 Abstract

Introduction: Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecologic cancer, but little progress has been made in identifying factors predicting survival. Machine learning (ML) techniques may address this concern. The aim of the current study is to evaluate several ML techniques in order to develop a prediction model for survival in epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC)patients and identify the most important clinical and tumor marker features.

Method: We included 5803 patients diagnosed with EOC from 22 studies with data on at least 7 immunohistochemistry biomarkers from a set of 9 immunohistochemistry markers: androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor alpha (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), folate receptor 1 (FOLR1), CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs), p16, and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). The dataset was split into the training set to conduct model selection and the external test set to perform feature identification. The best model was selected based on C-index from seven prediction models built by Cox proportional hazard models (Cox), random survival forest (RSF), boosting in Cox regression (boostCox), support vector machine for survival (SVMsur), deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model (deepsurv). The top 5, 10, and 15 features, and the whole set of features from the best model were refit into the training set. Feature identification was based on the C-index from

the external test set. Hazard Ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of each feature in the boostCox models with the best performance were obtained to indicate the direction of effects of each feature on EOC survival.

Results: The boostCox model presented the best performance with Harrell's C index of 71.73% and Uno's C index of 72.01% among all seven models. The boostCox models with the top 10 features, top 15 features, and the whole set of features presented similar performance. For application in the clinical settings, the boostCox model with the top 10 features, including stage, age, grade, CD8, histotype, debulking status, AR, PR, race, and p16, was selected as the final prediction model.

Conclusion: ML techniques can be applied to predict EOC survival. In our case, the boostCox model presented the best performance. Our prediction model indicated that CD8, AR, PR and p16 play important roles in the prediction of EOC survival. Understanding the biologic mechanisms behind these observations can provide insight into future treatments targeting these biomarkers.

5.2 Introduction

According to the American Cancer Society, about 13,770 women will die from ovarian cancer in 2021 in the U.S., more than any other gynecologic cancer.^{1,380} Due to its low survival rate, the mortality trend of ovarian cancer mirrors the incidence trend.³⁸¹ Epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) accounts for nearly 90% of malignant ovarian cancer.² The most common histotypes of EOC include high-grade and low-grade serous (60%), endometrioid (10%), clear cell (6%), and mucinous (6%).² Among ovarian cancer cases at the distant stage, the 5-year overall survival ranged from 13.9% with mucinous histotype to 54.2% with low-grade serous histotype of the distant stage.¹² There is a need to better understand features that impact survival outside of the specific histologic subtypes and stage.

Previous studies have suggested that clinical variables, such as histotype, tumor stage, surgical debulking status, grade and BRCA mutations impact EOC survival.^{1,382-387} Tumor-specific features, such as hormone receptor expression,²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ may also be associated with prognosis. In addition to hormone receptor expression, the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis Consortium (OTTA) reported that other tumor markers, such as myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), folate receptor 1 (FOLR1), CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs), p16, and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), are associated with survival in histotype-specific ways.²⁰⁷⁻²¹¹ To date, no prediction model for EOC survival has been developed to identify the relative importance of features from these reported prognostic clinical variables and biomarkers.

Machine learning (ML) techniques, such as support vector machines, decision tress, and artificial neural networks, have been widely applied in cancer research³⁸⁸ and have shown that the accuracy of predicting cancer susceptibility, recurrence, and morality can be improved from 15%

to 25% ³⁸⁹. To date, only one study employed classification for predicting the EOC survival, showing that using gradient boosting improved the area under the curve from 0.597 by Cox proportional hazard models to 0.843 in the test set.³⁹⁰

The aim of the current study is to develop a prediction model for EOC patient survival by pooling cases from 22 studies and identifying the most important features from clinical variables and nine biomarkers related to EOC survival based on the performances of seven models built by Cox proportional hazard model and ML techniques.

5.3 Method

Patients and clinical variables

The OTTA was formed in 2010 to validate prognostic markers for EOC by histotypes.³⁵⁶ We included 5803 patients diagnosed with EOC from 22 OTTA studies with data on at least 7 IHC biomarkers. Characteristics of these 22 OTTA studies are summarized in **Table 5-1**.^{55,60,209,309,312-314,316,325,329,357,358,391,392} All studies received local Institutional Review Board approvals. We obtained follow-up data, IHC data, and clinical variables that impact survival, including age at diagnosis, tumor stage (stage I/II, stage III/IV, or unknown), histotypes (high grade serous, low grade serous, endometrioid, mucinous, or clear cell), grade (low, high, or unknown), behavior (invasive or discordant), debulking status (optimal, suboptimal, or unknown), and BRCA 1/2 mutation status (wild type, pathogenic, unclassified variant, or unknown/untested) from the OTTA data coordinating center.

Immunohistochemistry

Data on staining of the nine IHC biomarkers (androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor alpha (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), MyD88, TLR4, FOLR1, CD8+ TILs, p16, and PTEN) were obtained from the OTTA coordinating center. IHC analyses were performed at Genetic Pathology Evaluation Centre (Vancouver, BC, Canada) for ER and PR,²⁰⁴ Ventana Medical Systems Inc. (Tucson, AZ, USA) for AR,²¹¹ at the Mayo Clinic (Rochester, Minnesota) for MyD88, TLR4 and CD8+ TILs,^{207,208} at Leica Microsystems (Wetzlar, Germany) for FOLR1,²⁰⁹ at Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA, USA) for PTEN,²¹¹ and at two institutions (Genetic Pathology Evaluation, Centre, University of British Columbia, and Calgary Laboratory Services, University of Calgary, Canada) for p16.²¹⁰ AR was scored into a 5-tiered system (no tumoral tissue, necrosis or hemorrhage, no staining in tumoral cells or just cytoplasmic staining, just stromal cells staining, just tumoral cells staining,

and both tumoral and stromal cells staining); ER and PR were scored into a 3-tiered system (<1%, 1 to 50%, and >50% of tumor cell nuclei positive); p16 expression was classified into a 3- tiered system was used (<1%, 1 to 75%, and >75% of tumor cell nuclei positive); MyD88, TLR4 and PTEN were scored into a 4-tiered system (negative, week, moderate and strong expression); CD8+ TILs were scored into a 4-tiered system (none, 1-2 IEL/40 x HPF, 3-19 IEL/40 x HPF, and >=20 IEL/40 x HPF); and FOLR1 was scored into a 6-tiered system (absent, weak, 1-50% irrespective of subcellular localization, >50% with membranous localization, 50-95% with cytoplasmic staining and >95% with cytoplasmic staining). We labeled the missing values of each IHC biomarker as "untested/uninterpretable". An index for patients with an untested/uninterpretable value was added to each biomarker. The missing data patterns for IHC biomarkers by site are presented in **Supplemental Table I**.

Model selection

Patients were randomly split into a training set (70%) for model selection and an external test set (30%) for feature identification. The training set was further randomly split into a training set (70%) and test set (30%) for model selection. A flowchart for the construction of a prediction model for EOC survival is shown in **Figure 5-1**. In addition to Cox proportional hazard models (Cox) (R package *Survival*) dealing with right-censored data fitting with age, stage and histotypes (basic Cox) and fitting with all variables (full Cox), we evaluated five ML techniques, including random survival forest (RSF) (R package *randomForestSRC*),³⁹³ boosting in Cox regression (boostCox) (R package *mboost*),³⁹⁴ support vector machine for survival (SVMsur) (R package *survivalsvm*),³⁹⁵ deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values (DNNSurv) (R package *survivalmodels*) ³⁹⁶ and deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model (deepsurv) (R package *survivalmodels*)³⁹⁷ to build the prediction models for EOC survival using the training set (N=2843). The detailed

description of the features of each of these models is shown in **Supplemental Table II**. To evaluate model performance, Harrell's C index³⁹⁸ and Uno's C index dealing with censored survival³⁹⁹ data were calculated for each model in the test set (N=1219; R package *Hmisc* and *survAUC*).

Feature identification

To identify important features, the best performing model based on the C-index was selected. It was then refit with the top 5, 10 and 15 features, and the full set of features using the entire training set (N=4062). Uno's C indices at the discrete time point (at the first, third, fifth, tenth and fifteenth years after the diagnosis) were calculated using the external test set (N=1741) to estimate the performances of the best performing model fit with four different feature sets. Hazard Ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of each feature in the models with the best performances were obtained from a Cox model using the entire dataset (N=5803) to indicate the direction of effects of each feature on EOC survival. All statistical analysis were performed using R Studio (R version 4.1.0).

5.4 Results

Description of participants

We included 5803 EOC cases in the current analysis (**Table 5-2**). There were 3588 fatal cases (61.93%) and 2215 censored cases (38.17%) in the analysis dataset. The median survival time was 1890 days (5.2 years). There were 3800 cases of high grade serous histotype (65.48%), 784 cases of endometrioid histotype (13.51%), 667 cases of clear cell histotype (11.49%), 359 cases of mucinous histotype (6.19%) and 193 cases of low grade serous histotype (3.33%). Nealy 60% of cases were diagnosed at stage III/IV. There were 2665 cases with optimal debulking status (45.92%) and 427 cases with suboptimal debulking status (7.36%). The majority of cases had negative AR expression (56.54%), untested or uninterpretable ER expression (58.09%) or PR expression (59.16%), moderate intensity of TLR4 (42.65%) or MyD88 (38.46%), untested or uninterpretable FOLR1 (55.99%), weak intensity of PTEN (40.10%), 3-19 IEL/40 x HPF of CD8 (34.98%) and 1 to 75% of tumor cell nuclei positive expression of p16 (41.98%).

Model selection

The overall Harrell's and Uno's C indexes to evaluate each model's performances using the test set are summarized in **Table 5-3**. The boostCox model performed best with Harrell's C index of 71.73% and Uno's C index of 72.01%. The full Cox model had the second highest Harrell's C index (71.08%) and forth highest Uno's C index 7(0.54%). The basic Cox model had the second highest Uno's C index (71.16%) and forth highest Harrell's C index (71.16%). The RSF model had the third highest Harrell's C index of 71.03% and the third highest Uno's C index of 70.98%. We further evaluated each model's performance at one, three, five, ten and fifteen years after diagnosis (**Supplemental Table III**). The boostCox model presented the best performance followed by the full Cox model and the RSF model at all time points.

Feature identification

The variable importance in the boostCox model is presented in Figure 5-2. The top fifteen features based on the variable importance were stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes, debulking status, AR, PR, race, p16, BRCA1/2 mutation status, ER, FOLR1, MyD88, TLR4. Uno's C indexes were calculated at one, three, five, ten and fifteen years after diagnosis for the boostCox models with the top 5, 10, 15 features and the whole set of features (Table 5-4). The boostCox models with the top 10 features, top 15 features and the whole set of features had similar performance. Therefore, the boostCox model with the top 10 features (the most parsimonious model) was selected as the final prediction model. The features identified by the final prediction model include stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes, debulking status, AR, PR, race and p16 expression. The refitted Cox model with these ten variables indicated that CD8 was significantly negatively associated with hazard of EOC death (HR for 20 or more IEL/40 x HPF, 3-19 IEL/40 x HPF and 1-2 IEL/40 x HPF compared to no IEL 0.89, 0.76. 0.60, respectively). Larger than 75% of tumor cells positive expression of p16 had a borderline significant association with worse survival compared to negative p16 expression (HR 1.16, 95% CI 1.00-1.34). Although AR and PR expression were important indicators in the prediction model, they were not significantly associated with EOC survival in the refitted Cox model.

5.5 Discussion

In the current study, we applied five ML techniques to build prediction models for EOC survival. The boostCox model had the best performance among all five ML models, plus the Cox model with age stage and histotypes, and the Cox model with the full set of features. The boostCox models with the top 10, 15 important features and the full set of features presented similar performance based on Uno's C-indexes. The features identified by our final prediction model include stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes, debulking status, AR, PR, race and p16 expression.

To date, there have been two studies that applied ML techniques in the field of EOC survival.^{385,400} Both studies performed clustering based on tumor features and then identified significant differences across the clusters. To our knowledge, there have been no previous MLbased studies to predict time-to-event among ovarian cancer patients directly. In the current study, we applied RSF, boostCox, SVMsur, DNNSurv and deepsurv to build a prediction model for EOC survival. RSF and boostCox are tree-based methods, which have a built-in function to determine the importance of features. SVMsur is a popular alternative approach to the Cox model when the proportional hazards assumption cannot be easily checked. DNNSurv and deepsurv are two deep neural network models that are widely used in big data. However, the last three techniques do not allow feature identification. The boostCox with importance values assigned to each variable performed best in terms of Harrells' C index and Uno's C index. The boostCox technique obtains statistical model estimates via gradient descent, and carries out feature identification.⁴⁰¹ The strengths of the boostCox technique are that the results can be interpreted similar to those from the classic Cox model, and it identifies specific features from the set of potential predicators (ie, it is not "black box"). However, the magnitudes and the direction of the associations between predictors and outcomes cannot be directly quantified the boostCox technique. Unexpectedly, the two deep neural network models, DNNSurv and deepsurv did not perform as well as other models. This could be due to the small number of predictors in the current dataset, which could induce overfitting. These Thechiniques may be more suitable for building a prediction model when using datasets with a large number of predictors.

CD8+ TILs, AR, ER and p16 are the four biomarkers in the top ten features identified by the boostCox model. CD8+ TILs plays an important role for immune defense against intracellular pathogens and for tumor surveillance.⁴⁰² Activation of CD8+ T cells triggers TILs to fill tumor cells.²²⁴ Higher CD8+ TILs in tumors was associated with better survival in the OTTA study²⁰⁸ and a meta-analysis including 8 studies.⁴⁰³ A prospective population-based study with 90 serous cases indicated AR expression alone was observed to be a favorable prognostic factor for the serous subtypes,²⁰⁶ and the Swedish cohort study with 118 serous and endometrioid cases indicated AR+PR+ tumors present a better survival.²⁰⁵ A meta-analysis polling 26 studies indicated that patients with PR- tumors presented worse survival compared to patients with PR+ tumors³⁷⁷ and the OTTA study indicated patients with PR- HGSOC and PR- endometrioid ovarian cancer presented worse survivals compared to patients with PR+ HGSOC and PR- endometrioid ovarian cancer.²⁰⁴ Although AR and PR were identified by the boostCox model, the results obtained from fitting a standard Cox regression using the entire dataset indicated that AR and PR were nonsignificantly associated with EOC survival. Together with previous studies,^{204-206,377} our data suggests that AR and PR may impact survival in a histotype-specific way and that the biological mechanisms for AR and PR on EOC survival should be studied by histotypes. p16 is a tumor suppressor, which regulates the progression of the cell cycle from the G1 phase to the S phase.²²⁶ Our results indicated that p16 expression in >75% of tumor cells was associated with worse survival of EOC compared to p16 expression in <1% of tumor cells. The OTTA study showed that absent p16 expression was associated with worse survival of LGSOC compared to heterogeneous p16 expression while block p16 expression was associated with worse survival of endometrioid and clear cell ovarian cancer compared to heterogeneous p16 expression.²¹⁰ Thus, p16 could be a potential histotype-specific treatment target.

There are a few limitations in our study. First, we included missing values by creating an index for each feature. The percentage of missing values ranged from 2.77% to 61.24% (Table 5-2), with BRCA1/2 mutation status, PR, and FOLR1 each having more than 50% missing values. We chose not to conduct imputation in order to make the prediction model applicable to real-world data, where missing values may be common. Moreover, the missing value patterns were heterogenous by site. For example, ER, PR and FOLR1 status were all missing from two sites (BRZ, LZX). While we could have included site in our analyses as either a stratum or co-variate, this would have limited the generalizability of our model by impacting feature identification. The second limitation was that some potential risk factors related to survival, such as cancer antigen125 level,⁴⁰⁴⁻⁴⁰⁶ types of chemotherapy,^{167,407} response to chemotherapy,⁴⁰⁸ body mass index,^{237,409} hormone replacement therapy use,^{233,237,240} age at menopause and menarche,²³³ physical activity,²⁵² and smoking,^{237,253} were not available through the OTTA and thus were not included in our analyses. The third limitation was that the tunning parameters might not be fully optimized. Refining the tuning parameters was beyond the scope of this paper which was intended to identify the best type of model and the important predictive features; however, we recommended that future studies aim to optimize the models using cross-validation or the bootstrap.

Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths, including the large sample size by pooling multiple study sites all over the world, applying the novel ML techniques to predict EOC survival directly, and identifying the important biomarkers associated with EOC survival. Importantly, our study showed that ML techniques can accurately identify prognostic features and predict survival outcomes from a modest sized, real-world data set with substantial missing data. We suggest systematically collecting more thorough data, including clinical clinical variables (e.g., type of chemotherapy, response to chemotherapy) and biomarkers (e.g., CA-125) relevant to EOC outcomes to validate the method. Future studies with more comprehensive clinical, lifestyle, and biological data can address this study's limitations and provide more accurate prediction models and feature identification.

In conclusion, ML techniques were successfully applied to predict survival outcomes in EOC patients. The biomarkers identified by our final prediction model include CD8, AR, PR, and p16 expression. Understanding the biological mechanisms behind these observations provides insight into potential treatment strategies that could be used to target these biomarkers.

5.6 Figures and tables



Figure 5-1 Flow chart of the development of the prediction model for ovarian cancer surviva

boostCox, boosting in Cox regression; Cox, Cox proportional hazards model; deepsurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model; DNNSurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values; RSF, random survival forest; SVMsur, support vector machine for survival.

1 Model included age, stage and histotypes.

2 Model included age, race, stage, histotypes, behavior, grade, debulking status, BRCA1/2 mutation status and nine biomarkers



Figure 5-2 Importance of variables in the full boostCox model

AR, Androgen Receptor; cat, categorical level; CD8, Cluster of differentiation 8; ER, Estrogen Receptor; FOLR1, Folate receptor alpha; MyD88, Myeloid differentiation primary response 88; PR, Progesterone Receptor; PTEN, Phosphatase and tensin homolog; TLR4, Toll-like receptor 4.

Site	Region	Study Name	Study Period	Total Cases, n	Censored, n (%)	Uncensored, n (%)
AOC 55	Australia	Australian Ovarian Cancer Study	2002-2006	163	23 (14.1)	140 (85.9)
AOV 209	Canada	Alberta Ovarian Tumor Types Study	1978-2010	461	257 (55.7)	204 (44.3)
BAV ³⁰⁹	Germany	Bavarian Ovarian Cancer Cases and Controls	2002-2006	227	70 (30.8)	157 (69.2)
BRZ	Brazil	Brazil Gynecologic Tumor Bank Study	1987-2010	107	54 (50.5)	53 (49.5)
CAL^{410}	Canada	Calgary Serous Carcinoma Study	2003-2007	106	28 (26.4)	78 (73.6)
CNI ⁴¹¹	Spain	CNIO Ovarian Cancer Study	1. 2022-2012 2. 2006-2013	121	85 (70.2)	36 (29.8)
GER 312	Germany	Germany Ovarian Cancer Study	1993-1996	88	21 (23.9)	67 (76.1)
HAW ³¹³	USA	Hawaii Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	1993-2008	124	57 (46.0)	67 (54.0)
HOP ³¹⁴	USA	Hormones and Ovarian Cancer Prediction Study	2003-2008	38	20 (52.06)	18 (47.4)
LAX 412	USA	Women's Cancer Program at the Samuel Oschin Comprehensive Cancer Institute	1989 - present	263	79 (30.0)	184 (70.0)
MAL 60,357	Denmark	MALignant OVArian cancer	1994-1999	114	23 (20.2)	91 (79.8)
MAY ³¹⁶	USA	Mayo Clinic Ovarian Cancer Case-Control Study	2000-2011	805	220 (27.3)	585 (72.7)
NOT ³⁹²	UK	Nottingham Study	1991-2011	460	182 (39.6)	578 (60.4)
POC ³²³	Poland	Polish Ovarian Cancer Study	1998-2006	129	69 (53.5)	60 (46.5)
SEA ³⁵⁸	UK	Study of Epidemiology and Risk Factors in Cancer Heredity	1998-present	502	224 (44.6)	278 (55.4)
SOC ³⁹¹	UK	Southampton Ovarian Cancer Study	1993-1998	51	12 (23.5)	39 (76.5)
STA ³²⁵	USA	Family Registry for Ovarian Cancer AND Genetic Epidemiology of Ovarian Cancer	1997-2001	302	129 (42.7)	173 (57.3)
TUE	Germany	Tuebingen University Hospital	1999-2008	201	77 (38.3)	124 (61.7)
TVA ⁴¹³	Canada	Ovarian Cancer in Alberta	2005-2011	148	83 (56.1)	65 (43.9)
UKO ³²⁹	UK	United Kingdom Ovarian cancer Population Study	2006-2010	104	48 (46.2)	56 (53.8)
VAN 414,415	Canada	Vancouver Ovarian Cancer Study	1984-2000	1056	396 (37.5)	660 (62.5)
WMH ⁴¹⁶	Australia	Westmead Hospital: Molecular Biology of Gynecologic Disease	1992- 2012	233	58 (24.9)	175 (75.1)
Total				5803	2215 (38.2)	3588 (61.8)

Table 5-1 Characteristics of studies from the Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium

Potential Prognostic variable	Training Set	Test Set	External Test Set	Total
N	2843	1219	1741	5803
Age(year), mean (SD)	58.77 (12.34)	58.36 (11.99)	58.86 (12.16)	58.71 (12.21)
Race				
White	1605 (56.45)	678 (55.62)	923 (53.02)	3206 (55.25)
Black	11 (0.39)	3 (0.25)	13 (0.75)	27 (0.47)
Asian	68 (2.39)	31 (2.54)	55 (3.16)	154 (2.65)
Other	51 (1.79)	23 (1.89)	31 (1.78)	105 (1.81)
missing	1108 (38.97)	484 (39.70)	719 (41.30)	2311 (39.82)
Histology				
High Grade Serous	1886 (66.34)	753 (61.77)	1161 (66.69)	3800 (65.48)
Low Grade Serous	83 (2.92)	59 (4.84)	51 (2.93)	193 (3.33)
Mucinous	181 (6.37)	77 (6.32)	101 (5.80)	359 (6.19)
Endometrioid	381 (13.40)	175 (14.36)	228 (13.10)	784 (13.51)
Clear cell	312 (10.97)	155 (12.72)	200 (11.49)	667 (11.49)
Stage				
Stage I/II	1055 (37.11)	473 (38.80)	662 (38.02)	2190 (37.74)
Stage III/IV	1715 (60.32)	709 (58.16)	1028 (59.05)	3452 (59.49)
missing	73 (2.57)	37 (3.04)	51 (2.93)	161 (2.77)
Behavior				
Invasive	2839 (99.86)	1211 (99.34)	1737 (99.77)	5787 (99.72)
Discordant	4 (0.14)	8 (0.66)	4 (0.23)	16 (0.28)
Grade				
Low	325 (11.43)	167 (13.70)	218 (12.52)	710 (12.24)
High	2378 (83.64)	978 (80.23)	1444 (82.94)	4800 (82.72)
Unknown	140 (4.92)	74 (6.07)	79 (4.54)	293 (5.05)
Debulking Status				
Optimal	1306 (45.94)	549 (45.04)	810 (46.52)	2665 (45.92)
Suboptimal	212 (7.46)	87 (7.14)	128 (7.35)	427 (7.36)
Unknown	1325 (46.61)	583 (47.83)	803 (46.12)	2711 (46.72)
BRCA1/2 mutation status				
Wild type	905 (31.83)	397 (32.57)	562 (32.28)	1864 (32.12)
Pathogenic	135 (4.75)	47 (3.86)	88 (5.05)	270 (4.65)
Unclassified variant	66 (2.32)	16 (1.31)	33 (1.90)	115 (1.98)
Unknown/Untested	1737 (61.10)	759 (62.26)	1058 (60.77)	3554 (61.24)
Immunohistochemistry			1	1
Androgen Receptor No Tissue, Non-tumoural tissue, Necrosis, Hemorrhage	67 (2.36)	30 (2.46)	40 (2.30)	137 (2.36)

Table 5-2	2 Comparison	of training	set and	validation	set

No staining in tumoral cells or just cytoplasmic staining (Negative)	1567 (55.12)	725 (59.47)	989 (56.81)	3281 (56.54)
Just stromal cells staining (Positive)	70 (2.46)	30 (2.46)	36 (2.07)	136 (2.34)
(Positive) Both tumoural and stromal cells	655 (23.04)	241 (19.77)	398 (22.86)	1294 (22.30)
staining(Positive)	47 (1.65)	13 (1.07)	26 (1.49)	86 (1.48)
Untested / uninterpretable	437 (15.37)	180 (14.77)	252 (14.47)	869 (14.98)
Estrogen Receptor				
Negative (<1% of tumor cells)	424 (14.91)	192 (15.75)	222 (12.75)	838 (14.44)
1 to 50% of tumor cell nuclei positive	224 (7.88)	74 (6.07)	137 (7.87)	435 (7.50)
> 50% of tumor cells positive	543 (19.10)	251 (20.59)	365 (20.96)	1159 (19.97)
Untested / uninterpretable	1652 (8.11)	702 (57.59)	1017 (58.41)	3371 (58.09)
Progesterone Receptor				
Negative (<1% of tumor cells)	763 (26.84)	337 (27.65)	453 (26.02)	1553 (26.76)
1 to 50% of tumor cell nuclei positive	246 (8.65)	97 (7.96)	157 (9.02)	500 (8.62)
> 50% of tumor cells positive	150 (5.28)	69 (5.66)	98 (5.63)	317 (5.46)
Untested / uninterpretable	1684 (59.23)	716 (58.74)	1033 (59.33)	3433 (59.16)
Toll-like receptor 4, TLR4				
Negative intensity	300 (10.55)	125 (10.25)	162 (9.30)	587 (10.12)
Weak intensity	390 (13.72)	179 (14.68)	237 (13.61)	806 (13.89)
Moderate intensity	1241 (43.65)	514 (42.17)	778 (44.69)	2533 (43.65)
Strong intensity	158 (5.56)	74 (6.07)	99 (5.69)	331 (5.70)
Untested / uninterpretable	754 (26.52)	327 (26.83)	465 (26.71)	1546 (26.64)
Myeloid differentiation primary response 88, MyD88				
Negative intensity	324 (11.40)	143 (11.73)	198 (11.37)	665 (11.46)
Weak intensity	343 (12.06)	173 (14.19)	205 (11.77)	721 (12.42)
Moderate intensity	1101 (38.73)	461 (37.82)	670 (38.48)	2232 (38.46)
Strong intensity	618 (21.74)	251 (20.59)	354 (20.33)	1223 (21.08)
Untested / uninterpretable	457 (16.07)	191 (15.67)	314 (18.04)	962 (16.58)
Folate receptor alpha, FOLR1				
Absent staining	340 (11.96)	153 (12.55)	198 (11.37)	691 (11.91)
Weak staining	197 (6.93)	102 (8.37)	140 (8.04)	439 (7.57)
Strong 1–50%	270 (9.50)	107 (8.78)	161 (9.25)	538 (9.27)
Strong membranous 50%	165 (5.80)	80 (6.56)	104 (5.97)	349 (6.01)
Strong cytoplasmic 50–95%	202 (7.11)	80 (6.56)	113 (6.49)	395 (6.81)
Strong cytoplasmic 95%	76 (2.67)	27 (2.21)	39 (2.24)	142 (2.45)
Untested / uninterpretable Phosphatase and tensin homolog, PTEN	1593 (56.03)	670 (54.96)	986 (56.63)	3249 (55.99)
Negative intensity	560 (19.70)	226 (18.54)	336 (19.30)	1122 (19.33)
Weak intensity	1136 (39.96)	508 (41.67)	683 (39.23)	2327 (40.10)

			1	1
Moderate intensity	561 (19.73)	256 (21.00)	368 (21.14)	1185 (20.42)
Strong intensity	117 (4.12)	48 (3.94)	80 (4.60)	245 (4.22)
Untested / uninterpretable	469 (16.50)	181 (14.85)	274 (15.74)	924 (15.92)
Cluster of differentiation 8, CD8				
No IEL	638 (22.44)	282 (23.13)	373 (21.42)	1293 (22.28)
1-2 IEL/40 x HPF	486 (17.09)	187 (15.34)	280 (16.08)	953 (16.42)
3-19 IEL/40 x HPF	982 (34.54)	415 (34.04)	633 (36.36)	2030 (34.98)
20 or more IEL/40 x HPF	467 (16.43)	201 (16.49)	286 (16.43)	954 (16.44)
Untested / uninterpretable	270 (9.50)	134 (10.99)	169 (9.71)	573 (9.87)
p16				
Negative (<1% of tumor cells)	249 (8.76)	121 (9.93)	178 (10.22)	548 (9.44)
1 to 75% of tumor cell nuclei positive	1172 (41.22)	547 (44.87)	717 (41.18)	2436 (41.98)
> 75% of tumor cells positive	934 (32.85)	356 (29.20)	522 (29.98)	1812 (31.23)
Untested / uninterpretable	488 (17.16)	195 (16.00)	324 (18.61)	1007 (17.35)
Overall Survival				
Censored status				
Censored	1071 (37.67)	483 (39.62)	661 (37.97)	2215 (38.17)
Uncensored	1772 (62.33)	736 (60.38)	1080 (62.03)	3588 (61.83)
Survival Time, days				
Median (25th, 75th centiles)	1824 (810 6289)	, 2017 (833, 6999)	1923 (839, 6389)	1890 (821, 6389)

IEL, intraepithelial lymphocytes

Model	Harrell's C in %	Uno's C in %
RSF	71.03	70.98
boostCox	71.73	72.01
SVMsur	61.34	62.62
DNNSurv	59.83	63.03
deepsurv	61.12	63.55
Cox (basic) ¹	69.49	71.16
Cox ²	71.08	70.54

Table 5-3 Summary of model performances in terms of C-index

boostCox, boosting in Cox regression; Cox, Cox proportional hazards model; deepsurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model; DNNSurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values; RSF, random survival forest; SVMsur, support vector machine for survival.

Model included age, stage and histotypes.
 Model included age, race, stage, histotypes, behavior, grade, debulking status, VRCA1/2 mutation status and nine biomarkers.

Model	Features included	Uno's C-index in %					
		at 1st year	at 3rd year	at 5th year	at 10th year	at 15th year	Maximum time
Full model	age, race, stage, histotypes, behavior, grade, debulking status, BRCA1/2 mutation status and nine biomarkers	71.23	71.52	71.98	70.58	67.36	70.43
Model 1 (15 variables)	stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes, debulking status, AR, PR, race, p16, BRCA1/2 mutation status, ER, FOLR1, MyD88, TLR4	71.26	71.54	71.98	70.58	67.36	70.43
Model 2 (10 variables)	stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes, debulking status, AR, PR, race, p16	71.20	71.25	71.79	70.52	67.49	70.51
Model 3 (5 variables)	stage, age, grade, CD8, histotypes	69.64	69.22	70.10	69.56	67.48	70.25

Table 5-4 Summary of model performances using the External Test Set for boostCox models with identified features based on variable importance

AR, Androgen Receptor; CD8, Cluster of differentiation 8; ER, Estrogen Receptor; FOLR1, Folate receptor alpha; MyD88, Myeloid differentiation primary response 88; PR, Progesterone Receptor; TLR4, Toll-like receptor 4.

	Hazard Ratio
Features	(95% confidence intervals)
Stage	
Stage I/II	ref
Stage III/IV	3.14 (2.83, 3.47)
missing	2.44 (1.95, 3.06)
Age per year	1.024 (1.020, 1.027)
Grade	
Low	ref
High	1.46 (1.20, 1.79)
Unknown	1.50 (1.14, 1.98)
Cluster of differentiation 8, CD8	
No IEL	ref
1-2 IEL/40 x HPF	0.89 (0.80, 0.99)
3-19 IEL/40 x HPF	0.76 (0.69, 0.83)
20 or more IEL/40 x HPF	0.60 (0.53, 0.67)
Untested / uninterpretable	0.83 (0.73, 0.95)
Histology	
High Grade Serous	ref
Low Grade Serous	0.89 (0.66, 1.18)
Mucinous	1.09 (0.89, 1.33)
Endometrioid	0.71 (0.60, 0.83)
Clear cell	0.89 (0.76, 1.04)
Debulking Status	
Optimal	ref
Suboptimal	1.52 (1.35, 1.72)
Unknown	1.28 (1.18, 1.38)
Androgen Receptor	
No Tissue, Non-tumoral tissue, Necrosis, Hemorrhage	ref
No staining in tumoral cells or just cytoplasmic staining (Negative)	1.24 (0.98, 1.56)
Just stromal cells staining (Positive)	1.15 (0.83, 1.61)
Just tumoral (epithelial)cells staining (Positive)	1.12 (0.88, 1.43)
Both tumoral and stromal cells staining (Positive)	0.92 (0.63, 1.33)
Untested / uninterpretable	0.83 (0.65, 1.07)
Progesterone Receptor	_
Negative (<1% of tumor cells)	ref
1 to 50% of tumor cell nuclei positive	1.03 (0.90, 1.16)
> 50% of tumor cells positive	0.86 (0.72, 1.03)
Untested / uninterpretable	1.06 (0.98, 1.15)
Race	_
White	ref
Black	1.09 (0.71, 1.68)
Asian	0.71 (0.56, 0.91)
Other	0.89 (0.68, 1.16)
missing	1.16 (1.08, 1.25)
p16	-
Negative (<1% of tumor cells)	ref
1 to 75% of tumor cell nuclei positive	1.08 (0.94, 1.24)
> 75% of tumor cells positive	1.16 (1.00, 1.34)
Untested / uninterpretable	1.28 (1.09, 1.49)

Table 5-5 Hazard ratio of ten features fitting in boostCox

6.0 Discussion

6.1 Summary and Novelty

Epithelial ovarian cancer continues to have high mortality due to lack of early diagnosis and high recurrence of disease after primary treatment. EOC is a heterogeneous disease made up of molecularly distinct histotypes. Even with these differences, it has been consistently reported that the development of EOC is a hormone driven process. Based on this knowledge, this dissertation reported the heterogeneity of the histotype-specific associations with LOYs and with the individual components of LOYs. It further described different risk and prognostic profiles in EOC patients with tumor types defined by hormone receptor status overall and based on tumor histotypes. Moreover, ML techniques were successfully utilized to build a prediction model for EOC survival and identified CD8, AR, PR, and p16 as crucial factors for predicting EOC survival.

EOC is relatively rare, affecting only 1% of population, and this creates challenges for researchers aiming to improve the diagnosis and treatment of EOC. The small number of cases in individual studies necessitates pooling resources to increase the power of analyses to identify prognostic factors. Our approach in the first and second paper was pooling data from more than 20 case-control studies which allowed us to estimate the histotype-specific associations. This approach is innovative because it combines data across studies to evaluate risk factors by histotype as no single study has such a large sample size to adequately assess histotype-specific associations. We found substantially different risk-factor profiles by histotypes and conclude that one must include histotype to accurately predict risk and take appropriate action to prevent EOC. Moreover, we conducted interaction analyses and stratification analyses to identify whether hormone status

modifies the association between risk factors and EOC risk or the association between risk factors survival. We found that the association between menopause status at diagnosis and EOC risk varied by the presence of PR. These types of analyses can be conducted only when very large, pooled datasets are available.

One of the strengths of this work is utilizing data from 20 studies to draw clinically meaningful conclusions. All three papers take advantage of access to a diverse and large dataset created by pooling existing multicenter studies. Besides increasing the sample size and the power for identifying risk factors, pooling data from multiple studies also increases the diversity of the population. For example, we pooled two studies from Australia, one from Japan, one from China, two from Germany, one from Netherlands, one from Poland, one from UK, three from Canada and thirteen from USA in the first paper. Among the overall 47471 cases and controls, we included 86.9% white, 2.16% black, 6.8% Asian and 3.1% population with other races in the first paper. The greater diversity improves the generalizability of our study results to broader populations in the United States and other countries.

Adding to the generalizability is the real-world collection of variables, which means contending with missing variables. Missing data is a shortcoming of this work. Nonetheless, missing data is common in general medical practice. Building a model that is based on real-world data and incorporates missing data as a feature in the model facilitates translation of the model results into practice since clinical datasets are not perfect. In this dissertation, I used several strategies to deal with missing data – using multiple imputation by chained equation imputation (Paper I), sensitivity analysis excluding missing data (Paper II), creating index for missing data (Paper III). The other challenge I encountered when pooling multi-center datasets is harmonizing the definition and coding of variables. For example, age at last mensural period (LMP) is only

available in 7 study sites. I assigned the age at LMP by comparing age at diagnosis or interview, age at hysterectomy, age at first hormone replacement therapy use and the published average age at menopause by country. To assure the accuracy of estimating the association between LOY and EOC risk, I compared the imputed values and the raw data. The estimated LOY-EOC associations were not altered by imputed age at LMP. Rigorous harmonization of variables provided sufficient power to estimate the hisototype-specific association without sacrificing the accuracy.

The application of ML techniques in the third paper overcomes some of the shortcoming of standard statistical practices and opens the door to building a more accurate prediction model for EOC survival. The standard analytic method to assess factors associated with EOC survival is to conduct a CoxPHR. CoxPHR is a semi-parametric model containing the baseline hazard (the non-parametric component) and the covariate vector (the parametric component). CoxPHR replies on several assumptions most notably the assumption of proportional hazards, which is that the ratio of the hazards for any two strata is constant overtime. Violations of the proportional hazard assumption and inaccurate specification of the parametric function could reduce the power of CoxPHR to identify important risk factors. Our innovative approach using ML techniques better fit survival data with nonlinear log-risk functions and increases the accuracy in predicting cancer survival without specifying the parametric function or requiring the proportional hazard assumption.

A frequently cited disadvantage of using ML techniques is that the resulting algorithm is a non-interpretable "black box." Some ML techniques have the ability to identify the critical features for predicting a given outcome. Supplying the "critical features" for predicting a given outcome overcomes the black-box limitation of many ML techniques and offer clinical investigators insight to better interpret the model results. The successful completion of our project improves the

162

accuracy of predicting ovarian cancer survival and provides potential treatment targets for future research.

6.2 Public health relevance and future study

The results of this dissertation further our understanding of EOC development and survival by exploring the roles of ovulation, hormone-related conditions, and hormone receptors. In the first paper, we found that an increasing LOY is associated with increased overall risk of EOC, risk of HGSOC, endometrioid ovarian cancer, and clear cell ovarian cancer. The associations of the individual components of LOY and ovarian cancer risk also varied by histotypes such that age at menarche was associated with a significant increased risk of mucinous but not with other histotypes. Our results supported that mucinous histotype develop via different causal mechanisms than other histotypes. We recommend examining the biological mechanisms by LOY component and histotypes. A better assessment of each LOY component in future studies is required in order to achieve this goal.

In the second paper, EOC tumor types defined by hormone receptor status have varying risk and prognostic profiles in general and based on histotypes. In particular, the association between menopause status at diagnosis and EOC risk varied by the presence of PR. We also confirmed previously reported data showing significant differences in EOC survival based on tumor receptor status for ER, which may be modified by physical inactivity; and previously reported survival differences based on tumor PR status. We further found that women with ER-PR+ HGSOC tumors have longer survival compared to women with the other three HSGOC types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumors have worse survival compared to women with the other three endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER-PR- endometrioid tumor types defined by the presence of ER and PR. Women with ER+ clear cell tumors have worse survival compared to women with ER+ clear cell tumors have worse survival compared to women with ER- clear cell tumors. Our findings suggests that ER and PR potentially serve as prognostic biomarkers for HGSOC and endometrioid ovarian cancer while ER may serve as a
prognostic biomarker for clear cell ovarian cancer. Our results imply that it is essential to analyze the associations of hormonally-linked risk factors and EOC risk and outcomes by histotypes and by hormone receptor status in order to fully understand the potential biological mechanisms underlying these relationships.

We suggest creating a validated prognostic score for EOC patients using the features identified in the second and third paper associated with EOC survival. The second paper observed that the survival in EOC patients differed by histotypes and by tumors defined by hormone receptor status. The third paper identified CD8 (a transmembrane glycoprotein involving in immune defense), AR (androgen receptors), PR (progesterone receptor), and p16 (a tumor suppressor) expression from the prediction model built using ML techniques. A novel prognostic score including these features can be developed and refined to improve the accuracy of prediction for EOC survival. Clinicians can use the novel prognostic score to make more specific decisions for patients with a high prognostic score and improve patients' outcomes. A number of these risk factors, such as CD8 and p16, may not be available in the medical record and thus not easily available for research studies. Moreover, some of the components that are needed to create an accurate LOY estimate are not generally available in the medical record. However, if clinicians were convinced that a predictor model has clinical utility, the components LOY are obtainable by taking a detailed patient history, and some biomarkers can be measured.

The successful application of ML techniques and the bright prospect of developing a reliable and valid prognostic score should drive clinicians to collect more comprehensive data. We suggest systematically collecting more thorough data, including clinical variables (e.g., type of chemotherapy, response to chemotherapy) and biomarkers (e.g., CA-125) relevant to EOC outcomes to validate the method and improve the prediction's accuracy.

Overall, these findings support revisiting the hypotheses of ovarian carcinogenesis by histotypes and provide important information about the future direction of EOC prevention and treatment.

Appendix A Supplemental Tables for Paper I

			Var	iable	s include	d in LOY	algo	rithms			
Algorithms #	Number of sites included	Sites included	Age at last menstrual period	Age at menarche	Number of Pregnancies, regardless of outcome	Total number of months of being pregnant, regardless of outcome(s)	Total number of full-term births	Duration of Oral Contraceptive Use, months	Total months of breastfeeding	Average cycle length	- LOY algorithms ⁴
The first class	s of algorith	ms									
A	25	AUS, BAV, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, MAY, MCC, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR, UCI, UKO, USC, VTL	X	X	X						Menstrual span – number of pregs *0.75
В	23	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, MCC, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR, UCI, UKO, USC, VTL	X	X			X				Menstrual span – number of full- term births *0.75
С	23	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, MCC, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR, UCI, UKO, USC, VTL	Х	х	Х		X				Menstrual span – number of full- term births *0.75 - (number of pregs – number of full-term births) *0.25
D	12	AUS, DOV, GER, HAW, MCC, NCO, NJO, OVA, POL, STA, UCI, USC	X	X		Х					Menstrual span –(months of being pregnant)/12
The second c	lass of algor	ithms									
Е	24	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, MAY, MCC, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR, UCI, UKO, USC, VTL	X	X	Х			X			Algorithm A – (months of oral contraceptive use)/12
\mathbf{F}^1	22	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA,	Х	Х			Х	Х			Algorithm B - months of oral contraceptive use/12

Supplemental Table 1 Algorithms to calculate lifetime ovulatory years

		POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR, UCI, UKO, USC, VTL									
G^1	22	JPN, NCO, NEC, NJO, NTH, OVA, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TBO, TOR,	X	Х	Х		Х	х			Algorithm C - months of oral contraceptive use/12
		UCI, UKO, USC, VTL									Algorithm D months of oral
H^1	11	OVA, POL, STA, UCI, USC	Х	Х		Х		Х			contraceptive use/12
The third cla	ss of algorit	hms									
I^2	16	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, NCO, NEC, NJO, POL, SON, STA, SWH, TOR, USC	Х	X	Х			Х	X		Algorithm E - months of oral contraceptive use/12
J ³	16	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, NCO, NEC, NJO, POL, SON, STA, TBO, TOR, USC	Х	X			Х	Х	X		Algorithm F - months of oral contraceptive use/12
K ³	16	AUS, CON, DOV, GER, HAW, HOP, JPN, NCO, NEC, NJO, POL, SON, STA, TBO, TOR, USC	X	X	х		Х	X	X		Algorithm G - months of oral contraceptive use/12
L	9	AUS, DOV, GER, HAW, NCO, NJO, POL, STA, USC	Х	Х		Х		Х	X		Algorithm H -months of oral contraceptive use/12
The fourth c	lass of algori	ithms									
М	10	AUS, CON, DOV, HAW, NCO, NEC, NJO, SON, TOR, USC	Х	Х			Х	Х	X	Х	Algorithm J * (365.25/Average cycle length in days)/13
Ν	10	AUS, CON, DOV, HAW, NCO, NEC, NJO, SON, TOR, USC	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Algorithm K* (365.25/Average cycle length in days)/13
0	6	AUS, DOV, HAW, NCO, NJO, USC	Х	Х		Х		Х	X	Х	Algorithm L* (365.25/Average cycle length in days)/13

¹ MCC was excluded due to limited numbers within site to impute missing values.
² NTH was excluded due to fail to converge on observed data.
³ NTH was excluded due to limited numbers within site to impute missing values.
⁴ The menstrual span is defined as age at last menstrual period minus age at menarche

				Overa	all			P	re/peri-n	ienopausal			Post-me	nopausal	
Site	Imputation	Obser	rved	Imput	ted	Combi	ned	Observ	ved	Imput	ted	Obser	ved	Imput	ted
	Wiethou	Controls	Cases												
	Ν	7185	5997	1131	884	8316	6881	2801	1814	42	20	4226	4077	1051	851
CON, DOV, HOP, NEC, POL, SON, TOR ¹	Assigned based on average age at menopause by country, age at hysterectomy, age at first HRT use	48.42 (5.95)	48.59 (6.40)	51.10 (3.23)	50.66 (3.31)	48.78 (5.73)	48.86 (6.21)	43.70 (6.48)	43.37 (6.95)	49.64 (2.05)	47.55 (6.25)	51.55 (2.71)	50.92 (4.58)	51.28 (3.14)	50.77 (4.21)
CON, DOV, HOP, NEC, POL, SON, TOR ¹	Kept raw age at menopause at age at LMP; Re- assigned observations with age at baseline >=51, and raw age at menopause < 40, and <=age at hysterectomy or age at first HRT use	47.17 (6.22)	47.07 (6.32)	50.39 (2.15)	49.97 (3.36)	47.61 (5.94)	47.44 (6.10)	44.02 (6.93)	43.75 (7.49)	49.64 (2.05)	47.55 (6.25)	49.24 (4.74)	48.52 (5.14)	50.51 (1.95)	50.05 (3.22)
	Ν			17888	14386	17888	14386			5363	3941			11472	9494
Others ²	Assigned based on average age at menopause by country, age at hysterectomy, age at first HRT use	NA	NA	48.77 (6.16)	48.84 (6.52)	48.77 (6.16)	48.84 (6.52)	NA	NA	43.00 (7.20)	42.5 (7.70)	NA	NA	51.45 (3.19)	51.43 (3.70)

Supplemental Table 2 Comparison of observed and assigned values of age at last menstrual period

NA, not applicable.

1 There are 314 participants without menopause status in the OCAC core dataset. 2 There are 2005 participants without menopause status in the OCAC core dataset.

study		Age at menarche		Hystereofomy	women with hysterectomy)	Age at hysterectomy (among	type)	HTR use (no matter what	women with HRT)	First age using HRT (among	G	Age at last menstrual period
	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases
AUS	3.72	7.16	1.13	5.04	1.03	1.82	0	5.24	3.57	16.59	100	100
BAV	46.9	36.7	41.34	55.85	59.09	6.45	48.17	46.78	100	100	100	100
CON ¹	0	0	0	0	3.19	5.43	100	100	-	-	0.73	1.21
	0	0.06	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.12	0	34.23	30.03
GER	1.13	2.71	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.85	100	100
HAW	0	0.11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	100	100
HOP	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.94	1.91	0.16	0.39	5.33	4.43
JPN	4.72	0	0	0.66	100	100	2.58	0.66	100	54.55	100	100
MAY	6.57	17.44	100	22.59	100	100	5.22	22.54	11.51	10.38	100	100
MCC	16.14	41.62	4.48	100	-	-	100	100	-	-	100	100
NCO	0.28	0.5	0.09	0.17	1.2	1.26	0.09	0.17	0	0	100	100
NEC	0.38	0.39	0	0	0	0	0	0	6.37	4.45	3	2.94
NJO	0.66	0.84	0	100	-	-	0	0	0.73	8.62	100	100
NTH	0.83	13.96	0.5	2.26	3.53	0.56	21.17	1.51	44	13.64	100	100
OVA	1.78	2.5	0.07	0.12	2.67	4.99	0	0	3.21	5.74	100	100
POL	1.6	1.02	0	0.34	1.69	0	5.67	6.8	1.94	2.94	1.42	3.40
SON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.98	1.2	0.18	0.44
STA	0	2.11	0	0.6	1.61	1.27	0	0.3	0	0	100	100
SWH	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	100	100	-	-	100	100
TBO	41.46	12.28	92.2	45.96	6.67	2.86	100	100	-	-	100	100
TOR	0.31	0.09	0	0.43	0	0	0	0	100	100	0.31	0.51
UCI	7.82	6.76	7.17	6.29	0.63	4.55	11.89	7.7	1.5	0.86	100	100
UKO	11	20.62	11.93	23.36	3.83	5.47	10.07	12.51	4.44	6.49	100	100
USC	0.04	0.13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	100	100
VTL	2.42	3.88	0	0	100	100	100	100	-	-	100	100

Supplemental Table 3 Percentage of missing values in components of lifetime ovulatory years calculation by OCAC site

1 CON and DOV used average cycle length at age 18 in 20s as average cycle length.

					Supplen	nental Table	3 (cont'd)					
study	regardless of outcome	Number of Pregnancies,	regardless of outcome(s)	Total number of months of being pregnant.	term births	Total number of full-	breastfeeding	Total months of	months	Duration of Oral Contracentive Tise	0	Average cycle length
	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases	controls	cases
AUS	0	5.19	4.05	22.38	0	4.79	12.42	25.5	0.46	5.85	16.87	34.48
BAV	45.31	32.6	91.41	88.45	91.41	88.45	57.87	80.56	86.96	87.72	100	100
CON^1	0	0	100	100	0	0	10.53	14.89	0	0	1.81	6.24
DOV^1	0.05	0.13	0.59	0.64	0	0.19	10.55	17.03	0	0.19	3.03	3.07
GER	0	0	0	0	0	0	15.01	20.16	1.13	1.16	100	100
HAW	0	0	0	0	0	0	11.33	22.57	0	0	1	1.01
HOP	0	0	90.73	81.58	0	0	9.27	18.54	0	0.12	100	100
JPN	2.15	1.97	87.55	80.26	2.15	0.66	16.31	22.37	2.15	1.97	100	100
MAY	4.35	10.4	100	100	100	100	100	100	7.18	12.89	100	100
MCC	16.35	41.62	16.35	42.2	16.35	42.2	37.15	65.9	18.05	43.93	100	100
NCO	0	0.08	0.37	0.5	0	0.08	9.22	16.15	3.23	4.44	13.18	14.73
NEC	0	0	86.81	75.28	0	0	13.19	24.72	0.05	0.19	7.76	8.19
NJO	0	0.42	0.44	0.42	0	0.42	10.48	25.32	2.18	3.38	6.99	7.17
NTH	17.5	1.13	99.67	2.26	16.5	1.13	18.33	25.28	2.33	20	100	100
OVA	0.11	0.06	27.06	42.33	0.04	0.12	31.54	50.95	0.89	1.1	100	100
POL	0	0.34	0.09	0.68	0	0.34	27.57	39.12	1.68	2.04	69.95	96.94
SON	0	0.22	100	100	0	0	9.75	19.33	0	0	2.66	1.56
STA	0	0	0	0	0	0	23.99	38.95	0	0.75	100	100
SWH	0	0	100	100	0	0	2.33	3.95	0.1	0	100	100
TBO	0.49	0.7	49.27	49.12	1.95	2.81	54.15	28.07	44.88	15.44	100	100
TOR	0	0	93.17	80.89	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.31	0
UCI	6.68	6.13	6.68	6.13	6.68	6.13	55.05	24.53	7	6.76	52.12	11.48
UKO	12.18	21.69	91.29	82.72	12.18	21.69	37.39	52.44	16.5	26.7	100	100
USC	0	0	0	0.04	0	0	39	39.29	0.19	0.13	19.54	17.98
VTL	10.48	11.65	100	100	100	100	100	100	1.61	3.88	100	100

1 CON and DOV used average cycle length at age 18 in 20s as average cycle length.

Supplemental Table 4 Distribution of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from 15 algorithms among

A 1	Number						25th,
	of sites	Cases	Controls	mean	standard	median	75th
Ħ	included				deviation		percentile
•	25	25081	20046	24.00	(20	25.25	32.00,
A	25	(55.58)	(44.42)	54.00	0.29	35.25	37.50
D	22	22519	18013	24.40	6.02	25 75	32.50,
D	25	(55.56)	(44.44)	54.40	0.25	55.75	37.75
C	22	22509	18003	21.26	6 25	25 50	32.25,
C	25	(55.56)	(44.44)	54.20	0.23	55.50	37.50
D	10	13596	10561	24.25	651	25 75	32.25,
D	12	(56.28)	(43.72)	54.25	0.51	55.75	37.75
Б	24	24480	19323	20.21	0 50	22 12	26.00,
E	24	(55.89)	(44.11)	50.21	0.30	32.42	35.92
Б	22	21931	17676	30.71	8 17	32.02	26.50,
1	22	(55.37)	(44.63)	50.71	0.47	32.92	36.33
G	22	21921	17666	20.56	0 10	22 75	26.50,
U	22	(55.37)	(44.64)	50.50	0.40	52.15	36.25
ц	11	13111	10362	20.20	8 71	32 58	25.95,
11	11	(55.86)	(44.14)	50.59	0.71	52.58	36.25
т	16	14424	11189	20.62	8 25	31.5	25.25,
1	10	(56.32)	(43.68)	29.02	0.23	51.5	35.25
т	16	14426	11199	30.14	Q 1Q	32 17	26.00,
J	10	(56.30)	(43.70)	30.14	0.10	32.17	35.58
ĸ	16	14424	11189	20.07	8 10	37	25.75,
K	10	(56.32)	(43.68)	29.91	0.19	52	35.50
т	0	8473	6498	20.81	8 54	31.83	25.17,
L	2	(56.60)	(43.40)	29.01	0.54	51.65	35.50
М	10	9134	8530	30.06	8 87	31.76	25.19,
111	10	(51.71)	(48.29)	50.00	0.07	51.70	35.81
N	10	9133	8529	20.80	8 88	31.61	25.00,
14	10	(51.71)	(48.29)	29.09	0.00	51.01	35.62
0	6	6132	5147	29.71	8 95	31.36	24.67,
0	0	(54.37)	(45.63)	27.11	0.95	51.50	35.62

participants with complete data

Algorithms	А	В	С	D	Е	F	G	Н	Ι	J	K	L	М	N	0
А	1.0000														
В	0.9928	1.0000													
С	0.9968	0.9992	1.0000												
D	0.9836	0.9867	0.9871	1.0000					•				•		
Е	0.7648	0.7706	0.7733	0.7697	1.0000										
F	0.7656	0.7720	0.7711	0.7693	0.9960	1.0000									
G	0.7694	0.7722	0.7725	0.7701	0.9982	0.9996	1.0000								
Н	0.7731	0.7760	0.7762	0.7839	0.9906	0.9924	0.9926	1.0000							
Ι	0.7651	0.7598	0.7631	0.7523	0.9901	0.9849	0.9876	0.9795	1.0000						
J	0.7526	0.7602	0.7590	0.7500	0.9857	0.9899	0.9895	0.9822	0.9954	1.0000					
К	0.7575	0.7608	0.7613	0.7515	0.9882	0.9892	0.9899	0.9823	0.9980	0.9995	1.0000				
L	0.7543	0.7583	0.7584	0.7685	0.9781	0.9799	0.9803	0.9901	0.9889	0.9912	0.9914	1.0000			
М	0.6864	0.6910	0.6909	0.7066	0.8738	0.8771	0.8771	0.9074	0.8832	0.8869	0.8867	0.9185	1.0000		
Ν	0.6918	0.6927	0.6938	0.7088	0.8778	0.8784	0.8792	0.9086	0.8873	0.8884	0.8889	0.9198	0.9996	1.0000	
0	0.7058	0.7071	0.7081	0.7083	0.9064	0.9073	0.9080	0.9083	0.9174	0.9188	0.9193	0.9196	0.9996	0.9999	1.0000

Supplemental Table 5 Pairwise correlations of lifetime ovulatory years calculated from 15 algorithms using complete data

						da	ta								
Components	А	В	С	D	Е	F	G	Н	Ι	J	K	L	М	N	0
Age at last menstrual period	0.9381	0.9465	0.9453	0.9370	0.7389	0.7514	0.7512	0.7514	0.7320	0.7308	0.7319	0.7290	0.6613	0.6635	0.6753
Age at menarche	-0.2322	-0.2327	-0.2326	-0.2009	-0.1407	-0.1410	-0.1413	-0.1298	-0.1597	-0.1616	-0.1614	-0.1399	-0.1542	-0.1535	-0.1590
Number of pregnancies, regardless of outcome	-0.0423	NA	0.0032	NA	0.0198	NA	0.0527	NA	-0.0428	NA	-0.0061	NA	NA	-0.0033	NA
Total number of months of being pregnant, regardless of outcome(s)	NA	NA	NA	-0.0644	NA	NA	NA	-0.0102	NA	NA	NA	-0.0713	NA	NA	0.0286
Total number of full-term births	NA	0.0543	0.0521	NA	NA	0.0988	0.0972	NA	NA	0.0481	0.0504	NA	0.0590	0.0611	NA
Total months of breastfeeding	NA	-0.2062	-0.2035	-0.2045	-0.2041	-0.1916	-0.1927	-0.2070							
Duration of oral contraceptive use, months	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.6810	-0.6761	-0.6752	-0.6538	-0.6753	-0.6827	-0.6809	-0.6702	-0.5913	-0.5915	-0.6059
Average cycle length	NA	-0.3252	-0.3231	-0.3164											

Supplemental Table 6 Correlations between individual components and the corresponding lifetime ovulatory years from 15 algorithms using complete

Appendix B Supplemental Figures and Tables for Paper II



Supplemental Figure A Kaplan-Meier curves for survival from the time of diagnosis of EOC by joint presence of hormonal receptors

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor.



Supplemental Figure B Kaplan-Meier curves for survival after diagnosis of EOC by histotypes by individual hormonal receptors presence

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; HGSOC, high-grade serous ovarian cancer; PR, progesterone receptor.

Supplemental Table. A Pooled relative risk ratios for the association between hormonally linked risk factors and epithelial ovarian cancer by individual

	AR+, AR	- compared	l to controls (N	=20,888)		ER+, El	R- compared	l to controls (N	=20,888)		PR+, PR-	- compared t	to controls (N=2	20,888)	
	RRR (959	% CI)				RRR (9	5% CI)				RRR (959	% CI)			
	AR-	AR+	AR unknown	P for positive vs.	P for overall	ER-	ER+	ER unknown	P for positive vs.	P for overall	PR-	PR+	PR unknown	P for positive vs.	P for overall
	N=1390	N=563	N=1816	negative heter	heter	N=564	N=1282	N=1923	negative heter	heter	N=1528	N=1125	N=1116	negative heter	heter
Physical inactivit	y														
Active	ref	ref	ref	0.125	0.110	ref	ref	ref	0.105	0.014	ref	ref	ref	0.752	0.094
Inactive	1.26 (0.98, 1.61)	1.77 (1.20, 2.60)	1.12 (0.92, 1.36)			1.73 (1.23, 2.42)	1.24 (0.97, 1.58)	0.99 (0.82, 1.21)			1.37 (1.10, 1.72)	1.30 (0.96, 1.75)	0.99 (0.79, 1.24)		
Obesity status at	adulthood														
underweight/ normal	ref	ref	ref	0.578	0.489	ref	ref	ref	0.046	0.123	ref	ref	ref	0.410	0.238
overweight/ obese	1.07 (0.90, 1.26)	1.16 (0.90, 1.49)	1.21 (1.05, 1.40)			1.51 (1.17, 1.96)	1.11 (0.93, 1.32)	1.16 (1.01, 1.34)			1.21 (1.03, 1.41)	1.32 (1.10, 1.59)	1.06 (0.88, 1.28)		
Smoking status															
Never Smoker	ref	ref	ref	0.450	0.604	ref	ref	ref	0.2889	0.280	ref	ref	ref	0.090	0.086
Current Smoker	1.04 (0.84, 1.30)	1.07 (0.78, 1.45)	1.19 (1.02, 1.40)			1.36 (1.06, 1.74)	1.16 (0.96, 1.41)	1.02 (0.86, 1.22)			1.32 (1.11, 1.58)	1.08 (0.87, 1.33)	0.97 (0.78, 1.21)		
Former Smoker	1.07 (0.92, 1.25)	0.92 (0.73, 1.15)	1.06 (0.93, 1.20)			0.95 (0.77, 1.18)	1.06 (0.92, 1.22)	1.00 (0.88, 1.14)			0.99 (0.87, 1.13)	1.09 (0.94, 1.27)	0.94 (0.77, 1.15)		
Duration of oral	contraceptiv	e use, year	s												
0	ref	ref	ref	0.380	0.415	ref	ref	ref	0.747	0.563	ref	ref	ref	0.421	0.571
<1	1.03 (0.82, 1.29)	1.04 (0.77, 1.40)	1.07 (0.89, 1.29)			0.88 (0.65, 1.18)	1.01 (0.83, 1.24)	1.12 (0.91, 1.36)			1.03 (0.76, 1.25)	1.08 (0.87, 1.33)	1.02 (0.77, 1.35)		
1-4	0.73 (0.59, 0.91)	0.52 (0.38, 0.71)	0.79 (0.66, 0.95)			0.66 (0.50, 0.89)	0.63 (0.52, 0.77)	0.82 (0.68, 0.99)			0.81 (0.68, 0.97)	0.66 (0.54, 0.82)	0.58 (0.42, 0.80)		
5-9	0.51 (0.41, 0.63)	0.46 (0.34, 0.62)	0.61 (0.52, 0.73)			0.57 (0.43, 0.75)	0.50 (0.41, 0.61)	0.59 (0.50, 0.71)			0.56 (0.47, 0.67)	0.53 (0.44, 0.65)	0.58 (0.44, 0.76)		

hormonal receptor presence compared to all controls¹

10+	0.39 (0.30, 0.51)	0.35 (0.25, 0.51)	0.42 (0.34, 0.51)			0.37 (0.25, 0.52)	0.36 (0.28, 0.45)	0.44 (0.35, 0.54)			0.38 (0.31, 0.48)	0.41 (0.33, 0.52)	0.40 (0.29, 0.55)		
Number of pregna	ancies														
Never	ref	ref	ref	0.919	0.001	ref	ref	ref	0.358	0.100	ref	ref	ref	0.214	0.009
1	1.02 (0.81, 1.29)	0.96 (0.69, 1.34)	0.63 (0.51, 0.77)			0.87 (0.64, 1.18)	1.00 (0.79, 1.25)	0.79 (0.64, 0.98)			0.91 (0.73, 1.12)	0.94 (0.74, 1.18)	0.68 (0.50, 0.92)		
2	0.75 (0.61, 0.93)	0.77 (0.57, 1.03)	0.46 (0.38, 0.54)			0.56 (0.42, 0.74)	0.71 (0.58, 0.86)	0.65 (0.55, 0.78)			0.64 (0.53, 0.77)	0.68 (0.55, 0.83)	0.59 (0.45, 0.76)		
3	0.68 (0.55, 0.85) 0.55	0.74 (0.55, 1.00)	0.39 (0.32, 0.46)			0.62 (0.46, 0.83)	0.71 (0.58, 0.88) 0.56	0.51 (0.42, 0.61)			0.62 (0.52, 0.75) 0.62	0.68 (0.55, 0.84) 0.51	0.39 (0.30 0.52)		
4+	(0.44, 0.68)	(0.44, 0.81)	0.38 (0.32, 0.46)			(0.44, 0.79)	(0.45, 0.69)	0.50 (0.41, 0.60)			(0.51, 0.74)	(0.41, 0.64)	0.41 (0.31, 0.53)		
Duration of breas	tfeeding														
0	ref	ref	ref	0.076	0.280	ref	ref	ref	0.620	0.778	ref	ref	ref	0.721	0.001
<6 months	0.62 (0.48, 0.79) 0.57	0.85 (0.59, 1.21) 0.48	0.73 (0.62, 0.87)			0.80 (0.61, 1.05) 0.57	0.69 (0.56, 0.85) 0.64	0.65 (0.53, 0.79)			0.76 (0.63, 0.92) 0.62	0.83 (0.66, 1.04) 0.74	0.41 (0.32, 0.53)		
6-12 months	(0.43, 0.77)	(0.30, 0.76) 0.70	0.62 (0.51, 0.77)			(0.40, 0.81) 0.56	(0.50, 0.81) 0.53	0.54 (0.42, 0.69)			(0.49, 0.78) 0.55	(0.56, 0.96) 0.62	0.35 (0.26, 0.47)		
>12 months	(0.34, 0.61)	(0.48, 1.02)	0.56 (0.46, 0.69)			(0.40, 0.77)	(0.42, 0.66)	0.54 (0.43, 0.68)			(0.44, 0.68)	(0.48, 0.80)	0.35 (0.26, 0.48)		
Age at menarche															
<=13 years	ref	ref	ref	0.204	0.405	ref	ref	ref	0.625	0.720	ref	ref	ref	0.266	0.177
>13 years	0.91 (0.79, 1.05)	0.79 (0.63, 0.96)	0.90 (0.81, 1.01)			0.88 (0.72, 1.07)	0.93 (0.81, 1.07)	0.87 (0.77, 0.98)			0.88 (0.78, 1.00)	0.80 (0.69, 0.92)	0.98 (0.83, 1.15)		
Menopause status	at diagnosi	s													
pri	ref	ref	ref	0.847	0.688	ref	ref	ref	0.818	0.254	ref	ref	ref	0.001	< 0.001
post	1.39 (1.13, 1.71)	1.34 (1.00, 1.81)	1.53 (1.28, 1.82)			1.22 (0.92, 1.62)	1.27 (1.04, 1.55)	1.53 (1.27, 1.83)			1.53 (1.26, 1.84)	0.98 (0.81, 1.20)	1.94 (1.50, 2.51)		
Endometriosis															
No	ref	ref	ref	0.714	0.464	ref	ref	ref	0.618	0.628	ref	ref	ref	0.110	0.023
Yes	1.30 (0.96, 1.76)	1.18 (0.73, 1.88)	1.01 (0.76, 1.35)			1.31 (0.85, 2.03)	1.15 (0.84, 1.58)	1.39 (1.05, 1.85)			1.02 (0.76, 1.36)	1.38 (1.03, 1.85)	2.02 (1.30, 3.13)		

Hysterectomy

No Yes	ref 5.08 (4.30, 5.99)	ref 6.31 (5.01, 7.94)	ref 3.65 (3.21, 4.15)	0.092	<0.001	ref 3.25 (2.60, 4.06)	ref 4.27 (3.66, 4.98)	ref 4.44 (3.89, 5.08)	0.035	0.045	ref 4.81 (4.20, 5.49)	ref 5.76 (4.93, 6.73)	ref 1.92 (1.56, 2.37)	0.057	<0.001
Hormonal treatme	ent use														
No	ref	ref	ref	0.410	0.005	ref	ref	ref	0.122	< 0.001	ref	ref	ref	0.786	0.002
Estrogen only	0.73 (0.53, 1.00)	0.55 (0.31, 0.96)	0.60 (0.44, 0.82)			0.92 (0.57, 1.50)	0.56 (0.38, 0.85)	0.63 (0.48, 0.83)			0.66 (0.50, 0.87)	0.78 (0.56, 1.08)	0.38 (0.18, 0.83)		
Combination	0.91 (0.74, 1.12)	1.06 (0.78, 1.44)	0.82 (0.67, 1.00)			0.70 (0.49, 1.01)	0.90 (0.72, 1.12)	0.89 (0.74, 1.07)			0.90 (0.75, 1.09)	0.94 (0.76, 1.17)	0.64 (0.43, 0.97)		
Others	0.75 (0.60, 0.94)	0.91 (0.66, 1.26)	1.23 (1.06, 1.43)			1.34 (1.04, 1.74)	1.59 (1.32, 1.92)	0.77 (0.65, 0.92)			1.33 (1.12, 1.60)	1.25 (1.00, 1.56)	0.81 (0.67, 0.98)		

AR, androgen receptor; CI, confidence interval; ER, estrogen receptor; heter, heterogeneity; PR, progesterone receptor; RRR, relative risk ratio.

1 adjusted for study site, age (continuous), family history of breast or ovarian cancer in first-relative (no, ovarian cancer only, breast cancer only, both ovarian cancer and breast cancer), duration of OC use (0, <1, 1-4, 5-9, or10+ years), number of pregnancies (never, 1, 2, 3, or 4+), menopause status at diagnosis (pre or post), and hormonal treatment use (no, estrogen only, combination, or others). Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown group are not reported in the table.

Supplemental Table. B Association of menopause status and hysterectomy with EOC risk by joint presence of

Tumor types	Number of cases	Menopause status RRR ² (95% CI)	Hysterectomy RRR ³ (95% CI)
AE-ER-PR-	265	1.34 (0.88, 2.06)	4.21 (2.98, 5.94)
AR-ER+PR-	254	2.20 (1.40, 3.46)	8.74 (6.28, 12.18)
AR+ER+PR-	72	2.29 (1.00, 5.24)	7.81 (4.44, 13.93)
AR-ER-PR+	22	0.23 (0.05, 0.99)	6.08 (1.99, 18.59)
AR-ER+PR+	227	0.63 (0.41, 0.99)	10.20 (6.89, 15.10)
AR+ER-PR-	34	0.81 (0.26, 2.56)	7.14 (2.71, 18.81)
AR+ER-PR+	8	2.34 (0.24, 22.88)	2.73 (0.24, 30.56)
AR+ER+PR+	167	0.97 (0.57, 1.63)	5.08 (3.24, 7.97)

androgen receptor, estrogen receptor, and progesterone receptor compared to all controls¹

AR, androgen receptor; CI, confidence interval; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor; RRR, relative risk ratio.

1 Including AUS, HAW, HOP, MAL, MAY, and STA.

2 adjusted for study site, age (continuous), family history of breast or ovarian cancer in first-relative (no, ovarian cancer only, both ovarian cancer and breast cancer), duration of OC use (0, <1, 1-4, 5-9, or10+ years), number of pregnancies (never, 1, 2, 3, or 4+), and hormonal treatment use (no, estrogen only, combination, or others). Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups are not reported in the table.

3 further adjusted for menopause status at diagnosis (pre or post). Models treated unknown groups as indexes. Estimates for unknown groups are not reported in the table.

	AR- N-2552	AR+ N-1153	D 1	ER- N-820	ER+ N-1600	D 1	PR- N-2640	PR+	D 1
Outcome	N=2552	N=1155	r	IN=030	N=1099	r	IN=2040	N=1/20	r
Survival time, median	4.92 (4.63.	5.11 (4.71.		7.26 (6.12.	4.94 (4.62.		4.22 (3.89.	6.93 (6.21.	
(95% CI)	5.32)	5.66)		8.66)	5.36)		4.56)	8.05)	
2-year OS	74.51%	80.06%		78.42%	78.57%		73.31%	82.63%	
5-year OS	50.18%	50.39%		60.22%	49.98%		46.60%	59.25%	
10-year OS	35.05%	32.08%		47.47%	32.10%		30.78%	43.06%	
Tumor characteristics	and clinical varia	bles							
Histotypes									
Serous	1499 (58.74)	843 (73.11)	< 0.001	308 (37.11)	1268 (74.63)	< 0.001	1651 (62.54)	1085 (62.79)	< 0.001
Endometrioid	355 (13.91)	181 (15.70)		88 (10.60)	271 (15.95)		152 (5.76)	494 (28.59)	
Mucinous	186 (7.29)	55 (4.77)		130 (15.66)	20 (1.18)		255 (9.66)	24 (1.39)	
Clear cell	426 (16.69)	42 (3.64)		257 (30.96)	45 (2.65)		473 (17.92)	40 (2.31)	
Other	86 (3.37)	32 (2.78)		47 (5.66)	95 (5.59)		109 (4.13)	85 (4.92)	
Stage									
Stage I/II	988 (40.08)	420 (37.53)	0.148	525 (63.64)	663 (39.53)	< 0.001	1030 (40.23)	752 (45.30)	0.001
Stage III/IV	1477 (59.92)	699 (62.47)		300 (36.36)	1014 (60.47)		1530 (59.77)	908 (54.70)	
Unknown	87	34		5	22		80	68	
Grade									
Low	341 (14.33)	175 (15.60)	0.323	106 (13.40)	206 (12.28)	0.436	221 (9.21)	353 (21.21)	< 0.001
High	2039 (85.67)	947 (84.40)		685 (86.60)	1471 (87.72)		2179 (90.79)	1311 (78.79)	
Unknown	172	31		39	22		240	64	
Debulking Status									
Optimal	1450 (89.95)	618 (91.56)	0.234	426 (97.04)	753 (91.49)	< 0.001	1152 (86.88)	798 (90.68)	0.006
Suboptimal	162 (10.05)	57 (8.44)		13 (2.96)	70 (8.51)		174 (13.12)	82 (9.32)	
Unknown	940	478		391	876		1314	848	
Chemotherapy or other systemic treatment as part of primary treatment									
No	102 (11.40)	60 (14.39)	0.125	34 (21.25)	6 (1.54)	< 0.001	113 (12.31)	61 (8.85)	0.027
Yes	793 (88.60)	357 (85.61)		126 (78.75)	383 (98.46)		805 (87.69)	628 (91.15)	
Unknown	1657	736		670	1310		1722	1039	
Primary therapy outco	me								
Complete response/									
Partial response	177 (86.73)	212 (88.70)	0.443	103 (83.74)	453 (86.45)	0.436	638 (85.98)	532 (89.86)	0.032

Supplemental Table. C Characteristics of participants in survival analyses by individual hormonal receptor presence

Stable disease/									
Progressive disease	73 (13.27)	27 (11.30)		20 (16.26)	71 (13.55)		104 (14.02)	60 (10.14)	
Unknown	2002	914		707	1175		1898	1186	
Demographic									
Age, years, mean (SD)	58.53 (12.51)	58.77 (12.27)	0.5809	57.20 (11.88)	58.21 (11.60)	0.0405	59.56 (11.64)	57.13 (11.89)	< 0.00
Race									
non-white	213 (11.96)	72 (10.29)	0.239	103 (18.86)	87 (7.24)	< 0.001	190 (10.71)	92 (7.53)	0.003
white	1568 (88.04)	628 (89.71)		443 (81.14)	1114 (92.76)		1584 (89.29)	1130 (92.47)	
unknown	771	453		284	498		866	506	
BRCA1/2 mutation sta	tus			_					
wild type	779 (76.98)	318 (74.82)	0.1	333 (90.49)	765 (83.33)	0.001	945 (84.45)	600 (80.97)	0.125
pathogenic	138 (13.64)	75 (17.65)		16 (4.35)	98 (10.68)		102 (9.12)	87 (11.74)	
unclassified variant	95 (9.39)	32 (7.53)		19 (5.16)	55 (5.99)		72 (6.43)	54 (7.29)	
unknown	1540	728		462	781		1521	987	
Family history of breas	st/ovarian cance	r							
No	771 (87.02)	344 (83.50)	0.089	396 (91.88)	827 (84.82)	< 0.001	1073 (86.60)	682 (84.62)	0.208
Yes	115 (12.98)	68 (16.50)		35 (8.12)	148 (15.18)		166 (13.40)	124 (15.38)	
Unknown	1666	741		399	724		1401	922	
Hormonally-liked risk	factors								
Physical inactivity									
Active	358 (76.33)	104 (71.72)	0.261	146 (69.52)	335 (76.14)	0.072	381 (73.55)	213 (76.62)	0.343
Inactive	111 (23.67)	41 (28.28)		64 (30.48)	105 (23.86)		137 (26.45)	65 (23.38)	
Unknown	2083	1008		620	1259		2122	1450	
Obesity status at adult	hood								
No	344 (44.73)	114 (41.30)	0.325	113 (43.80)	268 (44.67)	0.814	347 (43.70)	227 (40.25)	0.204
Yes	425 (55.27)	162 (58.70)		145 (56.20)	332 (55.33)		447 (56.30)	337 (59.75)	
Unknown	1783	877		572	1099		1846	1164	
Smoking Status				•					
Never Smoker	778 (59.89)	374 (63.18)	0.372	282 (56.06)	640 (57.40)	0.11	941 (57.13)	674 (59.23)	0.024
Current Smoker	165 (12.70)	66 (11.15)		91 (18.09)	158 (14.17)		249 (15.12)	131 (11.51)	
Former Smoker	356 (27.41)	152 (25.68)		130 (25.84)	317 (28.43)		457 (27.75)	333 (29.26)	
Unknown	1253	561		327	584		993	590	
Duration of oral contra	aceptive Use, yea	irs							
0	448 (45.85)	175 (43.53)	0.3267	262 (52.09)	519 (46.93)	0.0756	668 (47.38)	410 (43.29)	0.022
<1	145 (14.84)	64 (15.92)		65 (12.92)	167 (15.10)		184 (13.05)	135 (14.26)	

1-4	157 (16.07)	54 (13.43)		67 (13.32)	156 (14.10)		227 (16.10)	138 (14.57)	
5-9	149 (15.25)	74 (18.41)		76 (15.11)	171 (15.46)		221 (15.67)	168 (17.74)	
10+	78 (7.98)	35 (8.71)		33 (6.56)	93 (8.41)		110 (7.80)	96 (10.14)	
Unknown	1575	751		327	593		1230	781	
Number of full-term p	oregnancies								
Never	229 (19.75)	116 (18.50)	0.0461	99 (19.49)	181 (16.15)	0.1114	306 (18.18)	231 (20.23)	0.088
1	224 (14.80)	77 (12.28)		79 (15.55)	154 (13.74)		233 (13.84)	154 (13.49)	
2	378 (24.97)	148 (23.60)		117 (23.03)	280 (24.98)		410 (24.36)	281 (24.61)	
3	298 (19.68)	138 (22.01)		102 (20.08)	254 (22.66)		334 (19.85)	245 (21.45)	
4+	315 (20.81)	148 (23.60)		111 (21.85)	252 (22.48)		400 (23.77)	231 (20.23)	
Unknown	1038	526		322	578		957	586	
Duration of breastfee	ding, months								
0	316 (55.15)	121 (53.78)	0.5094	194 (48.14)	355 (46.04)	0.2353	414 (46.10)	244 (45.10)	0.651
<=6	113 (19.72)	43 (19.11)		106 (26.30)	179 (23.22)		228 (25.39)	137 (25.32)	
>6, <=12	69 (12.04)	22 (9.78)		43 (10.67)	108 (14.01)		115 (12.81)	71 (13.12)	
>12	75 (13.09)	39 (17.33)		60 (14.89)	129 (16.73)		141 (15.70)	89 (16.45)	
Unknown	1979	928		427	928		1742	1187	
Menopausal status at	diagnosis								
Pri	378 (25.73)	172 (28.15)	0.255	147 (29.40)	298 (27.14)	0.35	365 (22.34)	369 (33.15)	< 0.001
Post	1091 (74.27)	439 (71.85)		353 (70.60)	800 (72.86)		1269 (77.66)	744 (66.85)	
Unknown	1083	542		330	601		1006	615	
Hormonal treatment	use								
No	649 (66.36)	266 (65.20)	0.677	309 (65.05)	642 (63.00)	0.443	852 (63.30)	610 (68.23)	0.016
Yes	329 (33.64)	142 (34.80)		166 (34.95)	377 (37.00)		494 (36.70)	284 (31.77)	
Unknown	1574	745		355	680		1294	834	

AR, androgen receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor. 1 P values were calculated using Fisher exact test, except for the ordinal variables number of pregnancies and oral contraceptive use where the Mann-Whitney test was used.

Appendix C Supplemental Figures and Tables for Paper II

Site	Androgen Receptor	Estrogen Receptor	Progesterone Receptor	Toll-like receptor 4. TLR4	Myeloid differentiation primary response 88, MyD88	Folate receptor alpha, FOLR1	Phosphatase and tensin homolog, PTEN	Cluster of differentiation 8. CD8	p16
AOC	345/588	380/588	379/588	504/588	495/588	498/588	495/588	502/588	286/588
AOV	0/462	462/462	3/462	4/462	1/462	240/462	1/462	1/462	6/462
BAV	0/233	233/233	233/233	25/233	7/233	10/233	9/233	25/233	12/233
BRZ	0/114	114/114	114/114	24/114	21/114	114/114	6/114	20/114	8/114
CAL	0/107	107/107	107/107	7/107	4/107	36/107	1/107	7/107	2/107
CNI	0/138	138/138	138/138	27/138	18/138	138/138	21/138	24/138	18/138
GER	0/89	89/89	7/89	11/89	12/89	89/89	2/89	12/89	5/89
HAW	0/126	8/126	8/126	6/126	4/126	126/126	2/126	5/126	4/126
HOP	0/38	3/38	0/38	2/38	2/38	3/38	1/38	2/38	0/38
LAX	0/271	271/271	271/271	64/271	81/271	271/271	27/271	26/271	25/271
MAL	450/516	390/516	380/516	460/516	458/516	266/516	450/516	462/516	452/516
MAY	328/1179	704/1179	106/1179	887/1179	879/1179	713/1179	617/1179	440/1179	504/1179
NOT	0/517	321/517	320/517	326/517	91/517	341/517	144/517	121/517	84/517
POC	0/130	130/130	2/130	7/130	5/130	130/130	1/130	14/130	4/130
SEA	566/566	281/566	275/566	198/566	92/566	162/566	71/566	124/566	66/566
SOC	0/65	65/65	65/65	28/65	13/65	65/65	65/65	19/65	65/65
STA	0/305	6/305	7/305	24/305	3/305	305/305	3/305	22/305	305/305
TUE	0/208	208/208	208/208	13/208	14/208	208/208	8/208	12/208	14/208
TVA	150/150	150/150	2/150	150/150	6/150	150/150	1/150	16/150	5/150
UKO	0/107	8/107	13/107	13/107	12/107	5/107	4/107	6/107	6/107
VAN	0/1077	323/1077	382/1077	129/1077	94/1077	403/1077	122/1077	97/1077	277/1077
WMH	50/261	261/261	40/261	72/261	75/261	261/261	261/261	30/261	9/261

Supplemental Table I Missing value pattern for each immunohistochemistry biomarker by site¹

1 Presented as number of missing values / total number of cases in the site.

	random survival forest	boosting in Cox regression	support vector machine for survival	deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values	deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model	Cox proportional hazards model
Abbreviation in the paper	RSF	boostCox	SVMsur	DNNSurv	deepsurv	Cox
R package	randomForestSRC	mboost	survivalsvm	Survivalmodels	Survivalmodels	Survival
Assumption	No	Proportional hazards	No	No	No	Proportional hazards
Output	Death indicators and survival time	Log hazard ratio	Risk ranks	Survival probability or risk ranks	Survival probability or risk ranks	Log hazard ratio
Function for estimation / Cost function	The log-rank test and the log-rank score test	The model- based boosting methods using the partial likelihood	The ranking approach and regression approach based on the support vector regression	Sum of square errors	The partial likelihood	The partial likelihood
Censored data	Inverse probability of censoring weights	The partial likelihood	Penalization on survival predictions lower than the censoring time	Pseudo-value method	The partial likelihood	The partial likelihood

Supplemental Table II Comparisons of machine learning techniques with Cox proportional hazards mode¹

Model	Uno's C-index in %								
	at 1st year	at 3rd year	at 5th year	at 10th year	at 15th year				
RSF	72.26	70.57	71.09	70.85	71.02				
boostCox	74.47	71.57	71.76	71.20	71.95				
SVMsur	64.28	60.12	61.08	62.13	62.93				
DNNSurv	65.37	60.47	58.88	59.54	60.96				
deepsurv	67.61	61.21	60.39	60.8	62.19				
Cox (basic) ¹	71.57	68.31	68.71	68.94	70.29				
Cox ²	73.89	71	71.02	70.57	70.77				

Supplemental Table III Summary of model performances at different time points in terms of Uno's C-index

boostCox, boosting in Cox regression; Cox, Cox proportional hazards model; deepsurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis based on the partial likelihood from a Cox proportional hazards model; DNNSurv, deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values; RSF, random survival forest; SVMsur, support vector machine for survival.

1 Model included age, stage and histotypes.

2 Model included age, race, stage, histotypes, behavior, grade, debulking status, VRCA1/2 mutation status and nine biomarkers

Bibliography

- 1. American Cancer Society. Key Statistics for Ovarian Cancer. <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/ovarian-cancer/about/key-statistics.html</u>. Published 2021. Accessed.
- 2. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2017, National Cancer Institute. <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2017/</u>. Published April 2020. Accessed.
- 3. U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. U.S. Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on 2019 submission data (1999-2017): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute. <u>www.cdc.gov/cancer/dataviz</u>. Published June 2020. Accessed Aug 19, 2020.
- 4. Shannon M Grabosch, Robert P Edwards, C William Helm. Ovarian Cancer Staging. <u>https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/2007140-overview#showall</u>. Published Sep 03, 2019. Accessed Aug 19, 2020.
- 5. American Cancer Society. Ovarian Cancer Stages. <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/ovarian-cancer/detection-diagnosis-</u> <u>staging/staging.html#written_by</u>. Published April 11, 2018. Accessed Aug 19, 2020.
- 6. National cancer institute. Cancer Staging. <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-</u> <u>cancer/diagnosis-staging/staging</u>. Published March 9, 2015. Accessed Aug 19, 2020.
- American Cancer Society. What Is Ovarian Cancer? <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/ovarian-cancer/about/what-is-ovarian-cancer.html</u>. Published April 11, 2018. Accessed Aug 19, 2020.
- 8. National Cancer Institute. Tumor Grade. <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/diagnosis-staging/prognosis/tumor-grade-fact-sheet</u>. Published May 3, 2013. Accessed Aug 11, 2021.
- 9. Furuya M. Ovarian cancer stroma: pathophysiology and the roles in cancer development. *Cancers (Basel).* 2012;4(3):701-724.
- Rojas V, Hirshfield KM, Ganesan S, Rodriguez-Rodriguez L. Molecular Characterization of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: Implications for Diagnosis and Treatment. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2016;17(12).
- 11. Kurman RJ, Shih Ie M. The Dualistic Model of Ovarian Carcinogenesis: Revisited, Revised, and Expanded. *Am J Pathol.* 2016;186(4):733-747.

- 12. Peres LC, Cushing-Haugen KL, Köbel M, et al. Invasive Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Survival by Histotype and Disease Stage. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2019;111(1):60-68.
- 13. Million Women Study Collaborative G. The Million Women Study: design and characteristics of the study population. The Million Women Study Collaborative Group. *Breast Cancer Res.* 1999;1(1):73-80.
- 14. Green J, Reeves GK, Floud S, et al. Cohort Profile: the Million Women Study. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2019;48(1):28-29e.
- 15. Dixon-Suen SC, Nagle CM, Thrift AP, et al. Adult height is associated with increased risk of ovarian cancer: a Mendelian randomisation study. *Br J Cancer*. 2018;118(8):1123-1129.
- 16. Wentzensen N, Poole EM, Trabert B, et al. Ovarian Cancer Risk Factors by Histologic Subtype: An Analysis From the Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium. *J Clin Oncol.* 2016;34(24):2888-2898.
- 17. Yang HP, Trabert B, Murphy MA, et al. Ovarian cancer risk factors by histologic subtypes in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. *Int J Cancer*. 2012;131(4):938-948.
- 18. Gates MA, Rosner BA, Hecht JL, Tworoger SS. Risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer by histologic subtype. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2010;171(1):45-53.
- 19. Olsen CM, Nagle CM, Whiteman DC, et al. Obesity and risk of ovarian cancer subtypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. 2013;20(2):251-262.
- 20. Harris HR, Babic A, Webb PM, et al. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Oligomenorrhea, and Risk of Ovarian Cancer Histotypes: Evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2018;27(2):174-182.
- 21. Babic A, Harris HR, Vitonis AF, et al. Menstrual pain and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: Results from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *International Journal of Cancer*. 2018;142(3):460-469.
- 22. Lee AW, Rosenzweig S, Wiensch A, et al. Expanding Our Understanding of Ovarian Cancer Risk: The Role of Incomplete Pregnancies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2021;113(3):301-308.
- 23. Modugno F, Fu Z, Jordan SJ, et al. Offspring sex and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a multinational pooled analysis of 12 case-control studies. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2020;35(11):1025-1042.
- 24. Babic A, Sasamoto N, Rosner BA, et al. Association Between Breastfeeding and Ovarian Cancer Risk. *JAMA Oncol.* 2020;6(6):e200421.

- 25. Trabert B, Tworoger SS, O'Brien KM, et al. The Risk of Ovarian Cancer Increases with an Increase in the Lifetime Number of Ovulatory Cycles: An Analysis from the Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium (OC3). *Cancer Res.* 2020;80(5):1210-1218.
- 26. Lee AW, Ness RB, Roman LD, et al. Association Between Menopausal Estrogen-Only Therapy and Ovarian Carcinoma Risk. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2016;127(5):828-836.
- 27. Lee AW, Wu AH, Wiensch A, et al. Estrogen Plus Progestin Hormone Therapy and Ovarian Cancer: A Complicated Relationship Explored. *Epidemiology*. 2020;31(3):402-408.
- 28. Sieh W, Salvador S, McGuire V, et al. Tubal ligation and risk of ovarian cancer subtypes: a pooled analysis of case-control studies. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2013;42(2):579-589.
- 29. Terry KL, Karageorgi S, Shvetsov YB, et al. Genital powder use and risk of ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of 8,525 cases and 9,859 controls. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*. 2013;6(8):811-821.
- 30. Rasmussen CB, Kjaer SK, Albieri V, et al. Pelvic Inflammatory Disease and the Risk of Ovarian Cancer and Borderline Ovarian Tumors: A Pooled Analysis of 13 Case-Control Studies. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2017;185(1):8-20.
- 31. Pearce CL, Templeman C, Rossing MA, et al. Association between endometriosis and risk of histological subtypes of ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of case-control studies. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(4):385-394.
- 32. Cannioto R, LaMonte MJ, Risch HA, et al. Chronic Recreational Physical Inactivity and Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Risk: Evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2016;25(7):1114-1124.
- 33. Kelemen LE, Bandera EV, Terry KL, et al. Recent alcohol consumption and risk of incident ovarian carcinoma: a pooled analysis of 5,342 cases and 10,358 controls from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *BMC Cancer*. 2013;13:28.
- 34. Faber MT, Kjaer SK, Dehlendorff C, et al. Cigarette smoking and risk of ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of 21 case-control studies. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2013;24(5):989-1004.
- 35. Pischon T, Nimptsch K. Obesity and Risk of Cancer: An Introductory Overview. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* 2016;208:1-15.
- 36. Avgerinos KI, Spyrou N, Mantzoros CS, Dalamaga M. Obesity and cancer risk: Emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism.* 2019;92:121-135.
- 37. Olsen CM, Green AC, Whiteman DC, Sadeghi S, Kolahdooz F, Webb PM. Obesity and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer*. 2007;43(4):690-709.

- 38. Liu Z, Zhang TT, Zhao JJ, et al. The association between overweight, obesity and ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*. 2015;45(12):1107-1115.
- 39. Foong KW, Bolton H. Obesity and ovarian cancer risk: A systematic review. *Post Reprod Health.* 2017;23(4):183-198.
- 40. Dixon SC, Nagle CM, Thrift AP, et al. Adult body mass index and risk of ovarian cancer by subtype: a Mendelian randomization study. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2016;45(3):884-895.
- 41. Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian C. Ovarian cancer and body size: individual participant meta-analysis including 25,157 women with ovarian cancer from 47 epidemiological studies. *PLoS Med.* 2012;9(4):e1001200.
- 42. Schouten LJ, Rivera C, Hunter DJ, et al. Height, body mass index, and ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of 12 cohort studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17(4):902-912.
- 43. Green J, Cairns BJ, Casabonne D, et al. Height and cancer incidence in the Million Women Study: prospective cohort, and meta-analysis of prospective studies of height and total cancer risk. *Lancet Oncol.* 2011;12(8):785-794.
- 44. Gong TT, Wu QJ, Vogtmann E, Lin B, Wang YL. Age at menarche and risk of ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2013;132(12):2894-2900.
- 45. Yang H, Dai H, Li L, et al. Age at menarche and epithelial ovarian cancer risk: A metaanalysis and Mendelian randomization study. *Cancer Med.* 2019;8(8):4012-4022.
- 46. Kurian AW, Balise RR, McGuire V, Whittemore AS. Histologic types of epithelial ovarian cancer: have they different risk factors? *Gynecol Oncol.* 2005;96(2):520-530.
- 47. Schildkraut JM, Cooper GS, Halabi S, Calingaert B, Hartge P, Whittemore AS. Age at natural menopause and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2001;98(1):85-90.
- 48. Tavani A, Negri E, Franceschi S, Parazzini F, La Vecchia C. Risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer in women under age 45. *Eur J Cancer*. 1993;29a(9):1297-1301.
- 49. Parazzini F, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Gentile A. Menstrual factors and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 1989;42(5):443-448.
- 50. Tung KH, Goodman MT, Wu AH, et al. Reproductive factors and epithelial ovarian cancer risk by histologic type: a multiethnic case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2003;158(7):629-638.
- 51. Cirillo PM, Wang ET, Cedars MI, Chen LM, Cohn BA. Irregular menses predicts ovarian cancer: Prospective evidence from the Child Health and Development Studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2016;139(5):1009-1017.

- 52. Titus-Ernstoff L, Perez K, Cramer DW, Harlow BL, Baron JA, Greenberg ER. Menstrual and reproductive factors in relation to ovarian cancer risk. *Br J Cancer*. 2001;84(5):714-721.
- 53. Harris HR, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Long and irregular menstrual cycles, polycystic ovary syndrome, and ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. *Int J Cancer*. 2017;140(2):285-291.
- 54. Babic A, Cramer DW, Titus LJ, Tworoger SS, Terry KL. Menstrual pain and epithelial ovarian cancer risk. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2014;25(12):1725-1731.
- 55. Merritt MA, Green AC, Nagle CM, Webb PM. Talcum powder, chronic pelvic inflammation and NSAIDs in relation to risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2008;122(1):170-176.
- 56. Sung HK, Ma SH, Choi JY, et al. The Effect of Breastfeeding Duration and Parity on the Risk of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Prev Med Public Health*. 2016;49(6):349-366.
- 57. Gaitskell K, Green J, Pirie K, et al. Histological subtypes of ovarian cancer associated with parity and breastfeeding in the prospective Million Women Study. *Int J Cancer*. 2018;142(2):281-289.
- 58. Modugno F, Ness RB, Wheeler JE. Reproductive risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer according to histologic type and invasiveness. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2001;11(8):568-574.
- 59. Risch HA, Marrett LD, Jain M, Howe GR. Differences in risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer by histologic type. Results of a case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1996;144(4):363-372.
- 60. Soegaard M, Jensen A, Høgdall E, et al. Different risk factor profiles for mucinous and nonmucinous ovarian cancer: results from the Danish MALOVA study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(6):1160-1166.
- 61. Braem MG, Onland-Moret NC, Schouten LJ, et al. Multiple miscarriages are associated with the risk of ovarian cancer: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(5):e37141.
- 62. Wu AH, Pearce CL, Lee AW, et al. Timing of births and oral contraceptive use influences ovarian cancer risk. *Int J Cancer*. 2017;141(12):2392-2399.
- 63. Adami HO, Lambe M, Persson I, et al. Parity, age at first childbirth, and risk of ovarian cancer. *The Lancet*. 1994;344(8932):1250-1254.
- 64. Sköld C, Bjørge T, Ekbom A, et al. Preterm delivery is associated with an increased risk of epithelial ovarian cancer among parous women. *Int J Cancer*. 2018;143(8):1858-1867.

- 65. Cooper GS, Schildkraut JM, Whittemore AS, Marchbanks PA. Pregnancy recency and risk of ovarian cancer. *Cancer Causes Control*. 1999;10(5):397-402.
- 66. Whiteman DC, Siskind V, Purdie DM, Green AC. Timing of Pregnancy and the Risk of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Camp; amp; Prevention*. 2003;12(1):42.
- 67. Salazar-Martinez E, Lazcano-Ponce EC, Gonzalez Lira-Lira G, Escudero-De los Rios P, Salmeron-Castro J, Hernandez-Avila M. Reproductive factors of ovarian and endometrial cancer risk in a high fertility population in Mexico. *Cancer Res.* 1999;59(15):3658-3662.
- 68. Yang CY, Kuo HW, Chiu HF. Age at first birth, parity, and risk of death from ovarian cancer in Taiwan: a country of low incidence of ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2007;17(1):32-36.
- 69. Wu Y, Sun W, Xin X, Wang W, Zhang D. Age at last birth and risk of developing epithelial ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Biosci Rep.* 2019;39(9).
- 70. Chiaffarino F, Parazzini F, Negri E, et al. Time since last birth and the risk of ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2001;81(2):233-236.
- 71. Fu Z, Moysich K, Ness RB, Modugno F. Gender of offspring and risk of ovarian cancer: The HOPE study. *Cancer Epidemiology*. 2020;64:101646.
- 72. Gierach GL, Modugno F, Ness RB. Gender of offspring and maternal ovarian cancer risk. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2006;101(3):476-480.
- 73. Jordan SJ, Green AC, Nagle CM, et al. Beyond parity: association of ovarian cancer with length of gestation and offspring characteristics. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2009;170(5):607-614.
- 74. Albrektsen G, Heuch I, Thoresen S, Kvale G. Twin births, sex of children and maternal risk of ovarian cancer: a cohort study in Norway. *Br J Cancer*. 2007;96(9):1433-1435.
- 75. Baik I, Lambe M, Liu Q, et al. Gender of offspring and maternal risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(11):2314-2320.
- 76. Pearce CL, Stram DO, Ness RB, et al. Population Distribution of Lifetime Risk of Ovarian Cancer in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Camp; amp; Prevention.* 2015;24(4):671.
- 77. Schrijver LH, Antoniou AC, Olsson H, et al. Oral contraceptive use and ovarian cancer risk for BRCA1/2 mutation carriers: an international cohort study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2021;225(1):51.e51-51.e17.
- 78. Iodice S, Barile M, Rotmensz N, et al. Oral contraceptive use and breast or ovarian cancer risk in BRCA1/2 carriers: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer*. 2010;46(12):2275-2284.

- 79. Casagrande JT, Louie EW, Pike MC, Roy S, Ross RK, Henderson BE. "Incessant ovulation" and ovarian cancer. *Lancet*. 1979;2(8135):170-173.
- 80. Hildreth NG, Kelsey JL, LiVolsi VA, et al. An epidemiologic study of epithelial carcinoma of the ovary. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1981;114(3):398-405.
- 81. La Vecchia C, Franceschi S, Gallus G, Decarli A, Liberati A, Tognoni G. Incessant ovulation and ovarian cancer: a critical approach. *Int J Epidemiol.* 1983;12(2):161-164.
- 82. Risch HA, Weiss NS, Lyon JL, Daling JR, Liff JM. Events of reproductive life and the incidence of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1983;117(2):128-139.
- 83. Wu ML, Whittemore AS, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., et al. Personal and environmental characteristics related to epithelial ovarian cancer. I. Reproductive and menstrual events and oral contraceptive use. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1988;128(6):1216-1227.
- 84. Shu XO, Brinton LA, Gao YT, Yuan JM. Population-based case-control study of ovarian cancer in Shanghai. *Cancer Res.* 1989;49(13):3670-3674.
- 85. Whittemore AS, Wu ML, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., et al. Epithelial ovarian cancer and the ability to conceive. *Cancer Res.* 1989;49(14):4047-4052.
- 86. Chen Y, Wu PC, Lang JH, Ge WJ, Hartge P, Brinton LA. Risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer in Beijing, China. *Int J Epidemiol*. 1992;21(1):23-29.
- John EM, Whittemore AS, Harris R, Itnyre J. Characteristics relating to ovarian cancer risk: collaborative analysis of seven U.S. case-control studies. Epithelial ovarian cancer in black women. Collaborative Ovarian Cancer Group. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1993;85(2):142-147.
- 88. Whittemore AS, Harris R, Itnyre J. Characteristics relating to ovarian cancer risk: collaborative analysis of 12 US case-control studies. IV. The pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer. Collaborative Ovarian Cancer Group. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1992;136(10):1212-1220.
- 89. Whittemore AS. Personal characteristics relating to risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer in older women in the United States. *Cancer*. 1993;71(2 Suppl):558-565.
- 90. Bernal A, Méndez-Moran L, Fajardo-Gutiérrez A, González-Lira G, Escudero P, Ortiz H. Univariate and multivariate analysis of risk factors for ovarian cancer: case-control study, Mexico City. *Arch Med Res.* 1995;26(3):245-249.
- 91. Schildkraut JM, Bastos E, Berchuck A. Relationship between lifetime ovulatory cycles and overexpression of mutant p53 in epithelial ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1997;89(13):932-938.

- 92. Webb PM, Green A, Cummings MC, Purdie DM, Walsh MD, Chenevix-Trench G. Relationship between number of ovulatory cycles and accumulation of mutant p53 in epithelial ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1998;90(22):1729-1734.
- 93. Moorman PG, Schildkraut JM, Calingaert B, Halabi S, Vine MF, Berchuck A. Ovulation and ovarian cancer: a comparison of two methods for calculating lifetime ovulatory cycles (United States). *Cancer Causes Control.* 2002;13(9):807-811.
- 94. Purdie DM, Bain CJ, Siskind V, Webb PM, Green AC. Ovulation and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2003;104(2):228-232.
- 95. Odukogbe AA, Adebamowo CA, Adeniji AO, et al. Total ovulating period: any contribution to ovarian carcinogenesis? *Afr J Med Med Sci.* 2005;34(3):307-309.
- 96. Rosner BA, Colditz GA, Webb PM, Hankinson SE. Mathematical models of ovarian cancer incidence. *Epidemiology*. 2005;16(4):508-515.
- 97. Tung KH, Wilkens LR, Wu AH, et al. Effect of anovulation factors on pre- and postmenopausal ovarian cancer risk: revisiting the incessant ovulation hypothesis. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2005;161(4):321-329.
- 98. Pelucchi C, Galeone C, Talamini R, et al. Lifetime ovulatory cycles and ovarian cancer risk in 2 Italian case-control studies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2007;196(1):83.e81-87.
- 99. Terry KL, Titus-Ernstoff L, McKolanis JR, Welch WR, Finn OJ, Cramer DW. Incessant ovulation, mucin 1 immunity, and risk for ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(1):30-35.
- 100. Schildkraut JM, Moorman PG, Bland AE, et al. Cyclin E overexpression in epithelial ovarian cancer characterizes an etiologic subgroup. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17(3):585-593.
- 101. Le DC, Kubo T, Fujino Y, et al. Reproductive factors in relation to ovarian cancer: a case-control study in Northern Vietnam. *Contraception*. 2012;86(5):494-499.
- Kotsopoulos J, Lubinski J, Gronwald J, et al. Factors influencing ovulation and the risk of ovarian cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Int J Cancer*. 2015;137(5):1136-1146.
- 103. Yang HP, Murphy KR, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Lifetime Number of Ovulatory Cycles and Risks of Ovarian and Endometrial Cancer Among Postmenopausal Women. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2016;183(9):800-814.
- 104. Peres LC, Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, et al. Lifetime number of ovulatory cycles and epithelial ovarian cancer risk in African American women. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2017;28(5):405-414.

- 105. Liu Y, Ma L, Yang X, et al. Menopausal Hormone Replacement Therapy and the Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2019;10:801.
- 106. Shi LF, Wu Y, Li CY. Hormone therapy and risk of ovarian cancer in postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Menopause*. 2016;23(4):417-424.
- 107. Barry JA, Azizia MM, Hardiman PJ. Risk of endometrial, ovarian and breast cancer in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2014;20(5):748-758.
- 108. Schildkraut JM, Schwingl PJ, Bastos E, Evanoff A, Hughes C. Epithelial ovarian cancer risk among women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol.* 1996;88(4 Pt 1):554-559.
- 109. Olsen CM, Green AC, Nagle CM, et al. Epithelial ovarian cancer: testing the 'androgens hypothesis'. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*. 2008;15(4):1061-1068.
- Gaitskell K, Green J, Pirie K, Reeves G, Beral V. Tubal ligation and ovarian cancer risk in a large cohort: Substantial variation by histological type. *Int J Cancer*. 2016;138(5):1076-1084.
- 111. Rice MS, Murphy MA, Tworoger SS. Tubal ligation, hysterectomy and ovarian cancer: A meta-analysis. *J Ovarian Res.* 2012;5(1):13.
- 112. Cramer DW, Liberman RF, Titus-Ernstoff L, et al. Genital talc exposure and risk of ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 1999;81(3):351-356.
- 113. Wu AH, Pearce CL, Tseng CC, Templeman C, Pike MC. Markers of inflammation and risk of ovarian cancer in Los Angeles County. *Int J Cancer*. 2009;124(6):1409-1415.
- 114. Cook LS, Kamb ML, Weiss NS. Perineal powder exposure and the risk of ovarian cancer. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1997;145(5):459-465.
- 115. Gertig DM, Hunter DJ, Cramer DW, et al. Prospective study of talc use and ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2000;92(3):249-252.
- 116. Zhou Z, Zeng F, Yuan J, et al. Pelvic inflammatory disease and the risk of ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2017;28(5):415-428.
- 117. Piao J, Lee EJ, Lee M. Association between pelvic inflammatory disease and risk of ovarian cancer: An updated meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2020;157(2):542-548.
- 118. Chang CY-Y, Lin KY-H, Huang C-C, Lin W-C. Association of pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) with ovarian cancer: a nationwide population-based retrospective cohort study from Taiwan. *BMC Women's Health.* 2021;21(1):274.
- 119. Li J, Liu R, Tang S, et al. Impact of endometriosis on risk of ovarian, endometrial and cervical cancers: a meta-analysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*. 2019;299(1):35-46.

- 120. Kerber RA, Slattery ML. The impact of family history on ovarian cancer risk. The Utah Population Database. *Arch Intern Med.* 1995;155(9):905-912.
- Kazerouni N, Greene MH, Lacey Jr. JV, Mink PJ, Schairer C. Family history of breast cancer as a risk factor for ovarian cancer in a prospective study. *Cancer*. 2006;107(5):1075-1083.
- 122. Parazzini F, Negri E, La Vecchia C, Restelli C, Franceschi S. Family history of reproductive cancers and ovarian cancer risk: an Italian case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1992;135(1):35-40.
- 123. Tung KH, Goodman MT, Wu AH, et al. Aggregation of ovarian cancer with breast, ovarian, colorectal, and prostate cancer in first-degree relatives. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;159(8):750-758.
- 124. Schildkraut JM, Risch N, Thompson WD. Evaluating genetic association among ovarian, breast, and endometrial cancer: evidence for a breast/ovarian cancer relationship. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1989;45(4):521-529.
- 125. Ziogas A, Gildea M, Cohen P, et al. Cancer risk estimates for family members of a population-based family registry for breast and ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2000;9(1):103-111.
- 126. Schildkraut JM, Thompson WD. Relationship of epithelial ovarian cancer to other malignancies within families. *Genet Epidemiol.* 1988;5(5):355-367.
- 127. Hannan LM, Leitzmann MF, Lacey JV, et al. Physical Activity and Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Prospective Cohort Study in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & amp; amp; Prevention.* 2004;13(5):765.
- 128. Olsen CM, Bain CJ, Jordan SJ, et al. Recreational physical activity and epithelial ovarian cancer: a case-control study, systematic review, and meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(11):2321-2330.
- 129. Pan SY, Ugnat AM, Mao Y. Physical activity and the risk of ovarian cancer: a casecontrol study in Canada. *Int J Cancer*. 2005;117(2):300-307.
- 130. Riman T, Dickman PW, Nilsson S, Nordlinder H, Magnusson CM, Persson IR. Some life-style factors and the risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer in Swedish women. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2004;19(11):1011-1019.
- 131. Rota M, Pasquali E, Scotti L, et al. Alcohol drinking and epithelial ovarian cancer risk. a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2012;125(3):758-763.
- 132. Yan-Hong H, Jing L, Hong L, Shan-Shan H, Yan L, Ju L. Association between alcohol consumption and the risk of ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *BMC Public Health.* 2015;15(1):223.

- 133. Kim HS, Kim JW, Shouten LJ, et al. Wine drinking and epithelial ovarian cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *J Gynecol Oncol*. 2010;21(2):112-118.
- 134. Webb PM, Purdie DM, Bain CJ, Green AC. Alcohol, Wine, and Risk of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Camp; amp; Prevention*. 2004;13(4):592.
- 135. Beral V, Gaitskell K, Hermon C, Moser K, Reeves G, Peto R. Ovarian cancer and smoking: individual participant meta-analysis including 28,114 women with ovarian cancer from 51 epidemiological studies. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(9):946-956.
- 136. Zhou A, Minlikeeva AN, Khan S, Moysich KB. Association between Cigarette Smoking and Histotype-Specific Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: A Review of Epidemiologic Studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2019;28(7):1103-1116.
- 137. Berretta M, Micek A, Lafranconi A, et al. Coffee consumption is not associated with ovarian cancer risk: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Oncotarget*. 2018;9(29):20807-20815.
- 138. Salari-Moghaddam A, Milajerdi A, Surkan PJ, Larijani B, Esmaillzadeh A. Caffeine, Type of Coffee, and Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Dose–Response Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2019;104(11):5349-5359.
- 139. Steevens J, Schouten LJ, Verhage BAJ, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. Tea and coffee drinking and ovarian cancer risk: results from the Netherlands Cohort Study and a meta-analysis. *British Journal of Cancer*. 2007;97(9):1291-1294.
- 140. Park S-Y, Freedman ND, Haiman CA, Le Marchand L, Wilkens LR, Setiawan VW. Prospective Study of Coffee Consumption and Cancer Incidence in Non-White Populations. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Camp; Prevention.* 2018;27(8):928.
- 141. Crane TE, Khulpateea BR, Alberts DS, Basen-Engquist K, Thomson CA. Dietary intake and ovarian cancer risk: a systematic review. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2014;23(2):255-273.
- 142. Song X, Li Z, Ji X, Zhang D. Calcium Intake and the Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(7).
- 143. Ong JS, Cuellar-Partida G, Lu Y, et al. Association of vitamin D levels and risk of ovarian cancer: a Mendelian randomization study. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2016;45(5):1619-1630.
- 144. Qin B, Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, et al. Dairy, calcium, vitamin D and ovarian cancer risk in African–American women. *British Journal of Cancer*. 2016;115(9):1122-1130.
- 145. Terry PD, Qin B, Camacho F, et al. Supplemental Selenium May Decrease Ovarian Cancer Risk in African-American Women. *J Nutr.* 2017;147(4):621-627.
- 146. Austin PC. Statistical power to detect violation of the proportional hazards assumption when using the Cox regression model. *J Stat Comput Simul.* 2018;88(3):533-552.
- 147. O'Malley CD, Shema SJ, Cress RD, et al. The implications of age and comorbidity on survival following epithelial ovarian cancer: summary and results from a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention study. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2012;21(9):887-894.
- 148. Chang LC, Huang CF, Lai MS, Shen LJ, Wu FL, Cheng WF. Prognostic factors in epithelial ovarian cancer: A population-based study. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(3):e0194993.
- 149. Wei W, Li N, Sun Y, Li B, Xu L, Wu L. Clinical outcome and prognostic factors of patients with early-stage epithelial ovarian cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(14):23862-23870.
- 150. Chan JK, Teoh D, Hu JM, Shin JY, Osann K, Kapp DS. Do clear cell ovarian carcinomas have poorer prognosis compared to other epithelial cell types? A study of 1411 clear cell ovarian cancers. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2008;109(3):370-376.
- 151. Ezzati M, Abdullah A, Shariftabrizi A, et al. Recent Advancements in Prognostic Factors of Epithelial Ovarian Carcinoma. *International Scholarly Research Notices*. 2014;2014:953509.
- 152. Seidman JD, Yemelyanova A, Cosin JA, Smith A, Kurman RJ. Survival Rates for International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics Stage III Ovarian Carcinoma by Cell Type: A Study of 262 Unselected Patients With Uniform Pathologic Review. *International Journal of Gynecologic Cancer*. 2012;22(3):367.
- 153. Hannibal CG, Vang R, Junge J, Kjaerbye-Thygesen A, Kurman RJ, Kjaer SK. A binary histologic grading system for ovarian serous carcinoma is an independent prognostic factor: a population-based study of 4317 women diagnosed in Denmark 1978-2006. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2012;125(3):655-660.
- 154. Gockley A, Melamed A, Bregar AJ, et al. Outcomes of Women With High-Grade and Low-Grade Advanced-Stage Serous Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2017;129(3):439-447.
- 155. Omura GA, Brady MF, Homesley HD, et al. Long-term follow-up and prognostic factor analysis in advanced ovarian carcinoma: the Gynecologic Oncology Group experience. *J Clin Oncol.* 1991;9(7):1138-1150.
- 156. Mackay HJ, Brady MF, Oza AM, et al. Prognostic relevance of uncommon ovarian histology in women with stage III/IV epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2010;20(6):945-952.
- 157. Dao F, Schlappe BA, Tseng J, et al. Characteristics of 10-year survivors of high-grade serous ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2016;141(2):260-263.
- 158. Allen DG, Heintz AP, Touw FW. A meta-analysis of residual disease and survival in stage III and IV carcinoma of the ovary. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol.* 1995;16(5):349-356.

- 159. Chan JK, Urban R, Cheung MK, et al. Ovarian cancer in younger vs older women: a population-based analysis. *Br J Cancer*. 2006;95(10):1314-1320.
- 160. Rodriguez M, Nguyen HN, Averette HE, et al. National survey of ovarian carcinoma XII. Epithelial ovarian malignancies in women less than or equal to 25 years of age. *Cancer*. 1994;73(4):1245-1250.
- 161. Massi D, Susini T, Savino L, Boddi V, Amunni G, Colafranceschi M. Epithelial ovarian tumors in the reproductive age group: age is not an independent prognostic factor. *Cancer.* 1996;77(6):1131-1136.
- 162. Duska LR, Chang YC, Flynn CE, et al. Epithelial ovarian carcinoma in the reproductive age group. *Cancer*. 1999;85(12):2623-2629.
- 163. Cristea M, Han E, Salmon L, Morgan RJ. Practical considerations in ovarian cancer chemotherapy. *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* 2010;2(3):175-187.
- 164. Inciura A, Simavicius A, Juozaityte E, et al. Comparison of adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy in the management of advanced ovarian cancer: a retrospective study of 574 patients. *BMC Cancer*. 2006;6:153.
- 165. Lawrie TA, Winter-Roach BA, Heus P, Kitchener HC. Adjuvant (post-surgery) chemotherapy for early stage epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;2015(12):Cd004706.
- 166. Bogani G, Ditto A, Lopez S, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy vs. observation in stage I clear cell ovarian carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2020;157(1):293-298.
- 167. Vergote I, Tropé CG, Amant F, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy or primary surgery in stage IIIC or IV ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2010;363(10):943-953.
- 168. Wright AA, Bohlke K, Armstrong DK, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy for newly diagnosed, advanced ovarian cancer: Society of Gynecologic Oncology and American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2016;143(1):3-15.
- 169. Böhm S, Faruqi A, Said I, et al. Chemotherapy Response Score: Development and Validation of a System to Quantify Histopathologic Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Tubo-Ovarian High-Grade Serous Carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2015;33(22):2457-2463.
- 170. Cohen PA, Powell A, Böhm S, et al. Pathological chemotherapy response score is prognostic in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 2019;154(2):441-448.
- 171. Lee YJ, Kim H-S, Rim JH, et al. Germline BRCA, chemotherapy response scores, and survival in the neoadjuvant treatment of ovarian cancer. *BMC Cancer*. 2020;20(1):185.

- 172. Matulonis UA, Sood AK, Fallowfield L, Howitt BE, Sehouli J, Karlan BY. Ovarian cancer. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 2016;2:16061.
- 173. Aluloski I, Tanturovski M, Jovanovic R, et al. Survival of Advanced Stage High-Grade Serous Ovarian Cancer Patients in the Republic of Macedonia. *Open Access Maced J Med Sci.* 2017;5(7):904-908.
- 174. Chetrit A, Hirsh-Yechezkel G, Ben-David Y, Lubin F, Friedman E, Sadetzki S. Effect of BRCA1/2 Mutations on Long-Term Survival of Patients With Invasive Ovarian Cancer: The National Israeli Study of Ovarian Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2008;26(1):20-25.
- 175. Rubin SC, Benjamin I, Behbakht K, et al. Clinical and Pathological Features of Ovarian Cancer in Women with Germ-Line Mutations of BRCA1. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1996;335(19):1413-1416.
- 176. Xu K, Yang S, Zhao Y. Prognostic significance of BRCA mutations in ovarian cancer: an updated systematic review with meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(1):285-302.
- 177. Sun C, Li N, Ding D, et al. The role of BRCA status on the prognosis of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review of the literature with a meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(5):e95285.
- 178. Huang YW. Association of BRCA1/2 mutations with ovarian cancer prognosis: An updated meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2018;97(2):e9380.
- 179. Wong KK, Izaguirre DI, Kwan SY, et al. Poor survival with wild-type TP53 ovarian cancer? *Gynecol Oncol.* 2013;130(3):565-569.
- 180. Nadkarni NJ, Geest KD, Neff T, et al. Microvessel density and p53 mutations in advanced-stage epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 2013;331(1):99-104.
- Havrilesky L, Darcy k M, Hamdan H, et al. Prognostic significance of p53 mutation and p53 overexpression in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. *J Clin Oncol.* 2003;21(20):3814-3825.
- Kim YM, Lee SW, Chun SM, et al. Analysis and comparison of somatic mutations in paired primary and recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer samples. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(6):e99451.
- 183. Mandilaras V, Garg S, Cabanero M, et al. TP53 mutations in high grade serous ovarian cancer and impact on clinical outcomes: a comparison of next generation sequencing and bioinformatics analyses. *International Journal of Gynecologic Cancer*. 2019;29(2):346.
- 184. Tuna M, Ju Z, Yoshihara K, Amos CI, Tanyi JL, Mills GB. Clinical relevance of TP53 hotspot mutations in high-grade serous ovarian cancers. *British Journal of Cancer*. 2020;122(3):405-412.

- 185. Gupta D, Lis CG. Role of CA125 in predicting ovarian cancer survival a review of the epidemiological literature. *J Ovarian Res.* 2009;2:13.
- 186. Salminen L, Nadeem N, Jain S, et al. A longitudinal analysis of CA125 glycoforms in the monitoring and follow up of high grade serous ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2020;156(3):689-694.
- Sevelda P, Schemper M, Spona J. CA 125 as an independent prognostic factor for survival in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1989;161(5):1213-1216.
- 188. Akeson M, Jakobsen AM, Zetterqvist BM, Holmberg E, Brännström M, Horvath G. A population-based 5-year cohort study including all cases of epithelial ovarian cancer in western Sweden: 10-year survival and prognostic factors. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2009;19(1):116-123.
- 189. Gronlund B, Dehn H, Høgdall CK, et al. Cancer-associated serum antigen level: a novel prognostic indicator for survival in patients with recurrent ovarian carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2005;15(5):836-843.
- 190. Markman M, Federico M, Liu PY, Hannigan E, Alberts D. Significance of early changes in the serum CA-125 antigen level on overall survival in advanced ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2006;103(1):195-198.
- 191. Ron IG, Inbar M, Gelernter I, et al. Use of CA-125 response to predict survival parameters of patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 1994;73(8):658-662.
- 192. Kim HS, Park NH, Chung HH, Kim JW, Song YS, Kang SB. Serum CA-125 level after 6 cycles of primary adjuvant chemotherapy is a useful prognostic factor for complete responders' survival in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Onkologie*. 2008;31(6):315-320.
- 193. Juretzka MM, Barakat RR, Chi DS, et al. CA125 level as a predictor of progression-free survival and overall survival in ovarian cancer patients with surgically defined disease status prior to the initiation of intraperitoneal consolidation therapy. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2007;104(1):176-180.
- 194. Buller RE, Vasilev S, DiSaia PJ. CA 125 kinetics: a cost-effective clinical tool to evaluate clinical trial outcomes in the 1990s. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1996;174(4):1241-1253; discussion 1253-1244.
- 195. Geisler JP, Miller GA, Lee TH, Harwood RM, Wiemann MC, Geisler HE. Relationship of preoperative serum CA-125 to survival in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *J Reprod Med*. 1996;41(3):140-142.

- 196. Riedinger JM, Wafflart J, Ricolleau G, et al. CA 125 half-life and CA 125 nadir during induction chemotherapy are independent predictors of epithelial ovarian cancer outcome: results of a French multicentric study. *Ann Oncol.* 2006;17(8):1234-1238.
- 197. Gadducci A, Cosio S, Fanucchi A, Negri S, Cristofani R, Genazzani AR. The predictive and prognostic value of serum CA 125 half-life during paclitaxel/platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 2004;93(1):131-136.
- 198. Lakshmanan M, Kumar V, Chaturvedi A, et al. Role of serum HE4 as a prognostic marker in carcinoma of the ovary. *Indian J Cancer*. 2019;56(3):216-221.
- 199. Chudecka-Głaz A, Cymbaluk-Płoska A, Wężowska M, Menkiszak J. Could HE4 level measurements during first-line chemotherapy predict response to treatment among ovarian cancer patients? *PLoS One.* 2018;13(3):e0194270.
- 200. Kalapotharakos G, Asciutto C, Henic E, Casslén B, Borgfeldt C. High preoperative blood levels of HE4 predicts poor prognosis in patients with ovarian cancer. *Journal of Ovarian Research*. 2012;5(1):20.
- 201. Trudel D, Têtu B, Grégoire J, et al. Human epididymis protein 4 (HE4) and ovarian cancer prognosis. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 2012;127(3):511-515.
- 202. Yuan C, Li R, Yan S, Kong B. Prognostic value of HE4 in patients with ovarian cancer. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (CCLM)*. 2018;56(7):1026-1034.
- 203. Rong Y, Li L. Early clearance of serum HE4 and CA125 in predicting platinum sensitivity and prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Journal of Ovarian Research*. 2021;14(1):2.
- 204. Sieh W, Köbel M, Longacre TA, et al. Hormone-receptor expression and ovarian cancer survival: an Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013;14(9):853-862.
- 205. Jönsson JM, Arildsen NS, Malander S, et al. Sex Steroid Hormone Receptor Expression Affects Ovarian Cancer Survival. *Transl Oncol.* 2015;8(5):424-433.
- 206. Nodin B, Zendehrokh N, Brändstedt J, et al. Increased androgen receptor expression in serous carcinoma of the ovary is associated with an improved survival. *J Ovarian Res.* 2010;3:14.
- 207. Block MS, Vierkant RA, Rambau PF, et al. MyD88 and TLR4 Expression in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2018;93(3):307-320.
- 208. Goode EL, Block MS, Kalli KR, et al. Dose-Response Association of CD8+ Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Survival Time in High-Grade Serous Ovarian Cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* 2017;3(12):e173290.

- 209. Köbel M, Madore J, Ramus SJ, et al. Evidence for a time-dependent association between FOLR1 expression and survival from ovarian carcinoma: implications for clinical testing. An Ovarian Tumour Tissue Analysis consortium study. *Br J Cancer*. 2014;111(12):2297-2307.
- 210. Rambau PF, Vierkant RA, Intermaggio MP, et al. Association of p16 expression with prognosis varies across ovarian carcinoma histotypes: an Ovarian Tumor Tissue Analysis consortium study. *J Pathol Clin Res.* 2018;4(4):250-261.
- 211. Martins FC, Couturier D-L, Paterson A, et al. Clinical and pathological associations of PTEN expression in ovarian cancer: a multicentre study from the Ovarian Tumour Tissue Analysis Consortium. *British Journal of Cancer*. 2020;123(5):793-802.
- 212. Mizushima T, Miyamoto H. The Role of Androgen Receptor Signaling in Ovarian Cancer. *Cells*. 2019;8(2).
- Zhu H, Zhu X, Zheng L, Hu X, Sun L, Zhu X. The role of the androgen receptor in ovarian cancer carcinogenesis and its clinical implications. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(17):29395-29405.
- 214. van Kruchten M, van der Marel P, de Munck L, et al. Hormone receptors as a marker of poor survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2015;138(3):634-639.
- 215. Lindgren PR, Cajander S, Backstrom T, Gustafsson JA, Makela S, Olofsson JI. Estrogen and progesterone receptors in ovarian epithelial tumors. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*. 2004;221:97-104.
- 216. De Stefano I, Zannoni GF, Prisco MG, et al. Cytoplasmic expression of estrogen receptor beta (ERβ) predicts poor clinical outcome in advanced serous ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 2011;122(3):573-579.
- 217. Shen Z, Luo H, Li S, et al. Correlation between estrogen receptor expression and prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(37):62400-62413.
- 218. Modugno F, Laskey R, Smith AL, Andersen CL, Haluska P, Oesterreich S. Hormone response in ovarian cancer: time to reconsider as a clinical target? *Endocrine-related cancer*. 2012;19(6):R255-R279.
- 219. Lord KA, Hoffman-Liebermann B, Liebermann DA. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a cDNA encoding MyD88, a novel myeloid differentiation primary response gene induced by IL6. *Oncogene*. 1990;5(7):1095-1097.
- 220. Deguine J, Barton GM. MyD88: a central player in innate immune signaling. *F1000Prime Rep.* 2014;6:97.
- 221. Vaure C, Liu Y. A Comparative Review of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression and Functionality in Different Animal Species. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2014;5(316).

- 222. Kelemen LE. The role of folate receptor alpha in cancer development, progression and treatment: cause, consequence or innocent bystander? *Int J Cancer*. 2006;119(2):243-250.
- 223. Steinfeld R, Grapp M, Kraetzner R, et al. Folate receptor alpha defect causes cerebral folate transport deficiency: a treatable neurodegenerative disorder associated with disturbed myelin metabolism. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2009;85(3):354-363.
- 224. Chen J, He Q, Liu J, et al. CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes as a novel prognostic biomarker in lung sarcomatoid carcinoma, a rare subtype of lung cancer. *Cancer Manag Res.* 2018;10:3505-3511.
- 225. Stanton SE, Disis ML. Clinical significance of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2016;4:59.
- 226. Abreu Velez AM, Howard MS. Tumor-suppressor Genes, Cell Cycle Regulatory Checkpoints, and the Skin. *N Am J Med Sci.* 2015;7(5):176-188.
- 227. Butler MG, Dasouki MJ, Zhou XP, et al. Subset of individuals with autism spectrum disorders and extreme macrocephaly associated with germline PTEN tumour suppressor gene mutations. *J Med Genet*. 2005;42(4):318-321.
- 228. Kechagioglou P, Papi RM, Provatopoulou X, et al. Tumor suppressor PTEN in breast cancer: heterozygosity, mutations and protein expression. *Anticancer Res.* 2014;34(3):1387-1400.
- 229. Nagle CM, Dixon SC, Jensen A, et al. Obesity and survival among women with ovarian cancer: results from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Br J Cancer*. 2015;113(5):817-826.
- 230. Protani MM, Nagle CM, Webb PM. Obesity and Ovarian Cancer Survival: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Cancer Prevention Research*. 2012;5(7):901.
- 231. Yang HS, Yoon C, Myung SK, Park SM. Effect of obesity on survival of women with epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2011;21(9):1525-1532.
- 232. Robbins CL, Whiteman MK, Hillis SD, et al. Influence of reproductive factors on mortality after epithelial ovarian cancer diagnosis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2009;18(7):2035-2041.
- 233. Shafrir AL, Babic A, Tamimi RM, Rosner BA, Tworoger SS, Terry KL. Reproductive and hormonal factors in relation to survival and platinum resistance among ovarian cancer cases. *Br J Cancer*. 2016;115(11):1391-1399.
- 234. Fortner RT, Ose J, Merritt MA, et al. Reproductive and hormone-related risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer by histologic pathways, invasiveness and histologic subtypes: Results from the EPIC cohort. *International Journal of Cancer*. 2015;137(5):1196-1208.

- 235. Kjaerbye-Thygesen A, Frederiksen K, Hogdall EV, Hogdall CK, Blaakaer J, Kjaer SK. Do risk factors for epithelial ovarian cancer have an impact on prognosis? Focus on previous pelvic surgery and reproductive variables. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol.* 2006;27(5):467-472.
- 236. Huang T, Tworoger SS, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Rosner BA. Associations of early life and adulthood adiposity with risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2019;30(2):303-309.
- 237. Kim SJ, Rosen B, Fan I, et al. Epidemiologic factors that predict long-term survival following a diagnosis of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Br J Cancer*. 2017;116(7):964-971.
- 238. Poole EM, Konstantinopoulos PA, Terry KL. Prognostic implications of reproductive and lifestyle factors in ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 2016;142(3):574-587.
- 239. Zhang M, Holman CDAJ. Tubal ligation and survival of ovarian cancer patients. *Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research. 2012;38(1):40-47.
- 240. Bešević J, Gunter MJ, Fortner RT, et al. Reproductive factors and epithelial ovarian cancer survival in the EPIC cohort study. *Br J Cancer*. 2015;113(11):1622-1631.
- 241. Khalafi-Nezhad A, Ebrahimi V, Ahmadpour F, et al. Parity as a Prognostic Factor in Patients with Advanced-Stage Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer Manag Res.* 2020;12:1447-1456.
- 242. Poole EM, Merritt MA, Jordan SJ, et al. Hormonal and Reproductive Risk Factors for Epithelial Ovarian Cancer by Tumor Aggressiveness. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers* & *amp; amp; Prevention.* 2013;22(3):429.
- 243. Jatoi A, Foster NR, Kalli KR, et al. Prior oral contraceptive use in ovarian cancer patients: assessing associations with overall and progression-free survival. *BMC Cancer*. 2015;15:711.
- 244. Wernli KJ, Newcomb PA, Hampton JM, Trentham-Dietz A, Egan KM. Hormone therapy and ovarian cancer: incidence and survival. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2008;19(6):605-613.
- 245. Yang B, Wang D, Chen H, Yang F. The association between endometriosis and survival outcomes of ovarian cancer: Evidence-based on a meta-analysis. *Niger J Clin Pract.* 2015;18(5):577-583.
- 246. Kim HS, Kim TH, Chung HH, Song YS. Risk and prognosis of ovarian cancer in women with endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Br J Cancer*. 2014;110(7):1878-1890.
- 247. Hermens M, van Altena AM, van der Aa M, et al. Ovarian cancer prognosis in women with endometriosis: a retrospective nationwide cohort study of 32,419 women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2021;224(3):284.e281-284.e210.

- 248. Noli S, Cipriani S, Scarfone G, et al. Long Term Survival of Ovarian Endometriosis Associated Clear Cell and Endometrioid Ovarian Cancers. *International Journal of Gynecologic Cancer*. 2013;23(2):244.
- 249. Cannioto RA, Moysich KB. Epithelial ovarian cancer and recreational physical activity: A review of the epidemiological literature and implications for exercise prescription. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2015;137(3):559-573.
- 250. Yang L, Klint A, Lambe M, et al. Predictors of ovarian cancer survival: a populationbased prospective study in Sweden. *Int J Cancer*. 2008;123(3):672-679.
- 251. Zhou Y, Chlebowski R, LaMonte MJ, et al. Body mass index, physical activity, and mortality in women diagnosed with ovarian cancer: results from the Women's Health Initiative. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2014;133(1):4-10.
- 252. Moorman PG, Jones LW, Akushevich L, Schildkraut JM. Recreational physical activity and ovarian cancer risk and survival. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2011;21(3):178-187.
- 253. Praestegaard C, Jensen A, Jensen SM, et al. Cigarette smoking is associated with adverse survival among women with ovarian cancer: Results from a pooled analysis of 19 studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2017;140(11):2422-2435.
- 254. Ioffe YJ, Elmore RG, Karlan BY, Li AJ. Effect of cigarette smoking on epithelial ovarian cancer survival. *J Reprod Med.* 2010;55(7-8):346-350.
- 255. Nagle CM, Bain CJ, Webb PM. Cigarette smoking and survival after ovarian cancer diagnosis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2006;15(12):2557-2560.
- 256. Vessey M, Painter R, Yeates D. Mortality in relation to oral contraceptive use and cigarette smoking. *Lancet*. 2003;362(9379):185-191.
- 257. Kelemen LE, Warren GW, Koziak JM, Köbel M, Steed H. Smoking may modify the association between neoadjuvant chemotherapy and survival from ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2016;140(1):124-130.
- 258. Vang R, Shih Ie M, Kurman RJ. Fallopian tube precursors of ovarian low- and high-grade serous neoplasms. *Histopathology*. 2013;62(1):44-58.
- 259. Meyn A, Lim B. A paradigm shift in the origin of ovarian cancer: the ovary is no longer to blame. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*. 2017;124(6):859-859.
- 260. Kurman RJ, Shih Ie M. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2010;34(3):433-443.
- 261. Fathalla MF. Incessant ovulation--a factor in ovarian neoplasia? *Lancet*. 1971;2(7716):163.

- 262. Lee J-Y, Song G. The Laying Hen: An Animal Model for Human Ovarian Cancer. *Reproductive & Developmental Biology*. 2013;37(1):41-49.
- 263. Hakim AA, Barry CP, Barnes HJ, et al. Ovarian Adenocarcinomas in the Laying Hen and Women Share Similar Alterations in p53, ras, and HER-2/neu. *Cancer Prevention Research.* 2009;2(2):114.
- 264. Barua A, Bitterman P, Abramowicz JS, et al. Histopathology of ovarian tumors in laying hens: a preclinical model of human ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2009;19(4):531-539.
- Sahin K, Yenice E, Bilir B, et al. Genistein Prevents Development of Spontaneous Ovarian Cancer and Inhibits Tumor Growth in Hen Model. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*. 2019;12(3):135-146.
- 266. Fredrickson TN. Ovarian tumors of the hen. Environ Health Perspect. 1987;73:35-51.
- 267. Fathalla MF. Incessant ovulation and ovarian cancer a hypothesis re-visited. *Facts Views Vis Obgyn.* 2013;5(4):292-297.
- 268. Fleming JS, Beaugié CR, Haviv I, Chenevix-Trench G, Tan OL. Incessant ovulation, inflammation and epithelial ovarian carcinogenesis: revisiting old hypotheses. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2006;247(1-2):4-21.
- 269. Risch HA. Hormonal etiology of epithelial ovarian cancer, with a hypothesis concerning the role of androgens and progesterone. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1998;90(23):1774-1786.
- 270. Cramer DW, Welch WR. Determinants of ovarian cancer risk. II. Inferences regarding pathogenesis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1983;71(4):717-721.
- 271. Tsilidis KK, Allen NE, Key TJ, et al. Oral contraceptive use and reproductive factors and risk of ovarian cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *British Journal of Cancer*. 2011;105(9):1436-1442.
- 272. Scaglia H, Medina M, Pinto-Ferreira AL, Vázques G, Gual C, Pérez-Palacios G. Pituitary LH and FSH secretion and responsiveness in women of old age. *Acta Endocrinol* (*Copenh*). 1976;81(4):673-679.
- 273. Helzlsouer KJ, Alberg AJ, Gordon GB, et al. Serum gonadotropins and steroid hormones and the development of ovarian cancer. *Jama*. 1995;274(24):1926-1930.
- 274. Karlan BY, Jones J, Greenwald M, Lagasse LD. Steroid hormone effects on the proliferation of human ovarian surface epithelium in vitro. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1995;173(1):97-104.
- 275. Edmondson RJ, Monaghan JM, Davies BR. The human ovarian surface epithelium is an androgen responsive tissue. *Br J Cancer*. 2002;86(6):879-885.

- 276. Silva EG, Tornos C, Fritsche HA, Jr., et al. The induction of benign epithelial neoplasms of the ovaries of guinea pigs by testosterone stimulation: a potential animal model. *Mod Pathol.* 1997;10(9):879-883.
- 277. Silva EG, Tornos C, Deavers M, Kaisman K, Gray K, Gershenson D. Induction of epithelial neoplasms in the ovaries of guinea pigs by estrogenic stimulation. *Gynecol Oncol.* 1998;71(2):240-246.
- 278. Zimmerman Y, Eijkemans MJ, Coelingh Bennink HJ, Blankenstein MA, Fauser BC. The effect of combined oral contraception on testosterone levels in healthy women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2014;20(1):76-105.
- 279. Pasquali R. Obesity and androgens: facts and perspectives. *Fertil Steril*. 2006;85(5):1319-1340.
- 280. Lukanova A, Lundin E, Akhmedkhanov A, et al. Circulating levels of sex steroid hormones and risk of ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2003;104(5):636-642.
- 281. Gaspard UJ, Romus MA, Gillain D, Duvivier J, Demey-Ponsart E, Franchimont P. Plasma hormone levels in women receiving new oral contraceptives containing ethinyl estradiol plus levonorgestrel or desogestrel. *Contraception*. 1983;27(6):577-590.
- 282. Mishell DR, Jr., Thorneycroft IH, Nakamura RM, Nagata Y, Stone SC. Serum estradiol in women ingesting combination oral contraceptive steroids. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1972;114(7):923-928.
- 283. Waaseth M, Bakken K, Dumeaux V, et al. Hormone replacement therapy use and plasma levels of sex hormones in the Norwegian Women and Cancer postgenome cohort a cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Womens Health.* 2008;8:1.
- 284. Kim S-M, Kim SE, Lee D-Y, Choi D. Serum estradiol level according to dose and formulation of oral estrogens in postmenopausal women. *Scientific Reports*. 2021;11(1):3585.
- 285. Lukanova A, Kaaks R. Endogenous Hormones and Ovarian Cancer: Epidemiology and Current Hypotheses. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Cancer Science Prevention*. 2005;14(1):98-107.
- 286. Chen P, Wang DB, Liang YM. Evaluation of estrogen in endometriosis patients: Regulation of GATA-3 in endometrial cells and effects on Th2 cytokines. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* 2016;42(6):669-677.
- 287. Baron JA, La Vecchia C, Levi F. The antiestrogenic effect of cigarette smoking in women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1990;162(2):502-514.
- 288. Lambe M, Wuu J, Rossing M-A, Hsieh C-c. Twinning and maternal risk of ovarian cancer. *Lancet*. 1999;353(9168):1941-1941.

- 289. Jawan B, Lee JH, Chong ZK, Chang CS. SPREAD OF SPINAL ANAESTHESIA FOR CAESAREAN SECTION IN SINGLETON AND TWIN PREGNANCIES. *BJA: British Journal of Anaesthesia*. 1993;70(6):639-641.
- 290. Johnson MR, Abbas A, Nicolaides KH. Maternal plasma levels of human chorionic gonadotrophin, oestradiol and progesterone in multifetal pregnancies before and after fetal reduction. *J Endocrinol.* 1994;143(2):309-312.
- 291. Lacey JV, Jr., Mink PJ, Lubin JH, et al. Menopausal hormone replacement therapy and risk of ovarian cancer. *Jama*. 2002;288(3):334-341.
- 292. Riman T, Dickman PW, Nilsson S, et al. Hormone Replacement Therapy and the Risk of Invasive Epithelial Ovarian Cancer in Swedish Women. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 2002;94(7):497-504.
- 293. Al-Sabbagh M, Lam EW, Brosens JJ. Mechanisms of endometrial progesterone resistance. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*. 2012;358(2):208-215.
- 294. Ness RB, Cottreau C. Possible role of ovarian epithelial inflammation in ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1999;91(17):1459-1467.
- 295. Shan W, Liu J. Inflammation: a hidden path to breaking the spell of ovarian cancer. *Cell Cycle*. 2009;8(19):3107-3111.
- 296. Kisielewski R, Tołwińska A, Mazurek A, Laudański P. Inflammation and ovarian cancercurrent views. *Ginekol Pol.* 2013;84(4):293-297.
- 297. Huang JY, Yang SF, Wu PJ, Wang CH, Tang CH, Wang PH. Different Influences of Endometriosis and Pelvic Inflammatory Disease on the Occurrence of Ovarian Cancer. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 2021;18(16).
- 298. Lee J, Taneja V, Vassallo R. Cigarette smoking and inflammation: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Dent Res.* 2012;91(2):142-149.
- 299. Gupta M, Babic A, Beck AH, Terry K. TNF-α expression, risk factors, and inflammatory exposures in ovarian cancer: evidence for an inflammatory pathway of ovarian carcinogenesis? *Hum Pathol.* 2016;54:82-91.
- 300. Trabert B, Pinto L, Hartge P, et al. Pre-diagnostic serum levels of inflammation markers and risk of ovarian cancer in the prostate, lung, colorectal and ovarian cancer (PLCO) screening trial. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2014;135(2):297-304.
- 301. Ose J, Schock H, Tjønneland A, et al. Inflammatory Markers and Risk of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer by Tumor Subtypes: The EPIC Cohort. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & amp; amp; Prevention.* 2015;24(6):951.

- 302. Zeng F, Wei H, Yeoh E, et al. Inflammatory Markers of CRP, IL6, TNFα, and Soluble TNFR2 and the Risk of Ovarian Cancer: A Meta-analysis of Prospective Studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2016;25(8):1231-1239.
- 303. Brenner PF, Mishell DR, Jr., Stanczyk FZ, Goebelsmann U. Serum levels of d-norgestrel, luteinizing hormone, follicle-stimulating hormone, estradiol, and progesterone in women during and following ingestion of combination oral contraceptives containing dl-norgestrel. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 1977;129(2):133-140.
- 304. National Cancer Institute. Cancer Stat Facts: Ovarian Cancer. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/ovary.html. Published 2021. Accessed.
- 305. Lancaster JM, Havrilesky LJ, Berchuck A. CHAPTER 11 The Genetic Etiology of Sporadic Ovarian Cancer. In: Altchek A, Deligdisch L, Kase NG, eds. *Diagnosis and Management of Ovarian Disorders (Second Edition)*. San Diego: Academic Press; 2003:139-155.
- 306. Kim J, Park EY, Kim O, et al. Cell Origins of High-Grade Serous Ovarian Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2018;10(11).
- 307. Macciò A, Madeddu C. Inflammation and ovarian cancer. Cytokine. 2012;58(2):133-147.
- 308. Ramus SJ, Vierkant RA, Johnatty SE, et al. Consortium analysis of 7 candidate SNPs for ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2008;123(2):380-388.
- 309. Song H, Ramus SJ, Tyrer J, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies a new ovarian cancer susceptibility locus on 9p22.2. *Nat Genet*. 2009;41(9):996-1000.
- 310. Risch HA, Bale AE, Beck PA, Zheng W. PGR +331 A/G and increased risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2006;15(9):1738-1741.
- 311. Bodelon C, Cushing-Haugen KL, Wicklund KG, Doherty JA, Rossing MA. Sun exposure and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2012;23(12):1985-1994.
- 312. Royar J, Becher H, Chang-Claude J. Low-dose oral contraceptives: protective effect on ovarian cancer risk. *Int J Cancer*. 2001;95(6):370-374.
- 313. Goodman MT, Lurie G, Thompson PJ, McDuffie KE, Carney ME. Association of two common single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the CYP19A1 locus and ovarian cancer risk. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. 2008;15(4):1055-1060.
- 314. Lo-Ciganic WH, Zgibor JC, Bunker CH, Moysich KB, Edwards RP, Ness RB. Aspirin, nonaspirin nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, or acetaminophen and risk of ovarian cancer. *Epidemiology*. 2012;23(2):311-319.
- 315. Hamajima N, Matsuo K, Saito T, et al. Gene-environment Interactions and Polymorphism Studies of Cancer Risk in the Hospital-based Epidemiologic Research

Program at Aichi Cancer Center II (HERPACC-II). *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2001;2(2):99-107.

- 316. Kelemen LE, Sellers TA, Schildkraut JM, et al. Genetic variation in the one-carbon transfer pathway and ovarian cancer risk. *Cancer Res.* 2008;68(7):2498-2506.
- 317. Giles GG, English DR. The Melbourne Collaborative Cohort Study. *IARC Sci Publ.* 2002;156:69-70.
- 318. Schildkraut JM, Iversen ES, Wilson MA, et al. Association between DNA damage response and repair genes and risk of invasive serous ovarian cancer. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(4):e10061.
- 319. Terry KL, De Vivo I, Titus-Ernstoff L, Shih MC, Cramer DW. Androgen receptor cytosine, adenine, guanine repeats, and haplotypes in relation to ovarian cancer risk. *Cancer Res.* 2005;65(13):5974-5981.
- 320. Bandera EV, King M, Chandran U, Paddock LE, Rodriguez-Rodriguez L, Olson SH. Phytoestrogen consumption from foods and supplements and epithelial ovarian cancer risk: a population-based case control study. *BMC Womens Health*. 2011;11:40.
- 321. van Altena AM, van Aarle S, Kiemeney LA, Hoogerbrugge N, Massuger LF, de Hullu JA. Adequacy of family history taking in ovarian cancer patients: a population-based study. *Fam Cancer*. 2012;11(3):343-349.
- 322. Wetzels JF, Kiemeney LA, Swinkels DW, Willems HL, den Heijer M. Age- and genderspecific reference values of estimated GFR in Caucasians: the Nijmegen Biomedical Study. *Kidney Int.* 2007;72(5):632-637.
- 323. Garcia-Closas M, Brinton LA, Lissowska J, et al. Ovarian cancer risk and common variation in the sex hormone-binding globulin gene: a population-based case-control study. *BMC Cancer*. 2007;7:60.
- 324. Risch HA, Marrett LD, Howe GR. Parity, contraception, infertility, and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1994;140(7):585-597.
- 325. McGuire V, Felberg A, Mills M, et al. Relation of contraceptive and reproductive history to ovarian cancer risk in carriers and noncarriers of BRCA1 gene mutations. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2004;160(7):613-618.
- 326. Zheng W, Chow WH, Yang G, et al. The Shanghai Women's Health Study: rationale, study design, and baseline characteristics. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2005;162(11):1123-1131.
- 327. Pal T, Permuth-Wey J, Betts JA, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations account for a large proportion of ovarian carcinoma cases. *Cancer*. 2005;104(12):2807-2816.

- 328. Zhang S, Royer R, Li S, et al. Frequencies of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations among 1,342 unselected patients with invasive ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2011;121(2):353-357.
- 329. Balogun N, Gentry-Maharaj A, Wozniak EL, et al. Recruitment of newly diagnosed ovarian cancer patients proved challenging in a multicentre biobanking study. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2011;64(5):525-530.
- 330. Pike MC, Pearce CL, Peters R, Cozen W, Wan P, Wu AH. Hormonal factors and the risk of invasive ovarian cancer: a population-based case-control study. *Fertil Steril.* 2004;82(1):186-195.
- 331. Ness RB, Cramer DW, Goodman MT, et al. Infertility, fertility drugs, and ovarian cancer: a pooled analysis of case-control studies. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2002;155(3):217-224.
- 332. White E, Patterson RE, Kristal AR, et al. VITamins And Lifestyle cohort study: study design and characteristics of supplement users. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;159(1):83-93.
- 333. Kaczmarek M. On the doorstep to senility: Physical changes, health status and well-being in midlife. *Anthropological Review*. 2015;78:269-287.
- 334. Brandts L, van Poppel FWA, van den Brandt PA. Female reproductive factors and the likelihood of reaching the age of 90 years. The Netherlands Cohort Study. *Maturitas*. 2019;125:70-80.
- 335. von der Lippe E, Prütz F. Age at natural menopause: Results from the German Health Interview and Examination Survey: Elena Von Der Lippe. *European Journal of Public Health.* 2016;26.
- 336. United Kingdom National Health Service. Overview -Menopause. <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/menopause/</u>. Updated 29 August 2018. Accessed 04 March 2021.
- 337. Costanian C, McCague H, Tamim H. Age at natural menopause (ANM) and its associated factors in Canada: Cross-Sectional Analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *Menopause*. 2018;25.
- 338. Clavel J, Merceron G, Escarguel G. Missing Data Estimation in Morphometrics: How Much is Too Much? *Systematic Biology*. 2014;63(2):203-218.
- 339. McNeish D. Missing data methods for arbitrary missingness with small samples. *Journal* of Applied Statistics. 2017;44(1):24-39.
- 340. Royston P. Multiple imputation of missing values. *Stata Journal*. 2004;4(3):227-241.
- 341. Enders CK. Applied missing data analysis. Guilford press; 2010.

- 342. Huang T, Shafrir AL, Eliassen AH, Rexrode KM, Tworoger SS. Estimated Number of Lifetime Ovulatory Years and Its Determinants in Relation to Levels of Circulating Inflammatory Biomarkers. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2020;189(7):660-670.
- 343. Salvador S, Gilks B, Köbel M, Huntsman D, Rosen B, Miller D. The fallopian tube: primary site of most pelvic high-grade serous carcinomas. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2009;19(1):58-64.
- 344. Bahar-Shany K, Brand H, Sapoznik S, et al. Exposure of fallopian tube epithelium to follicular fluid mimics carcinogenic changes in precursor lesions of serous papillary carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2014;132(2):322-327.
- 345. Hsu CF, Chen PC, Seenan V, Ding DC, Chu TY. Ovulatory Follicular Fluid Facilitates the Full Transformation Process for the Development of High-Grade Serous Carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel).* 2021;13(3).
- 346. Lopes TP, Padilla L, Bolarin A, Rodriguez-Martinez H, Roca J. Ovarian Follicle Growth during Lactation Determines the Reproductive Performance of Weaned Sows. *Animals* (*Basel*). 2020;10(6).
- 347. Taya K, Greenwald GS. Mechanisms of Suppression of Ovarian Follicular Development During Lactation in the Rat. *Biology of Reproduction*. 1982;27(5):1090-1101.
- 348. Ose J, Poole EM, Schock H, et al. Androgens Are Differentially Associated with Ovarian Cancer Subtypes in the Ovarian Cancer Cohort Consortium. *Cancer Research*. 2017;77(14):3951-3960.
- 349. Trabert B, Brinton LA, Anderson GL, et al. Circulating Estrogens and Postmenopausal Ovarian Cancer Risk in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Cancer*, 2016;25(4):648-656.
- 350. Trabert B, Michels KA, Anderson GL, et al. Circulating androgens and postmenopausal ovarian cancer risk in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *Int J Cancer*. 2019;145(8):2051-2060.
- 351. Babaier A, Ghatage P. Mucinous Cancer of the Ovary: Overview and Current Status. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. 2020;10(1).
- 352. Purdie DM, Webb PM, Siskind V, Bain CJ, Green AC. The different etiologies of mucinous and nonmucinous epithelial ovarian cancers. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2003;88(1 Pt 2):S145-148.
- 353. Purdie DM, Siskind V, Bain CJ, Webb PM, Green AC. Reproduction-related Risk Factors for Mucinous and Nonmucinous Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2001;153(9):860-864.
- 354. Kumar P, Magon N. Hormones in pregnancy. Niger Med J. 2012;53(4):179-183.

- 355. Slater CC, Zhang C, Hodis HN, et al. Comparison of estrogen and androgen levels after oral estrogen replacement therapy. *J Reprod Med.* 2001;46(12):1052-1056.
- 356. Ramus SJ, Köbel M, Sieh W, et al. Abstract A27: The ovarian tumor tissue analysis (OTTA) consortium. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 2013;19(19 Supplement):A27.
- 357. Glud E, Kjaer SK, Thomsen BL, et al. Hormone therapy and the impact of estrogen intake on the risk of ovarian cancer. *Arch Intern Med.* 2004;164(20):2253-2259.
- 358. Song H, Ramus SJ, Quaye L, et al. Common variants in mismatch repair genes and risk of invasive ovarian cancer. *Carcinogenesis*. 2006;27(11):2235-2242.
- 359. Kelemen LE, Köbel M, Chan A, Taghaddos S, Dinu I. Differentially methylated loci distinguish ovarian carcinoma histological types: evaluation of a DNA methylation assay in FFPE tissue. *Biomed Res Int.* 2013;2013:815894.
- 360. Ennour-Idrissi K, Maunsell E, Diorio C. Effect of physical activity on sex hormones in women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2015;17(1):139.
- 361. Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Lin H, Gracia CR. Obesity and reproductive hormone levels in the transition to menopause. *Menopause*. 2010;17(4):718-726.
- 362. Kopelman PG. Hormones and obesity. *Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1994;8(3):549-575.
- Windham GC, Mitchell P, Anderson M, Lasley BL. Cigarette smoking and effects on hormone function in premenopausal women. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2005;113(10):1285-1290.
- 364. Fleischman DS, Navarrete CD, Fessler DMT. Oral Contraceptives Suppress Ovarian Hormone Production. *Psychological Science*. 2010;21(5):750-752.
- 365. McNeilly AS. Effects of lactation on fertility. Br Med Bull. 1979;35(2):151-154.
- 366. Vihko R, Apter D. Endocrine characteristics of adolescent menstrual cycles: impact of early menarche. *J Steroid Biochem.* 1984;20(1):231-236.
- 367. Bernstein L, Pike MC, Ross RK, Henderson BE. Age at menarche and estrogen concentrations of adult women. *Cancer Causes Control.* 1991;2(4):221-225.
- 368. Su HI, Freeman EW. Hormone changes associated with the menopausal transition. *Minerva Ginecol.* 2009;61(6):483-489.
- 369. Burger HG, Hale GE, Robertson DM, Dennerstein L. A review of hormonal changes during the menopausal transition: focus on findings from the Melbourne Women's Midlife Health Project. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2007;13(6):559-565.

- 370. Santoro N, Randolph JF, Jr. Reproductive hormones and the menopause transition. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am.* 2011;38(3):455-466.
- 371. Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, Kritz-Silverstein D, von Mühlen D. Hysterectomy, oophorectomy, and endogenous sex hormone levels in older women: the Rancho Bernardo Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2000;85(2):645-651.
- 372. Shafrir AL, Rice MS, Gupta M, et al. The association between reproductive and hormonal factors and ovarian cancer by estrogen-α and progesterone receptor status. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2016;143(3):628-635.
- 373. Hecht JL, Kotsopoulos J, Hankinson SE, Tworoger SS. Relationship between epidemiologic risk factors and hormone receptor expression in ovarian cancer: results from the Nurses' Health Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2009;18(5):1624-1630.
- 374. Høgdall EVS, Christensen L, Høgdall CK, et al. Prognostic value of estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor tumor expression in Danish ovarian cancer patients: From the 'MALOVA' Ovarian Cancer Study. *Oncol Rep.* 2007;18(5):1051-1059.
- 375. Lee P, Rosen DG, Zhu C, Silva EG, Liu J. Expression of progesterone receptor is a favorable prognostic marker in ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2005;96(3):671-677.
- 376. Yang XY, Xi MR, Yang KX, Yu H. Prognostic value of estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status in young Chinese ovarian carcinoma patients. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2009;113(1):99-104.
- 377. Luo H, Li S, Zhao M, Sheng B, Zhu H, Zhu X. Prognostic value of progesterone receptor expression in ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(22):36845-36856.
- 378. Diep CH, Daniel AR, Mauro LJ, Knutson TP, Lange CA. Progesterone action in breast, uterine, and ovarian cancers. *J Mol Endocrinol*. 2015;54(2):R31-R53.
- 379. Pedernera E, Gómora MJ, Morales-Vásquez F, Pérez-Montiel D, Mendez C. Progesterone reduces cell survival in primary cultures of endometrioid ovarian cancer. *Journal of Ovarian Research*. 2019;12(1):15.
- 380. Institute NC. Cancer Stat Facts: Ovarian Cancer. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/ovary.html. Published 2021. Accessed 07/11, 2021.
- 381. U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. U.S. Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on November 2018 submission data (1999-2016): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute; <u>www.cdc.gov/cancer/dataviz</u>, June 2019.
- 382. Chang SJ, Hodeib M, Chang J, Bristow RE. Survival impact of complete cytoreduction to no gross residual disease for advanced-stage ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2013;130(3):493-498.

- 383. Chang SJ, Bristow RE, Ryu HS. Impact of complete cytoreduction leaving no gross residual disease associated with radical cytoreductive surgical procedures on survival in advanced ovarian cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2012;19(13):4059-4067.
- 384. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. *Nature*. 2011;474(7353):609-615.
- 385. Paik ES, Lee YY, Lee EJ, et al. Survival analysis of revised 2013 FIGO staging classification of epithelial ovarian cancer and comparison with previous FIGO staging classification. *Obstet Gynecol Sci.* 2015;58(2):124-134.
- 386. Makar AP, Baekelandt M, Tropé CG, Kristensen GB. The prognostic significance of residual disease, FIGO substage, tumor histology, and grade in patients with FIGO stage III ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 1995;56(2):175-180.
- 387. Kim SI, Lee M, Kim HS, et al. Effect of BRCA mutational status on survival outcome in advanced-stage high-grade serous ovarian cancer. *J Ovarian Res.* 2019;12(1):40.
- 388. Kourou K, Exarchos TP, Exarchos KP, Karamouzis MV, Fotiadis DI. Machine learning applications in cancer prognosis and prediction. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*. 2015;13:8-17.
- 389. Cruz JA, Wishart DS. Applications of machine learning in cancer prediction and prognosis. *Cancer Inform.* 2007;2:59-77.
- 390. Paik ES, Lee JW, Park JY, et al. Prediction of survival outcomes in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer using machine learning methods. *J Gynecol Oncol.* 2019;30(4):e65.
- 391. Baxter SW, Choong DY, Eccles DM, Campbell IG. Transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 polyalanine polymorphism and exon 5 mutation analysis in breast and ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2002;11(2):211-214.
- Williams E, Martin S, Moss R, Durrant L, Deen S. Co-expression of VEGF and CA9 in ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma and relationship to survival. *Virchows Arch*. 2012;461(1):33-39.
- 393. Ishwaran H, Kogalur UB, Blackstone EH, Lauer MS. Random survival forests. *Annals of Applied Statistics*. 2008;2(3):841-860.
- 394. Hothorn T, Bühlmann P, Kneib T, Schmid M, Hofner B. Model-based boosting 2.0. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*. 2010;11:2109-2113.
- 395. Fouodo C, König I, Weihs C, Ziegler A, Wright MN. Support Vector Machines for Survival Analysis with R. *R J*. 2018;10:412.
- 396. Zhao L, Feng D. Dnnsurv: Deep neural networks for survival analysis using pseudo values. *arXiv preprint arXiv:190802337*. 2019.

- 397. Katzman JL, Shaham U, Cloninger A, Bates J, Jiang T, Kluger Y. DeepSurv: personalized treatment recommender system using a Cox proportional hazards deep neural network. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2018;18(1):24.
- 398. Harrell FE, Jr., Lee KL, Califf RM, Pryor DB, Rosati RA. Regression modelling strategies for improved prognostic prediction. *Stat Med.* 1984;3(2):143-152.
- 399. Uno H, Cai T, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Wei LJ. On the C-statistics for evaluating overall adequacy of risk prediction procedures with censored survival data. *Stat Med.* 2011;30(10):1105-1117.
- 400. Kawakami E, Tabata J, Yanaihara N, et al. Application of Artificial Intelligence for Preoperative Diagnostic and Prognostic Prediction in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Based on Blood Biomarkers. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 2019;25(10):3006.
- 401. Hofner B, Mayr A, Robinzonov N, Schmid M. Model-based boosting in R: a hands-on tutorial using the R package mboost. *Computational Statistics*. 2014;29(1):3-35.
- 402. Usó M, Jantus-Lewintre E, Bremnes RM, et al. Analysis of the immune microenvironment in resected non-small cell lung cancer: the prognostic value of different T lymphocyte markers. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(33):52849-52861.
- 403. Hwang WT, Adams SF, Tahirovic E, Hagemann IS, Coukos G. Prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating T cells in ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2012;124(2):192-198.
- 404. Piatek S, Panek G, Lewandowski Z, et al. Rising serum CA-125 levels within the normal range is strongly associated recurrence risk and survival of ovarian cancer. *J Ovarian Res.* 2020;13(1):102.
- 405. Li Z, Yin H, Ren M, Shen Y. Prognostic Significance of CA125 Dynamic Change for Progression Free Survival in Patients with Epithelial Ovarian Carcinoma. *Med Sci Monit*. 2020;26:e925051.
- 406. Lin YH, Wu CH, Fu HC, et al. Prognostic significance of elevated pretreatment serum levels of CEA and CA-125 in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Biomark*. 2020;28(3):285-292.
- 407. Onda T, Satoh T, Ogawa G, et al. Comparison of survival between primary debulking surgery and neoadjuvant chemotherapy for stage III/IV ovarian, tubal and peritoneal cancers in phase III randomised trial. *Eur J Cancer*. 2020;130:114-125.
- 408. Bolis G, Villa A, Guarnerio P, et al. Survival of women with advanced ovarian cancer and complete pathologic response at second-look laparotomy. *Cancer*. 1996;77(1):128-131.
- 409. Kotsopoulos J, Moody JR, Fan I, et al. Height, weight, BMI and ovarian cancer survival. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2012;127(1):83-87.

- 410. Bromley AB, Altman AD, Chu P, et al. Architectural patterns of ovarian/pelvic highgrade serous carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Pathol.* 2012;31(5):397-404.
- 411. Kamieniak MM, Rico D, Milne RL, et al. Deletion at 6q24.2-26 predicts longer survival of high-grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer patients. *Mol Oncol.* 2015;9(2):422-436.
- 412. Ramus SJ, Antoniou AC, Kuchenbaecker KB, et al. Ovarian cancer susceptibility alleles and risk of ovarian cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Hum Mutat*. 2012;33(4):690-702.
- 413. Cook LS, Leung AC, Swenerton K, et al. Adult lifetime alcohol consumption and invasive epithelial ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2016;140(2):277-284.
- 414. Prentice LM, Klausen C, Kalloger S, et al. Kisspeptin and GPR54 immunoreactivity in a cohort of 518 patients defines favourable prognosis and clear cell subtype in ovarian carcinoma. *BMC Med.* 2007;5:33.
- 415. Köbel M, Reuss A, du Bois A, et al. The biological and clinical value of p53 expression in pelvic high-grade serous carcinomas. *J Pathol.* 2010;222(2):191-198.
- 416. Emmanuel C, Chiew YE, George J, et al. Genomic classification of serous ovarian cancer with adjacent borderline differentiates RAS pathway and TP53-mutant tumors and identifies NRAS as an oncogenic driver. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2014;20(24):6618-6630.